
Board of Directors
Scott Moote, President
Caroline Veale, Secretary
Daniel Niebaum, Treasurer

Bella Mente Charter School
Board Meeting Agenda
February 13, 2024

Meeting Location: 1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, California 92083

Virtual participation: https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/8372129472241052766
(BMMA endeavors to provide virtual public participation on a voluntary basis. This option may not be provided for all Board
Meetings.)

You can also dial in using your phone.
United States: 1 (631)992-3221
Access Code: 884-487-185

IMPORTANT NOTICE: Members of the public can view the meeting via livestream and can participate in the meeting electronically
via GotoWebinar. Members of the public who would like to address the Board may do so in person at the meeting location, or may
do so electronically by emailing board@bellamentecharter.org prior to start of the meeting to request a hold card / time to speak, or
by responding when the Board Chair confirms public commenters for each item. The hold cards will be issued as early as 6:00pm up
until the meeting is called to order. Members of the public need not submit their comments in advance.

CLOSED SESSION: at 6:30 PM (ONE)
OPEN SESSION: when the closed session adjourns

I. Call to order, roll call and establishment of quorum

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Dan Niebaum

II. CLOSED SESSION (One)

A. Public comment on closed session items

1. In accordance with Government Code Section 54956.8, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: REAL ESTATE
MATTERS- NONE

2. In accordance with Government Code Section 54957.6, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: PUBLIC
EMPLOYEE EVALUATION - ONE

3. In accordance with Government Code Section 54956.9, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: CONFERENCE
WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Gov. Code
§54956.9(d)(2) and/or §54956.9(d)(4) - NONE

4. In accordance with Government Code Section 54956.9, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: CONFERENCE
Packet Page 1

https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/8372129472241052766


WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION- NONE

III. OPEN SESSION/REGULAR MEETING
Call to order, roll call and establishment of quorum

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Dan Niebaum

A. REPORTABLE ACTION ITEMS CONSIDERED IN CLOSED SESSION

B. NONAGENDA PUBLIC COMMENTS (20 MINUTES TOTAL)

PUBLIC COMMENTS/COMMUNITY MEMBERS: Any member of the public who wishes to speak to an agenda item not on the
agenda but regarding school business may do so at this time. The hold cards will be issued as early as 6:00pm up until the meeting is
called to order. Individual speakers will be allowed up to three (3) minutes to address the Board on each agenda or non-agenda item,
and the Board will limit the total time for public comments on each item to twenty (20) minutes.

In an effort to hear as many speakers as possible, comment times may be shortened by the Board Chair (depending on the number of
speakers on any agenda or non-agenda item). The Board Chair may also extend the time limits for comments, and/or may move
additional comments beyond a specific time allotment to later in the meeting, in order to provide sufficient time for the Board to
conduct the Board’s business during the meeting.

Bella Mente Charter School welcomes your participation at Board meetings. Your participation assures us of continuing community
interest in our school.

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Recommended motion: Approve the agenda for the February 13, 2024 Board of Directors Meeting.

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Dan Niebaum

D. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Executive Director Announcements - Erin Feeley will provide legislative, safety & risk management, special education
updates and fiscal projection updates. ONE

2. Monthly Financial Board Report - Janina Arruda, Associate School Business Manager from CSMC will report on
CharterVision dashboard monthly report. ONE

3. Campus Report- Patrick Broughton, Director of Compliance will report on performance updates. ONE
4. Enrollment Report- Gladys Espino, Director of Support Services: ONE

E. CONSENT CALENDAR/ROUTINE ITEMS OF BUSINESS

Packet Page 2



All items listed under the Consent Calendar are considered by the Board in one action. There will be no discussion of these items prior
to the time the Board votes on the motion, unless members of the Board, staff, or public request specific items to be discussed and/or
removed from the Consent Calendar.

1. Board Meeting Minutes - 2023-12-12
2. Check Registers - December 2023
3. AcademiCognitive Connections Master Contract
4. Accountable Healthcare Staffing Invoice 1230011666 - 12-10-23 - $6,375.00
5. AT10 Education Master Contract
6. Campus Safety Alliance Proposal 2024_2025
7. Coast Landscaping Estimate
8. Coastal Landscaping Maintenance Proposal
9. Brightview Landscape Proposal
10. Edmentum Quote - $2500.00
11. Foster Youth Transportation MOA Amendment
12. Palomar Family Counseling Services Amendment 23-24
13. Pro Acoustics Proposal - Auditorium Sound System - $10,656.85
14. Schola Renewal 12 months - $42,000.00
15. Scoot Education Invoice 61286- $8,852
16. DTS - Document Tracking Services - Renewal License and Invoice - $425.00
17. Kone_Elevator Proposal - $1,267.00
18. Scoot_Invoice_64806 - $7,733.00
19. Boosterthon Contract
20. Updated Salary Schedule to Include Range 50 for District Office Manager
21. SARC Report
22. Public School Property Tax Exemption
23. Personnel Activity List
24. S & R Towing
25. CharterSafe Notification Letter and Resolution no 24-1

Executive Director’s Recommendation: Approve Consent Calendar
Public Comment

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Dan Niebaum

F. DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS

1. LCAP Mid Year Report
Executive Director’s Recommendation: Approve

Public Comment

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Packet Page 3



Dan Niebaum

2. 24-25 Comprehensive School Safety Plan
Executive Director’s Recommendation: Approve

Public Comment

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Dan Niebaum

IV. ADJOURNMENT

Moved By Seconded By

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

Scott Moote

Caroline Veale

Dan Niebaum

End of Meeting at:
Next Meeting: March 12, 2024

Instructions for Comments to the Board by Members of the Community

Bella Mente Charter School welcomes your participation at meetings of the Board of Directors. The purpose of the Board’s public meeting is
to conduct the affairs of the school in public. We hope that you will visit these meetings often and your participation assures us of continuing
community interest in our school. To assist you in speaking/participating in our meetings, the following guidelines are provided.

1. The agenda is available to all community members. Please note that the order of consideration of items on the agenda may be
changed without prior notice.

2. Community members who wish to speak on any agenda items or under the general category of “Public Comment” will be given an
opportunity to do so.

3. “Public Comment” is set aside for members of the community to raise issues that are not specifically on the agenda. However, due
to public meeting laws (Brown Act), the Board can only listen to your issue, not respond or take action. These presentations are
limited to three (3) minutes and total time allotted to non-agenda items will not exceed twenty (20) minutes. Exceptions to these
time limits may be made at the discretion of the Board Chair. The Board may give direction to staff to respond to your concerns or
you may be offered the option of returning with a citizen requested agenda item.

4. With regard to items that are on the agenda, you may speak for up to (3) minutes when the Board discusses that item. Exceptions to
this time may be made at the discretion of the Board Chair.

5. Community members may request in writing that a topic related to school business be considered for placement on a future agenda.
Requests should be addressed to the Board Chair and emailed to board@bellamentecharter.org. If such an item is placed on the
agenda and publicly noticed, the Board can respond, interact, and act upon the item. There is no right to have an item placed on the
agenda.

6. Any person with a disability who requires a modification or a reasonable accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to
participate in a public meeting of the Board of Directors may request such modification or accommodation by contacting Bella

Packet Page 4



Mente Charter School, 1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, California 92083, or by telephone at 760-621-8931, or by email at
board@bellamentecharter.org. Please make any requests at least 12 hours prior to the meeting.

7. For more information concerning this agenda, please contact Bella Mente Charter School, 1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, California
92083, or by telephone at 760-621-8931, or by email at board@bellamentecharter.org.

Approved on: _____________________________________

Signature of Board Member Signature of Board Member

Name: Name:

Packet Page 5



Board of Directors
Scott Moote, President
Caroline Veale, Secretary
Daniel Niebaum, Treasurer

Bella Mente Charter School
Board Meeting Minutes
December 12, 2023

Meeting Location: 1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, California 92083

Virtual participation: https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/1510226935415039838
(BMMA endeavors to provide virtual public participation on a voluntary basis. This option may not be provided for all Board
Meetings.)

You can also dial in using your phone.
United States: 1 (562) 247-8422
Access Code: 934-617-857

Closed Session: NONE
Open Session: at 6:30PM

IMPORTANT NOTICE: Members of the public can view the meeting via livestream and can participate in the meeting electronically
via GotoWebinar. Members of the public who would like to address the Board may do so in person at the meeting location, or may
do so electronically by emailing board@bellamentecharter.org prior to start of the meeting to request a hold card / time to speak, or
by responding when the Board Chair confirms public commenters for each item. The hold cards will be issued as early as 6:00pm up
until the meeting is called to order. Members of the public need not submit their comments in advance.

CLOSED SESSION: (NONE)
OPEN SESSION: 6:30PM

I. Call to order, roll call and establishment of quorum

Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

II. CLOSED SESSION (One)

A. Public comment on closed session items

1. In accordance with Government Code Section 54956.8, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: REAL ESTATE
MATTERS- NONE

2. In accordance with Government Code Section 54957.6, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: PUBLIC
EMPLOYEE EVALUATION - NONE

3. In accordance with Government Code Section 54956.9, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: CONFERENCE
WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Gov. Code

Packet Page 6

https://attendee.gotowebinar.com/register/1510226935415039838


§54956.9(d)(2) and/or §54956.9(d)(4) - NONE
4. In accordance with Government Code Section 54956.9, the Board will meet in closed session to consider: CONFERENCE

WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION NONE

III. OPEN SESSION/REGULAR MEETING
Call to order, roll call and establishment of quorum

Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

A. REPORTABLE ACTION ITEMS CONSIDERED IN CLOSED SESSION

B. NONAGENDA PUBLIC COMMENTS (20 MINUTES TOTAL)

PUBLIC COMMENTS/COMMUNITY MEMBERS: Any member of the public who wishes to speak to an agenda item not on the
agenda but regarding school business may do so at this time. The hold cards will be issued as early as 6:00pm up until the meeting is
called to order. Individual speakers will be allowed up to three (3) minutes to address the Board on each agenda or non-agenda item,
and the Board will limit the total time for public comments on each item to twenty (20) minutes.

In an effort to hear as many speakers as possible, comment times may be shortened by the Board Chair (depending on the number of
speakers on any agenda or non-agenda item). The Board Chair may also extend the time limits for comments, and/or may move
additional comments beyond a specific time allotment to later in the meeting, in order to provide sufficient time for the Board to
conduct the Board’s business during the meeting.

Bella Mente Charter School welcomes your participation at Board meetings. Your participation assures us of continuing community
interest in our school.

C. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

Recommended motion: Approve the agenda for the December 12, 2023 Board of Directors Meeting.

Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

D. DISCUSSION ITEMS

1. Executive Director Announcements - Erin Feeley will provide legislative, safety & risk management, special education
updates and fiscal projection updates. ONE

2. Monthly Financial Board Report - Janina Arruda, Associate School Business Manager from CSMC will report on
CharterVision dashboard monthly report. ONE

3. Campus Report- Patrick Broughton, Director of Compliance will report on performance updates. ONE
4. Enrollment Report- Gladys Espino, Director of Support Services: ONE

Packet Page 7



E. CONSENT CALENDAR/ROUTINE ITEMS OF BUSINESS

All items listed under the Consent Calendar are considered by the Board in one action. There will be no discussion of these items prior
to the time the Board votes on the motion, unless members of the Board, staff, or public request specific items to be discussed and/or
removed from the Consent Calendar.

1. Minutes from the 10/10/2023 Board of Directors Meeting
2. Recommended action on the personnel activity list
3. Check Registers - October 2023
4. Check Registers - November 2023
5. HTH Memorandum of Understanding (District Intern)
6. HTH Memorandum of Understanding (Induction)
7. Niche Invoice INV10891 - 08_15_2023 - $7,990.00
8. Pali Institute Contract - $19,680.00
9. Arbitrage Compliance Specialists, Inc-Bond 5th Year Arbitrage Rebate Calculation $2,750
10. Integrated Property Analysis- Capital Needs Assessment-$3,750
11. Top Notch Student Meal Service September- $24,108.00
12. Top Notch Student Meal Service October-$25,261.00
13. Top Notch Student Meal Service November- $18,169.50
14. Scoot Education Invoices above $5000 - Total $76,221.00
15. Summer Camp Agreement with Joe & Mary Mottino Family YMCA
16. Legal Counsel Updated Employee Handbook
17. Tri City Carpet for Kitchen Update- $3,954
18. Securly- 3 year agreement- $6,762

Executive Director’s Recommendation: Approve Consent Calendar
Public Comment

Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

F. DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS

1. Review and Approve the First Interim Budget as presented by Associate School Business Manager
from Charter School Management Corporation

Executive Director’s Recommendation: Approve
Public Comment

Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

2. Review and Approve the 2022-2023 Audit Report as presented by Wilkinson, Hadley, King & Co LLP
Executive Director’s Recommendation: Approve

Public Comment

Packet Page 8



Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

IV. ADJOURNMENT

Moved By DN Seconded By SM

AYE NAY ABSTAIN ABSENT Board Member

X Scott Moote

X Caroline Veale

X Dan Niebaum

End of Meeting at: 7:18 PM
Next Meeting: January 9, 2024

Instructions for Comments to the Board by Members of the Community

Bella Mente Charter School welcomes your participation at meetings of the Board of Directors. The purpose of the Board’s public meeting is
to conduct the affairs of the school in public. We hope that you will visit these meetings often and your participation assures us of continuing
community interest in our school. To assist you in speaking/participating in our meetings, the following guidelines are provided.

1. The agenda is available to all community members. Please note that the order of consideration of items on the agenda may be
changed without prior notice.

2. Community members who wish to speak on any agenda items or under the general category of “Public Comment” will be given an
opportunity to do so.

3. “Public Comment” is set aside for members of the community to raise issues that are not specifically on the agenda. However, due
to public meeting laws (Brown Act), the Board can only listen to your issue, not respond or take action. These presentations are
limited to three (3) minutes and total time allotted to non-agenda items will not exceed twenty (20) minutes. Exceptions to these
time limits may be made at the discretion of the Board Chair. The Board may give direction to staff to respond to your concerns or
you may be offered the option of returning with a citizen requested agenda item.

4. With regard to items that are on the agenda, you may speak for up to (3) minutes when the Board discusses that item. Exceptions to
this time may be made at the discretion of the Board Chair.

5. Community members may request in writing that a topic related to school business be considered for placement on a future agenda.
Requests should be addressed to the Board Chair and emailed to board@bellamentecharter.org. If such an item is placed on the
agenda and publicly noticed, the Board can respond, interact, and act upon the item. There is no right to have an item placed on the
agenda.

6. Any person with a disability who requires a modification or a reasonable accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to
participate in a public meeting of the Board of Directors may request such modification or accommodation by contacting Bella
Mente Charter School, 1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, California 92083, or by telephone at 760-621-8931, or by email at
board@bellamentecharter.org. Please make any requests at least 12 hours prior to the meeting.

7. For more information concerning this agenda, please contact Bella Mente Charter School, 1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, California
92083, or by telephone at 760-621-8931, or by email at board@bellamentecharter.org.

Packet Page 9



Approved on: _____________________________________

Signature of Board Member Signature of Board Member

Board Member: Board Member:

Packet Page 10



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

1 Bank: Belle Mente General - Chase
Bank

Account no: 131880730 1

12/27/2023 V007281--Accountable Healthcare Staffing, Inc. 1 3821 9,562.50 In Transit
12/10/2023 1230011666 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 6,375.00 SPEDT 6500--6500-SPED

State/County/District
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/17/2023 1230011913 581000--Educational
Consultant

Printed Check 3,187.50 SPEDT 6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V003798--Amazon Capital Services 1 3822 4,424.98 In Transit
12/01/2023 1NDN-76V7-DKR9 443000--Noncapitalize

d Student
Printed Check 363.58 Chromebook

Charger
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/02/2023 1HX9-3RQQ-N47T 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 6.92 Restroom Sticker
Signs

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 134R-T6DT-HNFT 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 129.84 Multicolor Christmas
Tree Lights

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 1YX9-7X3W-HK4C 438100--Materials for
Plant Ma

Printed Check 432.90 HEPA Replacement
Filter

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/06/2023 1JL9-94DQ-MMNF 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 54.48 Battery Operated
Tea Lights,

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/06/2023 1HRQ-G3VF-LLV6 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 287.75 Face Masks - Covid-
19

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/07/2023 1QCL-Y4L4-V7J9 438100--Materials for
Plant Ma

Printed Check 610.17 Parking Lot Lights 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 1XGP-JXPG-CYKM 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 561.63 IT Materials 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/13/2023 1PXN-YCVH-PH3N 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 1,515.20 Copy Printer Paper 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/13/2023 1QKT-V9P7-L7HW 443000--Noncapitalize
d Student

Printed Check 136.35 Battery for Samsung
ChromeBook

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/14/2023 1VD4-YHWM-3YC9 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 37.32 Ibuprofen 200mg
Tablets

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/14/2023 1D94-7NMW-1MYN 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 81.15 Mosaic Tiles 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/14/2023 1T1V-37VJ-3J4C 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 21.64 Lock with Keys 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/15/2023 17RL-PMFF-3WH1 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 45.95 Christmas Jingle
Bells

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 1
Packet Page 11



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

School
12/15/2023 179N-PLDD-6LFL 431500--Classroom

Materials an
Printed Check 43.28 Party Favors for

Kids
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/16/2023 1HXJ-3714-K6G1 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 96.82 Office Materials 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V003798--Amazon Capital Services 1 3782 362.53 In Transit
11/15/2023 1RM6-XQF6-DVVH 431500--Classroom

Materials an
Printed Check 9.74 Pine Shavings 0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/17/2023 14RH-6RT6-F1YM 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 6.92 Wash Hands Sticker
Sign

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/18/2023 17VY-6VP1-KHK9 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 140.71 Bluetooth Speaker 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/18/2023 17WC-HHV9-KK31 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 91.16 Cold Compress,
Bandages

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/19/2023 1TNJ-DDMP-TGC9 431500--Classroom
Materials an

Printed Check 29.17 Ultra Bright Glow
Sticks

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/20/2023 1TH1-DRV6-4M1J 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 64.93 Wall Mirror 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/30/2023 1LM7-76X9-DVTK 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 19.90 Address Labels 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V016418--Arbitrage Compliance Specialist, Inc. 1 3823 2,750.00 In Transit
12/20/2023 1034768 580000--Professional/

Consultin
Printed Check 2,750.00 Arbitage Rebate

Calculation 05th
Year

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V013667--Boonli, LLC 1 3801 130.00 In Transit
11/30/2023 14777 580000--Professional/

Consultin
Printed Check 130.00 Reporting Upgrade 5310--5310-Child

Nutrition School Pro-
gram

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V016090--Booster 1 3783 9,178.31 In Transit
11/17/2023 SIN117482 582000--Fundraising

Expense
Printed Check 9,178.31 Fundraising Ex-

pense
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V007806--Braille Abilities LLC 1 3809 1,211.97 In Transit
12/14/2023 1213 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 1,211.97 VI/O&m Services 6500--6500-SPED

State/County/District
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V014764--California Office Cleaning, Inc. 1 3792 10,508.00 In Transit
11/30/2023 4482 550000--Operation

and Housekee
Printed Check 10,508.00 Cleaning Services -

Nov 2023
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V004070--Cardmember Service 1 3810 2,352.35 In Transit
12/17/2023 12/17/23 - 8865 599800--Unallocated Printed Check 2,352.35 Credit Card Pur- 0000--0000-Unrestri BMC020--Bella

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 2
Packet Page 12



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

Credit Car chases from 11/18 -
12/17/23

cted Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V000003--Charter School Management Corpo-
ration

1 3811 14,625.00 In Transit

12/15/2023 43392 587300--Financial Ser-
vices

Printed Check 10,237.50 January 2024 - Bun-
dled Support

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

1 1 587300--Financial Ser-
vices

Printed Check 4,387.50 January 2024 - Bun-
dled Support

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V000031--Charter Schools Development Center 1 3784 1,221.00 In Transit
11/21/2023 23736 530000--Dues and

Memberships
Printed Check 1,221.00 CSDC Membership -

11/23/23 - 11/22/24
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V006296--Charter Tech Services 1 3785 8,977.00 In Transit
12/01/2023 16628 587700--IT Services Printed Check 8,977.00 Managed Technol-

ogy Services
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V003242--CINTAS CORPORATION - 29059 1 3812 54.51 In Transit
12/14/2023 4177055824 438100--Materials for

Plant Ma
Printed Check 54.51 Active Scrapper,

Gray Mat, Logo Mat
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V003242--CINTAS CORPORATION - 29059 1 3793 54.51 In Transit
12/07/2023 4176363370 438100--Materials for

Plant Ma
Printed Check 54.51 Active Scrapper,

Gray Mat, Logo Mat
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V003242--CINTAS CORPORATION - 29059 1 3786 54.51 In Transit
11/30/2023 4175589360 438100--Materials for

Plant Ma
Printed Check 54.51 Active Scraper, Mats0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V013192--Cristianna Turvey, M.S CCC-SLP 1 3787 7,520.08 In Transit
11/30/2023 15 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 7,520.08 LAS Services -

November 2023
6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V003246--Department of Justice 1 3813 49.00 In Transit
12/05/2023 701747 581500--Advertising/R

ecruiting
Printed Check 49.00 Fingerprints -

November 2023
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V004175--EMH Sports USA Inc 1 3794 680.00 In Transit
12/06/2023 155-257805-11 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 680.00 APE Services - 11/1

- 11/30/23
6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V009025--GoBeRewarded 1 3788 1,581.00 In Transit
11/30/2023 7726 581500--Advertising/R

ecruiting
Printed Check 1,581.00 Monthly Web Design

& Advertising Mgmnt
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V009083--Green Flash Pest Control 1 3789 130.90 In Transit
11/29/2023 297279 550000--Operation

and Housekee
Printed Check 130.90 Monthly Pest Con-

trol - 11/29/23
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V005486--Home Depot Credit Services-78047 1 3824 613.01 In Transit

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 3
Packet Page 13



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

11/16/2023 2511884 438100--Materials for
Plant Ma

Printed Check 19.29 Rat Trap 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/16/2023 2904942 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 259.10 12x24 P&S Beach
Sands

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/17/2023 1954355 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 180.37 12x24 P&S
Seashore Wood

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/20/2023 8903226 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 101.63 Knit Poly Roll 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/30/2023 8904182 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 52.62 Energizer Max 0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V016393--Jeremy Burgess 1 3814 1,113.00 In Transit
11/07/2023 100 580700--Legal Settle-

ments
Printed Check 606.00 Initial Deposit - Tu-

toring-11/20 -
12/4/23

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/07/2023 101 580700--Legal Settle-
ments

Printed Check 507.00 Deposit for Tutoring
- 11/20-12/4/23

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V009434--Johnson Controls Security Solutions 1 3825 1,190.10 In Transit
12/09/2023 39632938 550000--Operation

and Housekee
Printed Check 106.64 Security Services -

1/01/24 - 3/31/24
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/09/2023 39632939 550000--Operation
and Housekee

Printed Check 1,083.46 Security Services -
1/01/24 - 3/31/24

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V004418--Kaiser Foundation Health Plan Inc 1 3795 21,226.84 In Transit
11/25/2023 969835026850 340300--Wellness Re-

imbursement
Printed Check 21,226.84 January 2024 Pre-

mium
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V016091--Kiwanis Club of Sunrise Vista 1 3790 180.00 In Transit
10/01/2023 1015 530000--Dues and

Memberships
Printed Check 180.00 Kiwanis Club Dues 0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V009818--Maintex, Inc. 1 3815 752.45 In Transit
12/14/2023 1067071-00 438100--Materials for

Plant Ma
Printed Check 752.45 Tissue, Soap Foam,

etc
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/05/2023 V009974--MJ Akerland, RN, A Professional
Nursing Corporation

1 3791 1,305.00 In Transit

12/04/2023 12567 581000--Educational
Consultant

Printed Check 1,305.00 Health Services -
12/01/23

6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V003326--Mutual Of Omaha 1 3826 3,683.68 In Transit
12/13/2023 001625348021 340300--Wellness Re-

imbursement
Printed Check 3,683.68 Insurance Premium 0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V013382--National Benefits Services Non- 1 3827 13,051.19 In Transit

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 4
Packet Page 14



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

ERISA 430 W 7th
12/21/2023 December 2023 966000--Voluntary De-

ductions
Printed Check 13,051.19 December 2023

Payroll Deductions
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V010156--Niche.com, Inc 1 3802 7,990.00 In Transit
08/15/2023 INV10891 581500--Advertising/R

ecruiting
Printed Check 7,990.00 Premium Profile

Services - 2/1/23 -
1/31/24

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V010331--Pali Institute 1 3803 9,840.00 In Transit
12/06/2023 12/6/23 - 09761 583000--Field Trip Ex-

penses
Printed Check 9,840.00 Deposit #1 & 2 0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V010336--Palomar Family Counseling Service,
Inc.

1 3816 3,520.00 In Transit

11/30/2023 12830 581000--Educational
Consultant

Printed Check 3,520.00 Nov 2023 - Contract
Services

6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/21/2023 V003459--Payroll 1 1 43,902.06 In Transit
12/21/2023 1 950100--Accrued

Salaries
Cash 1,358.98 SM PR PE 12/15/23

PD 12/22/23 Pro-
cessing Fee ACH

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

1 1 950100--Accrued
Salaries

Cash 42,543.08 SM PR PE 12/15/23
PD 12/22/23 Taxes
ACH

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/21/2023 V003459--Payroll 1 1 115,011.81 In Transit
12/21/2023 1 950100--Accrued

Salaries
Cash 115,011.81 SM PR PE 12/15/23

PD 12/22/23 DD
ACH

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/07/2023 V003459--Payroll 1 1 38,721.00 In Transit
12/07/2023 1 950100--Accrued

Salaries
Cash 38,123.62 SM PR PE 11/30/23

PD 12/8/23 Taxes
ACH

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

1 1 950100--Accrued
Salaries

Cash 597.38 SM PR PE 11/30/23
PD 12/8/23 Process-
ing Fee ACH

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/07/2023 V003459--Payroll 1 1 101,826.07 In Transit
12/07/2023 1 950100--Accrued

Salaries
Cash 101,826.07 SM PR PE 11/30/23

PD 12/8/23 DD ACH
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V013501--Pitney Bowes Bank Inc Purchase
Power

1 3804 184.67 In Transit

12/06/2023 12/6/23 - 8851 430000--Materials and
Supplies

Printed Check 184.67 Postage Charges -
12/2

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V000078--Rainbow Resource Center Inc 1 3817 597.73 In Transit
12/13/2023 4295786 431500--Classroom

Materials an
Printed Check 597.73 Reading Workbooks 0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V006126--Scoot Education Inc. - 5670 1 3828 8,852.00 In Transit
12/20/2023 61286 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 8,852.00 Substitute Services 0000--0000-Unrestri

cted
BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 5
Packet Page 15



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

School
12/19/2023 V006126--Scoot Education Inc. - 5670 1 3805 13,721.00 In Transit
12/13/2023 60318 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 13,392.00 Substitute Services -

11/29 - 12/1/23
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/13/2023 60339 581000--Educational
Consultant

Printed Check 329.00 Substitute Services -
12/4/23

6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V006126--Scoot Education Inc. - 5670 1 3796 10,311.00 In Transit
12/06/2023 59382 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 9,324.00 Substitute Services -

11/27 - 12/1/23
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/06/2023 59415 581000--Educational
Consultant

Printed Check 987.00 Substitute Services -
11/29 - 12/1/23

6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V003259--Securly, Inc. 1 3818 2,247.00 In Transit
12/13/2023 125749 431500--Classroom

Materials an
Printed Check 2,247.00 Classroom Premium

- 11/1/23 - 10/31/26
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V016408--Self & Match 1 3819 120.00 In Transit
12/05/2023 1719 521000--Training and

Developme
Printed Check 120.00 Advanced Workshop

- 12/4 Workshop
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V011053--Soliant 1 3820 1,551.00 In Transit
12/10/2023 20833962 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 1,551.00 School COTA -

12/4-12/7/23
6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V011053--Soliant 1 3797 1,410.00 In Transit
12/03/2023 20827088 581000--Educational

Consultant
Printed Check 1,410.00 School COTA -

12/3/23
6500--6500-SPED
State/County/District

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/27/2023 V013316--Terra Office Solutions 1 3829 135.31 In Transit
11/01/2023 30697-BM 561000--Equipment

Repair
Printed Check 135.31 Color Copier Ser-

vices
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V011480--Top Notch Catering-3 1 3806 67,538.50 In Transit
12/01/2023 12/1/23 - NOV 23 470000--Food and

Food Supplies
Printed Check 18,169.50 Breakfast, Lunch &

Snacks - November
2023

5310--5310-Child
Nutrition School Pro-
gram

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

10/04/2023 10/4/23 - SEPT 23 470000--Food and
Food Supplies

Printed Check 24,108.00 Breakfast, Lunch &
Snacks - September
2023

5310--5310-Child
Nutrition School Pro-
gram

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/01/2023 11/1/23 - OCT 23 470000--Food and
Food Supplies

Printed Check 25,261.00 Breakfast, Lunch &
Snacks - October
2023

5310--5310-Child
Nutrition School Pro-
gram

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V005077--Traffic Safety Store 1 3807 1,809.84 In Transit
11/15/2023 INV908755 430000--Materials and

Supplies
Printed Check 1,809.84 Yellow Trooper

Tube, Rubber
Speed Bump

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V011687--VendorMax, Inc. 1 3798 156.00 In Transit
12/01/2023 206814 581500--Advertising/R Printed Check 156.00 Lead Fees- 11/1 - 0000--0000-Unrestri BMC020--Bella

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 6
Packet Page 16



Date Payee Document no. Amount Cleared
Transaction

date
Transaction no. GL account or

account label
Method Amount applied Memo Restriction Location

ecruiting 11/30/23 cted Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V011719--Vista Irrigation District 1 3799 1,435.44 In Transit
11/29/2023 11/29/23 - 42-00 550100--Utilities Printed Check 105.22 Water Charges -

11/14/23 796
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/29/2023 11/29/23 - 60-00 550100--Utilities Printed Check 319.64 Water Charges -
11/14/23 1181

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/29/2023 11/29/23 - 25-00 550100--Utilities Printed Check 279.76 Water Charges -
11/14/23 1825

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/29/2023 11/29/23 - 20-01 550100--Utilities Printed Check 156.50 Water Charges -
11/14/23 1901

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

11/29/2023 11/29/23 - 40-00 550100--Utilities Printed Check 574.32 Water Charges -
11/14/23 5120

0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/19/2023 V000018--Wilkinson Hadley King & Co. LLP 1 3808 1,800.00 In Transit
12/12/2023 31722 580600--Audit Ser-

vices
Printed Check 1,800.00 Progress Bill For Au-

dit 2022-23
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

12/12/2023 V000018--Wilkinson Hadley King & Co. LLP 1 3800 850.00 In Transit
12/07/2023 31711 580600--Audit Ser-

vices
Printed Check 850.00 Final Billing for

2020-21 Audit
0000--0000-Unrestri
cted

BMC020--Bella
Mente Charter
School

1 1 Applied total: 1 552,073.85 1
1 1 Total: 1 552,073.85 1
1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Bella Mente-BMC
Check register

Location: CA120--Bella Mente-BMC

Created on 01/03/2024, 9:28 AM PST Page 7
Packet Page 17



NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN

SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES

MASTER CONTRACT

2023-2024

Packet Page 18



MASTER CONTRACT
GENERAL AGREEMENT FOR NONSECTARIAN,
NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AND AGENCY SERVICES

Nonpublic School
X Nonpublic Agency

Type of Contract:

X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.

Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.

Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates. The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA. Expiration Date:___________

When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.

LEA BELLA MENTE MONTESSORI ACADEMY

Contract Year 2023-2024

Packet Page 19



TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page

1. MASTER CONTRACT
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT

FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
7. DEFINITIONS

II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT

8. NOTICES
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO

CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES
14. TERMINATION
15. INSURANCE
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
18. SUBCONTRACTING
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION

III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM

21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES
24. CLASS SIZE
25. CALENDARS
26. DATA REPORTING
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS
37. TRANSCRIPTS
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM

Packet Page 20



40. PARENT ACCESS
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS

AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE
43. MONITORING

IV. PERSONNEL

44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS
47. STAFF ABSENCE
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR

V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES

49. HEALTH AND SAFETY
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN

VI. FINANCIAL

56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES

57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT
62. RATE SCHEDULE
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION

EXHIBIT A: RATES
EXHIBIT B: INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

Packet Page 21



NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:      

NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT

AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. MASTER CONTRACT

This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2023, between  BELLA MENTE
MONTESSORI ACADEMY  , hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), a member
of the EL DORADO CHARTER SELPA and Academic Cognitive Connections, LLC (nonpublic,
nonsectarian school or agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or “CONTRACTOR” for the purpose of
providing special education and/or related services to students with exceptional needs under the
authorization of California Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) and AB
1858 (Chapter 914, Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does not commit the LEA to
pay for special education and/or related services provided to any student, or CONTRACTOR to provide
such special education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized LEA representative
approves the provision of special education and/or related services by CONTRACTOR.

Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Service Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for the development of the ISA and invoices.

Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.

2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES

CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification, and/or
credential. A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification
issued by the CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the
date this Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such
certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of

1

2023-2024 CONTRACT NUMBER:

LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:  BELLA MENTE MONTESSORI ACADEMY  

Packet Page 22



this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.

In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  

If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.

With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.

3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS

During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).

CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).

4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT

The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2024. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be
offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.

The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be

2Packet Page 23



provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.

5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION

This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.

CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.

At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.

6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICE AGREEMENT (“ISA”)

This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.

Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.

Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to
provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.

If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the

3Packet Page 24



parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.

Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).

7. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:

a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents, and employees.

b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.

c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).

d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and related
services and has met federal and state certification, licensing, registration, or other comparable
requirements which apply to the area in which the individual is providing special education or
related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34 of the Code of Federal
Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth in Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the standards of
professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the standards
contained in the California Business and Professions Code.

Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations. (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).

e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).

f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have

legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
4Packet Page 25



ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make
educational decisions for the child,

iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a
grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,

iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational

decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).

Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).

g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.

h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.

i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.

j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.

ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT

8. NOTICES

All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.

All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.

9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS

All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)
years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and

5Packet Page 26



expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.

CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.

10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.

11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST

This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.

12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.

13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES

This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.

14. TERMINATION

This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents

6Packet Page 27



CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause. To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.

15.      INSURANCE 

CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:

PART I - INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES

A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:

                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$  500,000 fire damage
$      5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate

The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.

B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.

C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 

If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.

If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.

D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:

                                   $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                   $2,000,000 general aggregate

E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate

7Packet Page 28



of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.

F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.

G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.

H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.

PART II - INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:

A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:

$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.

The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.

B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.

C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.

D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.

8Packet Page 29



E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.

F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.

If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.

16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS

To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.

To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).

LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.

17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.

If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principal, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.

18. SUBCONTRACTING

CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to

9Packet Page 30



provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).

CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.

As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency
submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.

19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.

The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.

10Packet Page 31



CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.

20. NON-DISCRIMINATION

CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM

21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)

The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.

Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.

Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.

22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION

All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study

11Packet Page 32



and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.

When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a
high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.

23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.

For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.

The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.

12Packet Page 33



When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.

24. CLASS SIZE

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a
ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.

In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties. This provision does not apply to a NPA.

CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.

25. CALENDARS

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.

Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.

Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.

CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the

13Packet Page 34



LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have
actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the
LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.

26. DATA REPORTING

CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.

Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.

The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.

27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT

CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.

CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.

When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.

28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the

14Packet Page 35



Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative
English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.

CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.

29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS

CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings. Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).

30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.

CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.

Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.

CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.
It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies

15Packet Page 36



require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.

Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:

1. any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock;

2. an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant sprays, mists, or
substances in proximity to the face of the individual;

3. an intervention that denies adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or
access to bathroom facilities;

4. an intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to
verbal abuse, ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma;

5. restrictive interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize
all four extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone
containment or similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency
intervention;

6. locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a
locked room;

7. an intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual;
8. an intervention that deprives the individual of one or more of his or her senses.

CONTRACTOR shall comply with Education Code section 49005.8. Specifically, Contractor shall not
do any of the following:

1. Use seclusion or a behavioral restraint for the purpose of coercion, discipline, convenience, or
retaliation.

2. Use locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a
locked room.

3. Use a physical restraint technique that obstructs a pupil’s respiratory airway or impairs the pupil’s
breathing or respiratory capacity, including techniques in which a staff member places pressure on
a pupil’s back or places his or her body weight against the pupil’s torso or back.

4. Use a behavioral restraint technique that restricts breathing, including, but not limited to, using a
pillow, blanket, carpet, mat, or other item to cover a pupil’s face.

5. Place a pupil in a facedown position with the pupil’s hands held or restrained behind the pupil’s
back.

6. Use a behavioral restraint for longer than is necessary to contain the behavior that poses a clear
and present danger of serious physical harm to the pupil or others.

CONTRACTOR shall keep constant, direct observation of a pupil who is in seclusion, which may be
through observation of the pupil through a window, or another barrier, through which the educational
provider is able to make direct eye contact with the pupil. This observation shall not be through indirect
means, including through a security camera or a closed-circuit television.

CONTRACTOR shall afford pupils who are restrained the least restrictive alternative and the maximum
freedom of movement, and shall use the least number of restraint points, while ensuring the physical
safety of the pupil and others.

If prone restraint techniques are used by CONTRACTOR, a staff member shall observe the pupil for any
signs of physical distress throughout the use of prone restraint. Whenever possible, the staff member
monitoring the pupil shall not be involved in restraining the pupil.

16Packet Page 37



In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.

All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.

31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE

CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.

When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written
discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.

32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS

An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)

If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document a description of activities provided to integrate
the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity as well as the time
spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to support the transition
of the student from the special education program into the regular education program. Each student shall
be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her IEP team. Except as otherwise
provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall participate in all IEP team meetings
regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At any time during the term of this
Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request a review of the student’s IEP,
subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable notice given to, and
participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to schedule IEP team
meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR and LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service providers
upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at an IEP

17Packet Page 38



meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under this
Master Contract.

It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.

Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.

33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH

CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR
300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.

34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS

CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).

35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any

18Packet Page 39

http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/364373/6
http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/364412/6
http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/191419/6
http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/191725/6


complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.

36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS

Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.

The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.

CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.

The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.

It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.

CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.

37. TRANSCRIPTS

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.

19Packet Page 40



38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE

Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence. Upon
enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation to notify CONTRACTOR
of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide upon request by LEA,
documentation of such notice to parents.

If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.

39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM

CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,
including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and
parent/guardian withdrawal of student against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.

40. PARENT ACCESS

CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters, when applicable. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental
visits and access to LEA students.

CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. When requested, CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all
parent travel and accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate.
Payment by LEA for approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent
with LEA Procedures.

CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergencies. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer associated
with the NPS/NPA service provider.

All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.

41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS

If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1and any other applicable laws and/or regulations, including LEA guidelines or
procedures. An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its
residential facility.

If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1400 et seq. including the federal

20Packet Page 41



regulations 34 C.F.R section 300 et seq. and Education Code section 56000 et seq. including Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq.. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all monitoring
requirements set forth in Section 43 below.

If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.

Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.

In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  

42. STATE MEAL MANDATE

When CONTRACTOR is an NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49005 et seq.; 49501.5, the universal meal mandate enacted by AB
130 (2021-2022); 49530 et seq; and 49550 et seq.

43. MONITORING

When CONTRACTOR is an NPS, the LEA or SELPA shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA or SELPA shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.

The LEA or SELPA shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.

CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.

If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).

21Packet Page 42



The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching
staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.

CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with
relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.

CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.

PERSONNEL

44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or
serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Upon request, clearance
certification shall be submitted to the LEA. In addition, CONTRACTOR shall make a request for
subsequent arrest service from CDOJ as required by California Penal Code section 11105.2. Contractor
shall certify to LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest
notification service for all employees who may come into contact with students.

Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.

45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS

CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant

22Packet Page 43



to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related
services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.

CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
In accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1(a)(5), when CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an
appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and instructional leader, and be able to provide
leadership, oversight and professional development. The administrator of the NPS holds or is in the
process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An administrative credential granted by an accredited
postsecondary educational institution and two years of experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A
pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a
clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated
by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued by an accredited postsecondary institution in
education, special education, psychology, counseling, behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral
science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special education instruction and at least two years
of experience teaching in special education before becoming an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage
and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (H) A license as an educational
psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A license as a professional clinical counselor
issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5)).
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to the LEA upon request, documentation of its
administrator’s qualifications in accordance with the above.
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply
with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.

In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  

46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS

CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.

23Packet Page 44



CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.
CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA
students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications
or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.

47. STAFF ABSENCE

When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school and CONTRACTOR’s classroom teacher is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s
classroom in accordance with California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to
the LEA documentation of substitute coverage. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned class
during all instructional time.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.

48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME

It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.

For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.

CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.

24Packet Page 45



HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES

49. HEALTH AND SAFETY

CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,
regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.

CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.

50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS

CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.

51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49422 et seq.
when CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter
medication during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for storing medications in a secure location and ensuring
appropriate staff training in the administration of such medication consistent with physician’s written
orders. Any change in medication type, administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized
by both a licensed physician and parent.

52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING

CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.

53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING

25Packet Page 46



CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and
procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will
remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement
acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.

54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT

CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.

55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN

CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.

FINANCIAL

56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES

CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.

CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.

CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes
for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.

CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of

26Packet Page 47



each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature
of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE
certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.

In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.

Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.

Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.

In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year. LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.

57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT

LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm
a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.

Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for
regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR

27Packet Page 48



determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.

The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.

If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.

If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.

After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.

After sixty (60) business days: The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation. Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.

58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES

CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA
students’ public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.

59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES

NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE

28Packet Page 49



Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of
substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.

Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.

NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE

If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.

Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.

NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE

When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.

NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE

If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.

60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY

The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:

a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  

29Packet Page 50



b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to
CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.

c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.

When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes. CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.

61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT

The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.

CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary
information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.

CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA
within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.

CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.

If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA

30Packet Page 51



shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.

62. RATE SCHEDULE

The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as set forth in paragraph 23, above, and in
California Education Code Section 46200-46208.

Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.

63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION

By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:

(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and

(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of
these offenses.

31Packet Page 52



The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or
representatives. This contract is effective on the 1st day of July, 3and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on
June 30, 2024, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.

CONTRACTOR LEA

___________________________________ _BELLA MENTE MONTESSORI ACADEMIES__
Nonpublic School/Agency LEA Name

By: ________________________________ By: __________________________________
Signature Date Signature Date

__Nadia Braun, Founder_____________ _Erin Feeley, Executive Director__
Name and Title of Authorized Name and Title of Authorized
Representative Representative

Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to:

Name and Title Name and Title
Erin Feeley, Executive Director

Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Address Address
1737 W Vista Way

City State Zip City State Zip
Vista CA 92083

Phone Fax Phone 760-621-8931 Fax 760-417-7365

Email Email efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Additional LEA Notification
(Required if completed)

Name and Title

Address

City State Zip

Phone Fax

Email

32

01/25/2024

Packet Page 53



EXHIBIT A: 2023-2024 RATES

4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR

The CONTRACTOR:      
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      

PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     

Maximum Contract Amount:      

Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:

1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      

2) Inclusive Education Program
(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention
Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      

3) Related Services

SERVICE RATE PERIOD

Intensive Individual Services (340)            

Language and Speech (415)            

Adapted Physical Education (425)            

Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            

Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            

Assistive Technology Services (445)            

Occupational Therapy (450)            

Physical Therapy (460)            

Individual Counseling (510)            

Counseling and Guidance (515)            

Parent Counseling (520)            

Social Work Services (525)            

Psychological Services (530)            

Behavior Intervention Services (535)            

Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            

Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            

Interpreter Services (715)            

Audiological Services (720)            

33Packet Page 54



Specialized Vision Services (725)            

Orientation and Mobility (730)            

Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            

Reader Services (745)            

Transcription Services (755)            

Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            

College Awareness (820)            

Work Experience Education (850)            

Job Coaching (855)            

Mentoring (860)            

Travel Training (870)            

Other Transition Services (890)            

Other (900)            

Other (no code)            

34Packet Page 55



EXHIBIT B: 2023-2024 ISA

INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES
(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)

This agreement is effective on July 1, 2023 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,
if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2024, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.

Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      

LEA Case Manager: Name       Phone Number      

Pupil Name                   Sex:☐ M ☐ F Grade:      
(Last) (First) (M.I.)

Address       City       State/Zip      

DOB       Residential Setting: ☐ Home☐ Foster ☐ LCI #       ☐ OTHER      

Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)

Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)

AGREEMENT TERMS:
1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year

      during the extended school year

2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year

      during the extended school year

3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.

A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      

Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION COSTS      

B. RELATED SERVICES:
Provider

SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER
Specify

# of Times per
wk/mo/yr., Duration;

or per IEP;
or as needed

Cost per
session

Maximum
Number of
Sessions

Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for

Contracted Period

Intensive Individual Services (340)      
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

Language/Speech Therapy (415)
a. Individual
b. Group

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

Adapted Physical Ed. (425)
                                         

Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical
Health Care (435)

                                         

Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         

Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         

Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         

Physical Therapy (460)
                                         

Individual Counseling (510)
                                         

Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         

Parent Counseling (520)
                                         

35Packet Page 56



Provider
SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER

Specify
# of Times per

wk/mo/yr., Duration;
or per IEP;
or as needed

Cost per
session

Maximum
Number of
Sessions

Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for

Contracted Period

Social Work Services (525)
                                         

Psychological Services (530)
                                         

Behavior Intervention Services (535)
                                         

Specialized Services for Low Incidence
Disabilities (610)

                                         

Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Services (710)

                                         

Interpreter Services (715)
                                         

Audiological Services (720)
                                         

Specialized Vision Services (725)
                                         

Orientation and Mobility (730)
                                         

Braille Transcription (735)
                                         

Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)
                                         

Reader Services (745)
                                         

Note Taking Services (750)
                                         

Transcription Services (755)
                                         

Recreation Services (760)
                                         

College Awareness Preparation (820)
                                         

Vocational Assessment, Counseling,
Guidance and Career Assessment (830)

                                         

Career Awareness (840)
                                         

Work Experience Education (850)
                                         

Mentoring (860)
                                         

Agency Linkages (865)
                                         

Travel Training (870)
                                         

Other Transition Services (890)
                                         

Other (900)
                                         

Other (no code)
                                         

Transportation-Emergency
b. Transportation-Parent

                                         

Bus Passes
                                         

Other
                                         

ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$      

36Packet Page 57



TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      

4. Other Provisions/Attachments:
     

5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      

6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:

Quarterl
y

Monthl
y

Other
(Specify)

The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.

-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-

(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)
(Name of LEA/SELPA)

(Signature) (Date) (Signature) (Date)

(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)

37Packet Page 58



Erin Feeley, Executive Director

01/25/2024

Packet Page 59



Packet Page 60



TRANSACTION DETAILS DOCUMENT DETAILS

Reference Number

2A2E11F8-5B30-4ED6-8CF7-D2954663A048

Transaction Type

Signature Request

Sent At

01/23/2024 16:23 EST

Executed At

01/25/2024 11:15 EST

Identity Method

email

Distribution Method

email

Signed Checksum

a779230b6804e394da6b28dc122e030941fe8a37f73ebdaf149d2f4b15bb2b2c

Signer Sequencing

Disabled

Document Passcode

Disabled

Document Name

AcademiCognitive Connections Master Contract

Filename

Binder1.pdf

Pages

43 pages

Content Type

application/pdf

File Size

1.09 MB

Original Checksum

b67360e9e784f6711a96371f592258a7dd6eae64b99eff208c9f82e7acc96929

SIGNERS

SIGNER E-SIGNATURE EVENTS

Name

Erin Feeley

Email

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Components

4

Status

signed

Multi-factor Digital Fingerprint Checksum

0facb990a739d44738e13409baf6354e941015262941e6e570af0d75d32788df

IP Address

12.169.146.194

Device

Chrome via Windows

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

9B71176F

Viewed At

01/25/2024 11:14 EST

Identity Authenticated At

01/25/2024 11:15 EST

Signed At

01/25/2024 11:15 EST

AUDITS

TIMESTAMP AUDIT

01/23/2024 16:23 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) created document 'Binder1.pdf' on Chrome via Windows
from 12.169.146.194.

01/23/2024 16:23 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a link to sign.

01/25/2024 11:14 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/25/2024 11:15 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) authenticated via email on Chrome via Windows from
12.169.146.194.

01/25/2024 11:15 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) signed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE

REFERENCE NUMBER
2A2E11F8-5B30-4ED6-8CF7-D2954663A048

Packet Page 61



Client #:
Invoice #:

Invoice Date:
Terms:

0005758
1230011666
12/10/2023          
Net 30

Bella Mente Montessori Academy
1737 W Vista Way
Vista, CA 92083

Accountable Healthcare Staffing, Inc.
PO Box 732800
Dallas, TX 75373-2800

PO#:

PLEASE TEAR AND REMIT WITH PAYMENT

Make Payment To: Client #:
Invoice #:

Invoice Date:
Terms:

0005758
1230011666
12/10/2023          
Net 30

PO#:

Invoice Total Amount
6375.00

Due Date: 01/09/2024

Due Date: 01/09/2024

Page: 1

999 Yamato Rd #210 Boca Raton, FL 33431
Phone: (888) 740-4341

Branch #: 606

Branch #: 606

National Schools Division - 606
3301 Airport Freeway
Suite 340
Bedford, TX 76021

Phone: 888-853-0979

The information presented on this, and the attached page(s) is for facility staffing for the week indicated. If time sheet 
information is available, it will follow the last page of the invoice.

Mail Instructions:

Accountable Healthcare Staffing, Inc.
PO Box 732800
Dallas, TX 75373-2800

Wire Instructions:
Name: Accountable Healthcare Staffing, Inc.
Bank Name: JP Morgan Chase
ACH/EFT Routing #: 044000037
Wire Routing #: 021000021
Account #: 626512631

Please verify the invoices for accuracy. Should you discover any discrepancies, or have any questions concerning the 
invoice, please contact the branch office listed below.
The date of the invoice and the due date are noted in the upper right corner. Please pay all charges by the due date.

Thank you.

Packet Page 62



Hours Bill Rate AmountDate Registrant Discipline Start End 

Bill To:

Client #:
Invoice #:

Invoice Date:
Terms:

Due Date:
Page:

0005758
1230011666
12/10/2023          
Net 30
01/09/2024
2

PO#:

Branch #: 606

Phone: (888) 740-4341
999 Yamato Rd #210 Boca Raton, FL 33431

Bella Mente Montessori Academy
1737 W Vista Way
Vista, CA 92083

7.50 $85.00 $637.50R11/27/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R11/28/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R11/29/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R11/30/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R12/01/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R12/04/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R12/05/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R12/06/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R12/07/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P
7.50 $85.00 $637.50R12/08/2023 Shine, Karin SPEDT 08:00A 04:00P

Totals for (Registrant): Shine, Karin 75.00 $6,375.00

Total Hours: 75.00 Invoice: $6,375.00
(0.0000%) Tax: $0.00

$0.00Payments:

$6,375.00Balance:

Packet Page 63



Client #:
Invoice #:

Invoice Date:
Page:

0005758
1230011666
12/10/2023          
3999 Yamato Rd #210 Boca Raton, FL 33431

Branch #: 606

Phone: (888) 740-4341

Packet Page 64



Client #:
Invoice #:

Invoice Date:
Page:

0005758
1230011666
12/10/2023          
4999 Yamato Rd #210 Boca Raton, FL 33431

Branch #: 606

Phone: (888) 740-4341

Packet Page 65



Client #:
Invoice #:

Invoice Date:
Page:

0005758
1230011666
12/10/2023          
5999 Yamato Rd #210 Boca Raton, FL 33431

Branch #: 606

Phone: (888) 740-4341

Packet Page 66



NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN

SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES

MASTER CONTRACT

2023-2024

Packet Page 67



MASTER CONTRACT
GENERAL AGREEMENT FOR NONSECTARIAN,
NONPUBLIC SCHOOL AND AGENCY SERVICES

Nonpublic School
X Nonpublic Agency

Type of Contract:

X Master Contract for fiscal year with Individual Service Agreements (ISA) to be approved throughout the
term of this contract.

Individual Master Contract for a specific student incorporating the Individual Service Agreement (ISA)
into the terms of this Individual Master Contract specific to a single student.

Interim Contract: an extension of the previous fiscal years approved contracts and rates. The sole purpose
of this Interim Contract is to provide for ongoing funding at the prior year’s rates for 90 days at the sole
discretion of the LEA. Expiration Date:___________

When this section is included as part of any Master Contract, the changes specified above
shall amend Section 4 – Term of Master Contract.

LEA BELLA MENTE MONTESSORI ACADEMY

Contract Year 2023-2024

Packet Page 68



TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. GENERAL PROVISIONS Page

1. MASTER CONTRACT
2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES
3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS
4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT
5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT

FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR TERMINATION
6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
7. DEFINITIONS

II. ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT

8. NOTICES
9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS
10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE
11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST
12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW
13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO

CONFORM TO LEGAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES
14. TERMINATION
15. INSURANCE
16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS
17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
18. SUBCONTRACTING
19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
20. NON-DISCRIMINATION

III. EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM

21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION
22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION
23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES
24. CLASS SIZE
25. CALENDARS
26. DATA REPORTING
27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT
28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING
29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS
30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS
31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE
32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS
33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH
34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS
35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES
36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS
37. TRANSCRIPTS
38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE
39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM

Packet Page 69



40. PARENT ACCESS
41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION CONTRACTORS

AND RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER CONTRACTORS
42. STATE MEAL MANDATE
43. MONITORING

IV. PERSONNEL

44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS
45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS
46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS
47. STAFF ABSENCE
48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR

V. HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES

49. HEALTH AND SAFETY
50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS
51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION
52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING
53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING
54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT
55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN

VI. FINANCIAL

56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING,
ATTENDANCE REPORTING AND BILLING PROCEDURES

57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT
58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES
59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES
60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY
61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT
62. RATE SCHEDULE
63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION

EXHIBIT A: RATES
EXHIBIT B: INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

Packet Page 70



NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY/RELATED SERVICES PROVIDER:      

NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL/AGENCY SERVICES
MASTER CONTRACT

AUTHORIZATION FOR MASTER CONTRACT AND GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. MASTER CONTRACT

This Master Contract (or “Contract”) is entered into on July 1, 2023, between  BELLA MENTE
MONTESSORI ACADEMY , hereinafter referred to as the local educational agency ("LEA"), a member
of the EL DORADO CHARTER SELPA and AT 10 Education, LLC (nonpublic, nonsectarian school or
agency), hereinafter referred to as NPS/A or “CONTRACTOR” for the purpose of providing special
education and/or related services to students with exceptional needs under the authorization of California
Education Code sections 56157, 56361 and 56365 et seq. and Title 5 of the California Code of
Regulations section 3000 et seq., AB 490 (Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) and AB 1858 (Chapter 914,
Statutes of 2004). It is understood that this agreement does not commit the LEA to pay for special
education and/or related services provided to any student, or CONTRACTOR to provide such special
education and/or related services, unless and until an authorized LEA representative approves the
provision of special education and/or related services by CONTRACTOR.

Upon acceptance of a student, LEA shall submit to CONTRACTOR an Individual Service Agreement
(hereinafter referred to as “ISA”). Unless otherwise agreed in writing, these forms shall acknowledge
CONTRACTOR’s obligation to provide all relevant services specified in the student’s Individualized
Education Program (hereinafter referred to as “IEP”). The ISA shall be executed within ninety (90) days
of a student’s enrollment. LEA and CONTRACTOR shall enter into an ISA for each student served by
CONTRACTOR. As available and appropriate, the LEA shall make available access to any electronic
IEP system and/or electronic database for the development of the ISA and invoices.

Unless placement and/or services is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings (hereinafter
referred to as “OAH”) order, a lawfully executed settlement agreement between LEA and parent or
authorized by LEA for a transfer student pursuant to California Education Code section 56325, LEA is
not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement or NPS/A services until the date on which an
IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement is appropriate, and the IEP
is signed by the student’s parent.

2. CERTIFICATION AND LICENSES

CONTRACTOR shall be certified by the California Department of Education (hereinafter referred to as
“CDE”) as a NPS/A. All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification and
licensure specified by CDE Certification and as defined in California Education Code, section 56366 et
seq and within the professional scope of practice of each provider’s license, certification, and/or
credential. A current copy of CONTRACTOR’s NPS/A certification or a waiver of such certification
issued by the CDE pursuant to Education Code section 56366.2 must be provided to LEA on or before the
date this Agreement is executed by CONTRACTOR. This Master Contract shall be null and void if such
certification or waiver is expired, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of

1

2023-2024 CONTRACT NUMBER:

LOCAL EDUCATION AGENCY:   Bella Mente Montessori Academy   

Packet Page 71



this Master Contract. Total student enrollment shall be limited to capacity as stated on CDE certification
and in Section 24 of the Master Contract.

In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified and all staff persons providing services to pupils
shall be certified and/or licensed by that state to provide, respectively, special education and related
services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  

If CONTRACTOR is a licensed children’s institution (hereinafter referred to as “LCI”), CONTRACTOR
shall be licensed by the state, or other public agency having delegated authority by contract with the state
to license, to provide nonmedical care room and board to children, including, but not limited to,
individuals with exceptional needs. The LCI must also comply with all licensing requirements relevant to
the protection of the child, and have a special permit, if necessary, to meet the needs of each child so
placed. If the CONTRACTOR operates a program outside of this State, CONTRACTOR must obtain all
required licenses from the appropriate licensing agency in both California and in the state where the LCI
is located.

With respect to CONTRACTOR’s certification, failure to notify the LEA and CDE in writing of any
changes in: (1) credentialed/licensed staff; (2) ownership; (3) management and/or control of the agency;
(4) major modification or relocation of facilities; or (5) significant modification of the program may result
in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension or termination of this Master
Contract by the LEA.

3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, STATUTES, REGULATIONS

During the term of this Master Contract, unless otherwise agreed, CONTRACTOR shall comply with all
applicable federal, state, and local statutes, laws, ordinances, rules, policies and regulations.
CONTRACTOR shall also comply with all applicable LEA policies and procedures unless, taking into
consideration all of the surrounding facts and circumstances, a policy or policies or a portion of a policy
does not reasonably apply to CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR hereby acknowledges and agrees that it
accepts all risks and responsibilities for its failure to comply with LEA policies and shall indemnify LEA
under the provisions of Section 16 of this Agreement for all liability, loss, damage and expense (including
reasonable attorneys’ fees) resulting from or arising out of CONTRACTOR’s failure to comply with
applicable LEA policies (e.g., those policies relating to; the provision of special education and/or related
services, facilities for individuals with exceptional needs, student enrollment and transfer, student inactive
status, corporal punishment, student discipline, and positive behavior interventions).

CONTRACTOR acknowledges and understands that LEA may report to the CDE any violations of the
provisions of this Master Contract; and that this may result in the suspension and/or revocation of CDE
nonpublic school/agency certification pursuant to California Education Code section 56366.4(a).

4. TERM OF MASTER CONTRACT

The term of this Master Contract shall be from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 (Title 5 California Code of
Regulations section 3062(a)) unless otherwise stated. Neither the CONTRACTOR nor the LEA is
required to renew this Master Contract in subsequent contract years. The parties acknowledge that any
subsequent Master Contract is to be re-negotiated prior to June 30, 2024. In the event the contract
negotiations are not agreed to by June 30th, the most recently executed Master Contract will remain in
effect for 90 days. (Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 3062(d)) No Master Contract will be
offered unless and until all of the contracting requirements have been satisfied. The offer of a Master
Contract to a CONTRACTOR is at the sole discretion of the LEA.

The provisions of this Master Contract apply to CONTRACTOR and any of its employees or independent
contractors. Notice of any change in CONTRACTOR’s ownership or authorized representative shall be

2Packet Page 72



provided in writing to LEA within thirty (30) calendar days of change of ownership or change of
authorized representative.

5. INTEGRATION/CONTINUANCE OF CONTRACT FOLLOWING EXPIRATION OR
TERMINATION

This Master Contract includes each ISA and they are incorporated herein by this reference. This Master
Contract supersedes any prior or contemporaneous written or oral understanding or agreement. This
Master Contract may be amended only by written amendment executed by both parties.

CONTRACTOR shall provide the LEA with information as requested in writing to secure a Master
Contract or a renewal.

At a minimum, such information shall include copies of current teacher credentials and clearance,
insurance documentation and CDE certification. The LEA may require additional information as
applicable. If the application packet is not completed and returned to District, no Master Contract will be
issued. If CONTRACTOR does not return the Master Contract to LEA duly signed by an authorized
representative within ninety (90) calendar days of issuance by LEA, the new contract rates will not take
effect until the newly executed Master Contract is received by LEA and will not be retroactive to the first
day of the new Master Contract’s effective date. If CONTRACTOR fails to execute the new Master
Contract within such ninety-day period, all payments shall cease until such time as the new Master
Contract for the current school year is signed and returned to LEA by CONTRACTOR. (California
Education Code section 56366(c)(1) and (2)). In the event that this Master Contract expires or terminates,
CONTRACTOR shall continue to be bound to all of the terms and conditions of the most recent executed
Master Contract between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as CONTRACTOR is servicing
authorized students at the discretion of the LEA.

6. INDIVIDUAL SERVICE AGREEMENT (“ISA”)

This Agreement shall include an ISA developed for each student to whom CONTRACTOR is to provide
special education and/or related services. An ISA shall only be issued for students enrolled with the
approval of the LEA pursuant to Education Code section 56366 (a)(2)(A). An ISA may be effective for
more than one contract year provided that there is a concurrent Master Contract in effect. In the event that
this Master Contract expires or terminates, CONTRACTOR, shall continue to be bound to all of the terms
and conditions of the most recent executed ISAs between CONTRACTOR and LEA for so long as
CONTRACTOR is servicing authorized students.

Any and all changes to a student’s educational placement/program provided under this Master Contract
and/or an ISA shall be made solely on the basis of a revision to the student’s IEP or by written agreement
between the parent and LEA. At any time during the term of this Master Contract, a student’s parent,
CONTRACTOR, or LEA may request a review of a student’s IEP subject to all procedural safeguards
required by law.

Unless otherwise provided in this Master Contract, the CONTRACTOR shall provide all services
specified in the IEP unless the CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise in the ISA. (California
Education Code sections 56366(a) (5) and 3062(e)). In the event the CONTRACTOR is unable to
provide a specific service at any time during the life of the ISA, the CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA
in writing within five (5) business days of the last date a service was provided. CONTRACTOR shall
provide any and all subsequent compensatory service hours awarded to student as a result of lack of
provision of services while student was served by the NPS/A.

If a parent or LEA contests the termination of an ISA by initiating a due process proceeding with the
OAH, CONTRACTOR shall abide by the “stay-put” requirement of state and federal law unless the

3Packet Page 73



parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful and appropriate
by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States Code.
CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA requirements concerning changes in placement.

Disagreements between LEA and CONTRACTOR concerning the formulation of an ISA or the Master
Contract may be appealed to the County Superintendent of Schools of the County where the LEA is
located, or the State Superintendent of Public Instruction pursuant to the provisions of California
Education Code section 56366(c) (2).

7. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this contract:

a. The term “CONTRACTOR” means a nonpublic, nonsectarian school/agency certified by the
California Department of Education and its officers, agents, and employees.

b. The term “authorized LEA representative” means a LEA administrator designated to be
responsible for NPS/A. It is understood, a representative of the Special Education Local Plan
Area (SELPA) of which the LEA is a member is an authorized LEA representative in
collaboration with the LEA. The LEA maintains sole responsibility for this Contract, unless
otherwise specified in this Contract.

c. The term “credential” means a valid credential, life diploma, permit, or document in special
education or pupil personnel services issued by, or under the jurisdiction of, the State Board of
Education if issued prior to 1970 or the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing, which
entitles the holder thereof to perform services for which certification qualifications are required as
defined in Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 3001(g).

d. The term “qualified” means that a person holds a certificate, permit or other document equivalent
to that which staff in a public school are required to hold to provide special education and related
services and has met federal and state certification, licensing, registration, or other comparable
requirements which apply to the area in which the individual is providing special education or
related services, including those requirements set forth in Title 34 of the Code of Federal
Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and those requirements set forth in Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations Sections 3064 and 3065, and adheres to the standards of
professional practice established in federal and state law or regulation, including the standards
contained in the California Business and Professions Code.

Nothing in this definition shall be construed as restricting the activities in services of a graduate
needing direct hours leading to licensure, or of a student teacher or intern leading to a graduate
degree at an accredited or approved college or university, as authorized by state laws or
regulations. (Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations Section 3001 (r)).

e The term “license” means a valid non-expired document issued by a licensing agency within the
Department of Consumer Affairs or other state licensing office authorized to grant licenses and
authorizing the bearer of the document to provide certain professional services or refer to
themselves using a specified professional title including but not limited to mental health and
board and care services at a residential placement. If a license is not available through an
appropriate state licensing agency, a certificate of registration with the appropriate professional
organization at the national or state level which has standards established for the certificate that
are equivalent to a license shall be deemed to be a license as defined in Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations section 3001(l).

f. “Parent” means:
i. a biological or adoptive parent; unless the biological or adoptive parent does not have

legal authority to make educational decisions for the child,
4Packet Page 74



ii. a guardian generally authorized to act as the child’s parent or authorized to make
educational decisions for the child,

iii. an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent, including a
grandparent, stepparent, or other relative with whom the child lives, or an individual who
is legally responsible for the child’s welfare,

iv. a surrogate parent,
v. a foster parent if the authority of the biological or adoptive parent to make educational

decisions on the child’s behalf has been specifically limited by court order in accordance
with Code of Federal Regulations 300.30(b)(1) or (2).

Parent does not include the state or any political subdivision of government or the NPS/A under
contract with the LEA for the provision of special education or designated instruction and
services for a child. (California Education Code section 56028).

g. The term “days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.

h. The phrase “billable day” means a school day in which instructional minutes meet or exceed
those in comparable LEA programs.

i. The phrase “billable day of attendance” means a school day as defined in California Education
Code Section 46307, in which a student is in attendance and in which instructional minutes meet
or exceed those in comparable LEA programs unless otherwise stipulated in an IEP or ISA.

j. It is understood that the term “Master Contract” also means “Contract” and is referred to as such
in this document.

ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRACT

8. NOTICES

All notices provided for by this Contract shall be in writing. Notices shall be mailed or delivered by hand
and shall be effective as of the date of receipt by addressee.

All notices mailed to LEA shall be addressed to the person and address as indicated on the signature page
of this Master Contract. Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed as indicated on signature page of
this Master Contract.

9. MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS

All records shall be maintained by CONTRACTOR as required by state and federal laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, CONTRACTOR shall maintain all records for at least five (5)
years after the termination of this Master Contract. For purposes of this Master Contract, “records” shall
include, but not be limited to student records as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b)
including electronically stored information; cost data records as set forth in Title 5 of the California Code
of Regulations section 3061; registers and roll books of teachers and/or daily service providers; daily
service logs and notes and other documents used to record the provision of related services including
supervision; daily service logs and notes used to record the provision of services provided through
additional instructional assistants, NPA behavior intervention aides, and bus aides; behavior emergency
reports (BER); incident reports; notification of injuries; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents) if the CONTRACTOR is funded for excused absences, however,
such records are not required if positive attendance is required; bus rosters; staff lists specifying
credentials held and documents evidencing other staff qualifications, social security numbers, dates of
hire, and dates of termination; records of employee training and certification, staff time sheets; non-paid
staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related services subcontracts; school calendars;
bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation insurance policies; state NPS/A
certifications by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if incorporated; statement of income and

5Packet Page 75



expenses; general journals; cash receipts and disbursement books; general ledgers and supporting
documents; documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports; evidence
of electronic payments; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof.

CONTRACTOR shall maintain student records in a secure location to ensure confidentiality and prevent
unauthorized access. CONTRACTOR shall maintain a current list of the names and positions of
CONTRACTOR’s employees who have access to confidential records. CONTRACTOR shall maintain
an access log for each student’s record which lists all persons, agencies, or organizations requesting or
receiving information from the record. Such log shall be maintained as required by California Education
Code section 49064 and include the name, title, agency/organization affiliation, date/time of access for
each individual requesting or receiving information from the student’s record, and a description of the
record(s) provided. Such log needs to record access to the student’s records by: (a) the student’s parent;
(b) an individual to whom written consent has been executed by the student’s parent; or (c) employees of
LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in requesting or receiving information
from the record. CONTRACTOR/LEA shall maintain copies of any written parental concerns granting
access to student records. For purposes of this paragraph, “employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR” do
not include subcontractors. CONTRACTOR shall grant the following access to student records, (a) the
student’s parent; (b) employees of LEA or CONTRACTOR having a legitimate educational interest in
requesting or receiving information from the record, and comply with parents’ requests for copies of
student records, as required by state and federal laws and regulations. CONTRACTOR agrees, in the
event of school or agency closure, to forward student records within ten (10) business days to LEA.
These shall include, but not limited to, current transcripts, IEP/IFSPs, BER’s, incident reports, notification
of injuries and all other relevant reports. LEA and/or SELPA shall have access to and receive copies of
any and all records upon request within five (5) business days.

10. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE

If any provision of this agreement is held, in whole or in part, to be unenforceable for any reason, the
remainder of that provision and of the entire agreement shall be severable and remain in effect.

11. SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST

This contract binds CONTRACTOR’s successors and assignees. CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of
any change of ownership or corporate control.

12. VENUE AND GOVERNING LAW

The laws of the State of California shall govern the terms and conditions of this contract with venue in the
County where the LEA is located.

13. MODIFICATIONS AND AMENDMENTS REQUIRED TO CONFORM TO LEGAL AND
ADMINISTRATIVE GUIDELINES

This Master Contract may be modified or amended by the LEA to conform to administrative and statutory
guidelines issued by any state, federal or local governmental agency. The party seeking such modification
shall provide the LEA and/or CONTRACTOR thirty (30) days’ notice of any such changes or
modifications made to conform to administrative or statutory guidelines and a copy of the statute or
regulation upon which the modification or changes are based.

14. TERMINATION

This Master Contract or ISA may be terminated for cause. The cause shall not be the availability of a
public class initiated during the period of the contract unless the parent agrees to the transfer of the
student to the public school program at an IEP team meeting. To terminate the contract either party shall
give no less than twenty (20) days prior written notice (California Education Code section 56366(a)(4)).
At the time of termination, CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA any and all documents

6Packet Page 76



CONTRACTOR is required to maintain under this Master Contract. ISAs are void upon termination of
this Master Contract, as provided in Section 5 or 6. CONTRACTOR or LEA may terminate an ISA for
cause. To terminate the ISA, either party shall give twenty (20) days prior written notice.

15.      INSURANCE 

CONTRACTOR shall, at CONTRACTOR’S sole cost and expense, maintain in full force and effect,
during the term of this Contract, the following insurance coverage from a California licensed and/or
admitted insurer with an A minus (A-), VII, or better rating from A.M. Best, sufficient to cover any
claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including counsel fees) arising out of or in connection
with CONTRACTOR's fulfillment of any of its obligations under this Agreement or either party's use of
the work or any component or part thereof:

PART I - INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AND AGENCIES

A. Commercial General Liability Insurance, including both bodily injury and property
damage, with limits as follows:

                       
$2,000,000 per occurrence
$  500,000 fire damage
$      5,000 medical expenses
$1,000,000 personal & adv. Injury
$3,000,000 general aggregate
$2,000,000 products/completed operations aggregate

The policy may not contain an exclusion for coverage of claims arising from claims for
sexual molestation or abuse. In the event that CONTRACTOR’s policy should have an
exclusion for sexual molestation or abuse claims, then CONTRACTOR shall be required to
procure a supplemental policy providing such coverage.

B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the CONTRACTOR from claims that may arise from its operations
pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’
Compensation Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with
limits of $1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.

C. Commercial Auto Liability Insurance for all owned, non-owned or hired automobiles with
a $1 million combined single limit. 

If no owned automobiles, then only hired and non-owned is required.

If CONTRACTOR uses a vehicle to travel to/from school sites, between schools and/or
to/from students’ homes or other locations as approved service locations by the LEA,
CONTRACTOR must comply with State of California auto insurance requirements.

D. Errors & Omissions (E & O)/Malpractice (Professional Liability) coverage,
including Sexual Molestation and Abuse coverage, unless that coverage is
afforded elsewhere in the Commercial General Liability policy by
endorsement or separate policy, with the following limits:

                                   $1,000,000 per occurrence
                                   $2,000,000 general aggregate

E.     CONTRACTOR, upon execution of this Contract and periodically thereafter upon request,
shall furnish the LEA with certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. The certificate

7Packet Page 77



of insurance shall include a ten (10) day non-renewal notice provision. The Commercial
General Liability and Automobile Liability policy shall name the LEA and the Board of
Education additional insured’s premiums on all insurance policies and shall be paid by
CONTRACTOR and shall be deemed included in CONTRACTOR’s obligations under this
contract at no additional charge.

F. Any deductibles or self-insured retentions above $100,000 must be declared to and approved
by the LEA. At its option, LEA may require the CONTRACTOR, at the CONTRACTOR’s
sole cost, to: (a) cause its insurer to reduce to levels specified by the LEA or eliminate such
deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to the LEA, its officials and employees, or
(b) procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigation.

G. For any claims related to the services performed in connection with this Master Contract, the
CONTRACTOR’s insurance coverage shall be the primary insurance with respect to the
LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained
by the LEA, its subsidiaries, officials and employees shall be excess of the CONTRACTOR's
insurance and shall not contribute with it.

H. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, and the location of the school or agency submitting the
certificate on the certificate.

PART II - INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR NONPUBLIC SCHOOLS AFFILIATED WITH
A RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FACILITY (“RTC”)

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS affiliated with a residential treatment center (NPS/RTC), the
following insurance policies are required:

A. Commercial General Liability including both bodily injury and property damage, with
limits as follows:

$3,000,000 per occurrence
$6,000,000 in General Aggregate.

The policy shall be endorsed to name the LEA and the Board of Education as named
additional insured and shall provide specifically that any insurance carried by the LEA which
may be applicable to any claims or loss shall be deemed excess and the RTC’s insurance
primary despite any conflicting provisions in the RTC’s policy. Coverage shall be maintained
with no Self-Insured Retention above $100,000 without the prior written approval of the
LEA.

B. Workers' Compensation Insurance in accordance with provisions of the California Labor
Code adequate to protect the RTC from claims that may arise from its operations pursuant to
the Workers' Compensation Act (Statutory Coverage). The Workers’ Compensation
Insurance coverage must also include Employers Liability coverage with limits of
$1,000,000/$1,000,000/$1,000,000.

C. Commercial Auto Liability coverage with limits of $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence if the RTC does not operate a student bus service. If the RTC provides student
bus services, the required coverage limit is $5,000,000 Combined Single Limit per
Occurrence.

D. Fidelity Bond or Crime Coverage shall be maintained by the RTC to cover all employees
who process or otherwise have responsibility for RTC funds, supplies, equipment or other
assets. Minimum amount of coverage shall be $250,000 per occurrence, with no self-insured
retention.

8Packet Page 78



E. Professional Liability/Errors & Omissions/Malpractice coverage with minimum limits of
$3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.

F. Sexual Molestation and Abuse Coverage, unless that coverage is afforded elsewhere in the
Commercial General Liability or Professional liability policy by endorsement, with minimum
limits of $3,000,000 per occurrence and $6,000,000 general aggregate.

If LEA or CONTRACTOR determines that a change in insurance coverage obligations under this section
is necessary, either party may reopen negotiations to modify the insurance obligations.

16. INDEMNIFICATION AND HOLD HARMLESS

To the fullest extent allowed by law, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold LEA and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, volunteers, and subcontractors (“LEA
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance, to the extent that such loss,
expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by negligence, intentional act, or willful act or
omission of CONTRACTOR, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or
anyone employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding LEA and LEA Indemnities). The duty and
obligation to defend shall arise immediately upon tender of a claim or lawsuit to the CONTRACTOR.
The LEA and the Member District(s) shall have the right in their sole discretion to select counsel of its
choice to provide the defense at the sole cost of the CONTRACTOR or the applicable insurance carrier.

To the fullest extent allowed by law, LEA shall indemnify and hold CONTRACTOR and its Board
Members, administrators, employees, agents, attorneys, and subcontractors (“CONTRACTOR
Indemnities”) harmless against all liability, loss, damage and expense (including reasonable attorneys’
fees) resulting from or arising out of this Master Contract or its performance thereof, to the extent that
such loss, expense, damage or liability was proximately caused by the negligent, intentional act or willful
act or omission of LEA, including, without limitation, its agents, employees, subcontractors or anyone
employed directly or indirectly by it (excluding CONTRACTOR and/or any CONTRACTOR
Indemnities).

LEA represents that it is self-insured in compliance with the laws of the State of California, that the
self-insurance covers district employees acting within the course and scope of their respective duties and
that its self-insurance covers the LEA’s indemnification obligations under this Master Contract.

17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR

Nothing herein contained will be construed to imply a joint venture, partnership or principal-agent
relationship between the LEA and CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall provide all services under this
Contract as an independent contractor, and neither party shall have the authority to bind or make any
commitment on behalf of the other. Nothing contained in this Contract shall be deemed to create any
association, partnership, joint venture or relationship of principal and agent, master and servant, or
employer and employee between the parties or any affiliates of the parties, or between the LEA and any
individual assigned by CONTRACTOR to perform any services for the LEA.

If the LEA is determined to be a partner, joint venture, co-principal, employer or co-employer of
CONTRACTOR, CONTRACTOR shall indemnify and hold harmless the LEA from and against any and
all claims for loss, liability, or damages arising from that determination, as well as any expenses, costs,
taxes, penalties and interest charges incurred by the LEA as a result of that holding.

18. SUBCONTRACTING

CONTRACTOR shall provide written notification to LEA before subcontracting for special education
and/or related services pursuant to this Master Contract. In the event LEA determines that it can provide
the subcontracted service(s) at a lower rate, LEA may elect to provide such service(s). If LEA elects to

9Packet Page 79



provide such service(s), LEA shall provide written notification to CONTRACTOR within five (5) days of
receipt of CONTRACTOR’s original notice and CONTRACTOR shall not subcontract for said service(s).

CONTRACTOR shall incorporate all of the provisions of this Master Contract in all subcontracts, to the
fullest extent reasonably possible. Furthermore, when CONTRACTOR enters into subcontracts for the
provision of special education and/or related services (including, but not limited to, transportation) for any
student, CONTRACTOR shall cause each subcontractor to procure and maintain insurance during the
term of each subcontract. Such subcontractor’s insurance shall comply with the provisions of Section 15.
Each subcontractor shall furnish the LEA with original endorsements and certificates of insurance
effecting coverage required by Section 15. The endorsements are to be signed by a person authorized by
that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. The endorsements are to be on forms as required by the LEA.
All endorsements are to be received and approved by the LEA before the subcontractor’s work
commences. The Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability policies shall name the
LEA/SELPA and the LEA Board of Education as additional insured.

As an alternative to the LEA's forms, a subcontractor’s insurer may provide complete, certified copies of
all required insurance policies, including endorsements affecting the coverage required by this Master
Contract. All Certificates of Insurance must reference the LEA contract number, name of the school or
agency submitting the certificate, indication if NPS or NPA, and the location of the school or agency
submitting the certificate. In addition, all subcontractors must meet the requirements as contained in
Section 45 Clearance Requirements and Section 46 Staff Qualifications of this Master Contract.

19. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA upon request a copy of its current bylaws and a current list of its
Board of Directors (or Trustees), if it is incorporated. CONTRACTOR and any member of its Board of
Directors (or Trustees) shall disclose any relationship with LEA that constitutes or may constitute a
conflict of interest pursuant to California Education Code section 56042 and Government Code Section
1090 including, but not limited to, employment with LEA, provision of private party assessments and/or
reports, and attendance at IEP team meetings acting as a student’s advocate. Pursuant to California
Education code section 56042, an attorney or advocate for a parent of an individual with exceptional
needs shall not recommend placement at CONTRACTOR’s facility if the attorney or advocate is
employed or contracted by the CONTRACTOR, or will receive a benefit from the CONTRACTOR, or
otherwise has a conflict of interest.

The LEA shall neither execute an ISA with CONTRACTOR nor amend an existing ISA for a student
when a recommendation for special education and/or related services is based in whole or in part on
assessment(s) or reports provided by CONTRACTOR to the student without prior written authorization
by LEA. This paragraph shall apply to CONTRACTOR regardless of when an assessment is performed or
a report is prepared (i.e., before or after the student is enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s school/agency) or
whether an assessment of the student is performed or a report is prepared in the normal course of the
services provided to the student by CONTRACTOR. To avoid conflict of interest, and in order to ensure
the appropriateness of an Independent Educational Evaluation (hereinafter referred to as “IEE”) and its
recommendations, the LEA may not fund an IEE by an evaluator who provides ongoing service(s) or is
sought to provide service(s) to the student for whom the IEE is requested. Likewise, the LEA may not
fund services through the evaluator whose IEE the LEA agrees to fund. When no other appropriate
assessor is available, LEA may request and if CONTRACTOR agrees, the CONTRACTOR may provide
an IEE.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR acknowledges that its authorized representative has
read and understands Education Code section 56366.3 which provides, in relevant part, that no special
education and/or related services provided by CONTRACTOR shall be paid for by LEA if provided by an
individual who is or was an employee of LEA within the three hundred and sixty-five (365) days prior to
executing this contract. This provision does not apply to any person who is able to provide designated
instruction and services during the extended school year because he or she is otherwise employed for up
to ten months of the school year by LEA.

10Packet Page 80



CONTRACTOR shall not admit a student living within the jurisdictional boundaries of the LEA on a
private pay or tuition free “scholarship” basis and concurrently or subsequently advise/request parent(s) to
pursue funding for the admitted school year from the LEA through due process proceedings.

20. NON-DISCRIMINATION

CONTRACTOR shall not, in employment or operation of its programs, unlawfully discriminate on the
basis of gender, nationality, national origin, ancestry, race, color, ethnicity, ethnic group affiliation,
religion, age, marital status, pregnancy or parental status, sex, sexual orientation, gender, gender identity
or expression, physical or mental disability, genetic information or any other classification protected by
federal or state law or the perception of one or more of such characteristics or association with a person or
group with one or more of these actual or perceived characteristics.

EDUCATIONAL PROGRAM

21. FREE AND APPROPRIATE PUBLIC EDUCATION (FAPE)

The LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with a copy of the IEP including the Individualized Transition
Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ITP”) of each student served by CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall
provide special education and/or related services (including transition services) to each student within the
NPS/A consistent with the student’s IEP and as specified in the ISA. If CONTRACTOR is a NPS,
CONTRACTOR shall not accept a student if it cannot provide or ensure the provision of the services
outlined in the student’s IEP. If student services are provided by a third party (i.e. Related Services
Provider), CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA if provision of services cease.

Unless otherwise agreed to between CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for
the provision of all appropriate supplies, equipment, and/or facilities, as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. CONTRACTOR shall make no charge of any kind to parents for special education and/or related
services as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA (including, but not limited to, screenings, assessments,
or interviews that occur prior to or as a condition of the student’s enrollment under the terms of this
Master Contract). LEA shall provide low incidence equipment for eligible students with low incidence
disabilities when specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. Such equipment remains the property of the
SELPA/LEA and shall be returned to the SELPA/LEA when the IEP team determines the equipment is no
longer needed or when the student is no longer enrolled in the NPS. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
facilities are adequate to provide LEA students with an environment which meets all pertinent health and
safety regulations. CONTRACTOR may charge a student’s parent(s) for services and/or activities not
necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public education after: (a) written notification to the
student’s parent(s) of the cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities; and (b) receipt by the
LEA of the written notification and a written acknowledgment signed by the student’s parent(s) of the
cost and voluntary nature of the services and/or activities. CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all LEA
requirements concerning parent acknowledgment of financial responsibility.

Voluntary services and/or activities not necessary for the student to receive a free appropriate public
education shall not interfere with the student’s receipt of special education and/or related services as
specified in the student’s IEP and ISA unless the LEA, CONTRACTOR, and PARENT agree otherwise in
writing.

22. GENERAL PROGRAM OF INSTRUCTION

All NPS/A services shall be provided consistent with the area of certification specified by CDE
Certification and as defined in California Education Code section 56366 et seq...

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR’s general program of instruction shall: (a) utilize
evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA’s standards regarding the particular course of study

11Packet Page 81



and curriculum; (b) include curriculum that addresses mathematics, literacy and the use of educational,
assistive technology and transition services; (c) be consistent with CDE’s standards regarding the
particular course of study and curriculum; (d) provide the services as specified in the student’s IEP and
ISA. Students shall have access to: (a) State Board of Education (SBE) - adopted Common Core State
Standards (“CCSS”) for curriculum and the same instructional materials for kindergarten and grades 1 to
8, inclusive; and provide standards – aligned core curriculum and instructional materials for grades 9 to
12, inclusive, used by an LEA, that contracts with the NPS: (b) college preparation courses; (c)
extracurricular activities, such as art, sports, music and academic clubs; (d) career preparation and
vocational training, consistent with transition plans pursuant to state and federal law and; (e) supplemental
assistance, including individual academic tutoring, psychological counseling, and career and college
counseling.

When CONTRACTOR serves students in grades 9 through 12 inclusive, LEA shall provide to
CONTRACTOR a specific list of the course requirements to be satisfied by the CONTRACTOR leading
toward graduation or completion of LEA’s diploma requirements. CONTRACTOR shall not award a
high school diploma to students who have not successfully completed all of the LEA’s graduation
requirements.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, CONTRACTOR’s general program of
instruction and/or services shall utilize evidence-based practices and be consistent with LEA and CDE
guidelines and certification, and provided as specified in the student’s IEP and ISA. The NPA providing
Behavior Intervention services shall develop a written plan that specifies the nature of their NPA service
for each student within thirty (30) days of enrollment and shall be provided in writing to the LEA.
School-based services may not be unilaterally converted by CONTRACTOR to a substitute program or
provided at a location not specifically authorized by the IEP team. Except for services provided by a
CONTRACTOR that is a Licensed Children’s Institution (LCI), all services not provided in the school
setting require the presence of a parent, guardian or adult caregiver during the delivery of services,
provided such guardian or caregiver have a signed authorization by the parent or legal guardian to
authorize emergency services as requested. LCI CONTRACTORS shall ensure that appropriate and
qualified residential or clinical staff is present during the provision of services under this Master Contract.
CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA in writing if no parent, guardian or adult caregiver is
present. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA a written description of the services and location provided
prior to the effective date of this Master Contract. CONTRACTORS providing Behavior Intervention
services must have a trained behaviorist or trained equivalent on staff. It is understood that Behavior
Intervention services are limited per CDE Certification and do not constitute as an instructional program.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall not provide transportation nor subcontract for
transportation services for students unless the LEA and CONTRACTOR agree otherwise in writing.

23. INSTRUCTIONAL MINUTES

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, the total number of instructional minutes per school day provided by
CONTRACTOR shall be at least equivalent to the number of instructional minutes per school day
provided to students at like grade level attending LEA schools and shall be specified in the student’s ISA
developed in accordance with the student’s IEP.

For students in grades kindergarten through 12 inclusive, unless otherwise specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA, the number of instructional minutes, excluding breakfast, recess, lunch and passing time shall be
at the same level that Ed. Code prescribes for the LEA.

The total number of annual instructional minutes shall be at least equivalent to the total number of annual
instructional minutes provided to students attending LEA schools in like grade level unless otherwise
specified in the student’s IEP.

12Packet Page 82



When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, the total number of minutes per school
day provided by CONTRACTOR shall be specified in the student’s ISA developed in accordance with the
student’s IEP.

24. CLASS SIZE

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall ensure that class size shall not exceed a ratio of
one teacher per twelve (12) students, unless CONTRACTOR and LEA agree otherwise in writing. Upon
prior written approval by an authorized LEA representative, class size may be temporarily increased by a
ratio of 1 teacher to fourteen (14) students when necessary during the regular or extended school year to
provide services to students with disabilities.

In the event a NPS is unable to fill a vacant teaching position responsible for direct instruction to students,
and the vacancy has direct impact on the CDE Certification of that school, the NPS shall develop a plan to
ensure appropriate coverage of students by first utilizing existing certificated staff. The NPS and the LEA
may agree to one 30 school day period per contract year where class size may be increased to ensure
coverage by an appropriately credentialed teacher. Such an agreement shall be in writing and signed by
both parties. This provision does not apply to a NPA.

CONTRACTOR providing special education instruction for individuals with exceptional needs between
the ages of three and five years, inclusive, shall also comply with the appropriate instructional adult to
child ratios pursuant to California Education Code sections 56440 et seq.

25. CALENDARS

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA/SELPA a school calendar
with the total number of billable days not to exceed 180 days, plus extended school year billable days
equivalent to the number of days determined by the LEA’s extended school year calendar. Billable days
shall include only those days that are included on the submitted and approved school calendar, and/or
required by the IEP (developed by the LEA) for each student. CONTRACTOR shall not be allowed to
change its school calendar and/or amend the number of billable days without the prior written approval of
the LEA. Nothing in this Master Contract shall be interpreted to require the LEA to accept any requests
for calendar changes.

Unless otherwise specified by the student’s IEP, educational services shall occur at the school site. A
student shall only be eligible for extended school year services as determined by the IEP team and the
provision of such is specifically included in the ISA. Extended school year shall consist of twenty (20)
instructional days, unless otherwise agreed upon by the IEP team convened by the LEA. Any days of
extended school year in excess of twenty (20) billable days must be mutually agreed to, in writing, prior
to the start of the extended school year.

Student must have actually been in attendance during the regular school year and/or during extended
school year and received services on a billable day of attendance in order for CONTRACTOR to be
eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be provided on
weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the LEA, in writing,
in advance of the delivery of any NPS service. Any instructional days provided without this written
agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of the CONTRACTOR.

CONTRACTOR shall observe the same legal holidays as LEA. Those holidays are Labor Day, Veteran’s
Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day, New Year’s Day, Martin Luther King Jr. Day, President’s Day,
Memorial Day and Independence Day. With the approval of LEA, CONTRACTOR may revise the date
upon which CONTRACTOR closes in observance of any of the holidays observed by the LEA.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA, CONTRACTOR shall be provided with a LEA-developed/approved
calendar prior to the initiation of services. CONTRACTOR herein agrees to observe holidays as specified
in the LEA-developed/approved calendar. CONTRACTOR shall provide services pursuant to the

13Packet Page 83



LEA-developed/approved calendar; or as specified in the LEA student’s IEP and ISA. Unless otherwise
specified in the LEA student’s ISA, CONTRACTOR shall provide related services to LEA students on
only those days that the LEA student’s school of attendance is in session and the LEA student attends
school. CONTRACTOR shall bill only for services provided on billable days of attendance as indicated
on the LEA calendar unless CONTRACTOR and the LEA agree otherwise, in writing. Student must have
actually been in attendance and/or received services on a billable day of attendance in order for
CONTRACTOR to be eligible for payment. It is specifically understood that services may not be
provided on weekends/holidays and other times when school is not in session, unless agreed to by the
LEA, in writing, in advance of the delivery of any NPA service provided by CONTRACTOR. Any
instructional days provided without this written agreement shall be at the sole financial responsibility of
the CONTRACTOR.

26. DATA REPORTING

CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide to the LEA all data related to student information and billing
information with LEA. CONTRACTOR shall agree to provide data related to all sections of this contract,
including student discipline as noted below, and requested by and in the format required by the LEA. It is
understood that all NPS/A shall utilize the LEA approved electronic IEP system for all IEP development,
service tracking documentation, and progress reporting, unless otherwise agreed to by the LEA.
Additional progress reporting may be required by the LEA. The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR
with appropriate software, user training and proper internet permissions to allow adequate access.

Using forms developed by the CDE or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA,
CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA, on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a
statutory offense is committed by any LEA student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of
suspension or expulsion. This includes all statutory offenses as described in Education Code sections
48900 and 48915. CONTRACTOR shall also include incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral
restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a violation of Education Code sections 48900
and 48915.

The LEA shall provide the CONTRACTOR with approved forms and/or format for such data including,
but not limited to, invoicing, attendance reports and progress reports. The LEA may approve use of
CONTRACTOR’S provided forms at their discretion.

27. LEAST RESTRICTIVE ENVIRONMENT/DUAL ENROLLMENT

CONTRACTOR and LEA shall follow all LEA policies and procedures that support Least Restrictive
Environment (“LRE”) options and/or dual enrollment options if available and appropriate, for students to
have access to the general curriculum and to be educated with their nondisabled peers to the maximum
extent appropriate.

CONTRACTOR and LEA shall ensure that LRE placement options are addressed at all IEP team
meetings regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. This shall include IEP team
consideration of supplementary aids and services, goals and objectives necessary for placement in the
LRE and necessary to enable students to transition to less restrictive settings.

When an IEP team has determined that a student should be transitioned into the public school setting,
CONTRACTOR shall assist the LEA in implementing the IEP team’s recommended activities to support
the transition.

28. STATEWIDE ACHIEVEMENT TESTING

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, per implementation of Senate Bill 484, CONTRACTOR shall
administer all statewide assessments within the California Assessment of Student Performance and
Progress (“CAASPP”), Desired Results Developmental Profile (“DRDP”), California Alternative
Assessment (“CAA”), achievement and abilities tests (using LEA-authorized assessment instruments), the

14Packet Page 84



Fitness Gram, , the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“ELPAC”), the Alternative
English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (“Alternative ELPAC”), and as appropriate to
the student, and mandated by LEA pursuant to LEA and state and federal guidelines.

CONTRACTOR is subject to the alternative accountability system developed pursuant to Education Code
section 52052, in the same manner as public schools. Each LEA student placed with CONTRACTOR by
the LEA shall be tested by qualified staff of CONTRACTOR in accordance with that accountability
program. LEA shall provide test administration training to CONTRACTOR’S qualified staff.
CONTRACTOR shall attend LEA test training and comply with completion of all coding requirements as
required by LEA.

29. MANDATED ATTENDANCE AT LEA MEETINGS

CONTRACTOR shall attend District mandated meetings when legal mandates, and/or LEA policy and
procedures are reviewed, including but not limited to the areas of: curriculum, high school graduation,
standards-based instruction, behavior intervention, cultural and linguistic needs of students with
disabilities, dual enrollment responsibilities, LRE responsibilities, transition services, data collection, and
standardized testing and IEPs. LEA shall provide CONTRACTOR with reasonable notice of mandated
meetings. Attendance at such meetings does not constitute a billable service hour(s).

30. POSITIVE BEHAVIOR INTERVENTIONS AND SUPPORTS

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of Education Code section 49005, et seq., 56521.1
and 56521.2. LEA students who exhibit behaviors that interfere with their learning or the learning of
others must receive timely and appropriate assessments and positive supports and interventions in
accordance with the federal law and it’s implementing regulations. If the IEP team determines that a
student’s behavior impedes his or her learning or the learning of others, the IEP team is required to
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations. This could mean that instead of developing a Behavior Intervention Plan
(“BIP”), the IEP team may conclude it is sufficient to address the student’s behavioral problems through
the development of behavioral goals and behavioral interventions to support those goals.

CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written policy pursuant to California Education Code section 56521.1
regarding emergency interventions and behavioral emergency reports. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that
all of its staff members are trained in crisis intervention, emergency procedures, and evidenced-based
practices and interventions specific to the unique behavioral needs of the CONTRACTOR’s pupil
population. The training shall be provided within 30 days of employment to new staff who have any
contact or interaction with pupils during the school day, and annually to all staff who have any contact or
interaction with pupils during the school day. The CONTRACTOR shall select and conduct the training in
accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1. CONTRACTOR shall maintain written
records of the training and provide written verification of the training annually and upon request.

Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.1, emergency interventions shall not be used as a substitute for
a BIP, and shall not be employed longer than necessary to contain the behavior. Emergency interventions
may only be used to control unpredictable, spontaneous behavior that poses clear and present danger of
serious physical harm to the individual with exceptional needs, or others, and that cannot be immediately
prevented by a response less restrictive than the temporary application of a technique used to contain the
behavior. If a situation requires prolonged use of emergency intervention, staff must seek assistance from
the school site administrator or a law enforcement agency.

CONTRACTOR shall complete a behavior emergency report when an emergency occurs that is defined
as a serious, dangerous behavior that staff has determined to present a clear and present danger to others.
It requires a non-violent physical intervention to protect the safety of student, self, or others and a
physical intervention has been used; or a physical intervention has not been used, but an injury or serious
property damage has occurred. Personal Safety Techniques may or may not have been used. Emergencies

15Packet Page 85



require a behavior emergency report form be completed and submitted to the LEA within twenty-four
(24) hours for administrative action. CONTRACTOR shall notify Parent within twenty-four (24) hours
via telephone. If the student’s IEP does not contain a BIP, an IEP team shall schedule a meeting to review
the behavior emergency report, determine if there is a necessity for a functional behavioral assessment,
and to determine an interim plan. If the student already has a BIP, the IEP team shall review and modify
the BIP if a new serious behavior has been exhibited or existing behavioral interventions have proven to
be ineffective. CONTRACTOR shall schedule with LEA an IEP meeting within two (2) days.

Pursuant to Education Code section 56521.2, CONTRACTOR shall not authorize, order, consent to, or
pay for the following interventions, or any other interventions similar to or like the following:

1. any intervention that is designed to, or likely to, cause physical pain, including, but not limited to,
electric-shock;

2. an intervention that involves the release of noxious, toxic, or otherwise unpleasant sprays, mists, or
substances in proximity to the face of the individual;

3. an intervention that denies adequate sleep, food, water, shelter, bedding, physical comfort, or
access to bathroom facilities;

4. an intervention that is designed to subject, used to subject, or likely to subject, the individual to
verbal abuse, ridicule, or humiliation, or that can be expected to cause excessive emotional trauma;

5. restrictive interventions that employ a device, material, or objects that simultaneously immobilize
all four extremities, including the procedure known as prone containment, except that prone
containment or similar techniques may be used by trained personnel as a limited emergency
intervention;

6. locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a
locked room;

7. an intervention that precludes adequate supervision of the individual;
8. an intervention that deprives the individual of one or more of his or her senses.

CONTRACTOR shall comply with Education Code section 49005.8. Specifically, Contractor shall not
do any of the following:

1. Use seclusion or a behavioral restraint for the purpose of coercion, discipline, convenience, or
retaliation.

2. Use locked seclusion, unless it is in a facility otherwise licensed or permitted by state law to use a
locked room.

3. Use a physical restraint technique that obstructs a pupil’s respiratory airway or impairs the pupil’s
breathing or respiratory capacity, including techniques in which a staff member places pressure on
a pupil’s back or places his or her body weight against the pupil’s torso or back.

4. Use a behavioral restraint technique that restricts breathing, including, but not limited to, using a
pillow, blanket, carpet, mat, or other item to cover a pupil’s face.

5. Place a pupil in a facedown position with the pupil’s hands held or restrained behind the pupil’s
back.

6. Use a behavioral restraint for longer than is necessary to contain the behavior that poses a clear
and present danger of serious physical harm to the pupil or others.

CONTRACTOR shall keep constant, direct observation of a pupil who is in seclusion, which may be
through observation of the pupil through a window, or another barrier, through which the educational
provider is able to make direct eye contact with the pupil. This observation shall not be through indirect
means, including through a security camera or a closed-circuit television.

CONTRACTOR shall afford pupils who are restrained the least restrictive alternative and the maximum
freedom of movement, and shall use the least number of restraint points, while ensuring the physical
safety of the pupil and others.

If prone restraint techniques are used by CONTRACTOR, a staff member shall observe the pupil for any
signs of physical distress throughout the use of prone restraint. Whenever possible, the staff member
monitoring the pupil shall not be involved in restraining the pupil.

16Packet Page 86



In the case of a child whose behavior impedes the child’s learning or that of others, the IEP team shall
consider the use of positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies, to address that
behavior, consistent with Section 1414(d)(3)(B)(i) and (d)(4) of Title 20 of the United States Code and
associated federal regulations.

All restraint practices must be reviewed and revised when they have an adverse effect on a student and are
used repeatedly for an individual child, either on multiple occasions within the same classroom or
multiple uses by the same individual. CONTRACTOR shall notify the student’s parent/guardian when
any type of physical or mechanical restraint or seclusion has been used. Upon the use of any type of
physical or mechanical restraint or seclusions of an LEA student, CONTRACTOR shall complete a BER
per the reporting and notification requirements listed above.

31. STUDENT DISCIPLINE

CONTRACTOR shall maintain and abide by a written policy for student discipline that is consistent with
state and federal law and regulations. Using forms developed by the California Department of Education
or as otherwise mutually agreed upon by CONTRACTOR and LEA, CONTRACTOR shall provide LEA,
on a monthly basis, a written report of all incidents in which a statutory offense is committed by any LEA
student, regardless if it results in a disciplinary action of suspension or expulsion. This includes all
statutory offenses as described in Education Codes 48900 and 48915.CONTRACTOR shall also include
incidents resulting in the use of a behavioral restraint and/or seclusion even if they were not a result of a
violation of Education Code Sections 48900 and 48915.

When CONTRACTOR seeks to remove a student from his/her current educational placement for
disciplinary reasons, CONTRACTOR shall immediately submit a written discipline report to the LEA.
Written discipline reports shall include, but not be limited to: the student’s name; the time, date, and
description of the misconduct; the disciplinary action taken by CONTRACTOR; and the rationale for
such disciplinary action. A copy of the student’s behavior plan, if any, shall be submitted with the written
discipline report. CONTRACTOR and LEA agree to participate in a manifestation determination at an
IEP meeting no later than the tenth (10th) day of suspension.

32. IEP TEAM MEETINGS

An IEP team meeting shall be convened at least annually to evaluate: (1) the educational progress of each
student placed with CONTRACTOR, including all state assessment results pursuant to the requirements
of Education Code section 52052; (2) whether or not the needs of the student continue to be best met at
the NPS; and (3) whether changes to the student’s IEP are necessary, including whether the student may
be transitioned to a public school setting. (California Education Code sections 56366 (a) (2) (B) (i) and
(ii)) and pursuant to California Education Code section 56345 (b) (4).)

If the LEA student is to be transferred from a NPS setting into a regular class setting in a public school for
any part of the school day, the IEP team shall document a description of activities provided to integrate
the student into the regular education program, including the nature of each activity as well as the time
spent on the activity each day or week and a description of the activities provided to support the transition
of the student from the special education program into the regular education program. Each student shall
be allowed to provide confidential input to any representative of his or her IEP team. Except as otherwise
provided in the Master Contract, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall participate in all IEP team meetings
regarding students for whom ISAs have been or may be executed. At any time during the term of this
Master Contract, the parent, the CONTRACTOR or the LEA may request a review of the student’s IEP,
subject to all procedural safeguards required by law, including reasonable notice given to, and
participation of, the CONTRACTOR in the meeting. Every effort shall be made to schedule IEP team
meetings at a time and place that is mutually convenient to parent, CONTRACTOR and LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA assessments and written assessment reports by service providers
upon request and/or pursuant to LEA policy and procedures. It is understood that attendance at an IEP

17Packet Page 87



meeting is part of CONTRACTOR’S professional responsibility and is not a billable service under this
Master Contract.

It is understood that the CONTRACTOR shall utilize the approved electronic IEP system of the LEA for
all IEP planning and progress reporting at the LEA’s discretion. The LEA or SELPA may provide training
for any CONTRACTOR to ensure access to the approved system. The CONTRACTOR shall maintain
confidentiality of all IEP data on the approved system and shall protect the password requirements of the
system. When a student dis-enrolls from the NPS/NPA, the NPS/NPA and LEA shall discontinue use of
the approved system for that student.

Changes in any student’s educational program, including instruction, services, or instructional setting
provided under this Master Contract, may only be made on the basis of revisions to the student’s IEP. In
the event that the CONTRACTOR believes the student requires a change of placement, the
CONTRACTOR may request a review of the student’s IEP for the purposes of consideration of a change
in the student’s placement. Student is entitled to remain in the last agreed upon and implemented
placement unless parent agrees otherwise or an Interim Alternative Educational Setting is deemed lawful
and appropriate by LEA or OAH consistent with Section 1415 (k)(1)(7) of Title 20 of the United States
Code.

33. SURROGATE PARENTS AND FOSTER YOUTH

CONTRACTOR shall comply with LEA surrogate parent assignments. Surrogate parents shall serve as
the child’s parent and have all the rights relative to the student's education that a parent has under
the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act pursuant to 20 USC 1414-1482 and 34 CFR
300.1-300.756. A pupil in foster care shall be defined pursuant to California Education Code section
42238.01(b). The LEA shall annually notify the CONTRACTOR who the LEA has designated as the
educational liaison for foster children. When a pupil in foster care is enrolled in a NPS by the LEA any
time after the completion of the pupil’s second year of high school, the CONTRACTOR shall schedule
the pupil in courses leading towards graduation based on the diploma requirements of the LEA unless
provided notice otherwise in writing pursuant to Section 51225.1.

34. DUE PROCESS PROCEEDINGS

CONTRACTOR shall fully participate in special education due process proceedings including mediations
and hearings, as requested by LEA. Participation further includes the willingness to make
CONTRACTOR’s staff available for witness preparation and testimony as is necessary to facilitate a due
process hearing. CONTRACTOR shall also fully participate in the investigation and provision of
documentation related to any complaint filed with the State of California, the Office of Civil Rights, or
any other state and/or federal governmental body or agency. Full participation shall include, but in no
way be limited to, cooperating with LEA representatives to provide complete answers raised by any
investigator and/or the immediate provision of any and all documentation that pertains to the operation of
CONTRACTOR’s program and/or the implementation of a particular student’s IEP/Individual and Family
Service Plan (“IFSP”).

35. COMPLAINT PROCEDURES

CONTRACTOR shall maintain and adhere to its own written procedures for responding to parent
complaints. These procedures shall include annually notifying and providing parents of students with
appropriate information (including complaint forms) for the following: (1) Uniform Complaint
Procedures pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4600 et seq.; (2)
Nondiscrimination policy pursuant to Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations section 4960 (a); (3)
Sexual Harassment Policy, California Education Code 231.5 (a) (b) (c); (4) Title IX Student Grievance
Procedure, Title IX 106.8 (a) (d) and 106.9 (a); and (5) Notice of Privacy Practices in compliance with
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”). CONTRACTOR shall include
verification of these procedures to the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall immediately notify LEA of any

18Packet Page 88

http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/364373/6
http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/364412/6
http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/191419/6
http://www.gamutonline.net/4daction/web_loaddisplaypolicy/191725/6


complaints filed against it related to LEA students and provide LEA with all documentation related to the
complaints and/or its investigation of complaints, including any and all reports generated as a result of an
investigation.

36. STUDENT PROGRESS REPORTS/REPORT CARDS AND ASSESSMENTS

Unless LEA requests in writing that progress reports be provided on a monthly basis, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to parents at least four (4) written progress reports/report cards. At a minimum, progress
reports shall include progress over time towards IEP goals and objectives. A copy of the progress
reports/report cards shall be maintained at the CONTRACTOR’s place of business and shall be submitted
to the LEA and LEA student’s parent(s) quarterly.

The CONTRACTOR shall also provide an LEA representative access to supporting documentation used
to determine progress on any goal or objective, including but not limited to log sheets, observation notes,
data sheets, pre/post tests, rubrics and other similar data collection used to determine progress or lack of
progress on approved goals, objectives, transition plans or behavior intervention plans. The LEA may
request such data at any time within five (5) years of the date of service. The CONTRACTOR shall
provide this data supporting progress within five (5) business days of request. Additional time may be
granted as needed by the LEA.

CONTRACTOR shall complete academic or other evaluations of the student ten (10) days prior to the
student’s annual or triennial review IEP team meeting for the purpose of reporting the student’s present
levels of performance at the IEP team meeting as required by state and federal laws and regulations and
pursuant to LEA policies, procedures, and/or practices. CONTRACTOR shall provide sufficient copies
of its reports, documents, and projected goals to share with members of the IEP team five (5) business
days prior to the IEP meeting. CONTRACTOR shall maintain supporting documentation such as test
protocols and data collection, which shall be made available to LEA within five (5) business days of
request.

The CONTRACTOR is responsible for all evaluation costs regarding the updating of goals and
objectives, progress reporting and development of present levels of performance. All assessments
resulting from an assessment plan shall be provided by the LEA unless the LEA specifies in writing a
request that CONTRACTOR perform such additional assessment. Any assessment and/or evaluation
costs may be added to the ISA and/or approved separately by the LEA at the LEA’s sole discretion.

It is understood that all billable hours must be in direct services to pupils as specified in the ISA. For
NPA services, supervision provided by a qualified individual as specified in Title 5 Regulation, subsection
3065, shall be determined as appropriate and included in the ISA. Supervision means the direct
observation of services, data review, case conferencing and program design consistent with professional
standards for each professional’s license, certification, or credential.

CONTRACTOR shall not charge the student’s parent(s) or LEA for the provision of progress reports,
report cards, evaluations conducted in order to obtain present levels of performance, interviews, and/or
meetings. It is understood that all billable hours have limits to those specified on the ISA consistent with
the IEP. It is understood that copies of data collection notes, forms, charts and other such data are part of
the pupil’s record and shall be made available to the LEA upon written request.

37. TRANSCRIPTS

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall prepare transcripts at the close of each semester,
or upon student transfer, for students in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) inclusive, and submit them on
LEA approved forms to the student’s school of residence for evaluation of progress toward completion of
diploma requirements as specified in LEA Procedures. CONTRACTOR shall submit to the LEA names
of students and their schools of residence for whom transcripts have been submitted as specified by the
LEA.

19Packet Page 89



38. STUDENT CHANGE OF RESIDENCE

Within five (5) school days from the date CONTRACTOR becomes aware of a student’s change of
residence, CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA, in writing, of the student’s change of residence. Upon
enrollment, CONTRACTOR shall notify parents in writing of their obligation to notify CONTRACTOR
of the student’s change of residence. CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide upon request by LEA,
documentation of such notice to parents.

If CONTRACTOR had knowledge or should reasonably have had knowledge of the student’s change of
residence boundaries and CONTRACTOR fails to follow the procedures specified in this provision, LEA
shall not be responsible for the costs of services delivered following the student’s change of residence.

39. WITHDRAWAL OF STUDENT FROM PROGRAM

CONTRACTOR shall immediately report electronically and in writing to the LEA within five (5)
business days when an LEA student is withdrawn without prior notice from school and/or services,
including student’s change of residence to a residence outside of LEA service boundaries, and
parent/guardian withdrawal of student against professional advice from a NPS/RTC.

40. PARENT ACCESS

CONTRACTOR shall provide for reasonable parental access to students and all facilities including, but
not limited to, the instructional setting, recreational activity areas, meeting rooms and student living
quarters, when applicable. CONTRACTOR shall comply with any known court orders regarding parental
visits and access to LEA students.

CONTRACTOR operating programs associated with a NPS/RTC shall cooperate with a parent’s
reasonable request for LEA student therapeutic visits in their home or at the NPS/RTC. CONTRACTOR
shall require that parents obtain prior written authorization for therapeutic visits from the CONTRACTOR
and the LEA at least thirty (30) days in advance. When requested, CONTRACTOR shall facilitate all
parent travel and accommodations and for providing travel information to the parent as appropriate.
Payment by LEA for approved travel-related expenses shall be made directly through the LEA consistent
with LEA Procedures.

CONTRACTOR providing services in the student’s home as specified in the IEP shall ensure that at least
one parent of the child, or an adult caregiver with written and signed authorization to make decisions in an
emergency, is present. The names of any adult caregiver other than the parent shall be provided to the
LEA prior to the start of any home based services, including written and signed authorization in
emergency situations. The parent shall inform the LEA of any changes of caregivers and provide written
authorization for emergencies. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee or volunteer associated
with the NPS/NPA service provider.

All problems and/or concerns reported to parents, both verbal and written, shall also be provided, in
writing, to the LEA.

41. LICENSED CHILDREN’S INSTITUTION (“LCI”) CONTRACTORS AND RESIDENTIAL
TREATMENT CENTER (“RTC”) CONTRACTORS

If CONTRACTOR is a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements regarding educational
placements for LCI students as stated in Education Code 56366 (a) (2) (C), 56366.9 (c) (1), Health and
Safety Code section 1501.1and any other applicable laws and/or regulations, including LEA guidelines or
procedures. An LCI shall not require that a pupil be placed in its NPS as a condition of being placed in its
residential facility.

If CONTRACTOR is a NPS/RTC, CONTRACTOR shall adhere to all legal requirements under the
Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. section 1400 et seq. including the federal

20Packet Page 90



regulations 34 C.F.R section 300 et seq. and Education Code section 56000 et seq. including Title 5 of the
California Code of Regulations section 3000 et seq.. CONTRACTOR shall comply with all monitoring
requirements set forth in Section 43 below.

If CONTRACTOR is a NPS that is owned, operated by, or associated with a LCI, CONTRACTOR shall
provide to LEA, on a quarterly basis, a list of all students, including those identified as eligible for special
education. For those identified as special education students, the list shall include: 1) special education
eligibility at the time of enrollment and; 2) the educational placement and services specified in each
student’s IEP at the time of enrollment. A copy of the current IEP shall be provided to the LEA.

Unless placement is made pursuant to an Office of Administrative Hearings order or a lawfully executed
agreement between LEA and parent, LEA is not responsible for the costs associated with NPS placement
until the date on which an IEP team meeting is convened, the IEP team determines that a NPS placement
is appropriate, and the IEP is signed by the student’s parent or another adult with educational
decision-making rights.

In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this State shall be certified or licensed by that state to provide, respectively,
special education and related services and designated instruction and related services to pupils under the
federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  

42. STATE MEAL MANDATE

When CONTRACTOR is an NPS, CONTRACTOR and LEA shall satisfy the State Meal Mandate under
California Education Code sections 49005 et seq.; 49501.5, the universal meal mandate enacted by AB
130 (2021-2022); 49530 et seq; and 49550 et seq.

43. MONITORING

When CONTRACTOR is an NPS, the LEA or SELPA shall conduct at least one onsite monitoring visit
during each school year to the NPS at which the LEA has a pupil attending and with which it maintains a
master contract. The monitoring visit shall include, but is not limited to, a review of services provided to
the pupil through the ISA between the LEA and the NPS, a review of progress the pupil is making toward
the goals set forth in the pupil’s individualized education program, a review of progress the pupil is
making toward the goals set forth in the pupil’s behavioral intervention plan, if applicable, an observation
of the pupil during instruction, and a walkthrough of the facility. The LEA or SELPA shall report the
findings resulting from the monitoring visit to the California Department of Education within 60 calendar
days of the onsite visit.

The LEA or SELPA shall conduct an onsite visit to the NPS before placement of a pupil if the LEA does
not have any pupils enrolled at the school at the time of placement.

CONTRACTOR shall allow LEA representatives access to its facilities for additional periodic monitoring
of each student’s instructional program. LEA shall have access to observe each student at work, observe
the instructional setting, interview CONTRACTOR, and review each student’s records and progress.
Such access shall include unannounced monitoring visits. When making site visits, LEA shall initially
report to CONTRACTOR's site administrative office. CONTRACTOR shall be invited to participate in
the review of each student’s progress.

If CONTRACTOR is also an LCI and/or NPS/RTC, the CDE shall annually evaluate whether
CONTRACTOR is in compliance with Education Code section 56366.9 and Health and Safety Code
section 1501.1(b).

The State Superintendent of Public Instruction (“Superintendent”) shall monitor CONTRACTOR’S
facilities, the educational environment, and the quality of the educational program, including the teaching

21Packet Page 91



staff, the credentials authorizing service, the standards-based core curriculum being employed, and the
standard focused instructional materials used on a three-year cycle, as follows: (1) CONTRACTOR shall
complete a self-review in year one; (2) the Superintendent shall conduct an onsite review in year two; and
(3) the Superintendent shall conduct a follow-up visit in year three.

CONTRACTOR shall participate in any LEA or CDE compliance review, if applicable, to be conducted
as aligned with the CDE Onsite Review and monitoring cycle in accordance with California Education
Code section 56366.1(j). This review will address programmatic aspects of the NPS, compliance with
relevant state and federal regulations, and Master Contract compliance. CONTRACTOR shall conduct
any follow-up or corrective action procedures related to review findings.

CONTRACTOR understands that LEA reserves the right to institute a program audit with or without
cause. The program audit may include, but is not limited to, a review of core compliance areas of health
and safety; curriculum/instruction; related services; and contractual, legal, and procedural compliance.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR shall collect all applicable data and prepare the
applicable portion of a School Accountability Report Card as appropriate in accordance with California
Education Code Section 33126.

PERSONNEL

44. CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 44237,
35021.1, 35021.2, and 56366.1 including, but not limited to: obtaining clearance from both the California
Department of Justice (hereinafter referred to as “CDOJ”) and clearance from the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (hereinafter referred to as "FBI") for CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers who will
have or likely may have any direct contact with LEA students. CONTRACTOR hereby agrees that
CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers shall not come in contact with students until CDOJ and FBI
clearance are ascertained. CONTRACTOR shall certify in writing to LEA that none of its employees,
and volunteers, unless CONTRACTOR determines that the volunteers will have no direct contact with
students, or subcontractors who may come into contact with students have been convicted of a violent or
serious felony as those terms are defined in California Education Code section 44237(h), unless despite
the employee’s conviction of a violent or serious felony, he or she has met the criteria to be eligible for
employment pursuant to California Education Code section 44237 (i) or (j). Upon request, clearance
certification shall be submitted to the LEA. In addition, CONTRACTOR shall make a request for
subsequent arrest service from CDOJ as required by California Penal Code section 11105.2. Contractor
shall certify to LEA that they have successful background checks and enrolled in subsequent arrest
notification service for all employees who may come into contact with students.

Notwithstanding the restrictions on sharing and destroying criminal background check information,
CONTRACTOR, upon demand, shall make available to the LEA evidence of a successful criminal
background check clearance and enrollment in subsequent arrest notification service, as provided, for
each owner, operator, and employee of the NPS/A. CONTRACTOR is required to retain the evidence
on-site, as specified, for all staff, including those licensed or credentialed by another state agency.
Background clearances and proof of subsequent arrest notification service, as required by California Penal
Code section 11105.2, for all staff shall be provided to the LEA upon request.

45. STAFF QUALIFICATIONS

CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by
CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services hold a license,
certificate, permit, or other document equivalent to that which staff in a public school are required to hold
in the service rendered consistent with Education Code section 56366.1(n)(1) and are qualified pursuant
to Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations sections 200.56 and 200.58, and Title 5 of the California
Code of Regulations sections 3001(r), 3064 and 3065. Such qualified staff may only provide related

22Packet Page 92



services within the scope of their professional license, certification or credential and ethical standards set
by each profession, and not assume responsibility or authority for another related services provider or
special education teacher’s scope of practice.

CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all staff are appropriately credentialed to provide instruction and
services to students with the disabling conditions placed in their program/school through documentation
provided to the CDE (5 CCR 3064 (a)).
In accordance with California Education Code section 56366.1(a)(5), when CONTRACTOR is a NPS, an
appropriately qualified person shall serve as curricular and instructional leader, and be able to provide
leadership, oversight and professional development. The administrator of the NPS holds or is in the
process of obtaining one of the following: (A) An administrative credential granted by an accredited
postsecondary educational institution and two years of experience with pupils with disabilities. (B) A
pupil personnel services credential that authorizes school counseling or psychology. (C) A license as a
clinical social worker issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (D) A license in psychology regulated
by the Board of Psychology. (E) A master’s degree issued by an accredited postsecondary institution in
education, special education, psychology, counseling, behavioral analysis, social work, behavioral
science, or rehabilitation. (F) A credential authorizing special education instruction and at least two years
of experience teaching in special education before becoming an administrator. (G) A license as a marriage
and family therapist certified by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (H) A license as an educational
psychologist issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (I) A license as a professional clinical counselor
issued by the Board of Behavioral Sciences. (California Education Code Section 56366.1 (a)(5)).
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to the LEA upon request, documentation of its
administrator’s qualifications in accordance with the above.
CONTRACTOR shall comply with personnel standards and qualifications regarding instructional aides
and teacher assistants respectively pursuant to federal requirements and California Education Code
sections 45340 et seq. and 45350 et seq. Specifically, all paraprofessionals, including but not limited to,
instructional aides and teacher assistants, employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or subcontracted
by CONTRACTOR to provide classroom and/or individualized instruction or related services, shall
possess a high school diploma (or its recognized equivalent) and at least one of the following
qualifications: (a) completed at least two (2) years of study at an institution of higher education; or (b)
obtained an associate’s (or higher) degree; or (c) met a rigorous standard of quality and can demonstrate,
through a formal state or local assessment (i) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing,
reading, writing, and mathematics; or (ii) knowledge of, and the ability to assist in instructing, reading
readiness, writing readiness, and mathematics readiness, as appropriate. CONTRACTOR shall comply
with all laws and regulations governing the licensed professions, including but not limited to, the
provisions with respect to supervision.

In addition to meeting the certification requirements of the State of California, a CONTRACTOR that
operates a program outside of this state and serving a student by this LEA shall be certified or licensed by
that state to provide special education and related services to pupils under the federal Individuals with
Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Sec. 1400 et seq.).  

46. VERIFICATION OF LICENSES, CREDENTIALS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS

CONTRACTOR shall submit to LEA a staff list, and copies of all current licenses, credentials,
certifications, permits and/or other documents which entitle the holder to provide special education and/or
related services by individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired or sub-contracted by
CONTRACTOR. CONTRACTOR shall ensure that all licenses, credentials, permits or other documents
are on file at the office of the County Superintendent of Schools. CONTRACTOR shall provide the
LEA with the verified dates of fingerprint clearance, Department of Justice clearance and Tuberculosis
Test clearance for all employees, approved subcontractors and/or volunteers prior to such individuals
starting to work with any student.

CONTRACTOR shall monitor the status of licenses, credentials, certifications, permits and/or other
documents for all individuals employed, contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR.

23Packet Page 93



CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA and CDE in writing within forty-five (45) days when personnel
changes occur which may affect the provision of special education and/or related services to LEA
students. CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA within forty-five (45) days if any such licenses, certifications
or waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, challenged pursuant to an administrative or legal
complaint or lawsuit, or otherwise nullified during the effective period of this Master Contract. The LEA
shall not be obligated to pay for any services provided by a person whose such licenses, certifications or
waivers are expired, suspended, revoked, rescinded, or otherwise nullified during the period which such
person is providing services under this Master Contract. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any
changes in credentialing/licensed staff may result in suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or
suspension or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.

47. STAFF ABSENCE

When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school and CONTRACTOR’s classroom teacher is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s
classroom in accordance with California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to
the LEA documentation of substitute coverage. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned class
during all instructional time.

When CONTRACTOR is a NPA and/or related services provider, and CONTRACTOR’s service provider
is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as
determined by LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s
service providers. It is understood that the parent of a student shall not be deemed to be a qualified
substitute for their student. LEA will not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and authorized LEA
representative.

48. STAFF PROFESSIONAL BEHAVIOR WHEN PROVIDING SERVICES AT SCHOOL OR
SCHOOL RELATED EVENTS OR AT SCHOOL FACILITY AND/OR IN THE HOME

It is understood that all employees, subcontractors, and volunteers of any certified NPS/A shall adhere to
the customary professional and ethical standards when providing services. All practices shall only be
within the scope of professional responsibility as defined in the professional code of conduct for each
profession as well as any LEA professional standards as specified in Board policies and/or regulations
when made available to the CONTRACTOR.

For services provided on a public school campus, sign in/out procedures shall be followed by NPS/A
providers working in a public school classroom along with all other procedures for being on campus
consistent with school and district policy. Such policies and procedures shall be made available to the
CONTRACTOR upon request. It is understood that the public school credentialed classroom teacher is
responsible for the instructional program.

CONTRACTOR providing services outside of the student’s school as specified in the IEP shall ensure
that at least one parent of the child or an adult caregiver with written and signed authority to make
decisions in an emergency is present during provision of services. The names of any adult caregiver other
than the parent shall be provided to the LEA prior to the start of any home-based services, including
written and signed authorization in emergency situations. The adult caregiver cannot also be an employee
or volunteer associated with the NPS/NPA service provider. All problems and/or concerns reported by
CONTRACTOR to parents or guardians, in either verbal or written form, shall be reported to the LEA.

HEALTH AND SAFETY MANDATES

24Packet Page 94



49. HEALTH AND SAFETY

CONTRACTOR shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and LEA laws, regulations,
ordinances, policies, and procedures regarding student and employee health and safety. CONTRACTOR
shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code sections 35021 et. seq. and 49406,
regarding the examination of CONTRACTOR’s employees and volunteers for tuberculosis.
CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation for each individual volunteering, employed,
contracted, and/or otherwise hired by CONTRACTOR of such compliance before an individual comes in
contact with a student.

CONTRACTOR shall comply with OSHA Blood-Borne Pathogens Standards, 29 Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) section 1910.1030, when providing medical treatment or assistance to a student.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training regarding universal health care precautions and
to post required notices in areas designated in the California Health and Safety Code.

50. FACILITIES AND FACILITIES MODIFICATIONS

CONTRACTOR shall provide special education and/or related services to students in facilities that
comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances related, but not
limited to: disability access; fire, health, sanitation, and building standards and safety; fire warning
systems; zoning permits; and occupancy capacity. When CONTRACTOR is a NPS, CONTRACTOR
shall conduct fire drills as required by Title 5 California Code of Regulations section 550.
CONTRACTOR shall be responsible for any structural changes and/or modifications to
CONTRACTOR’s facilities as required complying with applicable federal, state, and local laws,
regulations, and ordinances. Failure to notify the LEA and CDE of any changes in, major modification or
relocation of facilities may result in the suspension or revocation of CDE certification and/or suspension
or termination of this Master Contract by the LEA.

51. ADMINISTRATION OF MEDICATION

CONTRACTOR shall comply with the requirements of California Education Code section 49422 et seq.
when CONTRACTOR serves a student that is required to take prescription and/or over-the-counter
medication during the school day. CONTRACTOR may designate personnel to assist the student with the
administration of such medication after the student’s parent(s) provide to CONTRACTOR: (a) a written
statement from a physician detailing the type, administration method, amount, and time schedules by
which such medication shall be taken; and (b) a written statement from the student’s parent(s) granting
CONTRACTOR permission to administer medication(s) as specified in the physician’s statement.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain, and provide to LEA upon request, copies of such written statements.
CONTRACTOR shall maintain a written log for each student to whom medication is administered. Such
written log shall specify the student’s name; the type of medication; the date, time, and amount of each
administration; and the name of CONTRACTOR’s employee who administered the medication.
CONTRACTOR maintains full responsibility for storing medications in a secure location and ensuring
appropriate staff training in the administration of such medication consistent with physician’s written
orders. Any change in medication type, administration method, amount or schedule must be authorized
by both a licensed physician and parent.

52. INCIDENT/ACCIDENT REPORTING

CONTRACTOR shall submit within 24 hours, electronically, any accident or incident report to the LEA.
CONTRACTOR shall properly submit required accident or incident reports pursuant to the procedures
specified in LEA Procedures.

53. CHILD ABUSE REPORTING

CONTRACTOR hereby agrees to annually train all staff members, including volunteers, so that they are
familiar with and agree to adhere to its own child and dependent adult abuse reporting obligations and

25Packet Page 95



procedures as specified in California Penal Code section 11164 et seq. and Education Code 44691. To
protect the privacy rights of all parties involved (i.e., reporter, child and alleged abuser), reports will
remain confidential as required by law and professional ethical mandates. A written statement
acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of staff adherence to such
reporting shall be submitted to the LEA.

54. SEXUAL HARASSMENT

CONTRACTOR shall have a Sexual and Gender Identity harassment policy that clearly describes the
kinds of conduct that constitutes sexual harassment and that is prohibited by the CONTRACTOR’s policy,
as well as federal and state law. The policy should include procedures to make complaints without fear of
retaliation, and for prompt and objective investigations of all sexual harassment complaints.
CONTRACTOR further agrees to provide annual training to all employees regarding the laws concerning
sexual harassment and related procedures pursuant to Government Code 12950.1.

55. REPORTING OF MISSING CHILDREN

CONTRACTOR assures LEA that all staff members, including volunteers, are familiar with and agree to
adhere to requirements for reporting missing children as specified in California Education Code section
49370. A written statement acknowledging the legal requirements of such reporting and verification of
staff adherence to such reporting shall be properly submitted to the LEA. The written statement shall be
submitted as specified by the LEA.

FINANCIAL

56. ENROLLMENT, CONTRACTING, SERVICE TRACKING, ATTENDANCE REPORTING, AND
BILLING PROCEDURES

CONTRACTOR shall assure that the nonpublic school or nonpublic agency has the necessary financial
resources to provide an appropriate education for the students enrolled and will distribute those resources
in such a manner to implement the IEP and ISA for each and every student.

CONTRACTOR shall comply with all LEA procedures concerning enrollment, contracting, attendance
reporting, service tracking and billing including requirements of electronic billing as specified by the LEA
Procedures, as well as provide all such records requested by LEA concerning the same. CONTRACTOR
shall be paid for the provision of special education and/or related services specified in the student’s IEP
and ISA. All payments by LEA shall be made in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Master
Contract and governed by all applicable federal and state laws.

CONTRACTOR shall maintain separate registers for the basic education program, each related service,
and services provided by instructional assistants, behavior intervention aides and bus aides. Original
attendance forms (i.e., roll books for the basic education program, service tracking documents and notes
for instructional assistants, behavioral intervention aides, bus aides, and each related service) shall be
completed by the actual service provider whose signature shall appear on such forms and shall be
available for review, inspection, or audit by LEA during the effective period of this contract and for a
period of five (5) years thereafter. CONTRACTOR shall verify the accuracy of minutes of reported
attendance that is the basis of services being billed for payment.

CONTRACTOR shall submit invoices and related documents to LEA for payment, for each calendar
month when education or related services were provided. Invoices and related documents shall be
properly submitted electronically and in addition, on an LEA form with signatures in the manner
prescribed by LEA. At a minimum, each invoice must contain the following information: month of
service; specific days and times of services coordinated by the LEA approved calendar unless otherwise
specified in the IEP or agreed to by the LEA; name of staff who provided the service; approved cost of
each invoice; total for each service and total for the monthly invoice; date invoice was mailed; signature
of NPS/NPA administrator authorizing that the information is accurate and consistent with the ISA, CDE

26Packet Page 96



certificates and staff notification; verification that attendance report is attached as appropriate; indication
of any made-up session consistent with this contract; verification that progress reports have been provided
consistent with the ISA (monthly or quarterly unless specified otherwise on the ISA); and name or initials
of each student for when the service was provided.

In the event services were not provided, rationale for why the services were not provided shall be
included.

Such an invoice is subject to all conditions of this contract. At the discretion of the LEA, an electronic
invoice may be required provided such notice has been made in writing and training provided to the
CONTRACTOR at no additional charge for such training.

Invoices shall be submitted no later than thirty (30) days after the end of the attendance accounting period
in which the services were rendered. LEA shall make payment to CONTRACTOR based on the number
of billable days of attendance and hours of service at rates specified in this contract within forty-five (45)
days of LEA’s receipt of properly submitted hard copy of invoices prepared and submitted as specified in
California Education Code Section 56366.5 and the LEA. CONTRACTOR shall correct deficiencies and
submit rebilling invoices no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the invoice is returned by LEA.
LEA shall pay properly submitted re-billing invoices no later than forty-five (45) days after the date a
completely corrected re-billing invoice is received by LEA.

In no case shall initial payment claim submission for any Master Contract fiscal year (July through June)
extend beyond December 31st after the close of the fiscal year. In no case shall any rebilling for the
Master Contract fiscal year (July through June) extend beyond six (6) months after the close of the fiscal
year unless approved by the LEA to resolve billing issues including re-billing issues directly related to a
delay in obtaining information from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing regarding teacher
qualification, but no later than twelve (12) months from the close of the fiscal year. If the billing or
re-billing error is the responsibility of the LEA, then no limit is set provided that the LEA and
CONTRACTOR have communicated such concerns in writing during the 12-month period following the
close of the fiscal year. LEA will not pay mileage for NPA employee.

57. RIGHT TO WITHHOLD PAYMENT

LEA may withhold payment to CONTRACTOR when: (a) CONTRACTOR has failed to perform, in
whole or in part, under the terms of this contract; (b) CONTRACTOR has billed for services rendered on
days other than billable days of attendance or for days when student was not in attendance and/or did not
receive services; (c) CONTRACTOR was overpaid by LEA as determined by inspection, review, and/or
audit of its program, work, and/or records; (d) CONTRACTOR has failed to provide supporting
documentation with an invoice, as required by EC 56366(c)(2); (e) education and/or related services are
provided to students by personnel who are not appropriately credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified;
(f) LEA has not received prior to school closure or contract termination, all documents concerning one
or more students enrolled in CONTRACTOR’s educational program; (g) CONTRACTOR fails to confirm
a student’s change of residence to another district or confirms the change of residence to another district,
but fails to notify LEA within five (5) days of such confirmation; or (h) CONTRACTOR receives
payment from Medi-Cal or from any other agency or funding source for a service provided to a student. It
is understood that no payments shall be made for any invoices that are not received by six (6) months
following the close of the prior fiscal year, for services provided in that year.

Final payment to CONTRACTOR in connection with the cessation of operations and/or termination of a
Master Contract will be subject to the same documentation standards described for all payment claims for
regular ongoing operations. In addition, final payment may be withheld by the LEA until completion of a
review or audit, if deemed necessary by the LEA. Such review or audit will be completed within ninety
(90) days. The final payment may be adjusted to offset any previous payments to the CONTRACTOR
determined to have been paid in error or in anticipation of correction of documentation deficiencies by the
CONTRACTOR that remain uncorrected.

27Packet Page 97



The amount which may be withheld by LEA with respect to each of the subparagraphs of the preceding
paragraph are as follows: (a) the value of the service CONTRACTOR failed to perform; (b) the amount
of overpayment; (c) the portion of the invoice for which satisfactory documentation has not been provided
by CONTRACTOR; (d) the amount invoiced for services provided by the individual not appropriately
credentialed, licensed, or otherwise qualified; (e) the proportionate amount of the invoice related to the
applicable pupil for the time period from the date the violation occurred and until the violation is cured; or
(f) the amount paid to CONTRACTOR by Medi-Cal or another agency or funding source for the service
provided to the student.

If LEA determines that cause exists to withhold payment to CONTRACTOR, LEA shall, within ten (10)
business days of this determination, provide to CONTRACTOR written notice that LEA is withholding
payment. Such notice shall specify the basis or bases for LEA’s withholding payment and the amount to
be withheld. Within thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such notice, CONTRACTOR shall take all
necessary and appropriate action to correct the deficiencies that form the basis for LEA’s withholding
payment or submit a written request for extension of time to correct the deficiencies or submit to LEA
written documentation demonstrating that the basis or bases cited by the LEA for withholding payment is
unfounded. Upon receipt of CONTRACTOR’s written request showing good cause, LEA shall extend
CONTRACTOR’s time to correct deficiencies (usually an additional thirty (30) days), otherwise payment
will be denied.

If after subsequent request for payment has been denied and CONTRACTOR believes that payment
should not be withheld, CONTRACTOR shall send written notice to LEA specifying the reason it
believes payment should not be withheld. LEA shall respond to CONTRACTOR’s notice within thirty
(30) business days by indicating that a warrant for the amount of payment will be made or stating the
reason LEA believes payment should not be made. If LEA fails to respond within thirty (30) business
days or a dispute regarding the withholding of payment continues after the LEA’s response to
CONTRACTOR’s notice, CONTRACTOR may invoke the following escalation policy.

After forty-five (45) business days: The CONTRACTOR may notify the Authorized LEA’s
Representative of the dispute in writing. The LEA Authorized Representative shall respond to the
CONTRACTOR in writing within fifteen (15) business days.

After sixty (60) business days: The LEA or CONTRACTOR may appeal to the County Superintendent of
Schools so long as the County Superintendent of Schools is not participating in the Local Plan involved in
the NPS/A contract, or a mutually agreed upon mediator. Both parties agree to pay for their own costs and
expenses arising out of such mediation. Each party agrees to act in good faith in participating in any
mediation process agreed to by the parties.

58. PAYMENT FROM OUTSIDE AGENCIES

CONTRACTOR shall notify LEA when Medi-Cal or any other agency is billed for the costs associated
with the provision of special education and/or related services to students. Upon request, CONTRACTOR
shall provide to LEA any and all documentation regarding reports, billing, and/or payment by Medi-Cal
or any other agency for the costs associated with the provision of special education and/or related services
to students. CONTRACTOR shall provide prior written notice of the rights and protections required by
Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations section 300.154(d) whenever it seeks to use the LEA
students’ public benefits to pay for special education and related services. Such notice shall be provided
before seeking payment from Medi-Cal for the first time and annually.

59. PAYMENT FOR ABSENCES

NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STAFF ABSENCE

Whenever a classroom teacher employed by CONTRACTOR is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide an
appropriately credentialed substitute teacher in the absent teacher’s classroom in accordance with
California Education Code section 56061. CONTRACTOR shall provide to LEA documentation of

28Packet Page 98



substitute coverage pursuant to the LEA Procedures. Substitute teachers shall remain with their assigned
class during all instructional time. LEA will not pay for instruction and/or services unless said instruction
or service is provided by an appropriately credentialed substitute teacher.

Whenever a related service provider is absent, CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in
Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by LEA) substitute. LEA will not pay for services unless a
qualified substitute is provided and/or CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision
of “make-up” services by a qualified service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on
which the services should have been provided unless otherwise agreed in student’s IEP.

NONPUBLIC SCHOOL STUDENT ABSENCE

If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic school, no later than the tenth (10th) cumulative day of a student’s
unexcused absence, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEA of such absence.

Criteria for a billable day for payment purposes is one (1) day of attendance as defined in California
Education Code, sections 46010, 46010.3 and 46307. LEA shall not pay for services provided on days
that a student’s attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (ADA) reimbursement under
state law. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may be
adjusted on a pro rata basis in accordance with the actual proportion of the school day the student was
served. LEA shall not be responsible for payment of related services for days on which a student’s
attendance does not qualify for Average Daily Attendance (“ADA”) reimbursement under state law, nor
shall student be eligible for make-up services.

NONPUBLIC AGENCY STAFF ABSENCE

When CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency and CONTRACTOR’s service provider is absent,
CONTRACTOR shall provide a qualified (as defined in Section 7 of this agreement and as determined by
LEA) substitute, unless LEA provides appropriate coverage in lieu of CONTRACTOR’s service
providers. LEA shall not pay for services unless a qualified substitute is provided and/or
CONTRACTOR provides documentation evidencing the provision of “make-up” services by a qualified
service provider within thirty (30) calendar days from the date on which the services should have been
provided. CONTRACTOR shall not “bank” or “carry over” make up service hours under any
circumstances, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by CONTRACTOR and LEA. In the event services
were not provided, reasons for why the services were not provided shall be included.

NONPUBLIC AGENCY STUDENT ABSENCE

If CONTRACTOR is a nonpublic agency, it shall notify LEA of the absence of a student no later than the
fifth (5th) consecutive service day of the student’s absence. LEA shall not be responsible for the payment
of services when a student is absent.

60. LEA and/or NONPUBLIC SCHOOL CLOSURE DUE TO EMERGENCY

The following shall apply in the event of a LEA or NPS school closure due to an emergency consistent
with guidelines followed by LEAs in accordance with Education Code sections 41422 and 46392:

a. If CONTRACTOR remains open, if allowed, during an emergency and serves students appropriately
as delineated in the ISA, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment, regardless of whether a sending
LEA is open or closed.  

b. NPS School Closure- In the event of a NPS School Closure for the reasons set forth in Education
Code section 41422, if the LEA is able to obtain alternative placement for the student,
CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in attendance due to

29Packet Page 99



CONTRACTOR’S school closure. If the LEA is unable to obtain an alternative placement,
CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, as though the
student were continuing his/her regular attendance, until an alternative placement can be found and
implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to
emergency conditions.

c. LEA and NPS School Closure- In the event of the LEA and NPS School Closures, on days the LEA is
funded, CONTRACTOR shall receive payment consistent with the student’s approved ISA, until an
alternative placement can be found and implement LEA student IEP in accordance with Education
Code section 56345(a)(9) pertaining to emergency conditions. If the LEA is able to obtain alternative
placement for the student, CONTRACTOR shall not receive payment for days the student is not in
attendance with CONTRACTOR due to CONTRACTOR’S school closure.

When the emergency school closure is lifted, CONTRACTOR shall notify the LEAs it serves of any lost
instructional minutes. CONTRACTOR and LEAs shall work collaboratively to determine the need for
make-up days or service changes, and shall work together to amend IEP and ISA paperwork as
appropriate.

61. INSPECTION AND AUDIT

The CONTRACTOR shall maintain and the LEA shall have the right to examine and audit all of the
books, records, documents, accounting procedures and practices and other evidence that reflect all costs
claimed to have been incurred or fees claimed to have been earned under this Agreement.

CONTRACTOR shall provide access to LEA to all records including, but not limited to: student records
as defined by California Education Code section 49061(b); registers and roll books of teachers; daily
service logs and notes or other documents used to record the provision of related services; Medi-Cal/daily
service logs and notes used to record provision of services provided by instructional assistants, behavior
intervention aides, bus aides, and supervisors; absence verification records (parent/doctor notes,
telephone logs, and related documents); bus rosters; staff lists specifying credentials held, business
licenses held, documents evidencing other qualifications, , dates of hire, and dates of termination; staff
time sheets; non-paid staff and volunteer sign-in sheets; transportation and other related service
subcontracts; school calendars; bell/class schedules when applicable; liability and worker’s compensation
insurance policies; state NPS/A certifications; by-laws; lists of current board of directors/trustees, if
incorporated; other documents evidencing financial expenditures; federal/state payroll quarterly reports
Form 941/DE3DP; and bank statements and canceled checks or facsimile thereof. Such access shall
include unannounced inspections by LEA. CONTRACTOR shall make available to LEA all budgetary
information including operating budgets submitted by CONTRACTOR to LEA for the relevant contract
period being audited.

CONTRACTOR shall make all records available at the office of LEA or CONTRACTOR’s offices (to be
specified by LEA) at all reasonable times and without charge. All records shall be provided to LEA
within five (5) working days of a written request from LEA. CONTRACTOR shall, at no cost to LEA,
provide assistance for such examination or audit. LEA’s rights under this section shall also include access
to CONTRACTOR’s offices for purposes of interviewing CONTRACTOR’s employees. If any document
or evidence is stored in an electronic form, a hard copy shall be made available to the LEA, unless the
LEA agrees to the use of the electronic format.

CONTRACTOR shall obtain from its subcontractors and suppliers written agreements to the requirements
of this section and shall provide a copy of such agreements to LEA upon request by LEA.

If an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an independent
agency/firm determines that CONTRACTOR owes LEA monies as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over
billing or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, LEA
shall provide to CONTRACTOR written notice demanding payment from CONTRACTOR and
specifying the basis or bases for such demand. Unless CONTRACTOR and LEA otherwise agree in
writing, CONTRACTOR shall pay to LEA the full amount owed as a result of CONTRACTOR’s over

30Packet Page 100



billing and/or failure to perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Master Contract, as
determined by an inspection, review, or audit by LEA, a state agency, a federal agency, and/or an
independent agency/firm. CONTRACTOR shall make such payment to LEA within thirty (30) days of
receipt of LEA’s written notice demanding payment.

62. RATE SCHEDULE

The attached rate schedule (Exhibit A) limits the number of students that may be enrolled and maximum
dollar amount of the contract. It may also limit the maximum number of students that can be provided
specific services. Per Diem rates for students whose IEPs authorize less than a full instructional day may
be adjusted proportionally. In such cases only, the adjustments in basic education rate shall be based on
the required minimum number of minutes per grade level as set forth in paragraph 23, above, and in
California Education Code Section 46200-46208.

Special education and/or related services offered by CONTRACTOR shall be provided by qualified
personnel as per State and Federal law, and the codes and charges for such educational and/or related
services during the term of this contract, shall be as stated in Exhibit A.

63. DEBARMENT CERTIFICATION

By signing this agreement, the CONTRACTOR certifies that:

(a) The CONTRACTOR and any of its shareholders, partners, or executive officers are not presently
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, or declared ineligible for the award of contracts by
any Federal agency, and

(b) Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil
judgment rendered against them for: commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection
with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a Federal, state or local government contract
or subcontract; violation of Federal or state antitrust statutes relating to the submission of offers;
or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records,
making false statements, tax evasion, or receiving stolen property; and are not presently indicted
for, or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a Government entity with, commission of any of
these offenses.

31Packet Page 101



The parties hereto have executed this Contract by and through their duly authorized agents or
representatives. This contract is effective on the 1st day of July, 3and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on
June 30, 2024, unless sooner terminated as provided herein.

CONTRACTOR LEA

_AT 10 Education LLC_____________ _BELLA MENTE MONTESSORI ACADEMIES ___
Nonpublic School/Agency LEA Name

By: ________________________________ By: __________________________________
Signature Date Signature Date

_Nikki Gelso ,Founder ___________ __________________________________
Name and Title of Authorized Name and Title of Authorized
Representative Representative

Notices to CONTRACTOR shall be addressed to: Notices to LEA shall be addressed to:

Name and Title Name and Title Erin Feeley, Executive Director

Nonpublic School/Agency/Related Service Provider LEA

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Address Address 1737 W Vista Way

City State Zip City Vista State CA Zip 92083

Phone Fax Phone 760-621-8931 Fax 760-417-7365

Email Email efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Additional LEA Notification
(Required if completed)

Name and Title

Address

City State Zip

Phone Fax

Email

32

01/22/2024

Erin Feeley, Executive Director

Packet Page 102



EXHIBIT A: 2023-2024 RATES

4.1 RATE SCHEDULE FOR CONTRACT YEAR

The CONTRACTOR:      
The CONTRACTOR CDS NUMBER:      

PER ED CODE 56366 – TEACHER-TO-PUPIL RATIO:     

Maximum Contract Amount:      

Education service(s) offered by the CONTRACTOR and the charges for such service(s) during the term of this contract shall be as follows:

1) Daily Basic Education Rate:      

2) Inclusive Education Program
(Includes Educational Counseling (not ed related mental health) services, Speech & Language services, Behavior Intervention
Planning, and Occupational Therapy as specified on the student’s IEP.) DAILY RATE:      

3) Related Services

SERVICE RATE PERIOD

Intensive Individual Services (340)            

Language and Speech (415)            

Adapted Physical Education (425)            

Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical Health Care (435)            

Health and Nursing: Other Services (436)            

Assistive Technology Services (445)            

Occupational Therapy (450)            

Physical Therapy (460)            

Individual Counseling (510)            

Counseling and Guidance (515)            

Parent Counseling (520)            

Social Work Services (525)            

Psychological Services (530)            

Behavior Intervention Services (535)            

Specialized Services for Low Incidence Disabilities (610)            

Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing (710)            

Interpreter Services (715)            

Audiological Services (720)            

33Packet Page 103



Specialized Vision Services (725)            

Orientation and Mobility (730)            

Specialized Orthopedic Services (740)            

Reader Services (745)            

Transcription Services (755)            

Recreation Services, Including Therapeutic (760)            

College Awareness (820)            

Work Experience Education (850)            

Job Coaching (855)            

Mentoring (860)            

Travel Training (870)            

Other Transition Services (890)            

Other (900)            

Other (no code)            

34Packet Page 104



EXHIBIT B: 2023-2024 ISA

INDIVIDUAL SERVICES AGREEMENT (ISA) FOR NONPUBLIC, NONSECTARIAN SCHOOL SERVICES
(Education Code Sections 56365 et seq.)

This agreement is effective on July 1, 2023 or the date student begins attending a nonpublic school or receiving services from a nonpublic agency,
if after the date identified, and terminates at 5:00 P.M. on June 30, 2024, unless sooner terminated as provided in the Master Contract and by applicable law.

Local Education Agency       Nonpublic School      

LEA Case Manager: Name       Phone Number      

Pupil Name                   Sex:☐ M ☐ F Grade:      
(Last) (First) (M.I.)

Address       City       State/Zip      

DOB       Residential Setting: ☐ Home☐ Foster ☐ LCI #       ☐ OTHER      

Parent/Guardian       Phone (      )       (       )      
(Residence) (Business)

Address       City       State/Zip      
(If different from student)

AGREEMENT TERMS:
1. Nonpublic School: The average number of minutes in the instructional day will be:       during the regular school year

      during the extended school year

2. Nonpublic School: The number of school days in the calendar of the school year are:       during the regular school year

      during the extended school year

3. Educational services as specified in the IEP shall be provided by the CONTRACTOR and paid at the rates specified below.

A. INCLUSIVE AND/OR BASIC EDUCATION PROGRAM RATE: (Applies to nonpublic schools only): Daily Rate:      

Estimated Number of Days       x Daily Rate       = PROJECTED BASIC EDUCATION COSTS      

B. RELATED SERVICES:
Provider

SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER
Specify

# of Times per
wk/mo/yr., Duration;

or per IEP;
or as needed

Cost per
session

Maximum
Number of
Sessions

Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for

Contracted Period

Intensive Individual Services (340)      
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

Language/Speech Therapy (415)
a. Individual
b. Group

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

Adapted Physical Ed. (425)
                                         

Health and Nursing: Specialized Physical
Health Care (435)

                                         

Health and Nursing Services: Other (436)
                                         

Assistive Technology Services (445)
                                         

Occupational Therapy (450)
                                         

Physical Therapy (460)
                                         

Individual Counseling (510)
                                         

Counseling and guidance (515).
                                         

Parent Counseling (520)
                                         

35Packet Page 105



Provider
SERVICE LEA NPS OTHER

Specify
# of Times per

wk/mo/yr., Duration;
or per IEP;
or as needed

Cost per
session

Maximum
Number of
Sessions

Estimated Maximum
Total Cost for

Contracted Period

Social Work Services (525)

Psychological Services (530)

Behavior Intervention Services (535)

Specialized Services for Low Incidence
Disabilities (610)

Specialized Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Services (710)

Interpreter Services (715)

Audiological Services (720)

Specialized Vision Services (725)

Orientation and Mobility (730)

Braille Transcription (735)

Specialized Orthopedic Service (740)

Reader Services (745)

Note Taking Services (750)

Transcription Services (755)

Recreation Services (760)

College Awareness Preparation (820)

Vocational Assessment, Counseling,
Guidance and Career Assessment (830)

Career Awareness (840)

Work Experience Education (850)

Mentoring (860)

Agency Linkages (865)

Travel Training (870)

Other Transition Services (890)

Other (900)

Other (no code)

Transportation-Emergency
b. Transportation-Parent

Bus Passes

Other

ESTIMATED MAXIMUM RELATED SERVICES COST$

36Packet Page 106



TOTAL ESTIMATED MAXIMUM BASIC EDUCATION AND RELATED SERVICES COSTS $      

4. Other Provisions/Attachments:
     

5. MASTER CONTRACT APPROVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD ON      

6.Progress Reporting
Requirements:

Quarterl
y

Monthl
y

Other
(Specify)

The parties hereto have executed this Individual Services Agreement by and through their duly authorized agents or representatives as set forth
below.

-CONTRACTOR- -LEA/SELPA-

(Name of Nonpublic School/Agency)
(Name of LEA/SELPA)

(Signature) (Date) (Signature) (Date)

(Name and Title) (Name of Superintendent or Authorized Designee)

37Packet Page 107



 AT10 Education, L.L.C. 
 EIN #  88-4094583 
 1791 Mojave View Circle 
 Corona, CA 92882 

 Contact: Nikki Gelso  (951) 444-1292 
 AT10education@gmail.com 
 https://www.at10education.com 
 ___________________________________________________________________ 

 Rates and Services 2023-24 

 Purpose of Assistive Technology:  The purpose of an  Assistive Technology assessment is to determine which Assistive 

 Technology interventions, if any, are necessary for the student to access their curriculum. Assessment is based on needs 

 in the educational environment and the student’s current level of performance. Under current law (IDEA) and California 

 Ed. Code “Assistive Technology services and the services necessary to help a child select, acquire or use an assistive 

 technology device are made available if required as part of the child’s special education or related services.” 20 U.S.C. 

 Section 1401 (1) and (2); 34 C.F.R. Secs. 300.3008 and 300.6. 

 1.  Assessments  :  $170/hour  for a standard evaluation. 
 $185  /  hour  for an Independent Educational Evaluation (IEE.) 

 a.  Conduct legally compliant assessments and write reports to determine appropriate tools 
 and strategies in the areas of  curriculum access  ,  study skills  /  executive functioning skills  , 
 and  alternative-augmentative communication (AAC)  . Includes observations, interviews, file 
 review, and testing session/s with the student. 

 b.  AAC Eye Gaze Assessments  will be charged at the rate of  $185/hour  due to their 
 complexity. 

 c.  Expedited Assessments  requiring less than 30 days with a written report will be charged at 
 $185/hour  . 

 2.  Services/Consultation/Meetings  :  $170/hour 
 a.  Provide consultation/training and educational services for students, staff, and families for 

 the use of assistive technology tools, devices, or software. 
 b.  All services/consultation/meeting attendance will be provided via virtual/telephonic means. 

 In-person services will only be upon special request. 

 3.  Travel time  for all in-person services billed round trip at an hourly rate of  $170/hour  . Rate for travel 
 beyond two hours will be a separate negotiated rate, which may include travel arrangement 
 reimbursement (transportation expenses, and hotel etc.) 

 4.  Professional Development and Presentations  : There is a 90-minute minimum requirement for all 
 trainings and presentations. Preparation and travel time will be billed at  $170/hour  . Plus, travel 
 accommodations and per diem as needed. 

 a.  1-10 participants  $250/hour  . 
 b.  11-30 participants  $500/hour  . 
 c.  31-75 participants  $750/hour  . 
 d.  Larger groups will be billed at a separate negotiated rate. 

 5.  AT or AAC Certificate Course  :  $2100/per participant 
 a.  A 30+ hour virtual course that prepares participants in how to assess and support students 

 with curriculum access or complex communication needs. Provides coaching and 
 mentoring with PDU/CEUs available from the University of Massachusetts Global. 

 6.  Individualized Estimates  can be provided at a separate negotiated rate. 
Packet Page 108

mailto:AT10education@gmail.com
https://www.at10education.com/


 

 

This agreement is hereby entered into by __________________________ herein referred to as DISTRICT; and 

AT10 Education, L.L.C.  hereinafter referred to as CONSULTANT. 

 

CONSULTANT agrees to provide to DISTRICT temporary services enumerated in Section E of this 

Agreement under the following terms and conditions:  

 

A. Services shall begin on **/**/2023 and shall be completed on or before June 30, 2024.  

 

B. CONSULTANT understands and agrees that he/she is not an employee of the DISTRICT and/or is not 

entitled to benefits which District employees are normally entitled to, including, but not limited to, State 

Unemployment Compensations or Workers Compensation. CONSULTANT shall assume full responsibility 

for payment of all Federal, State, and local taxes or contributions, including Unemployment Insurance, 

Social Security, and Income Taxes with respect to CONSULTANT'S employees.  

 

C. CONSULTANT shall furnish, at his/her own expense, all labor, materials, and other items necessary to 

carry out the terms of this agreement.  

 

D. In the performance of work herein contemplates, CONSULTANT is an independent contractor with the 

authority to control and direct the performance of details of the work in accordance with District policy, 

procedure, and approval.  

 

E. Services to be rendered to the DISTRICT by the CONSULTANT are as follows: Assistive Technology 

Services.  See the attached rate sheet.   

 

F. Neither party shall assign or delegate any part of this agreement without written consent of the other 

party.  

 

G. The work completed herein must meet the approval of the DISTRICT and shall be subject to the 

DISTRICT'S general right of inspection and supervision to secure the satisfactory completion thereof 

CONSULTANT agrees to comply with all Federal, State, Municipal, and District laws, rules and regulations 

that are now, or may in the future become applicable to CONSULTANT, Consultant's business, equipment, 

and personnel engaged in operations. Payment will be made by the DISTRICT to the CONSULTANT 

monthly, from billing submitted by the CONSULTANT.  

 

H. This agreement may be terminated and/or modified by either party notifying the other, in writing, at 

least 30 days prior to the date of modifications/terminations.  

 

For the DISTRICT:      For the CONSULTANT: 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ Date: ____________   ______________________________ Date: ____________ 

Administrator Name                            Nikki M. Gelso, Owner AT/AAC Specialist 

Organization        AT10 Education, L.L.C. 

Address                    1791 Mojave View Cir., Corona, CA 92882 

Phone        (951) 444-1292 

Email            at10.education@gmail.com 

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Erin Feeley

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

1737 W. Vista Way, Vista, CA 92083

(760) 621-8948

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

01/22/2024

Packet Page 109



TRANSACTION DETAILS DOCUMENT DETAILS

Reference Number

51328629-0807-4F8B-AB23-C07B3C91269E

Transaction Type

Packager

Sent At

01/10/2024 18:30 EST

Executed At

01/22/2024 13:45 EST

Identity Method

email

Distribution Method

email

Signed Checksum

60d195ebe7f7e7f173f31f4a0b8f48a81a6ebe702460b03f67d1dc86ba08613e

Signer Sequencing

Disabled

Document Passcode

Disabled

Document Name

AT10 Education - Master Contract Package

Filename

AT_10_State-SELPA-2023-2024-FINAL-Master-Contract-1.pdf

Pages

43 pages

Content Type

application/pdf

File Size

1.4 MB

Original Checksum

fb9c343d849245be7c3bbf9c8541423092e26e14f5f69504ce7bec522f7dbcef

SIGNERS

SIGNER E-SIGNATURE EVENTS

Name

Erin Feeley

Email

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Components

4

Status

signed

Multi-factor Digital Fingerprint Checksum

2ed234be58a7702050fcabdc5a76b5e1be7ec4ff4f958707e233aeabdd634ccb

IP Address

12.169.146.194

Device

Chrome via Windows

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

1602B26A

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

9BC57EC0

Viewed At

01/22/2024 13:45 EST

Identity Authenticated At

01/22/2024 13:44 EST

Signed At

01/22/2024 13:45 EST

AUDITS

TIMESTAMP AUDIT

01/10/2024 18:30 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) created document 'AT10_Education_-
_Master_Contract_Package.pdf' on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/10/2024 18:30 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a link to sign.

01/17/2024 16:00 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a reminder.

01/17/2024 16:40 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) shared document 'AT10_Education_-
_Master_Contract_Package.pdf' on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/22/2024 13:43 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/22/2024 13:44 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) authenticated via email on Chrome via Windows from
12.169.146.194.

01/22/2024 13:45 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/22/2024 13:45 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) signed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE

REFERENCE NUMBER
51328629-0807-4F8B-AB23-C07B3C91269E

Packet Page 110



Agreement for professional services

Campus Safety Alliance
and

Bella Mente Montessori Academy
1. Parties and Date

This Agreement ("Agreement") is made and entered into this _____ day of January,
2024, by and between the Bella Mente Montessori Academy ("School") and Campus Safety
Alliance ("Consultant"), an Emergency Management Consulting Firm (collectively referred to as
the "Parties" and each individually as "Party").

2. Recitals

2.1 Consultant

Consultant is a professional consultant, experienced and properly certified/licensed to
provide the professional services required by the School and is familiar with the plans of School.

2.2 Project

School desires to engage Consultant to render Emergency Management Consultation and
Training Services (the "Project").

3. Terms

3.1 Scope of Services, and Qualifications.

(a) General Scope of Services

Consultant promises and agrees to furnish all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and
incidental and customary work necessary to fully and adequately supply professional services, as
are more particularly described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference ("Services"). All Services shall be subject to, and performed in accordance with, this
Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable
local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations.

3.2 Term

The term of this Agreement shall be from January, 2024 until January 31, 2025, unless earlier
terminated as provided herein. The Parties may mutually agree to extend this term by written
amendment. Should the Parties agree to extend the term of this Agreement, the fee for services
described in Exhibit "A" shall remain the same.

3.3 Responsibilities of Consultant

(a) Control and Payment of Consultants and its Subordinates

1

Packet Page 111



School retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and Consultant is not an
employee of School. Any additional personnel performing the Services under this Agreement on
behalf of Consultant shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.
Consultant shall pay all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in connection
with their performance of Services under this Agreement and as required by law Consultant shall
be responsible for all reports and obligations respecting such employees, including, but not
limited to, social security taxes, income tax withholding, unemployment insurance, and workers'
compensation insurance.

(b) Conformance to Applicable Requirements

All work prepared by Consultant is subject to the approval of School and any and all
applicable regulatory State agencies, and shall be the property of School.

(c) Reports

Consultant shall provide digital copies of all reports required to be submitted to applicable
regulatory State agencies to School, whether or not such reports must be submitted to the School.

(d) Coordination of Services

Consultant agrees to work closely with School staff in the performance of Services and shall
be available to School's staff, consultants and other staff at all reasonable times.

(e) Standard of Care

Consultant shall perform all Services under this Agreement in a skillful, competent and
timely manner, consistent with the standards generally recognized as being employed by
professionals in the same discipline in the State of California. Consultant represents and
maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling necessary to perform the Services.
Consultant warrants that all of Consultant's employees and subcontractors shall have sufficient
skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them. Consultant further represents that
it, its employees and subcontractors or subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications
and approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement. Any of
Consultant's employees who are determined by School to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat
to the adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property,
or any of Consultant's employees who fail or refuse to perform the Services in a manner
acceptable to School, shall be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not
be re-employed to perform any of the Services or to work on the Project.

(f) Laws and Regulations
Consultant shall keep itself fully informed of and in compliance with all local, state and

federal laws, rules and regulations in any manner affecting the performance of the Project or the
Services, and shall give all notices required by law. Consultant shall be liable for all violations of
such laws and regulations in connection with Services

2

Packet Page 112



(g) Insurance
(i) Time for Compliance. Consultant shall not commence Services under this Agreement

until it has provided evidence satisfactory to School that it has secured all insurance required
under this Section. In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work
on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to School that the subcontractor
has secured all insurance required under this Section.

(ii) Minimum Requirements and Limits. Consultant shall, at its expense, procure and
maintain for the duration of this Agreement, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or
damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the
Agreement by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors.
Consultant shall also require all of its subcontractors to procure and maintain the same insurance
for the duration of the Agreement. Such insurance shall meet at least the following minimum
levels of coverage:

(iii) Minimum Scope of Insurance. Coverage shall be at least as broad as the latest
version of the following: (1) General Liability: Insurance Services Office Commercial General
Liability coverage; (2) Workers' Compensation and Employers' Liability. Workers' Compensation
insurance as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance and (3)
Professional Liability: Coverage which is appropriate to the Consultant 's profession, or that of
its consultants or subcontractors.

(iv) Minimum Limits of Insurance. Consultant shall maintain limits no less than: (1)
General Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury and property
damage. If Commercial General Liability Insurance or other form with a general aggregate limit
is used, either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to this Agreement location or the
general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit; (2) Automobile Liability.
$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage;

(v) Workers' Compensation and Employer's Liability. Workers' compensation limits as
required by the Labor Code of the State of California. Employers Liability limits of $1,000,000
per accident for bodily injury or disease;

(vi) Professional Liability: Not less than $1,000,000 per claim $2,000,000 aggregate.

3.4 Insurance Endorsements

The insurance policies shall contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide
endorsements on forms supplied or approved by the School to add the following provisions to
the insurance policies:

(a) General Liability The general liability policy shall be endorsed to state that:

(i) the School, its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers shall be
covered as additional insured with respect to the Work or operations performed by or on behalf
of the Consultant, including materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such
work; and

(ii) the insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respects the School, its directors,

3

Packet Page 113



officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers, or if excess, shall stand in an unbroken
chain of coverage excess of the Consultant's scheduled underlying coverage. Any insurance or
self-insurance maintained by the School, its directors, officials, officers, employees, agents and
volunteers shall be excess of the Consultant's insurance and shall not be called upon to contribute
with it in any way.

(b) Workers' Compensation and Employers Liability Coverage

The insurer shall agree to waive all rights of subrogation against the School, its directors,
Officials, officers, employees, agents and volunteers for losses paid under the terms of the
insurance policy which arise from work performed by the Consultant.

(c) Professional Liability

Consultant and its sub consultants and subcontractors shall procure and maintain, for a
period of five (5) years following completion of the Project, errors and omissions liability
insurance with limits discussed in this Section. This insurance shall be endorsed to include
contractual liability.

(d) All Coverage

Each insurance policy required by this Agreement shall be endorsed to state that: (A)
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, reduced or canceled except after thirty (30) days prior
written notice by certified mail, return receipt requested, has been given to School; and (B) any
failure to comply with reporting or other provisions of the policies, including breaches of
warranties, shall not affect coverage provided to School, its directors, officials, officers,
employees, agents and volunteers.

(e) Separation of Insureds

No Special Limitations. All insurance required by this Section shall contain standard
separation of insured provisions. In addition, such insurance shall not contain any special
limitations on the scope of protection afforded to the School, its directors, officials, officers,
employees, agents and volunteers.

(f) Acceptability of Insurers

With the exception of Workers' Compensation Insurance, all insurance required
hereunder is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best's rating no less than A-, which
are licensed to do business in California, and which maintain an agent for process within the
state. Workers' Compensation insurance required under this Agreement must be offered by an
insurer meeting the above standards with the exception that the A.M. Best's rating condition is
waived at the discretion of the School.

(g) Verification of Coverage

Consultant shall furnish School with original certificates of insurance and endorsements
effecting coverage required by this Agreement on forms satisfactory to School. The certificates
and endorsements for each insurance policy shall be signed by a person authorized by that

4

Packet Page 114



insurer to bind coverage on its. behalf, and shall be on forms provided by School if requested.
School reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies,
at any time.

(h) Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to avoid injury or damage to
any person or property. In carrying out its Services, the Consultant shall at all times be in
compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations, and shall
exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of its employees and subcontractors appropriate
to the nature of the Services and the conditions under which the Services are to be performed.

3.5 Fees and Payments

(a) Compensation

Consultant shall receive compensation for all Services rendered under this Agreement at
the rates and scheduled as set forth in Exhibit "B" attached hereto and incorporated herein by
reference. Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if authorized, will be
compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement,

(b) Reimbursement of Expenses

Consultant shall be reimbursed for any reasonable and necessary expenses necessary to
the completion of this agreement and authorized in writing by School.

(c) Payment of Compensation

School shall pay Consultant prior to beginning work on any phase of the project as
depicted in Exhibit “B”.

(d) Extra Work

At any time during the term of this Agreement, School may request that Consultant
perform Extra Work. As used herein, "Extra Work" means any Services which are determined
by School to be necessary, but which the Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be
necessary at the execution of this Agreement. Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated
for, Extra Work without written supplemental work authorization from School.

3.6 Maintenance of Accounting Records

Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate records with respect to all costs and
expenses incurred under this Agreement. All such records shall be clearly identifiable.
Consultant shall allow a representative of School during normal business hours to examine,
audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other documents created pursuant
to this Agreement Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, documents, proceedings,
and activities related to the Agreement for a period of four (4) years from the date of final
payment under this Agreement.

5

Packet Page 115



General Provisions

4 Termination of Agreement

4.1 Grounds for Termination

School may, by written notice to Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this
Agreement at any time and without cause by giving written notice to Consultant of such
termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, at least thirty (30) days before the effective
date of such termination. Upon termination, Consultant shall be compensated only for those
services which have been adequately rendered to School, and Consultant shall be entitled to no
further compensation.

4.2 Effect of Termination

If this Agreement is terminated as provided in this Section, School may require
Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished documents, data, reports or any other items
prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance of Services under this Agreement.
Consultant shall be required to provide such documents and other information within forty-five
(45) days of the request.

4.3 Additional Services

In the event this Agreement is terminated in whole or in part as provided herein, School
may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as it may determine appropriate, services
similar or identical to those terminated.

4.4 Delivery of Notices

All notices permitted or required under this Agreement shall be given to the respective
Parties at the following address, or at such other address as the respective Parties may provide in
writing for this purpose:

CONSULTANT:

Campus Safety Alliance
Attn: Morgan R. Ballis
121 Spruce Way
Hailey, ID 83333

SCHOOL:

Bella Mente Montessori Academy
Attn: Erin Freeley
1737 W Vista Way,
Vista, CA 92083,

6

Packet Page 116



Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed,
seventy-two (72) hours after deposit in the U.S. Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to
the party at its applicable address. Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date
actual notice occurred, regardless of the method of service.

4.5 Mediation

Disputes arising from this Agreement may be submitted to mediation if mutually
agreeable to the Parties hereto. The type and process of mediation to be utilized shall be subject
to the mutual agreement of the Parties.

4.6 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality

(a) All materials and data, including but not limited to, data on magnetic media and any
materials and data required to be made or kept pursuant to federal, state or local laws, rules or
regulations, prepared or collected by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, shall be the sole
property of the School, except that Consultant shall have the right to retain copies of all such
documents and data for its records. School shall not be limited in any way in its use of such
materials and data at any time, provided that any such use pot within the purposes intended by
this Agreement shall be at School's sole risk and provided that Consultant shall be indemnified
against any damages resulting from such use, including the release of this material to third
parties for a use not intended by this Agreement.

(b) All such materials and data shall be provided to the School, or such other agency or
entity as directed by School or required by law, rule or regulation, immediately upon completion
of the term of this Agreement as directed by School. Should School wish to obtain possession of
any such materials or data during the term of this. Agreement, it shall make its request in writing.
Such information shall be provided to the School within seventy-two (72) hours of its request.

4.7 Attorney's Fees

If either party commences an action against the other party, either legal, administrative or
otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party in such
litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party reasonable attorney's fees
and all other costs of such action.

4.8 Entire Agreement

This Agreement contains the entire Agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, understandings or agreements.

4.9 Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California. Any action
brought to enforce the terms of this Agreement shall be brought in a state or federal court located
in the County of San Diego, State of California.

(a.) Successors and Assigns

7

Packet Page 117



This Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the Parties, and shall
not be assigned by Consultant without the prior written consent of School.

(b.) Amendments

This Agreement may not be amended except by a writing signed by the School and
Consultant.

(c.) Severability

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrases of this Agreement, or the
application thereof to any of the Parties, is for any reason held invalid or unenforceable, the
validity of the remainder of the Agreement shall not be affected thereby and may be enforced by
the Parties to this Agreement.

(d.) Interpreting Agreement

In interpreting this Agreement, it shall be deemed that it was prepared jointly by the
Parties with full access to legal counsel of their own. No ambiguity shall be resolved against any
party on the premise that it or its attorneys were solely responsible for drafting this Agreement or
any provision thereof.

(e) Conflict of Interest

For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of School, during the
term of his or her service with School, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, or obtain
any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom.

5 Equal Opportunity Employment

Consultant represents that it is an equal opportunity employer and it shall not
discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color,
national origin, ancestry, sex or age. Such nondiscrimination shall include, but not be limited to,
all activities related to initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or
recruitment advertising, layoff or termination.

6 Fingerprinting Requirements

Consultant hereby acknowledges that, if applicable, it is required to comply with the
requirements of Education Code Section 45125.1 with respect to fingerprinting of employees
who may have contact with the School's pupils. The Consultant shall also ensure that its
consultants on the Project also comply with the requirements of Section 45125.1. If required by
Education Code Section 45125.1, the Consultant must

provide for the completion of a Fingerprint Certification form, in the School's required format,
prior to any of the Consultant's employees, or those of any other consultants, coming into contact
with the School's pupils.

8

Packet Page 118



7 Drug/Tobacco Free Facilities.

All School facilities are drug and tobacco free facilities. Any drug and/or tobacco use (smoked or
smokeless) is prohibited at all times on all areas of School facilities.

8 Exhibits and Recitals.

All Exhibits and Recitals contained herein are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by this
reference.

9 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall
constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one agreement.

Bella Mente Montessori Academy Campus Safety Alliance

__________________________ __________________________

Signature: Signature:

__________________________ __Morgan R. Ballis______________

Printed Name: Printed Name

Title: Title: CEO

GOVERNING BOARD APPROVED ON

______________________
Date

9

Packet Page 119



Exhibit A: Scope of Services

2024/2025 Annual Training & CA Comprehensive School Safety Plan (CSSP)

Campus Safety Alliance will lead a half day professional development for Shelter in Place,
Secure Campus, and Options-Based response protocols. This training will be a
combination of presentations, discussions, and demonstrations.

Campus Safety Alliance will create drill outlines and student presentations for Shelter in Place,
Secure Campus, and (2) Options-Based response drills. Campus Safety Alliance will
lead a 30-minute staff professional development for Shelter in Place, Secure Campus, and
(2) Options-Based response drills.

Campus Safety Alliance shall work directly with Bella Mente Montessori Academy’s School Site
Council (SSC) in revising and updating the 2024/2025 CSSP in alignment with
California Education Code, sections 32280–32289.  The CSSP must be reviewed,
updated, and approved by March 1, every year, as mandated in California Education
Code 32286.  Campus Safety Alliance will also be available to present the proposed
CSSP to a public board meeting, at the school, as mandated by California Education
Code 32286 (b)(1) 

 
Campus Safety Alliance will coordinate site visits with local law enforcement and firefighter

agencies in order to collaborate with local partners and share safety plans in accordance
with CA Education Code Section 32281(b)(3)

Campus Safety Alliance will ensure all policies, procedures, emergency folders, and related
material are aligned to the approved CSSP where appropriate.  Recommendations on
changes to policies, procedures, emergency folders, and related material will be
submitted no later than March 1, 2024.

.

10

Packet Page 120



Exhibit B: Fee Schedule

Fee Schedule

Fee (185/hr) Estimated Total

2024/2025 annual safety professional development (20 hrs)
2024 CA CCSP Revision & Policy Alignment (16 hrs)
2024 drill outlines and student powerpoints (8) hours
2024 drill professional development (4) hours
Travel expenses

3,700.00
2,960.00
1,480.00
740.00
950.00

Total Cost: $9,830.00  

11

Packet Page 121



www.COASTLANDSCAPING.com
2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B. Vista, CA 92081
PH:  (760) 436-6804     FAX:  (760) 436-8147
EMAIL:  info@coastlandscaping.com

Estimate

Date
12/15/2007

Estimate #
Sample

Name/ Address
This is sample text.

Customer message prints here

Description
This is sample text.

Quantity
1

Rate
123.45

Amount
123.45

Accepted By:

Accepted Date:

Job Total $123.45

Exp. Date
Sample

Contr. Lic. #353359
DPR Business Lic. #38144

SLBE/ELBE Cert. #11CL0227
SB Cert. #1461760

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n
REP
ABC

Any alteration or deviation from above specifications involving extra costs will be executed 
only upon written order, and will become an extra charge over and above the proposal.  All 
material is guaranteed to be as specified, and the above work to be performed in accordance 
with the drawings and specifications submitted for the above work and completed in a 
substantial workmanlike manner.  This proposal does not include the cost of any permits 
associated with the above work.  Cost of permits and a filing fees will be added as a change 
order if requested.

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B 
Vista, CA 92081 

PH: (760) 436-6804  
FAX: (760) 436-8147 

info@coastlandscaping.com 
www.COASTLANDSCAPING.com

Contr. Lic. #353359 
PWCR #1000004310
DPR Business Lic. #38144 
SLBE/ELBE Cert. #11CL0227 
SB Cert. #1461760

Any alteration or deviation from above specifications involving extra costs will be executed only upon 
written order, and will become an extra charge over and above the proposal. All material is guaranteed to 
be as specified, and the above work to be performed in accordance with the drawings and specifications 
submitted for the above work and completed in a substantial workmanlike manner. This proposal does not 
include the cost of any permits associated with the above work. Cost of permits and a filing fees will be 
added as a change order if requested.

Any alteration or deviation from the above specifications involving extra costs will be executed only upon written order, and will 
become an extra charge over and above this proposal.  All material is guaranteed to be as specified, and the above work to be 
performed in accordance with the drawings and specifications submitted for the above work.  All associated work will be 
completed in a substantial workmanlike manner.  This proposal does not include the cost of any permits or associated fees for 
the above scope of work.  Cost of permits and any fees will be added as a change order if requested.

 Mailing Address:
9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211

Beaverton, OR 97008

Physical Address:
2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B

Vista, CA 92081

PH: (760) 436-6804 
FAX: (760) 436-8147

 bids@coastlandscaping.com 
www.COASTLANDSCAPING.com

Contr. Lic. #353359 
PWCR#1000004310

 DPR Business Lic. #38144
SLBE/ELBE Cert. #11CL0227

SB Cert. #1461760

Contr. Lic. #353359 
PWCR#1000004310 
DPR Business Lic. #38144 
SLBE Cert. #11CL0227 
SB Cert. #1461760

PH: (760) 436-6804
FAX: (760) 436-8147

bids@coastlandscaping.com
www.COASTLANDSCAPING.com

SCOPE OF WORK SCOPE STATEMENT

CALIFORNIA  #353359 C-27
IDAHO  #RCE-58336
PWCR #1000004310
DPR Business License #38144
SLBE Certificate #11CL0227
SB Certificate #1461760

1

$2,585.00

JN12/31/202360810/5/2023

- Per site inspection on 9/20/23.

Inclusions:

 - General cleanup of all landscaping onsite including , planter beds, walk ways, hardscape and parking areas.
 - General weed abatement and invasive grass species removal to planter beds, walkways and landscaping.
 - General pruning to shrubs and plants to natural horticultural size and shape while providing separation and clearances needed.
 - General lifting or skirting of any trees to natural horticultural size and shape while providing separation and clearances up to 12 feet.
 - Removal and Disposal of all green waste generated onsite.
 - Includes all Disposal fee's and Labor Required.

Exclusions:
- No Irrigation maintenance included in initial landscape cleanup but apart of (12) month service agreement.
- No herbicides near or around raised bed gardens or fruit tree's.
- No tree work over 12 feet in height or 6" round in diameter, (Bid on Request)

*Scheduled weather permitting.

Bella Mente Academies

Initial Landscaping Clean up and Maintenance Service

Packet Page 122



 

COAST LANDSCAPING INC. Contractor State License #353359 1	

The following is a bid proposal that describes the landscape improvement services of 
Coast Landscaping Inc., referred to in this document as CL.  An authorized signature on 
the last page of this document by agent, representative or owner, referred to in this 
document as Client, will convert this Estimate to a binding Contract. 
 

We look forward to being your Landscape Improvement Service Provider. 
 

SPECIFICATIONS 
1. All work shall be performed in accordance to the written or verbal plans and 
specifications, which have been examined by the owner and  CL prior to submittal. 
2. The following specific items are included in this document;  
 a.   Detailed description attached, Estimate 
 b. Specifications 
 c. Terms and Conditions. 
3. The owner is entitled to a completely filled in copy of this  Contract, signed by 
both parties, before any work commences. 
4. All work to be completed and the materials to be utilized or  installed, under 
this Contract, at the address noted on the Estimate. 
 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
1. Payment Terms.   
 a.  Client agrees to pay CL a down payment.  The down payment may not exceed a 
thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or ten (10%) percent of the Contract price, whichever is 
less.   
 b.  Any material draws or progress payment(s) will be noted on the attached Estimate 
and/or any change order(s).   
 c.  Upon satisfactory payment for any portion of the contracted work performed, CL, 
if requested in writing, shall furnish to the Client an unconditional release from any 
claim or mechanics lien pursuant to (section 3114 to the civil code), for that portion of 
the contracted work for which payment(s) have been received and processed. 
 d.  If any payment(s) is not issued when due, CL may suspend work until such time as 
all payment(s) due have been received.  A failure of payment(s) for a period in excess of 
five (5) days from the due date, the payment(s) shall be deemed a breach of contract. 
 e.  All amounts due under this Contract shall be paid upon completion from CL's 
invoices or payment schedule, noted on the attached Estimate and/or any change order(s). 
Thereafter, interest shall be charged and accrued at one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) 
per month, or at the highest legal rate, whichever is lower. Payment(s) shall first be 
applied to all outstanding interest charges, and thereafter to the oldest outstanding 
invoice. 
 f.  If any payment(s) are returned, for any reason, a flat fee of $150.00 shall be 
charged in addition to all the subjected banking charges accumulated from such returned 
payment(s). 
 g.  Submit all payment(s) to the address listed on the attached Estimate and/ or 
change order(s). 
2. Deferred Interest & Payment Promotions.  No interest charges will be assessed if the 
promotional balance is paid in full within the promotional period. If the promotional 
balance is not paid in full by the end of the promotional period, interest will be 
imposed from the contract date at one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month, or at the 
highest legal rate, whichever is lower. Payment(s) shall first be applied to all 
outstanding interest charges, and thereafter to the oldest outstanding invoice.  
Scheduled material draws and/or progress payments are required.  Such payments will be 
noted on the attached proposal and/or any change order(s).  This promotion may be offered 
for periods of 6, 12, 18 or 24 months depending on each client and their credit 
worthiness.  Any promotion may be terminated and regular account terms stated on the 
attached proposal will apply, if a payment goes thirty (30) days past due during any 
scheduled payment terms.  Payments can be made at anytime, in whole or in part, to the 
total unpaid balance without any additional charge for prepayment. 
3. Hidden Conditions.  Client agrees to pay CL on a time and materials basis for all 
additional time necessary to complete the work as a result of any public or private 
permits, inspections and hidden foreign matter such as cement or metal. CL shall have no 
liability for underground utilities such as electric, gas, phone or cable lines that are 
not installed to the proper specifications and/ or were unspecified by client prior to 
any work. 
4. Building Permits.  Client agrees to pull all necessary building permits before such 
work commences when required by the local building department.  Client agrees to pay any 
permitting fee’s associated with this Landscape Improvement Service Contract separate 
from the attached Estimate.  Failure to obtain such building permits can result in 
significant fines and penalties. 
5. Working Schedule. Client agrees that the landscape improvement Contract shall be 
physically completed within ninety (90) working days from the Contacts signature date.  

1

Packet Page 123



COAST LANDSCAPING INC. Contractor State License #353359 2	

In the event that extra work and change orders become part of the Contract, the 
completion date will be extended accordingly, in writing and signed by the client prior 
to the commencement of any additional work.  The Contract shall commence no later then 
thirty (30) working days from the Contracts signature date or if the client executes the 
Contracts working schedule prior to the first day CL starts onsite work.  Onsite work is 
defined as work within the physical limits of the Contract.  In no case shall the 
beginning of the Contracts working schedule be later than sixty (60) working days from 
the Contracts signature date.  CL will only be on-site during scheduled business hours, 
Monday through Friday from seven (7:00am) to three thirty (3:30pm), except for federal 
holidays, safety training and inclement weather conditions.  CL will give advanced notice 
to client if work will extend though none scheduled days such as weekends or overtime 
hours. 
6. Landscape Ownership.  Client warrants that it is the legal owner of all existing
landscape upon which work is to be performed, or that Client has obtained permission for
CL to work on the existing landscape from the legal owner.
7. Extra Work and Change Orders.  Extra work and change orders become part of the
Contract once the Estimate is prepared in writing and signed by the client prior to the
commencement of any additional or subtracted work covered by the new Estimate.
8. Subcontractors.  CL may subcontract any portion of this Contract to a qualified and
insured third party without a written notice to the Client.
9. Warranty.  CL warrants that all working procedures are conducted in a safe and
orderly manner as established by OSHA and CSLB safety standards.  Unless otherwise
represented, CL extends a warranty period of twelve (12) months from the contract
completion date for any new landscape products installed, such as rock, boulders, and or
masonry materials.  CL extends a warranty period for twelve (12) months from the
completion date for any new irrigation products installed and extends a warranty period
of ninety (90) days from the contract completion date for any new plant materials
installed with respect to the services provided hereunder, except for cool season turf,
sod or seed, installed during the summer months of June through October. During those
warmer months CL extends no warranty against fungus and heat related stress.  CL doesn’t
extend any warranty against soil borne grubs; grubs are dormant during the colder months
and can re-emerge during the warmer months.  CL doesn’t extend any warranty for the
performance of any Hydroseeding applied.  The warranty will be considered void in the
event of an existing problematic concern, maintenance neglect, client abuses, acts of God
and or vandalism.
10. Insurance.  CL shall maintain workers compensation, general liability, and
automotive liability insurance during its performance of the work under this Contract.
11. Limitation of Liability.  In no event shall CL, its insurers, directors, officers or
employees be liable for any incidental, indirect or consequential damages, or in the
cumulative aggregate, for any damages whatsoever in excess of the compensation to be paid
by Client under this Contract.  No action arising from or related to the Contract, or the
performance thereof, shall be commenced by either party against the other more than one
year after the completion or cessation of work under this Contract.  This limitation
applies to all actions of any character, whether at law or in equity, and whether
sounding in contract, or otherwise.  This limitation shall not be extended by any
negligent misrepresentation or unintentional concealment, but shall be extended as
provided by law for willful fraud, concealment or misrepresentation.
12. Mediation.  Unless otherwise agreed upon by both parties in writing, any controversy
arising out of the construction of the project referred to in this Contract or regarding
the interpretation of this Contract over the dollar amount of five thousand dollars
($5,000.00), shall be subject to a good faith mediation conducted under rules as provided
by California law.  Mediation shall be in accordance with the current rules of “JAMS”
unless the parties mutually agree to another set of rules or approach to mediation.
Demand for mediation shall be filed in writing with the other party to this Contract and
with “JAMS”.  The parties agree that any applicable statute of limitations shall be
tolled during the pendency of any mediation proceedings.  In no way shall the right to
mediate exclude CL’s ability to record a mechanics lien.
13. Three-Day Right to Cancel – The Home Solicitation Sales Act.  This Contract may be
cancelled by the Client within three (3) business days from the contract signature date.
A written notice of cancellation must be sent to CL at the address noted on the attached
Estimate.  Under The Home Solicitation Sales Act if the contract has been canceled CL
must return the entire Contract amount, if paid within ten (10) days of receiving the
cancellation request, and/ or restore the client’s property to the original state prior
to any work that has been preformed.  The client must return any materials to the CL that
were applied to the Contract.  The right to a Three-Day Notice to Cancellation is
automatically voided the moment the Contract is signed and CL dispatches work covering
any and all emergency repairs or short notice services under seven hundred and fifty
dollars ($750.00).
14. Completion and Occupancy.  Owner agrees to sign and record a Notice of Completion
within five days after the completion of the project, if required.  If the project passes
final inspection by the Owner and or public body, but owner fails to record Notice of

Packet Page 124



 

COAST LANDSCAPING INC. Contractor State License #353359 3	

Completion, then owner hereby appoints CL as owner’s agent to sign and record a Notice of 
Completion on behalf of owner.  This agency is irrevocable and is an agency coupled with 
an interest. 
15. Bankruptcy.  If either party becomes bankrupt, or makes an assignment for the 
benefit of creditors, the other party has the right to cancel this Contract. 
16. Indemnity.  Client shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify CL, its insurers, 
directors, officers or employees in connection with any claims arising out of the 
Contract, including, but not limited to, any claims for property damage, bodily injury, 
emotional injury, sickness or disease, or death to persons, including but not limited to 
any employees of CL, regardless of any active and /or passive act or omission on the part 
of CL, its agents or employees, except claims arising from the sole negligence or willful 
misconduct of CL or their agents or employees. 
17. Severability.  If any provision of the Contract shall be held to be invalid or 
unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and 
enforceable. If a court finds that any provision of the Contract is invalid or 
unenforceable, but that by limiting such provisions it would become valid and 
enforceable, that such provision shall be deemed to be written, construed, and enforced 
as so limited. 
18. Waiver of Contractual Rights.  The failure of either party to enforce any provision 
of the Contract shall not be construed as a waiver or limitation of that party's right to 
subsequently enforce and compel strict compliance with every provision of this Contract. 
19. Force Majeure.  CL shall not be liable for loss, damage, or delay from causes beyond 
its control or from shortages of fuel or energy, acts or omissions of any governmental 
authority, acts of God, war, civil disobedience, strikes, labor difficulties, accidents, 
failure to reasonably obtain materials, or delays or shortages in transportation. 
20.   Epidemic Rider. Notwithstanding any provision(s) of this contract, if as a direct 
or indirect result of any virus, disease, contagion, including but not limited to COVID-
19 (individually or collectively, “Epidemic”, Contractor’s work is delayed, disrupted, 
suspended, or otherwise impacted, including, but limited to, by (1) disruptions to 
material and/or equipment supply; (2) illness or Contractor’s workforce and/or 
unavailability of labor; (3) government quarantines, shelter-in-place orders, closures, 
or other mandates, restrictions, and/or directives;(4) Owner or Contractor restrictions 
and/or directives; and/or (5) fulfillment of Contractor’s contractual or legal health and 
safety obligations associated with an Epidemic; then Contractor shall be entitled to an 
equitable adjustment to the Contract schedule and duration to account for such 
disruptions, suspensions, and impacts.  To the extent any of the causes identified herein 
results in an increase in the price of labor, materials or equipment used in the 
performance of this Contract, or other costs of performance of the Contract, Contractor 
shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment to the Subcontract price for such increases, 
provided Contractor presents documentation of such increases (including the original 
prices and/or estimates) and evidence of Contractor’s reasonable efforts to find 
alternative sources of material or equipment supply and/or labor at the original/non-
impacted prices an/or estimates. 
20. Governing Law.  This Contract, and each of its terms, shall be construed under and 
bound by the laws of California.  
21. Attorneys Fees and Costs.  In the event of any dispute between the parties arising 
out of this Contract, including any claim to recover payments due hereunder, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to the recovery from the other of its reasonable 
attorneys fees and expenses. 
22. Entire Agreement.  This Contract constitutes the entire agreement between the 
parties and represents the exclusive understanding of the parties, either oral or 
written. This Agreement supersedes any prior written or oral agreements between the 
parties. 
23. Amendment.  This Contract may be modified or amended, in whole or in part, only by 
mutual written agreement of the parties, and any such amendment or modification shall not 
affect the enforceability of any other provision hereof. 
24. Acceptance. I/we have read and approve the above Estimate, Specifications, 
Provisions, Terms and Conditions including Item 4, Deferred Interest & Payment 
Promotions.  I/we agree to pay all scheduled payment(s) mentioned on the attached 
Estimate and any additional Change Order(s), and according to the terms thereof.  I/we 
acknowledge: to avoid paying Deferred Interest Charges on this contract, I/we must pay 
the entire applicable Promotional Balance by the Promotional Expiration Date noted on the 
attached proposal.  I/we agree to pay the Estimate price attached to this Contract, and 
according to the terms thereof.  I/we acknowledge that before entering into this 
Contract, I/we received a copy of the Notice to Owner, which is enclosed. 
 

_____________________________  _____________________________    
Date:        Date:        
_____________________________  _____________________________     
Client Acceptance:      CL Representative Acceptance: 

Packet Page 125



 

COAST LANDSCAPING INC. Contractor State License #353359 4	

NOTICE TO OWNER 
THE LAW REQUIRES THAT, BEFORE A LICENSED CONTRACTOR CAN ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH YOU 
FOR WORK OF IMPROVEMENT ON YOUR PROPERTY, THEY MUST GIVE YOU A COPY OF THIS NOTICE. 

 
MECHANICS LIEN WARNING: 
 Anyone who helps improve your property, but who is not paid, may record what is 
called a mechanics lien on your property.  A mechanics lien is a claim, like a mortgage 
or home equity loan, made against your property and recorded with the county recorder. 
 Even if you pay your contractor in full, unpaid subcontractors, suppliers, and 
laborers who helped to improve your property may record mechanics liens and sue you in 
court to foreclose the lien.  If a court finds the lien is valid, you could be forced to 
pay twice or have a court officer sell your home to pay the lien.  Liens can also affect 
your credit. 
 To preserve their right to record a lien, subcontractor and material suppliers must 
provide you with a document called a 20-DAY Preliminary Notice.  This notice is not a 
lien.  The purpose of the notice is to let you know that the person who sends you the 
notice has the right to record a lien on your property if he or she is not paid. 
 BE CAREFUL.  The Preliminary Notice can be sent up to 20 days after the 
subcontractor starts work or the supplier provides material.  This can be a big problem 
if you pay your contractor before you have received the Preliminary Notices. 
 You will not get Preliminary Notices from your prime contractor or from laborers who 
work on your project.  The law assumes that you already know they are improving your 
property. 
 PROTECT YOURSELF FROM LIENS.  You can protect yourself from liens by getting a list 
from your contractor of all the subcontractors and material suppliers that work on your 
project.  Find out from your contractor when these subcontractors started work and when 
these suppliers delivered goods or materials.  Then wait 20 days, paying attention to the 
Preliminary Notices you receive. 
 PAY WITH JOINT CHECKS.  One way to protect yourself is to pay with a joint check.  
When your contractor tells you it is time to pay for the work of a subcontractor or 
supplier who has provided you with a Preliminary Notice, write a joint check payable to 
both the contractor and the subcontractor or material supplier. 
 For other ways to prevent liens visit CSLBs Website at www.cslb.ca.gov or call CSLB 
at 1.800.321.CSLB. 
 Remember, if you do nothing, you risk having a lien placed on your home.  This can 
mean that you may have to pay twice, or face the forced sale of your home to pay what you 
owe. 
 
STATE CONTRACTORS LICENSE NOTICE: 
 State law requires anyone who contracts to do construction work to be licensed by 
the contractors state license board in the license category in which the contractor is 
going to be working, if the total price of the job is $500 or more (including labor and 
materials). 
 Licensed contractors are regulated by laws designed to protect the public.  If you 
contract with someone who does not have a license, the contractors state license board 
may be unable to assist you with a complaint.  Your only remedy against an unlicensed 
contractor may be in civil court, and you may be liable for damages arising out of any 
injuries to the contractor or his or her employees. 
 You may contact the contractors state license board to find out if this contractor 
has a valid license.  The board has complete information on the history of licensed 
contractors, including any possible suspensions, revocations, judgments, and citations.  
The board has offices throughout California.  Please check the government pages of your 
local white pages for the office nearest you or call 1.800.321.CSLB for more information. 
 

_____________________________   
Date:           
_____________________________      
Client Acknowledgment: 

Packet Page 126



P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

MAILING ADDRESS: 
9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR 97008 

PHYSICAL ADDRESS: 
2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B 
Vista, CA 92081

TEL:       (760) 436-6804 

FAX:     (760) 436-8147  General 
(760) 867-2892  Compliance

EMAIL:  bids@coastlandscaping.com 

1737 W Vista Way,
Vista, CA 92083

Belle Mente Academies

Packet Page 127



from the desk of


JON 
NORTON

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

	 	                                                                                              


	 	 


RE:   

The following proposal is for landscape and water management  for the above 
named property.  This proposal is based on standard horticultural specifications that 
we reviewed                                   .  Coast Landscaping Inc. has conducted an 
onsite inspection to compile the information itemized within this proposal. 

Coast Landscaping Inc. stands behind our landscape services with a 
SATISFACTION GUARANTEE.  We are committed to providing excellent service 
and assuring that you are completely satisfied.  

Our company offers PAYMENT DEFERRALS & DEFERRED INTEREST on new 
maintenance & landscape construction contracts.  What this means for your 
property is that Coast Landscaping Inc. has the ability to fund projects with little 
money down and defer all interest, if paid within the agreed promotional period. 

Our team at Coast Landscaping Inc. would sincerely enjoy being your Landscape 
Contractor.  We know that we can offer your property an outstanding product at a 
fair price.  Please consider our proposal at this time and once again, we thank you 
for your consideration. 

Coast Landscaping Inc. will be available for any questions or comments in regards 
to this packet, if so desired. 

Sincerely, 

Jon Norton 
Business Development / Account Manager 
  


10/5/2023

Belle Mente Academies

Packet Page 128



contractor pre-qualifications


SCOPE OF 
WORK 
STATEMENT & 
SERVICE COST

	 	                                                                   


	 	                                                                                                           


Coast Landscaping Inc. is fully aware of all contract requirements from the 
state, management, and local agencies.  We understand that your property 
is looking for a contractor who meets all the contract specifications and can 
do so in a professional and responsible manner.  We acknowledge that this 
contract consisting of plant materials to be maintained on a weekly basis 
unless otherwise specified by management or current growing conditions.  
Coast Landscaping Inc. recognizes this contract is comprised of routine 
landscape maintenance, yet encourages new ideas, processes and 
improvements to the way things are being accomplished.  We understand 
that all materials used shall be of the highest quality and shall conform to 
the original plans specified within the Landscape Management Service 
Agreement.  Coast Landscaping Inc. understands all issues concerning 
storm water pollution and is prepared to fully comply with the current SWMP 
requirements set by your local government agency.


P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

Monthly Landscape & Water Management Service Cost

A performance contract based on the specifications within the 
attached Service Agreement.

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

$1,225.00

Packet Page 129



IR
R

IG
AT

IO
N

 C
O

LO
R

 C
H

A
R

T

M
A

IL
IN

G
: 9

45
0 

S
W

 G
em

in
i D

r. 
#6

92
11

, B
ea

ve
rto

n,
 O

R
 9

70
08

P
H

Y
S

IC
A

L:
 2

23
0 

La
 M

ira
da

 D
r. 

S
ui

te
 B

., 
Vi

st
a,

 C
A 

92
08

1
P

H
O

N
E

: (
76

0)
 4

36
-6

80
4 

| F
A

X
: (

76
0)

 4
36

-8
14

7 
 (7

60
) 8

67
-2

89
2

C
S

LB
 #

 3
53

35
9 

| D
P

R
 #

38
14

4 
| S

LB
E

 #
11

C
L0

22
7|

 S
B

 #
14

61
76

0
P

W
C

R
#1

00
00

04
31

0

M
A

IN
TE

N
A

N
C

E
 R

O
TA

TI
O

N

Belle Mente Academies

Project Manager

Jonathan Norton

Sheet 1 of 1

Packet Page 130



contractor pre-qualifications


UNSPECIFIED 
VALUE-ADDED 
OFFERINGS

                                                                                                             

           
                                                                        

If awarded, within the first three (3) months as your new landscape 
maintenance service provider, the following items will be available on 
request, at no additional cost to the Service Agreement. 

LANDSCAPE HORTICULTURE REPORT 
This report will cover all aspects of the existing landscape.  Turf, plant 
material, irrigation, trees, drainage and slopes will all be addressed. 
Existing problems, potential problems, recommendations and solutions will 
all add to the make up of this horticultural report.  It will be very detailed and 
will be accompanied by a photo essay to help highlight the material 
covered.  Coast Landscaping Inc. would be happy to attend any meeting to 
make a special presentation of the overall report, if so desired. 

LANDSCAPE POLICY BOOK 
This book will be a working manual for the landscape director to use in 
regards to all the common area landscaping.  It will feature important 
information such as plot maps of irrigation controller and back flow device 
locations, schedules for fertilizing, maintenance practices, and special 
projects.  Names and phone numbers of key people, such as landscape 
decision makes, management and Coast Landscaping Inc. contact 
numbers will also be included.  This book should act as the “landscaping 
policy,” in regards to something that can be passed down from landscape 
director to landscape director. 

MULCH MATERIAL CREDIT 
Coast Landscaping Inc. is offering select service agreements a 
MULCH CREDIT for new contracts.  What this means is that Coast 
Landscaping Inc. will credit up to 15 yards of forrest mulch at current 
unit cost.  Unit costs include material and labor, equalling an added 
valve, which will be available ninety (90) days after the 
commencement of the contract. 

*Please note that these “Unspecified Value-Added Offerings” are only for service agreements 
with a monthly value over two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00) or if predetermined by 
request on a case by case basis.  

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Packet Page 131



contractor pre-qualifications


GREENER 
GENERATION & 
CONTRIBUTIONS

	 	         


	 	                                                            


              


	 	                                                                                                          


Coast Landscaping Inc. prides itself with the ability to stride in the direction 
of a “GREEN” company.  The company’s certified technicians are trained to 
work towards the goals of water conservation and to utilize a water 
management program.   
   
Coast Landscaping Inc. is committed to the proper management of 
irrigation water and has chosen to be one of a select few companies in 
California with the proper training needed to reduce water usage and/ or 
waste.  Coast Landscaping Inc. prevents overwatering with the 
advancement of weather based irrigation systems.  By using this smart 
technology, along with water management skills, Coast Landscaping Inc. is 
committed to doing our part of achieving a “GREENER GENERATION.” 

We believe water is a precious resource.  Coast Landscaping Inc. involves 
itself with the county’s water departments to provide our clients access to 
recycled, non potable water, approved for irrigation and other uses within a 
community.  The company works closely with the region’s local water 
authorities, uses organic products, natural fertilizer through the use of 
equipment mulching kits, and green waste disposal facilities.   

These examples are only a few of the company’s efforts to not only lower 
client costs, but save our environment.  This drive and determination set 
Coast Landscaping Inc. apart from its competitors. 

Coast Landscaping Inc. has obtained our success through the 
communities we serve.  Without the needs of our clients and the 
knowledge of our personnel, we wouldn’t reach the people who 
actually make a difference within our local communities.  We believe 
that communities are founded on the beauty around them and the 
people who care for it.  If you know of a charitable organization or 
community group in need of volunteer work, contact our local office. 

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Packet Page 132



contractor pre-qualifications


CONTRACTOR 
PROFILE

	 	                                                                                                          


	 	 	                                                         


Since 1978, Coast Landscaping Inc has been a leader in all areas of landscape 
construction, client satisfaction, and working closely with municipalities extended 
throughout Southern California.  45 years strong, Coast Landscaping Inc continues to 
provide its customers with a broad range of landscape management services 
including: Commercial Landscape Installation, Irrigation Auditing, Water Management, 
Consulting, Mitigation / Habitat Restoration and Sports Complex Installation.   
  
Coast Landscaping Inc. is a privately owned and operated company with its corporate 
office located in Southern California.  We are a certified SB & SLBE enterprise for the 
City of San Diego.  We are a results oriented company whose attention to detail and 
high customer satisfaction have been the driving force behind our favorable outcomes.  
The company is bondable, finically together, manages with a full executive board, and 
obtains chief operators who are highly involved with every aspect of the day to day 
business.  “Planted in knowledge & communication” is the philosophy our 
growing business is structured around.  We believe that work is a privilege, so we 
complete each job to the best of our ability every time. We are committed to a job well 
done, our team is highly educated, and our staff has the qualifications, training, and 
experience needed to exceed the expectations on any job.  

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 bids@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

SELF PERFORMING SERVICES: 

Commercial Landscape Construction 

Commercial Landscape Maintenance 

Sports Complex/ Athletic Fields 

Erosion Control 

Pest Control 

Mitigation / Habitat Restoration  

Hydromulching 

Hydroseeding 

Landscape Consulting 

VE Design / Design Build 

CERTIFICATIONS: 

SB - Office of Small Business & DVBE 
Services 

SLBE - Small Local Business Enterprise 
(Specialty Construction) 

NALP - Landscape Industry Certified 

LICENSING: 

CALIFORNIA - #353359 C-27 

IDAHO- RCE-58336 

DPR - #38144 Maintenance Gardener Pest 
Control 

PWCR - #1000004310 

CURRENT MARKETS: 

Public Utility Agencies 

City Agencies 

County Agencies 

State Agencies  

Federal Agencies (Army Corp of Engineers, 
Department of Defense & Department of 
Veteran Affairs) 

Transportration Agencies 

School Districts 

SAFETY: 

OSHA Certified 

CPR-AED Certified - OSHA Compliant 

First Aid Certified - OSHA Compliant 

Recycled Water Site Supervisor Training 

Agricultural Pest Control Training 

Commendable Ex-Mod Rating 

Onsite Safety Meetings 

Operator Training Certifications 

Forklift Training Certifications 

Packet Page 133



6

�
�

��� ���������� ��������������������� ����������
���� � ������

����������� ���������� �����

������� ��� ���� ����������� �������� ���� ����
����������� ����

���� ���������� �����

������� �������� �� � ��� �� �� �������� ��������

����� ��������������� ������ ���������� ���������������
���� �� �������������� �� � ��� �� ���� �� ����������� �
���������� �� ����� ��� � ��

���� ���� ������� ������������� ������ ����
���� ������� �� ��� ������������ ���� �������� ��������� �������� � ��� �������� ��
�
�

������ �������� ��� ����������� �� ������������� ��������
������ �� ����������� �� ��� ��������� ������������������ ����� �������� ���������������� �� ��������� ��������
�� ��� ���� ������������ ���� ��� ��� ������� � ��� ������ � ��� ����
����������� �� ��� ������� ������������� �� ��� ������ �� ��� ���� �����������������
��� ���� ������������ ������ ��������� �� ����� �������� ���� �������������������������� �� ��� �������� ��

������������ ��������� ����������

��������� ��� ������������� �������
���� ��� ����

��������������������� �����������
Packet Page 134



SB CERTIFICATION

 
 

 
 

City of San Diego 

 
Small Local Business Enterprise (SLBE)  

Program Certification 
Coast Landscaping Inc. 

Small Local Business Enterprise (SLBE) 
Specialty Construction 

(NAICS: 561730) 
Certification Number: 11CL0227 
Effective: 11/18/2019 - 11/18/2021 

 

 Christian Silva 
Program Manager 

Equal Opportunity Contracting 
 

SLBE CERTIFICATION
 

 

 
 

City of San Diego 

 
Small Local Business Enterprise (SLBE)  

Program Certification 
Coast Landscaping, Inc. 

Emerging Local Business Enterprise (ELBE) 
Specialty Construction 

(NAICS: 561730) 
Certification Number: 11CL0227 

Effective: 2/8/2022 - 2/8/2024 

 

 Christian Silva 
Program Manager 

Equal Opportunity Contracting 
 

8

Packet Page 135

J Tyler Mason

J Tyler Mason

J Tyler Mason
08/22/2022

J Tyler Mason
08/31/2024

J Tyler Mason



contractor pre-qualifications


RESPONSE 
SERVICES

Emergency Response System -  Coast Landscaping Inc. utilizes a digital 
phone service to obtain any after hours calls made to the office.  This 
system is set up not only to efficiently receive emergency information 
quickly, but for the clients benefit of obtain a live person on the first try.  The 
emergency phone extension given by our auto-attendant will immediately 
transfer the call to every company superintendent at once.  The auto-
attendant will also record any message or conversation regarding the 
emergency and email the current contractual project manager to keep 
everyone updated with the situation.  Our personnel will respond within the 
given timeframe and make any repairs or adjustments, as needed. 

Service Reports -  Coast Landscaping Inc. has moved forward into the 21st 
century with a custom designed cloud-based platform dedicated for the 
service industry.  Our offices are networked and linked together to 
streamline the smallest things like purchase orders to more detailed items 
like proper scheduling.  The linked networked system provides a service 
autopilot for each individual client.  Our management personnel can obtain 
or update any information onsite with their devices or smart phones.  This 
extensive platform ensures that nothing will slip into the cracks or be 
missed without oversight. 

Unplanned Services -  Coast Landscaping Inc. is made up of two separate 
divisions including: Landscape Maintenance and Landscape Construction.  
Each division has the capabilities to obtain whatever our clients needs are, 
at any given time, throughout the calendar year.  When it comes to outside, 
unplanned services, or beyond the contracted scope, we can complete the 
task at hand in a timely manner without deducting from the original scope of 
work.


P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Packet Page 136



COMPANY INFORMATION

NOTICE OF PESTICIDE USE

Document:                    
  Landscape Walk Notes

Jobsite:
Date:
PO Number:

Created By:

Employee Signature:

Name:
Address:

Signature:

Landscape Walk Notes

BEFORE                      
                      A

FTER                      
                      

  BEFORE                      
                      

 AFTER

Requested Bids & Noteable Observations

#013 Sunrise Pointe HOA (SUPO)

1237 VVS remove volunteer palms,

weed/ remove burmuda grass

8/12/2020 1:14 PM

 Adan Velazco

Sluggo #67702-3-70051 / Iron Phosphate / Insecticide / Caution / Organic production bait for snails and slugs found inside outdoor ornamentals & turfgrass

M-Pede #10163-324 / Potassium Salts of Fatty Acids / Insecticide / Warning / Control the crawler stage of Adelgids, Psyllids, Mites and Scales

Remove seasonal dead outside 1207

VVS

8/28/2020

Jon Norton

1520 VBDL remove volunteer palms

201933

1581 VEDL trim at entry

Forfeit 280 #34704-1080 / Glufosinate-ammonium / Herbicide / Cautio / Post emergence weed control

Remove seasonal dead outside 1247

VVS

Next to 1423 CDV remove sumac

volunteers in planter

Scythe #53219-7 / Pelargonic Acid & Related Fatty Acids / Herbicide / Warning / Non-selective, Broad-spectrum, Foliar-applied postemergence for ornamentals

Service Reporting System 
Coast Landscaping Inc. has continued to strive in the Common Era 
with a fully compatible mobile platform designed specifically for our 
scope of work.  Our offices are networked and linked together to 
streamline even the smallest tasks like purchase orders, to even the 
more demanding jobs like scheduling.  The integrated system provides 
a service autopilot for each individual client.  Our management 
personnel can obtain or update information infield with their smart 
devices.  This extensive platform ensures that nothing will slip into the 
cracks of an ongoing job and gives every client the opportunity to 
access.

Linked Servicing Network 
Infield Network Devices 

Coast Landscaping Inc. ensures that nothing will slip into the cracks of an ongoing job!

Bid - Front Entrance Color Replacements 

Bid - Turf Replacement Near 1581 Via Entrada Del Lago 

Packet Page 137



contractor pre-qualifications


EMPLOYEE 
EXPERIENCE

 

	 	                                                                                                          


           
                                                                         

All Coast Landscaping Inc. employees go through a 90 day training/
probationary period from which the management staff evaluate their level of 
experience and/or ability to perform the task set before them.  We pride 
ourselves in maintaining long-term dedicated employees, some of which 
have been with us since 1978.  Coast Landscaping Inc. provides special 
training to employees that excel in field management and situational 
common sense.  This special training includes: 

✓ Horticultural Practices 
✓ Irrigation Technician 
✓ Weather Based Controller/ Central Control Operations 
✓ Irrigation Certification 
✓ Water Management Certification 
✓ Recycled Water Certification 
✓ Specialized Equipment Certification 
✓ Pesticide Applicator 
✓ OSHA Certification 
✓ CPR Certification 
✓ First Aid Certification 

 In addition to the above training, Coast Landscaping Inc. 
encourages our employees to obtain and maintain industry sponsored 
certifications and/ or licenses.  We have set forth a higher education 
program for any employee to achieve horticultural knowledge paid through 
company profit sharing.  Many of our employees have been with the 
company for 10 or more years and we have a vast resource of former 
employees who are familiar with all of our standards and practices.  In the 
past, when we have been awarded a job with a sudden high demand for 
employees we have turned to our former resources as well as the CLCA 
and staffing organizations.  When a new employee is hired, we surround 
them with our most experienced employees to promote consistency in all of 
our projects. When hiring management staff such as a Foreman, 
Supervisor, and Project Manager, they are subject to advanced examination 
to determine their knowledge at hand and/or trainability. 

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Packet Page 138



contractor pre-qualifications


NO “I” IN 
TEAM

                                                                                                   
                                                                               

Utilizing teams vs. individual workers while onsite has been proven in the green industry for 
maintaining both homeowners associations and private commercial properties alike.  What 
makes one way better than another?  

Being in business since 1978, we've done it and seen it all.  In the past using individual 
workers on maintenance accounts was the only way to conducted business, but we have now 
found that team labor or "crewing" is a way more efficient process.  When we decided to switch 
to crewing, we found employees actually prefer to be with others vs. alone.  It boosted the 
company moral and naturally encouraged friendly competition among the teams, while getting 
more work accomplished timely.  Through extensive study of the company’s practices, we 
analyzed the differences between crewing and individuals working styles.  We found through 
software analytics how much time our employees actually spent, or didn’t spend, being 
productive with platforms such as Reveal GPS, Verizon Connect, Procore construction 
management, GoFormz and Smartsheet together.  Since these implementations, we have 
required daily updates from field workers and their job progression has been revealed.  This 
has kept employees from procrastinating, and created a standardization for how long simple 
tasks or intensive projects should be accomplish by.  This standard has since been utilized as 
a training tool, while highlighting employee’s personal achievements.  

Working In A Team  

✓Personalities who are able to work with a group of people in a team tend to 
communicate well with others.  

✓ Teamwork provides workers a cooperative, enjoyable and friendly work environment.  
The team can also be helpful in responding to worker’s problems and questions, 
therefore increases the work efficiency.  

✓ Team environments gives the ability to share ideas amongst the group.  

✓ Two heads are better than one: one person’s knowledge and abilities are limited and 
it could be hard to deal with difficult problems without others’ help.  On the other 
side, every individual is different and has unique qualities.  Individuals with different 
experiences and backgrounds increase the creativity of individual team members 
and the group as a whole.  When members apply different skills they are often able 
to come up with a more effective solution than one person working on the same 
problem.  

✓ Teamwork also plays a key role in improving relations among the employees.  

✓ In a team, sometimes you do not get the credit you have earned, but It is amazing 
how much people can get done if they do not worry about who gets the credit.  

✓ A competitive team work environment can also work well for individuals who typically 
prefer to work solo.  

Working Individually  

✓You get the credit for your achievements.  As you get to do everything, you are the 
only one who gets credit for it.  You can’t end up in a situation where others do less, 
but get praised.  

✓ It’s easier to concentrate and focus.  You’re interrupted less and don’t need to shift 
and shape around others.  

✓ You’re in charge of your goals and decide what to do and when. Your responsibilities 
might be allocated by someone else, but you are the one who decides who to deliver 
and carry out your tasks.  

✓ We found when workers are ranked solely on individual performance it may create a 
culture of back-stabbing and individuals hoarding information from one another. 

 

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Packet Page 139



contractor pre-qualifications


PROPOSED 
STAFFING

 

	 	                                                                                                          


           
                                                                         

Project Managers - There will be one (   ) Project Manger, if awarded.  The 
Project Manager’s duties include guaranteeing all aspects of the contract 
and ensuring that all crews have the necessary equipment, materials and 
knowledge to complete the task at hand.  The Project Manager will be the 
responsible acting authority in all matters pertaining to the awarded 
contract.   

Supervisors - Coast Landscaping will extend one (   ) Supervisor from the 
surrounding local zone, if awarded.  The Supervisor’s duties will include 
quality control, irrigation inspections, client relations, and ensuring contract 
specifications are being met.  Supervisors shall be able to communicate 
with all parties involved and understand all aspects of work to be 
performed. 

Irrigation Technician - There will be one (   ) Irrigation Technician, if 
awarded.  The Irrigation Technician will be responsible for making sure that 
all aspects of the common area landscaping irrigation system is in proper 
working condition.  The Irrigation Technician will comply with any local, state 
and/ or county irrigation regulations.  The personnel is prepared to fully 
comply with all issues concerning storm water pollution set by the county 
and obtain a current recycled water certification among others.   

Foreman - There will be one (   ) Foreman, if awarded.  The Foreman will 
be responsible for making sure that work is done in a safe, timely manner 
and follows all contract specifications.  

The Maintenance Team - The maintenance team will consist of two (   ) 
personnel resulting in one (   ) Foreman and one (   ) Gardener. Gardener 
duties will include mowing, edging, weeding and trimming, along with 
overall area maintenance and debris management.

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

PERSONNEL QUANTITY
Project Managers

Supervisors

Irrigation Technicians

Foreman

Gardeners

TOTAL

1

1

1

5

8

1

1

1

1

4

4

1

1

Packet Page 140



contractor pre-qualifications


PROPOSED 
EQUIPMENT & 
IMAGE

	 	                                                                                                          


           
                                                                         

Mowers -  Coast Landscaping Inc. has recently updated its entire inventory 
to EXMARK Zero Turn and commercial stand-on mowers based on 
productivity.  These mower boasts a quieter operating decibel than gas 
powered motors because it can run at a far lower RPM due to the amount 
of torque put out by the CA approved motor.  We chose the EXMARK 
mower because it is big enough to get the job done without impacting the 
turf due to weight constraints.  We also intend to use the GREENWORKS 
COMMERCIAL 21” and up to 30” self propelled brushless battery operated 
mowers where the larger platform mowers are not applicable.  No more 
clumping or uneven cutting due to low blade speed from gas units.  These 
mowers provide a higher lift for the best cut, even in the tallest, thickest, 
and wettest grass. 

Battery Powered Equipment -  Coast Landscaping Inc. has recently 
bought an entire line of GREENWORKS COMMERCIAL battery powered 
equipment, the most powerful battery powered in it’s class.  
GREENWORKS COMMERCIAL battery powered equipment combines high 
speed and constant power to provide the most efficient operating system, 
all while reducing vibration by half and generating 1.5x less noise when 
compared to gas.  No fumes and no more smelling like gas after trimming.  
No emissions while saving money and breathing clean air.  

Sprayers -  Coast Landscaping Inc. uses LESCO piston sprayers for its 
application of herbicides.  These spraying system are a four-gallon 
backpack sprayer that has a tank for pressurized air.    

Vehicles -  Coast Landscaping Inc. has a fleet of work trucks all possessing 
the correct signage and safety precautions.  We intend to continue with this 
if awarded the contract.  All of our vehicles are fleet maintained and cleaned 
on a regular basis to promote reliability and a superior image.  

Aerators/ Dethatchers -  Coast landscaping Inc. plans on using BILLY 
GOAT and PLUGER aerators/ dethatchers, which would be either towed 
behind our EXMARK mowers or hand propelled, where the EXMARK is not 
applicable, when the aeration schedule dictates.  This process will 
essentially “kill two birds with one stone” allowing us to aerate as we mow. 

Hand Tools -  Coast Landscaping Inc. uses a wide range of hand held tools 
to complete a number of task pertaining to landscape practices.

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Packet Page 141

J Tyler Mason

J Tyler Mason



contractor pre-qualifications


PROPOSED 
EQUIPMENT & 
IMAGE
mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

Uniform Program -  Coast Landscaping Inc. utilizes a custom uniform 
program to obtain a consistently clean and professional image to the 
general public as well as to our clients.  We believe that the combination of 
being comfortable and the pride that comes from a strong image, produces 
productivity in the work force. 

Equipment Maintenance -  Coast Landscaping Inc. believes that a well 
maintained equipment inventory increases productivity, equipment life, and 
a positive environmental impact to all of our clients.  Since mowing is a big 
part of maintenance contracts, we believe in sharpening our mower blades 
consistently to achieve proper mulching and mowing productivity.  We 
currently maintain every piece of equipment on a dedicated schedule and 
plan on continuing that practice, if awarded the contract. 

*Please note that all quantities are “proposed” due to the fact that numbers can change when
work is actually being performed because of productivity.  We have submitted this information
on the basis that everything has been measured and calculated at a more than sufficient level.

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

EQUIPMENT QUANTITY
EXMARK Zero Turn / Stand-On Mowers

21” - 30” GREENWORKS COMMERCIAL Mowers

GREENWORKS COMMERCIAL Trimmers

GREENWORKS COMMERCIAL Extended Trimmers

GREENWORKS COMMERCIAL Blowers

Spreaders

LESCO Sprayers

1

2

2

0

1

3

0

Packet Page 142



contractor pre-qualifications


PROPOSED 
ANNUAL 
CALENDAR
mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	
info@coastlandscaping.com

web	
www.coastlandscaping.com

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

Program January February March April May June July August September October November December
Turf Fertilization

Cool Season Lawns (Tall Fescue)

Early Month - Lesco
Stonewall 0.43% 14-0-

7 30% PolyPlus
OPTI45 Pre-Emergent

Plus

Lesco 28-5-8 90%
PolyPlus OPTIi80

10% AS 4%
FeSucrate

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Late Month - Lesco
Dimension 0.21% 18-
0-10 50% PolyOPlus

OPTI45 Pre-Emergent
Plus

Warm Season (Bermuda) Overseeded w/
Winter Rye Spring Transition Spring Transition

Lesco 28-5-8 90%
PolyPlus OPTIi80

10% AS 4%
FeSucrate

Lesco 28-5-8 90%
PolyPlus OPTIi80

10% AS 4%
FeSucrate

Hardening off period
prior to overseed.

Hardening off period
prior to overseed.

LESCO Fertilizer 6-
20-20 33% NOS 4Fe

+ Ryegrass

Mixed Cool / Warm Season Lawns

Mid Month - Lesco
Stonewall 0.43% 14-0-

7 30% PolyPlus
OPTI45 Pre-Emergent

Plus

Lesco 28-5-8 90%
PolyPlus OPTIi80

10% AS 4%
FeSucrate

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Avoid fertilizing cool
season grasses in
excessive summer

heat!

Early Month - Lesco
Dimension 0.21% 18-
0-10 50% PolyOPlus

OPTI45 Pre-Emergent
Plus

Ez-Flo

General Program FERTI-MAXX Starter
or Cool

FERTI-MAXX Starter
or Cool

FERTI-MAXX Starter
or Cool

FERTI-MAXX
Landscape

FERTI-MAXX
Landscape

FERTI-MAXX
Landscape

FERTI-MAXX
Landscape

FERTI-MAXX
Landscape

FERTI-MAXX
Landscape

FERTI-MAXX Starter
or Cool

FERTI-MAXX Starter
or Cool

FERTI-MAXX Starter
or Cool

Seed/Sod

Tall Fescue
LESCO Fertilizer 6-

20-20 33% NOS 4Fe
*Spring seeding

preferred

LESCO Fertilizer 6-
20-20 33% NOS 4Fe

*Spring seeding
preferred

LESCO Fertilizer 6-
20-20 33% NOS 4Fe

*Fall seeding
preferred

LESCO Fertilizer 6-
20-20 33% NOS 4Fe

*Fall seeding
preferred

Bermuda Overseeded w/ Winter Rye

LESCO Fertilizer 6-
20-20 33% NOS

4Fe*Overseeding with
Rye not

recommended in first
year.  If you must, only
apply Rye at half rate.

LESCO Fertilizer 6-
20-20 33% NOS

4Fe*Overseeding with
Rye not

recommended in first
year.  If you must,

only apply Rye at half
rate.

Aeration, Mowing & Dethatching

Aeration & Dethatching Spring Aeration of
Cool / Mixed Lawns

Spring Aeration of
Cool / Mixed Lawns

Spring Aeration of
Bermuda

Dethatch Bermuda up
to 2 times during
summer months

Dethatch Bermuda up
to 2 times during
summer months

LAST aggressive
dethatching 6 weeks

prior to overseeding of
Bermuda

Fall Aeration of Tall
Fescue

Fall Aeration of Tall
Fescue

Notes Bi-weekly Mowing Bi-weekly Mowing
Ideal time to

incorporate an organic
soil amendment

Ideal time to
incorporate an organic

soil amendment
Raise Mowing Height

to 3.75"
Ideal time to

incorporate an organic
soil amendment

Ideal time to
incorporate an organic

soil amendment
Lower Mowing Height

to 2.75" Bi-weekly Mowing

Annual Color
Seasonal Enhancements Spring Color Summer Color Fall Color Holiday Color

Irrigation

Notes Change out batteries in
valves & controllers. Controller Audits Controller Audits Change out batteries

in valves & controllers. Controller Audits

Ornamental Fertilization

General Purpose Lesco 14-14-14 L&O
PPO45 DAP SOP

Lesco 14-14-14 L&O
PPO45 DAP SOP

New Installation Best Packs 20-10-5
with Polyon

Best Packs 20-10-5
with Polyon

Best Packs 20-10-5
with Polyon

Best Packs 20-10-5
with Polyon

Best Packs 20-10-5
with Polyon

Best Packs 20-10-5
with Polyon

Pre-Emergent Weed Control

Landscaped Areas (Granular)
Snapshot (Broad

Spectrum), Oxadiazon,
or OB2G

Snapshot (Broad
Spectrum),

Oxadiazon, or OB2G
Landscaped Areas (Liquid) Prodiamine or Surflan Prodiamine or Surflan

Post-Emergent Weed Control

Broadleaf weed control
Speedzone Southern
(Q4 for Broadleaf &
Grassy weed control

in turf)

Speedzone Southern
(Q4 for Broadleaf &
Grassy weed control

in turf)

Speedzone Southern
(Q4 for Broadleaf &
Grassy weed control

in turf)

Speedzone Southern
(Q4 for Broadleaf &
Grassy weed control

in turf)

Speedzone Southern
(Q4 for Broadleaf &
Grassy weed control

in turf)

Speedzone Southern
(Q4 for Broadleaf &
Grassy weed control

in turf)

Grassy weed control in Landscaped Areas
Fusilade + LESCO

90/10 Nonionic
Surfactant

Fusilade + LESCO
90/10 Nonionic

Surfactant

Fusilade + LESCO
90/10 Nonionic

Surfactant

Fusilade + LESCO
90/10 Nonionic

Surfactant

Fusilade + LESCO
90/10 Nonionic

Surfactant

Fusilade + LESCO
90/10 Nonionic

Surfactant

Nutsedge control

Sedgehammer+,
Certainty or

Halosulfuron +
LESCO 90/10

Nonionic Surfactant
while nutsedge is in
the 3-8 leaf stage.

Second application 6-
10 weeks later.

Sedgehammer+,
Certainty or

Halosulfuron +
LESCO 90/10

Nonionic Surfactant
while nutsedge is in
the 3-8 leaf stage.

Second application 6-
10 weeks later.

Sedgehammer+,
Certainty or

Halosulfuron +
LESCO 90/10

Nonionic Surfactant
while nutsedge is in
the 3-8 leaf stage.

Second application 6-
10 weeks later.

Sedgehammer+,
Certainty or

Halosulfuron +
LESCO 90/10

Nonionic Surfactant
while nutsedge is in
the 3-8 leaf stage.

Second application 6-
10 weeks later.

Non-Selective control Cheetah Pro Cheetah Pro Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro + Scythe Cheetah Pro Cheetah Pro
Insect & Critter Control

Grub and sod webworm (lawn moth larva)
control Imidacloprid (Merit) Imidacloprid (Merit) Imidacloprid (Merit)

Aphides, Mites, Scales (ornamental pests) Dormant Oil  (Destroy
Overwintering Eggs)

Dormant Oil  (Destroy
Overwintering Eggs)

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.

Azatrol (Apply when
pests expected to

appear, at 7-10 day
intervals or as

situation demands.
White Fly, Soft Bodied Insects, Aphids,
Mites & More

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Safer Brand Insect
Killing Soap

Snails & Slugs

Sluggo - Most effective
when applied during
foggy, more humid

conditions (when they
are most active.)

Sluggo - Most effective
when applied during
foggy, more humid

conditions (when they
are most active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Sluggo - Most
effective when applied

during foggy, more
humid conditions

(when they are most
active.)

Moles, Voles, Gophers & Rabbits
CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent

CRITTER-MAXX
Organic Critter

Repellent
Disease Control

Program January February March April May June July August September October November December
Powdery Mildew, Rust, Brown Patch, Black
Spot (Roses), Leaf Spot

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Propiconazole or
Fungi-Fighter

Pythium/ Root Rot, Downy Mildew, Fire
Blight

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos

*Ensure plantings
areas have proper

drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos

*Ensure plantings
areas have proper

drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos Ensure plantings

areas have proper
drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos Ensure plantings

areas have proper
drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos Ensure plantings

areas have proper
drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos Ensure plantings

areas have proper
drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos Ensure plantings

areas have proper
drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos

*Ensure plantings
areas have proper

drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos

*Ensure plantings
areas have proper

drainage.

Fosetlyl - Al or Agri-
Fos

*Ensure plantings
areas have proper

drainage.
Leaf Curl, Shothole, Brown Rot (on stone
fruits) Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper Liquid Copper

Other
Olive Prevention Ethephon or Florel

Soil Surfactants
Aqueduct to treat

localized dry spots
Applications

Aqueduct to treat
localized dry spots

Applications

Aqueduct to treat
localized dry spots

Applications

Aqueduct to treat
localized dry spots

Applications

Aqueduct to treat
localized dry spots

Applications
Fire Zone & Clearing Spring Clearing Fire Zone Clearing Fall Clearing Winter Clearing
Mulching Spring Mulching Spring Mulching Spring Mulching Fall Mulching Fall Mulching Fall Mulching
Supplemental (Every14 Weeks) Moisture Manager Moisture Manager Moisture Manager Moisture Manager Moisture Manager Moisture Manager Moisture Manager Moisture Manager

Fertility

LESCO Fertilizer 20-2-
3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-2-
3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

LESCO Fertilizer 20-
2-3 22.5% Nitrate AS

5%Fe 0.08%Mn
(Granular) or LESCO
Iron + Chelated Liquid
Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn (Liquid)

Fertility

FERTI-MAXX
LANDSCAPE (Liquid)
- Designed as a high
growth product for
rapid landscape
maturation and
development

FERTI-MAXX
LANDSCAPE (Liquid)
- Designed as a high
growth product for
rapid landscape
maturation and
development

FERTI-MAXX
LANDSCAPE (Liquid)
- Designed as a high
growth product for
rapid landscape
maturation and
development

FERTI-MAXX
LANDSCAPE (Liquid)
- Designed as a high
growth product for
rapid landscape
maturation and
development

FERTI-MAXX
LANDSCAPE (Liquid)
- Designed as a high
growth product for
rapid landscape
maturation and
development

FERTI-MAXX
LANDSCAPE (Liquid)
- Designed as a high
growth product for
rapid landscape
maturation and
development

Fertility

FERTI-MAXX TURF
(Liquid) - Designed as
a high growth product
for rapid turf recovery

and repair

FERTI-MAXX TURF
(Liquid) - Designed as
a high growth product
for rapid turf recovery

and repair

FERTI-MAXX TURF
(Liquid) - Designed as
a high growth product
for rapid turf recovery

and repair

FERTI-MAXX TURF
(Liquid) - Designed as
a high growth product
for rapid turf recovery

and repair

Fertility

FERTI-MAXX COOL
(Liquid) - High nitrate

blend for fast
establishment of turf

grasses in cool
weather

FERTI-MAXX COOL
(Liquid) - High nitrate

blend for fast
establishment of turf

grasses in cool
weather

FERTI-MAXX COOL
(Liquid) - High nitrate

blend for fast
establishment of turf

grasses in cool
weather

FERTI-MAXX COOL
(Liquid) - High nitrate

blend for fast
establishment of turf

grasses in cool
weather

FERTI-MAXX COOL
(Liquid) - High nitrate

blend for fast
establishment of turf

grasses in cool
weather

FERTI-MAXX COOL
(Liquid) - High nitrate

blend for fast
establishment of turf

grasses in cool
weather

Fertility

FERTI-MAXX
STARTER (Liquid) -

Designed as a
transplant and

winterizing blend to
protect new landscape

investments

FERTI-MAXX
STARTER (Liquid) -

Designed as a
transplant and

winterizing blend to
protect new landscape

investments

FERTI-MAXX
STARTER (Liquid) -

Designed as a
transplant and

winterizing blend to
protect new landscape

investments

FERTI-MAXX
STARTER (Liquid) -

Designed as a
transplant and

winterizing blend to
protect new landscape

investments

FERTI-MAXX
STARTER (Liquid) -

Designed as a
transplant and

winterizing blend to
protect new landscape

investments

FERTI-MAXX
STARTER (Liquid) -

Designed as a
transplant and

winterizing blend to
protect new
landscape

investments

Supplemental

COLOR-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Green Flo

6-0-0 Humic
Supplement - Enhance

Color, Low Growth,
Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Green Flo

6-0-0 Humic
Supplement - Enhance

Color, Low Growth,
Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

COLOR-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Green Flo 6-0-0

Humic Supplement -
Enhance Color, Low

Growth, Improve Plant
Structure, Fast

Response

Supplemental

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining
Enhance Dark Green

Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining
Enhance Dark Green

Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining
Enhance Dark Green

Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining
Enhance Dark Green

Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining Enhance
Dark Green Color

IRON-MAXX (Liquid)
or LESCO Iron +
Chelated Liquid

Fertilizer 12-0-0 12%N
6%Fe 2%Mn - Treat
Iron Deficiency 5%

Non-Staining
Enhance Dark Green

Color

Supplemental

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &

Mycorrhizae, Maximize
Root Development,
Retain Nutrients &

Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &

Mycorrhizae, Maximize
Root Development,
Retain Nutrients &

Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

ROOT-MAXX (Liquid)
or ArborJet

NUTRIROOT 2-2-3 +
Micros / Kelp /

Humates Tree/Shrub -
Humic Acid &
Mycorrhizae,

Maximize Root
Development, Retain

Nutrients & Water

Supplemental

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

HYDRO-MAXX
(Liquid) or LESCO
Moisture Manager -
Penetrant, Wetting

Agent, Reduce Water
Usage, Incrase
Nutrient Uptake

Supplemental

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH
(Liquid) or  BioPro

NAX 5-0-0 Salt Flush
12Ca - Reduce Salts

& Add Calcium,
Increase Nutrient

Retention, Reclaimed
Water Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH
(Liquid) or  BioPro

NAX 5-0-0 Salt Flush
12Ca - Reduce Salts

& Add Calcium,
Increase Nutrient

Retention, Reclaimed
Water Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH
(Liquid) or  BioPro

NAX 5-0-0 Salt Flush
12Ca - Reduce Salts

& Add Calcium,
Increase Nutrient

Retention, Reclaimed
Water Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH
(Liquid) or  BioPro

NAX 5-0-0 Salt Flush
12Ca - Reduce Salts

& Add Calcium,
Increase Nutrient

Retention, Reclaimed
Water Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH (Liquid)
or  BioPro NAX 5-0-0

Salt Flush 12Ca -
Reduce Salts & Add
Calcium, Increase
Nutrient Retention,
Reclaimed Water

Treatment

MAXX-FLUSH
(Liquid) or  BioPro

NAX 5-0-0 Salt Flush
12Ca - Reduce Salts

& Add Calcium,
Increase Nutrient

Retention, Reclaimed
Water Treatment

Packet Page 143



contractor pre-qualifications


QUICK 
SUMMARY 
SHEET
mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

	 	                                                                                                          


                                                                             

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

TYPE OF SERVICE MATERIAL 
INCLUDED

MATERIAL 
NOT 

INCLUDED

LABOR 
INCLUDED

LABOR NOT 
INCLUDED

NOTES

MOWING

EDGING

TURF AERATION

TURF DETHATCHING

TURF OVERSEEDING

MINOR TURF GYPSUM 
APPLICATIONS

MINOR TURF IRONITE 
APPLICATIONS

TURF FERTILIZATION

PLANT MATERIAL 
FERTILIZATION

MINOR PEST & 
DISEASE CONTROL

SNAIL CONTROL

GOPHER CONTROL

PRE-EMERGENT 
HERBICIDES

POST-EMERGENT 
WEED CONTROL

ANNUAL MULCHING

MINOR IRRIGATION 
MAINTENANCE

IRRIGATION 
CONTROLLER 
PROGRAMING

SIDEWALK & GUTTER 
CLEANING

TRASH PICK-UP

DRAINAGE SWALE 
CLEANING

MINOR TREE CARE
12' Height Limit

Found in Landscape or
Hardscape

Adjustments/ Flushing

Infestations will require
Pest Control Advisor

Infestations will require
Pest Control Advisor

Infestations will require
Pest Control Advisor

Packet Page 144



contractor pre-qualifications


ADDED 
OFFERINGS 
SUMMARY
mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

	 	                                                                                                          


                                                                             

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

1
MULCH CREDIT - 15 Cubic Yard, Forest Fines, Free After 90 

Days of Service (If Applicable)

2 Landscape Horticulture Report (If Applicable)

3 Landscape Policy Book (If Applicable)

4 90-Day Satisfaction Guarantee

5 Payment Deferrals & Deferred Interest Payment Options

6 Linked Servicing Network/ Infield Network Devices Utilized

7 Green Maintenance Practices

8 Emergency Response System 24/7

9 Certified Irrigation Technicians & Landscape Personnel

10 CA Approved Equipment

11 Quieter Operating Decibel Equipment

12 Highly Visible Safety & Uniform Programs

13 Extended Feed Hybrid ORGANIC fertilizers

14 Turf Management Schedule (If Applicable)

15 Spring & Fall Aeration Promoting Healthy Turf (If Applicable)

16 Irrigation Audits, (If Applicable)

17 Pre-Emergent Weed Control Included

Satisfaction Guarantee

Packet Page 145



contractor pre-qualifications


REFERENCES

mailing address

9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211 
Beaverton, OR. 97008


physical address

2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B         
Vista, CA. 92081


tel	 (760) 436-6804

fax	 (760) 436-8147

email	 info@coastlandscaping.com

web	 www.coastlandscaping.com

	 	                                                                                                          


                                                                             

̣ Project Name: 
Location:  
Representative:  
Monthly Contract Value:  
Square Footage: 
Terms: 
Scope of Work:  

̣ Project Name: 
Location:  
Representative:  
Monthly Contract Value:  
Square Footage: 
Terms: 
Scope of Work: 

̣ Project Name: 
Location:  
Representative:  
Monthly Contract Value:  
Square Footage: 
Terms: 
Scope of Work:  

̣ Project Name: 
Location:  
Representative:  
Monthly Contract Value:  
Square Footage: 
Terms: 
Scope of Work:  

̣ Project Name: 
Location:  
Representative:  
Monthly Contract Value:  
Square Footage: 
Terms: 
Scope of Work:  

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

P l a n t e d  I n  K n o w l e d g e  &  C o m m u n i c a t i o n

Vista Valley Country Club Villas HOA

Andre Andrioff (760) 405-8595, Andrew@core-mgmt.com

2015 - Present, Biennial Renewal

Peregrine Realty Partners

Landscape & Water Management

2017 -  Present, Biennial Renewal

Landscape & Water Mangement

Landscape & Water Management

< $10,000.00

Escondido & Carlsbad, CA. Portfolio's

7,293,408 SF

< $6,000.00
Lisa Sandie (760) 407-7575, lsandie@smconline.com

7,869,081 SF

2017 - Present, Biennial Renewal

< $8,000.00

Landscape & Water Management

Bonsall, CA.

Vista, CA.

< $10,000.00
Paul Champlin, paul.champlin@gmail.com

Emily Tatasciore, etatasciore@peregrinerp.com

832,337 SF

2019 - Present, Biennial Renewal
1,959,965 SF

Steve Nord (760) 842-8164, Stevennord@cox.net

< $11,000.00

Carlsbad, CA.

1,155,500 SF

Landscape & Water Management

Montclair at Lomas Del Lago Estates

2015 - Present, Biennial Renewal

Escondido, CA.

The Ranch at Carlsbad HOA

Orchard Lane HOA

Packet Page 146



REFERRAL LETTER

Packet Page 147



CASE STUDY

Packet Page 148



CASE STUDY

Packet Page 149



CASE STUDY

Packet Page 150



CASE STUDY

Packet Page 151



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

 

1 

 
 
 
 

Landscape Management Service Agreement 
 
The following is a bid proposal that describes the landscape management services of Coast Landscaping Inc.  
Upon signing this document, by your agent or association representative, it will become a binding contract. 
 
Coast Landscaping Inc, referred to in this document as CL, submits the following service agreement Dated                                 
For: 

 
 

 
 

Hereinafter referred to as Agent or Association, with the following specifications: 
 
A. GENERAL SCOPE 

1. CL warrants that all working procedures are conducted in a safe and orderly manner as estab-
lished by CAL-OSHA, DPR and the CSLB safety standards. 

2. CL to supply equipment, material, labor, transportation, required permits and licenses to do con-
tracted work. 

3. CL to maintain all landscaped and irrigated areas within the scope of the Service Agreement. 
4. All CL employees shall have company assigned uniforms at all times. 
5. CL shall be available for twelve (12) monthly inspections of the common areas per year, accom-

panied by an agent, and/ or an association representative.  Any meetings outside of the monthly 
inspections are subject to extra costs.  CL’s Production Manager will make weekly inspections of 
the property apart from the monthly inspections noted above. 

6. CL shall maintain a 24-hour emergency service, 365 days per year.  All hours beyond those hours 
worked by CL employees on a normal daily basis from 6:30am to 3:00pm will be considered emer-
gency hours.   

7. CL to remove all debris from premises; generated by their personnel as a result of their mainte-
nance duties. 

8. CL shall keep all walkways, street curbs, and common areas free of litter and debris as per each 
service. 

9. CL shall keep all landscape surface drains clear of debris at collection boxes and swales. 
10. CL shall use mechanical gopher control methods on an as needed basis. 
11. CL will skip any or all work due to unrestrained animals or abandoned animal waste within the 

property boundaries. 
12. CL will not be held responsible to handle or dispose of deceased animals or discarded animal fe-

ces found within the property boundaries.   
13. CL shall maintain all animal waste stations throughout the property.  All materials utilized will be sub-

ject to extra costs invoiced quarterly.  (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not in-
cluded. 

 
B. TURF MAINTENANCE  (    ) Not Applicable to Service Agreement 

1. Turf areas to be mowed so that no more than one third (1/3) of the grass blade, at each mowing, is 
removed and edged per turf requirements based on CL’s schedule, weather permitting. 

2. All sidewalks and street curbs to be cleaned of grass cuttings on the same day as the debris is gen-
erated. 

3. Fertilizer application is based on CL’s annual schedule at a rate of one (1) pound nitrogen per 
thousand (1,000) square feet, (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

4. Proper watering of turf areas to ensure healthy growth and appearance will be the responsibility of 
CL. 

 

1737 W Vista Way,
Vista, CA 92083

Belle Mente Academies
10/5/2023

Packet Page 152



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

 

2 

 
 
 

5. The term mowing crew refers to an outside labor force in addition to the onsite gardener(s) that will 
assist the gardener(s) on mowing days. (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not in-
cluded. 

6. For compacted soils with poor drainage, turf aeration is based on CL’s annual schedule. (    ) In-
cluded in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

7. Dethatching when more than a half (1/2) inch think fibrous thatch is apparent, only during the first 
four (4) weeks of summer, when the turf is growing vigorously. (    ) Included in the Service Agree-
ment cost, (    ) Not included. 

8. Interseeding the existing turf, to fill in bare or thin areas, when several weeks of good growing con-
ditions follow the initial seed application. (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not in-
cluded. 

9. Winter overseeing of warm-season turf to provide temporary cover over dormant turf with Perennial 
Ryegrass. (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

10. Ironite application is based on CL’s annual schedule at a rate of one (1) pound iron per thousand 
(1,000) square feet, (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

11. On high pH soils, a Gypsum application is based on CL’s annual schedule and soil type. (    ) In-
cluded in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

12. Herbicide, Fungicides and Insecticide (snail bait included) applications are (    ) Included in the 
Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. Major infestations will be subject to extra costs and no 
structural pest management is included. 

 
C. TREE MAINTENANCE  (    ) Not Applicable to Service Agreement 

1. Trees to be maintained to a height of 12 feet during the fall months when trees are generally 
dormant.  The term “maintained” refers to a man firmly standing on the ground with a pole-pruning 
tool, able to raise branch structures above thoroughfares, landscaped areas, and sidewalks, for 
proper clearance of vehicles, equipment, and people. 

2.      CL will provide stakes and install ties for any smaller trees needing control.  All trees will be tied with 
rubber tree tie in a manner allowing for movement of tree trunk.  Larger trees needing guy wire 
assemblies will be charged to the agent or association as an extra. 

3. Trees will be monitored continually by CL for signs of insect and other cultural problems that may 
arise.  CL will inform the agent or association representative when concern is warranted. Tree 
spraying and chemical applications to trees are not included as part of this Service Agreement. 

4. Trees to be replaced when damaged or diseased by separate agreement. 
5. Fallen trees, limbs or debris with a 6” circumference or more removed from the property due to 

homeowner abuse, acts of God or vandalism will be considered as an "extra" to the Service Agree-
ment. 

 
D. PLANT, VINE, & GROUND COVER MAINTENANCE  (    ) Not Applicable to Service Agreement 

1. All plants, vines, and ground covers, shall be trimmed regularly to maintain shape and structure in 
relation to their species and size.  CL will make every attempt to allow flowering plants to blossom 
and not trim back to remove blossoms.  

2. All trimmings will be removed off site at the end of each working day. 
3. Fertilizer application is based on CL’s annual schedule at a rate of one (1) pound nitrogen per 

thousand (1,000) square feet, (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 
4. All plants, vines, and ground covers will be maintained away from structures, sidewalks, and drive-

ways. 
5. All plants, vines and ground covers will be continuously weeded by either manual removal, pre-

emergent or post-emergent herbicide treatments based on CL’s seasonal schedule and the prop-
erty requirements. 

6. Herbicide, Fungicides and Insecticide (snail bait included) applications are (    ) Included in the 
Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. Major infestations will be subject to extra costs and no 
structural pest management is included. 

7. Proper irrigation to plant material will be the responsibility of CL to ensure a healthy growth and ap-
pearance. 

Packet Page 153



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

 

3 

 
 
 
E. SLOPE MAINTENANCE  (    ) Not Applicable to Service Agreement 

1. Trimming of ground covers and plants to be in accordance with their species, size, and natural 
growth patterns.  Care will be taken to assure a proper plant structure and development in relation 
to the original design concept. 

2. All ground covers and plant material will be trimmed neatly along all street curbs, swales, and 
fence lines at all times.   

3. All ground covers will be continuously weeded by either manual removal, pre-emergent or post-
emergent herbicide treatments based on CL’s seasonal schedule and the property requirements. 

4. Fertilizer application is based on CL’s annual schedule at a rate of one (1) pound nitrogen per 
thousand (1,000) square feet, (    ) Included in the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

5. Proper irrigation will be maintained by CL to ensure a healthy appearance of the plant materials, 
and not create excessive erosion on the slope surface at the same time.  During periods of rain, CL 
will turn the irrigation systems off, if necessary. 

6. Herbicide, Fungicides and Insecticide (snail bait included) applications are (    ) Included in the 
Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. Major infestations will be subject to extra costs and no 
structural pest management is included. 

 
F. BRUSH MANAGEMENT & WEED ABATEMENT  (    ) Not Applicable to Service Agreement 

1. CL will comply with an annual schedule and operate a pro-active weed abatement program for 
all the non-irrigated property, which will comply with all city or county regulations. (    ) Included in 
the Service Agreement cost, (    ) Not included. 

2. CL will be readily available to the Fire Prevention Officer within the Prevention Division of the appro-
priate governmental agencies. 

 
G. IRRIGATION  (    ) Not Applicable to Service Agreement 

1. CL shall service all sprinkler heads for coverage and adjustment on a continual basis. 
2. During periods of rain, CL will monitor and turn off the irrigation systems, if necessary, during sched-

uled services only. 
3. CL will be responsible for the monitoring and programming of all irrigation controllers. 
4. CL will use proper water management skills following all the current city and county water regula-

tions. 
5. Repairs to the existing irrigation system will be made with specified materials, or a suitable substitu-

tion. 
6. Labor for incidental adjustments of existing sprinkler nozzles, rotors, rotators or drip emitters and the 

flushing of shrub bodies, sprinkler filters or risers will be included in the Service Agreement.  All labor 
for repairs and/ or replacements will be billed as an “extra” to the contract cost.  Materials for such 
repairs and/ or replacements will be an “extra” to the contract cost to include distributors discount, 
CL’s general margin plus thirty percent (30%) and all associated travel time.  Repairs and/ or re-
placements include, but are not limited to; sprinkler nozzles, sprinkler assemblies, rotors, rotators, 
drip emitters, shrub bodies, sprinkler filters, batteries, fittings, pipe, back-flow devices, irrigation re-
mote valves, irrigation controllers, controller sensors, electrical wiring, electrical connectors, main-
line pressure pipes, and none pressurized lateral-pipes. 

 
H. PROVISIONS 

1.  A performance contract based on the specifications within this Service Agreement.  The labor will 
vary depending on the projects seasonal requirements determined by CL.  The maintenance per-
sonnel will include an English-speaking supervisor available to the project at all times.  The mainte-
nance personnel will be on-site during regular scheduled working days, Monday through Friday, 
except for CL observed holidays, safety training and inclement weather conditions.                                        

2. CL shall replace all seasonal color with new equivalent color (    ) times per year as part of the Ser-
vice Agreement cost, (    ) Included in the contract cost, (    ) Not included. 

 
 
 

4

Packet Page 154



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

 

4 

 
 

 
3. CL may immediately cease performance, without a termination notice, if agent or association re-

fuses or fails to pay CL according to the terms of this Service Agreement.  CL may also cease per-
formance, with a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation, due to any misinterpretation of this 
Service Agreement. 

4. If either party becomes bankrupt, or makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, the other 
party has the right to cancel this Service Agreement without a termination notice. 

5. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may, without the consent of the other party, assign the  
 agreement to an affiliate or subsidiary or to any person that acquires all or substantially all of the 

assets of a party. 
6. Unless otherwise agreed upon by both parties in writing, any controversy arising out of any service 

provided within this Service Agreement or regarding the interpretation of this Service Agreement 
over a dollar amount of two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00), shall be subject to a good 
faith mediation conducted under rules as provided by California law, except as to any unpaid 
amount owed by the agent or association representative to CL which may be litigated. Mediation 
shall be in accordance with the current rules of "JAMS" unless the parties mutually agree to another 
set of rules or approach to mediation. Demand for mediation shall be filed in writing with the other 
party to this Contract and with "JAMS". The parties agree that any applicable statute of limitations 
shall be tolled during the pendency of any mediation proceedings. In no way shall the right to me-
diate exclude CL's ability to record a mechanics lien. If any legal action is necessary to enforce the 
terms of this agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees, in addi-
tion to any relief to which the party may be entitled and/ or appeals. 

7. This Service Agreement, and each of its terms, shall be construed under and bound by the laws of 
the state of California. 

8. CL shall provide evidence of liability insurance coverage identified in the form of an ACCORD 
binder. Upon Award issued pursuant to this service agreement upon request, and prior to the exe-
cution of any commerce relating to such award, CL will be responsible for providing verification, in 
the form of an ACCORD binder identifying the coverage required below and identifying both 
agent and owner as a “Certificate Holder.” CL will be responsible to maintain such insurance cov-
erage at own expense throughout the term of any contract resulting from this solicitation. 

9. CL must maintain, for the duration of its contract, $1 million in General Liability insurance coverage 
or General Liability insurance in conjunction with an Umbrella for a total combined coverage of $2 
million and $1 million Workman's Compensation coverage. Work on the service agreement shall 
not begin until after CL has submitted acceptable evidence of the required insurance coverage. 
Failure to maintain any required insurance coverage or acceptable alternative method of insur-
ance will be deemed a breach of contract.  

10. CL certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors, as additional insured under its policies or CL shall 
furnish to agent or association separate certificates for each subcontractor. All coverage for sub-
contractors shall be subject to the minimum requirements identified above.  

11. In no event shall CL, its insurers, directors, officers or employees be liable for any incidental, indirect 
or consequential damages, or in the cumulative aggregate, for any damages whatsoever in ex-
cess of the compensation to be paid by Agent or Association under this Service Agreement. No 
action arising from or related to the Service Agreement, or the performance thereof, shall be com-
menced by either party against the other more than one year after the completion or cessation of 
work under this Service Agreement. This limitation applies to all actions of any character, whether 
at law or in equity, and whether sounding in Service Agreement, or otherwise. This limitation shall 
not be extended by any negligent misrepresentation or unintentional concealment, but shall be 
extended as provided by law for willful fraud, concealment or misrepresentation. 

12. CL shall not be liable for loss, damage, or delay from causes beyond its control or from shortages of 
fuel or energy, acts or omissions of any governmental authority, soil erosion, irrigation structural 
damage, pathogenic organisms, animals, acts of God, war, civil disobedience, strikes, labor diffi-
culties, accidents, failure to reasonably obtain materials, or delays or shortages in transportation.  

13. Notwithstanding any provision(s) of this Service Agreement, if as a direct or indirect result of any 
virus, disease, contagion, including but not limited to COVID-19 (individually or  

 

Packet Page 155



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

 

5 

 
 

 
 collectively, “Epidemic”, CL or its subcontracted work being delayed, disrupted, suspended, or 

otherwise impacted, including, but limited to, by (1) disruptions to material and/or equipment sup-
ply; (2) illness or CL’s workforce and/or unavailability of labor; (3) government quarantines, shelter-
in-place orders, closures, or other mandates, restrictions, and/or directives; (4) owner, agent or as-
sociation restrictions and/or directives; and/or (5) fulfillment of contractual or legal health and 
safety obligations associated with an Epidemic; then CL shall be entitled to an equitable adjust-
ment to the contract schedule and duration to account for such disruptions, suspensions, and im-
pacts.  To the extent any of the causes identified herein results in an increase in the price of labor, 
materials or equipment used in the performance of this Service Agreement, or other costs of perfor-
mance of the Service Agreement, CL shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment to the Service 
Agreement price for such increases, provided CL presents documentation of such increases. 

14. Agent or Association shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify CL, its insurers, directors, officers or 
employees in connection with any claims arising out of the Contract, including, but not limited to, 
any claims for property damage, bodily injury, emotional injury, sickness or disease, or death to per-
sons, including but not limited to any employees of CL, regardless of any active and /or passive act 
or omission on the part of CL, its agents or employees, except claims arising from the sole negli-
gence or willful misconduct of CL or their agents or employees.  

15. Agent or Association warrants that it is the legal owner of all existing landscape upon which work is 
to be performed, or that Agent or Association has obtained permission for CL to work on the exist-
ing landscape from the legal owner.  

16. Agent or Association shall make all reasonably required amounts of utilities available to CL from 
existing outlets and supplies.  CL shall carefully conserve any utilities furnished without charge. 

17. CL may subcontract any portion of this Service Agreement to a qualified third party with a thirty 
(30) day written notice to agent or association.  

18. This Service Agreement replaces and supersedes any other agreement or agreements, oral or writ-
ten, that CL may have with Agent or Association with respect to the subject matter covered by this 
Service Agreement. 

19. CL shall provide the agent or association with an itemized estimate for any extra work required out-
side of the Service Agreement.  In the event of an irrigation leak or system malfunction, CL will au-
tomatically repair or replace the faulty components within the 72-hour time line set by the metro-
politan water authority, without an itemized bid proposal.  

20. Extra Work Warranties: Unless otherwise represented in writing, CL extends a warranty period of 
twelve (12) months from the approved extra work completion date for any new landscape prod-
ucts installed, such as rock, boulders, and or masonry materials.  CL extends a warranty period for 
twelve (12) months from the completion date for any new irrigation products installed and extends 
a warranty period of ninety (90) days from the approved extra work completion date for any new 
plant materials installed with respect to the services provided hereunder, except for cool season 
turf, sod or seed, installed during the summer months of  

 June through October.  During those warmer months CL extends no warranty against fungus and 
heat related stress. CL doesn't extend any warranty against soil borne grubs; grubs are dormant 
during the colder months and can re-emerge during the warmer months.  CL doesn't extend any 
warranty for the performance of any Hydroseeding applied.  The warranty will be considered void 
in the event of an existing problematic concern, homeowner abuse, acts of God or vandalism and 
considered as an "extra" to the Service Agreement, if replaced. 

21. Replacement Policy:  Any damage to plant material caused by CL shall be replaced at no charge 
to the agent or association.  Any property damage caused by CL will be recovered after the prop-
erty owner shows CL’s negligence caused said damage and replacement would not enhance or 
improve the property increasing market value beyond the status of pre-damage.  Repair costs will 
not be paid without CL’s prior consent or when the cost of repair exceeds fair market value of said 
property damage.  CL has the first right of refusal to make repairs under its own license.  

22. CL may provide the agent or association with a separate agreement for all "extra" work over the 
amount of $2,500.00. The agreement will itemize; the job description, total cost, commencement 
date, completion date and payment schedules.  
 

Packet Page 156



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

6

I. BILLING TERMS AND CONDITIONS
The total monthly service cost will be:   

1. This Service Agreement takes effect as of the commencement date and continues for a term of
twelve (12) months “Initial Term” from the date CL first provides service to the agent or association,
and then renews automatically and continuously for successive periods of twelve (12) months
each “Renewal Term,” unless either party gives the other party written notice of non-renewal at
least thirty (30) days prior to expiration of the “Initial Term” or any “Renewal Term.”

2. This Service Agreement may be terminated early, provided a thirty (30) day written notice of termi-
nation has been supplied.  An early termination fee will be charged to provide CL with a return on
its investment and shall be calculated, as follows; multiply the number of months remaining in the
Service Agreements term, following the date of termination, by thirty percent (30%) of the monthly
service cost.

3. Biennial pricing adjustments to the Service Agreement shall not exceed the cost of living as re-
flected in the Federal Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer Price Index (CPI) for all Urban Consum-
ers, or any other index, which may be substituted in the future. The CPI for the original term of the
Service Agreement will be the CPI base on which later adjustments are computed. Each time an
adjustment is made, the adjusted CPI base will replace the earlier CPI base. The percentage of
adjustment to Service Agreement prices shall in no event exceed the percentage change in the
index.

4. Monthly service invoices are sent out on the commencement date with terms net 45, followed by
reoccurring invoices sent out on the first of every month.

5. All amounts due under this Service Agreement shall be paid upon CL’S net terms. Thereafter, inter-
est shall be charged and accrue at one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) per month, or at the high-
est legal rate, whichever is lower.  Payments shall first be applied to all outstanding interest
charges, and thereafter to the oldest outstanding invoice.  No interest charges are applicable until
the interest charge reaches $5.00 or more and sent out the last day of every month.

6. If any payment(s) are returned, for any reason, a flat fee of $150.00 shall be charged in addition to
all the subjected banking charges accumulated from such returned payment(s).

7. The general margin on “extra” work outside of the Service Agreement is 18% in leu of an itemized
bid proposal.

8. The hourly rate for general labor on “extra” work outside of the Service Agreement is $28.00/hr.
9. The hourly rate for foreman labor on “extra” work outside of the Service Agreement is $40.00/hr.
10. The hourly labor rate for irrigation repairs or replacements is $50.00/hr.
11. The hourly rate for travel time is $50.00/hr billed in fifteen (15) minute increments.
12. The hourly rate for supervisor labor on extra work outside of the Service Agreement is $60.00/hr.
13. The hourly rate for responded emergencies outside normal operational hours is $75.00/hr.  CL is re-

quired by IWC Orders 1-16, Section 5 of the DIR’s regulations to compensate its employees who
respond to afterhours emergencies accordingly.  CL will invoice for each responding employee no
less than two hours or more than four hours per emergency service, as required within the regula-
tion.

14. The hourly rate for landscape design on extra work outside the Service Agreement is $125.00/hr.
15. This account must be paid in FULL upon Service Agreement cancellation date.

J. SERVICE GUARANTEE
CL stands behind our landscape services with a satisfaction guarantee. We are committed to providing excellent
service and assuring that the Agent or Association are completely satisfied.

After the commencement of CL’s maintenance services ordered under this Service Agreement, CL will allow you to 
cancel without liability; if you experience recurring service issues caused by our onsite staff or management team 
and we are unable to cure the specific problem or to meet the services contracted. 

Qualifications for Service Guarantee: 
• This guarantee is non-exclusive to the initial or renewal terms.

$1,225.00

Packet Page 157



Mailing Address: 9450 SW Gemini Dr. #69211, Beaverton, OR 97008-7105 
Physical Address: 2230 La Mirada Dr. Suite B., Vista, CA 92081 
Phone: (760) 436-6804 | Fax: (760) 436-8147, (760) 867-2892 
Contractor's License # 353359 

 

7 

 
 
 
• This guarantee is intended to allow the Agent or Association to terminate CL’s Landscape and Water Man-

agement Services without penalty, if you are not satisfied with CL’s 90-day resolution. 
• The guarantee will only be valid if the problematic service is within CL’s direct control to offer a resolution. 
• To exercise this guarantee, the Agent or Association must provide written notice delivered to CL’s mailing ad-

dress by certified mail detailing the specific service concern and permit CL 90-days from such notification to 
resolve the issue. 
• The guarantee is contingent that CL was unable to resolve the reported problem to the Agent or Associations 

reasonable satisfaction within 90-days from receipt of the Agent or Associations written notification. 
• This guarantee excludes “extra” work to the Service Agreement, approved enhancements, and/ or separate 

installation agreements. 
• Agent or Association remains liable for all fees and/ or charges incurred prior and during any written notifica-

tion period. 
• Account must be current, with no outstanding balances over 45 days.   

 
K. ACCEPTANCE 
The undersigned parties agree to the terms and conditions of the above landscape maintenance proposal, acting 
as a duly authorized agent or representative of the association, and a duly authorized representative of Coast 
Landscaping Inc.   
 
 
AGENT OR ASSOCIATION: 

Signature:       

By:                           
                                     Name                                                                     Title 

Date:       

CONTRACTOR:  Coast Landscaping Inc. 

Signature:       

Date:       

By:   Tyler Mason, Controller                                                                   Contractor’s State License No.  353359 
 

 
THIS AGREEMENT IS NOT BINDING ON COAST LANDSCAPING INC. UNTIL SIGNED BY A COAST LANDSCAPING INC. DIRECTOR OR 

CORPORATE OFFICER. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page 158



 

Packet Page 159



 

Packet Page 160



Sarah Ritter Terry Mahoney 

Packet Page 161



 

Packet Page 162



 

Packet Page 163



 

Packet Page 164



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Packet Page 165



 

 

 

Packet Page 166



 

Packet Page 167



 

Packet Page 168



 

Packet Page 169



 

Packet Page 170



 

• 

• 

Packet Page 171



 

 

 

 

 

 

Packet Page 172



 

Packet Page 173



 

Packet Page 174



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Packet Page 175



 

Packet Page 176



 

 

Packet Page 177



 

 

• Purple Zones = High Detail Planter Maintenance areas                

• Light Blue Zones = Areas to be blown weekly.  Remaining curblines to be blown within rotation.                 (Parking lots and artificial tu

Packet Page 178



 

  Navy Blue Zones = Lower detail slope planters (No irrigation) 

= Areas to be blown weekly.  Remaining curblines to be blown within rotation.                 (Parking lots and artificial turf areas maintained by others) 

Packet Page 179



 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Packet Page 180



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Packet Page 181



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

Packet Page 182



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 
• Light Blue Zones = Areas to be blown weekly.  (reference map) Remaining curblines to be 

blown within rotation.   (Parking lots and artificial turf areas maintained by others.) Packet Page 183



 

• 

• 

 

Packet Page 184



 

Packet Page 185



 

 

Packet Page 186



 

Packet Page 187



 

Packet Page 188



Packet Page 189



Packet Page 190



Packet Page 191



Packet Page 192



Packet Page 193



Packet Page 194



Packet Page 195



Packet Page 196



Packet Page 197



Packet Page 198



Packet Page 199



Packet Page 200



Packet Page 201



Packet Page 202



Packet Page 203



Packet Page 204



Packet Page 205



紀 
_,m � ⸀⸀ COU昀ꄀ 伀昀 匀䄀N 䐀昀E䜀伀 

� j HEA䰀吀H AND HUMAN 
-P 栀眀 SERVICES AGENCY ---

EXHIBIT A 

JOINDER OF ADDITIONAL SIGNATORY TO AGREEMENT 

Pursuant to, and in accordance with, Section 19 of the Memorandum of Agreement between the 
County of San Diego by and through its Health and Human Services Agency, the San Diego 
County Superintendent of Schools and San Diego County School Districts/Local Education 
Agencies, for the purpose of ensuring cost effective and efficient methods of transportation to 

school of origin for children in foster care in San Diego County, the (           1 hereby 
acknowledges that it has received and reviewed a complete copy of the aforementioned 

Agreement and agrees that upon execution of this Joinder, (               1 shall become a 
party to the Memorandum of Agreement and shall be fully bound by, and subject to, all of the 
covenants, terms and conditions of the Memorandum of Agreement as though an original party 
thereto. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly 

executed, such pa爀琀ies acting by their representatives being thereunto duly authorized. 

Signed by: 

 

Dated: _______ _ By:---------------
(Authorized Signature) 

MOA 7367 Amendment 02 - ESSA Transportation Cost-Sharing 
HHSA-CFWB, SDCSS, and SDC LEAs 

Page 10 of 54 
September 2023 

Erin Feeley
Executive Director

01/09/2024

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Packet Page 206



Packet Page 207



Packet Page 208



Packet Page 209



Packet Page 210



Packet Page 211



Packet Page 212



Packet Page 213



Packet Page 214



Packet Page 215



Packet Page 216



Packet Page 217



Packet Page 218



Packet Page 219



Packet Page 220



Packet Page 221



Packet Page 222



Packet Page 223



Packet Page 224



Packet Page 225



Packet Page 226



Packet Page 227



Packet Page 228



Packet Page 229



Packet Page 230



Packet Page 231



Packet Page 232



Packet Page 233



Packet Page 234



Packet Page 235



Packet Page 236



Packet Page 237



Packet Page 238



Packet Page 239



Packet Page 240



Packet Page 241



Packet Page 242



Packet Page 243



Packet Page 244



Packet Page 245



Packet Page 246



Packet Page 247



Packet Page 248



Packet Page 249



Packet Page 250



TRANSACTION DETAILS DOCUMENT DETAILS

Reference Number

FE2F9DC3-2349-4148-A69F-0FEFCFCE7E7C

Transaction Type

Signature Request

Sent At

01/09/2024 16:30 EST

Executed At

01/09/2024 17:26 EST

Identity Method

email

Distribution Method

email

Signed Checksum

93b010bb02d98e4ae31bf0b7a278015a69565dcc5afbe3f137dba56ac682718b

Signer Sequencing

Disabled

Document Passcode

Disabled

Document Name

Transportation MOA for Foster Youth

Filename

Transportation_MOA_for_Foster_Youth.pdf

Pages

58 pages

Content Type

application/pdf

File Size

15.2 MB

Original Checksum

e9483e0284dc755331533ccdc48aea6ed677609b7d082d626c369905252a9751

SIGNERS

SIGNER E-SIGNATURE EVENTS

Name

Erin Feeley

Email

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Components

4

Status

signed

Multi-factor Digital Fingerprint Checksum

0655abd4d23e41e65fff7ad9669c4646a3193c069a2b2d916d3df1e0de41daab

IP Address

12.169.146.194

Device

Chrome via Windows

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

30884337

Viewed At

01/09/2024 17:25 EST

Identity Authenticated At

01/09/2024 17:26 EST

Signed At

01/09/2024 17:26 EST

AUDITS

TIMESTAMP AUDIT

01/09/2024 16:30 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) created document
'Transportation_MOA_for_Foster_Youth.pdf' on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/09/2024 16:30 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a link to sign.

01/09/2024 17:25 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/09/2024 17:26 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) authenticated via email on Chrome via Windows from
12.169.146.194.

01/09/2024 17:26 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) signed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE

REFERENCE NUMBER
FE2F9DC3-2349-4148-A69F-0FEFCFCE7E7C

Packet Page 251



01/18/2024

Packet Page 252



TRANSACTION DETAILS DOCUMENT DETAILS

Reference Number

EDC89F4D-9264-48AB-8F27-74A3229C3EC6

Transaction Type

Signature Request

Sent At

01/18/2024 10:42 EST

Executed At

01/18/2024 13:43 EST

Identity Method

email

Distribution Method

email

Signed Checksum

3caa52efb4f0b480530aa2631fa7b15d97b305e13a677cdccb163f000ea2ae03

Signer Sequencing

Disabled

Document Passcode

Disabled

Document Name

Palomar Family Counseling Services - AMENDMENT 23-24

Filename

AMENDMENT_23-24.pdf

Pages

1 page

Content Type

application/pdf

File Size

35.2 KB

Original Checksum

d8fe8f74be9453d1be2a739b74036d54272f3674a1eb1eacb26b25f9399323de

SIGNERS

SIGNER E-SIGNATURE EVENTS

Name

Erin Feeley

Email

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Components

2

Status

signed

Multi-factor Digital Fingerprint Checksum

9ef68b18f45ae60524390557abe848b5052eb86a724815cf3f15e68a65510527

IP Address

172.56.241.98

Device

Chrome via Windows

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

A5C3E3CF

Viewed At

01/18/2024 13:42 EST

Identity Authenticated At

01/18/2024 13:43 EST

Signed At

01/18/2024 13:43 EST

AUDITS

TIMESTAMP AUDIT

01/18/2024 10:42 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) created document 'AMENDMENT_23-24.pdf' on Chrome
via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/18/2024 10:42 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a link to sign.

01/18/2024 13:42 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 172.56.241.98.

01/18/2024 13:43 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) authenticated via email on Chrome via Windows from 172.56.241.98.

01/18/2024 13:43 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) signed the document on Chrome via Windows from 172.56.241.98.

SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE

REFERENCE NUMBER
EDC89F4D-9264-48AB-8F27-74A3229C3EC6

Packet Page 253



QUOTATION

Billing Address
PO Box 880
Hewitt, TX 76643
Phone: 888-256-4112
Fax: 254-698-2037

Bill to: Ship to:
Carlitos Carmona
Bella Mente Montessori Academy
155 Emerald Dr Vista,
California, 92083
United States
T: 760-621-8948

Carlitos Carmona
Bella Mente Montessori Academy
155 Emerald Dr Vista,
California, 92083
United States
T: 760-621-8948

Quote Proposal Q10.97536
Date of Proposal Jan 17, 2024
Proposal valid until Feb 7, 2024  ( 21 days )

Shipping Method

Quote Shipping Proposal
Fixed Shipping - $325.00

Image Product name SKU QTY Price Subtotal

Auditorium Sound System with 2 Community
ENTASYS Column Array Loudspeakers, Dual
12" Subwoofer, Wireless Mics and Bluetooth
(Revised)

ADSS-2ENT220CDI2000-REVIS
ED

1 $9,544.43 $9,544.43

REVISED AMP, MIXER, WIRELESS AND MEDIA PLAYER - UPDATED TO 2 WIRELESS
HANDHELD AND 1 WIRELESS LAPEL System.  All cables and patch modified.
 Confirmed mixer compatibility.

Subtotal $9,544.43
Shipping & Handling (Excl. Tax)* $325.00
*Shipping cost are subject to change
Grand Total (Excl. Tax) $9,869.43
Tax $787.42
Grand Total (Incl. Tax) $10,656.85

Sales Engineer's Notes:

Carlitos -

Please see attached auditorium solution for your school.  This can be modified or
augmented as needed.  Please contact me to discuss or review any questions.

Very Respectfully, Merry Grant – Senior Sales Engineer Merry@proacoustics.com
254-651-6909

Thank you for choosing Pro Acoustics. We look forward to working with you. 

Packet Page 254



QUOTE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

PO Box 880
Hewitt, TX 76643
Phone: 888-256-4112
Fax: 254-698-2037

Thank you for choosing Pro Acoustics, audio systems designed just for you.

Pro Acoustics carries a large comprehensive selection of commercial, professional and home audio sound systems 
designed to fit your application, needs, and budget. We are a factory authorized dealer for all of the products and 
brands that we sell, and all items are genuine retail products with full manufacturer's warranties. Pro Acoustics 
maintains a very high level of customer support and warranty service, as well as provides lifetime technical support 
for all of our product lines. 

Your Pro Acoustics Sales Engineer is available as a resource to you at any time. Pro Acoustics offers educational, government and military 
discounts as well as bulk pricing and design support for contractors. We are committed to providing great products, excellent customer 
support, and very competitive prices.
 
All proposals are good for 30 days and subject to manufacturer pricing/availability. Proposals may not include final shipping charges. Custom 
shipping estimates are good for a 24-hour period and subject to change at checkout. 
 
Please keep in mind that, since most quotes are customized, all orders and shipments are carefully reviewed at every point to ensure that you 
receive the correct items. Please make your Sales Engineer aware of any specific deadlines or needs for expedited shipping (faster than the 
standard ground 7-10 business days). Although the Pro Acoustics team does our best to process all orders and shipments as quickly as 
possible, custom orders can be subject to manufacturer processing and availability, and therefore, shipping times can vary and are not 
guaranteed.
 
Product prices, features, specifications, and descriptions may vary or contain errors and are subject to change without notice. Pro Acoustics is 
not responsible for errors, omissions, incorrect product listings or pricing. Pro Acoustics tries to provide content that is true and accurate as of 
the date of posting; however, we give no assurance or warranty regarding the accuracy of any of the contents. The manufacturer or supplier of 
the product is ultimately responsible for the accuracy of the information presented.

PLEASE NOTE: Custom, special order, or built-to-order items are not returnable, non-cancelable and nonrefundable. All sales are final on 
these items. Please see our full return policies here for more information: www.proacousticsusa.com/return-policy

Please don't hesitate to reach out with any questions. You can contact us directly at (888) 256-4112 or email us at sales@proacoustics.com, 
and we will be happy to assist you.

 
Terms and Condition may change without notice.
 
© Pro Acoustics LLC. All rights reserved. For personal use, customer use or by Pro Acoustics, LLC authorized resellers and dealers only.

Packet Page 255



Renewal Agreement for 
Bella Mente Montessori 
Academy 

Renewal Agreement 
Expiration Date 
2024-01-08 

Packet Page 256



Dear Erin Feeley,

Here at Schola®, we understand the challenges schools face in today's competitive 
landscape. Having worked with numerous schools, we know it can be 
overwhelming to run multiple recruitment efforts, increase your brand awareness, 
and follow up with prospective families, all while balancing other tasks and trying 
to make the most of your budget. That’s why we’re here to help.

Our main goal is to help streamline and centralize your recruitment and 
enrollment efforts and connect you with the right students, boosting your 
retention and maximizing your internal resources. 

At Schola®, we’ve worked with schools of all sizes, from small charter schools to 
large districts with multiple campuses. No matter the school size, type, or location, 
we're committed to building solid and ongoing relationships with our clients in 
order to achieve a brighter future for your students and your school.

We look forward to this partnership and collaborating to reach your goals.

Sincerely,

Packet Page 257



The Leading Dual-Sided PK-12 Software for Families and Schools

Schola® serves as the bridge between families and schools to expand school choice and 
improve education outcomes. Our mission is to help students discover, connect, and 
enroll in their ideal learning environment to create a brighter future. 

Improving education outcomes is a two-way street. That’s why Schola® partners with 
schools and provides comprehensive recruitment tools to help them connect with the 
right students, optimize processes, and reach their enrollment goals. 

Through Schola®, you have the power to maximize your schools’ visibility, centralize and 
streamline your recruitment efforts in one place, and even receive full follow-up support 
so none of your prospective families slip through the cracks. We help multiply 
productivity without increasing your amount of work.  

 

Packet Page 258

https://youtu.be/2SAG0ET_BOs


TEACH Public Schools
Los Angeles, CA

 

“Schola® has made such a difference not only in 
improving our recruitment and enrollment, but 

in our school community by freeing up our 
time and saving us emotional energy. We 
can now invest that time in fostering positive 

relationships with the TEACH families and 
building a better educational experience for our 

students.” 
 

— Luis Ramirez 
Director of Recruitment and Enrollment

 

 

Brilla Public Schools
Bronx, NY

 

“We’ve had an amazing experience. We are trying 
to improve our marketing and get our name out 
there more and Schola® is doing an amazing job. 
When our campaign went live, immediately 
families were really interested in applying to 

our school. I would recommend Schola® 
especially for their customer service, I speak with 
my Schola® School Strategist on a weekly basis 

and she is always able to support me.”
 

— Christy Menica Penalo
Student Enrollment Manager

Copper State Academy
Phoenix, AZ

 

“The team I have been working with have been 
so helpful and respectful to our needs. We were 
struggling with enrollment and Schola® is so 

willing to adapt and look at all areas of 
recruitment to improve our results.”

 

— Mark Holden
Director of Operations

 

Arrow Academy
Houston, TX

 

“The bilingual support is a huge deal especially at 
our school where not all of our staff speaks 

Spanish. That Spanish-speaking aspect is a 
big key to recruitment and it allows us to 

reach more families and make them feel more 
comfortable."

 

— Rico Sedeno
Chief Operating Officer

Packet Page 259



SPOT (Schola Parent Outreach Team) will follow-up with any leads that Schola or your school generate.
Follow-up from SPOT is bilingual in English/Spanish and can be used for most of your calling needs (application 
completion, re-enrollment, nurturing through the last day of school, etc).

We’ll provide details about your campaign, including cost per lead, conversion rates, and student acquisition cost
in addition to general student recruitment trends and seasonality insight to help you understand your campaign’s 
success and to develop ongoing recruitment budgets based on your results. Additional ROI and results reporting 
are available on a monthly or as-needed basis.

As a featured school, you will have added visibility by being highlighted as a Partner School and being shown 
among the top search results when families complete ScholaMatch™ in addition to being actively promoted to 
families searching for what your school offers.

Use our customizable email and SMS text message templates to set up automated (one-way) broadcast 
communications with leads and applicants to streamline your follow-up and nurturing process, helping you boost 
conversion rates with ef ciency. Segment recipients based on language, stage, or custom sub-stages to send the 
right messages to the right prospects every step of the way.

LeadSchola attracts prospective students through a combination of strategic inbound and outbound marketing
efforts to families searching for schools in your target area, including digital ad campaigns and our one-of-a-kind 
ScholaMatch™ system. Our team of campaign experts takes into account the unique features of your school so 
that prospects are targeted and matched based on their individual needs and interests, leading to more qualified 
leads and higher conversion rates. You will be notified of new prospects via email.

Use our two-way real-time messaging center to send email or text messages to your prospects and keep track of 
all the communications between your staff and families so there’s never a doubt about where the conversation left
off. You’ll also see which automated email/text messages they have received and can share links, attachments, and
other  les. 

Schola will provide a lead capturing form that can be linked to or embedded on your school website for parents to 
express interest and request more information. Upon completing the form, leads automatically appear in the 
Relationship Manager of your Schola Dashboard for you to track and follow up with. Triggers can be set up for new 
leads to automatically receive pre-programmed email or text messages upon form completion.

Packet Page 260



Schola will provide QR Codes upon request to be used at events or on marketing collateral, directed to your
application form or a lead-capturing interest form. QR Codes can be set up with unique source tags to track 
engagement results of various events.

Get an overview of your prospective student pipeline, marketing channels, pro le engagement, and track the
progress toward your enrollment goal.

Canvassing reimagined ¬– find parents even before they find you! As an upgraded school, you can check our
Live Parent Search heat-map and request to connect directly with families searching for schools in the area even 
before they have matched with your school. 

Set up your school pro le with videos, highlighted features, photos and more. Set your available tour times so
prospects can request a school visit. Our team will show you how to optimize your pro le during the onboarding
process.

You can insert a link to your current digital application so that parents can access it directly from your Schola 
pro le. Likewise, applications can be sent with one click through our relationship manager and included with 
merge tags when creating automated email or text message campaigns so you receive applications on the same 
system you already use.

From your initial onboarding and throughout your Schola journey, our team will get you familiar with Schola’s
platform and tools, best practices, and provide ongoing support and guidance so you can make the most of our
team’s expertise in addition to our weekly webinars for ongoing training.

Our system was specially designed with school recruitment in mind to help you track and organize your 
prospective student pipeline through each phase of the recruitment process. Upload your own leads to keep your 
efforts centralized, send applications with just one click, and customize the view and columns to match your 
work ow. 

Make Schola your marketing and recruitment hub by inputting past campaigns and additional lead sources Track
results and ROI of each channel to see where to focus future efforts and determine what’s working best. 

Packet Page 261



Packet Page 262



No Matter What Source Your Leads Come From, 
Schola® Follows Up With ALL of Them

 

Increase Your Enrollment, Not Your Workload
*ROI estimate is based on average funding per student across the US. Funding varies by state.

Packet Page 263



Renewal Agreement for Bella 
Mente Montessori Academy 

Based on the enrollment needs for Bella Mente Montessori Academy, below outlines a 
ScholaRecruiterPro™ renewal agreement to help reach your goals. 

This includes full access to your Schola® recruitment toolbox, custom recruitment campaign, 
premium placement on ScholaMatch™ listings, and complete follow-up support from our bilingual 
Schola® Parent Outreach Team, no matter what source your student leads come from. 

Name Monthly Price # of Months Subtotal

ScholaRecruiter Pro (NEW) $3,500.00 12 $42,000.00

Subtotal $42,000.00

Total $42,000.00

Packet Page 264



Payment Terms: Whether you pay the below fees all at once at the outset of this Agreement or pay on a monthly 
basis, you are agreeing to pay all of the fees set forth below. 

Name QTY Price

ScholaRecruiter Pro (NEW) 12 $3,500.00

Renewal Agreement Expiration Date  2024-01-08 
 

Payment Type: ACH/CC: Your account details are required to be on �le before services begin.
 

Premium Service Start Date:  2023-12-08
 

Premium Service End Date:  2025-01-07 
 

Automatic Renewal: This Agreement renews automatically for succeeding terms of twelve (12) months unless you 
notify us by email at help@scholasolutions.com at least 30 days prior to the end of the Term or subsequent end 
dates of later Terms.

Name:

 

Title:

 

Date:

 

Signature:

 
 

 Erin Feeley 

 Executive Director 

 
 
 
 

 
  

 Billing Name:

 
Billing Email:

 
Billing Phone:

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet Page 265



Tax ID: 82-1062849

5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970

Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707 F:310-933-1961

E:accounts@scoot.educationOur postage address for checks has
changed. Please use highlighted
address at bottom of invoice. INVOICE
Bella Mente Montessori Academy
1737 W. Vista Way
Vista   92083
California
United States

Invoice: 61286

Date: 12/20/2023

Type: General Education

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Employee
Submitted
By/Replacing Grades Date Start/Finish Qty Unit Rate Discount Unit Total Total

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/11/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Natalie Smith Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/11/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 12/11/2023 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Madison Wand Susan Croniser 12/11/2023 08:00 - 09:00 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Charles Williamson Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

12/11/2023 09:00 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

12/12/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Natalie Smith Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/12/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Ensie Blume Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/12/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Nicholas Cafrelli Brielle Irwin
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/12/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 12/12/2023 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/13/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00
Packet Page 266



Tax ID: 82-1062849

5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970

Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707 F:310-933-1961

E:accounts@scoot.education

Invoice: 61286

Date: 12/20/2023

Type: General Education

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

12/13/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Natalie Smith Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/13/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 12/13/2023 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

12/14/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Shadi Motaleb Olivia Reid
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/14/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/14/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Natalie Smith Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/14/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 12/14/2023 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Ensie Blume
Grade 4, Grade 5,
Grade 6

12/15/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Natalie Smith Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/15/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

12/15/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Joseph Hernandez Olivia Reid
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/15/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Katrina Baughman Armando Diaz
History, Grade 7,
Grade 8

12/15/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Packet Page 267



Tax ID: 82-1062849

5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970

Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707 F:310-933-1961

E:accounts@scoot.education

Invoice: 61286

Date: 12/20/2023

Type: General Education

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

12/15/2023 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 12/15/2023 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Subtotal for Bella Mente Montessori Academy $8,852.00

INVOICES ARE PAYABLE 7 DAYS FROM INVOICE DATE

Scoot Education Inc.

Remit ACH Payments To: Remit Wire Payments To: Remit Check Payments To:

Scoot Education Inc.
3839 Main Street
Culver City CA 90232
Los Angeles, CA 90036
Account Number:8003139196
Routing Number:322070381

Scoot Education Inc.
East West Bank
9300 Flair Drive, 4th Fl.
El Monte CA 91731
Bank Account:8003139196
Bank Routing:322070381

Scoot Education Inc.
5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970
Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707

Please state the account being paid on all Remittance Advices

SUB TOTAL $8,852.00

DISCOUNT $.00

INVOICE TOTAL $8,852.00

Packet Page 268



 
 

LICENSE AGREEMENT 

 

This Agreement effective March 1, 2024, is made and entered into by Bella Mente 
Montessori Charter Academy (“Licensee”) and Document Tracking Services (“DTS”) as 
Licensor, each a “Party” and collectively the “Parties”. 
 

1. Scope of Agreement 

1.1 License. This License Agreement between Licensee and DTS covers 
Licensee’s use of DTS’s proprietary web-based application in 
accordance with the terms and conditions expressed herein.  

1.2 Agreement to Be Bound. Licensee agrees to be bound by, and comply 
with, the terms of this License Agreement by (i) accessing and/or 
using the DTS Application and/or (ii) ratifying this License Agreement 
by signing below. 

2. License and Right to Use. DTS hereby grants to Licensee a non-exclusive and 
non-transferable license to use DTS application in order to create, edit, update, 
print and track specific documents as described in Exhibit A of this agreement.  

2.1 DTS retains all rights, title and interest in DTS application and any 
registered trademarks associated with the license. 

2.2 Licensee retains all rights, title and interest in the documents as 
described in Exhibit A of this agreement. 

3. Internet Areas. Neither Licensee nor any third party shall be permitted to 
establish any “pointers” or links between the Online Area and any other area on 
or outside of the DTS login without the prior written approval of DTS. 

4. Term of License. The term of this License Agreement is for one (1) year from 
the effective date noted at the top of this document.  

5. Personnel. DTS will assign the appropriate personnel to represent DTS in all 
aspects of the license including but not limited to account set up and customer 
license inquiries. 

6. Content. DTS will be solely responsible for loading the content supplied by 
Licensee into DTS’s secure server and will provide complete access to Licensee 
and its representatives. Licensee is solely responsible for the sufficiency, 
adequacy, and completeness of its content; for updating its content as necessary; 
and for proper implementation of any plans or procedures required by local, state, 
or federal law. 

7. Security of Data. At all times, DTS will have complete security of Licensee’s 
documents on dedicated servers that only authorized DTS personnel will have 
access to. All logins by DTS’s authorized personnel will be stored and saved as to 
time of log-in. 

7.1 Licensee may request in writing that DTS only store Licensee’s 
documents for the period of time that allows Licensee and its authorized 
personnel to create, edit and update their documents. 

8. Management of Database. DTS shall allow Licensee to review, edit, create, 
update and otherwise manage all content of Licensee available through the 
Secure Login of DTS. 

Packet Page 269



 
9. Customer Service. DTS shall respond promptly and professionally to questions, 

comments, complaints and other reasonable requests regarding any aspect of 
DTS application by Licensee. DTS business hours are Monday-Friday 8AM PST to 
5PM PST except for national/state holidays. 

10. Fees. 

10.1 Licensee shall pay a fee of $425. 

10.2 Document Set Up Fee. The one-time set up fee for documents as 
described in Exhibit A and made a part of this Agreement is $0. 

10.3 Licensee shall pay the annual licensing fee upon execution of the 
Agreement between parties and the electronic submittal of the invoice 
to Licensee. 

10.4 DTS will charge a one-time setup fee of $200 per standard document 
up to a maximum of $850 for customized documents. 

11. Warranty.  

11.1 Licensee represents and warrants that all information provided to DTS, 
including but not limited to narratives, editorials, information regarding 
schools, is owned by Licensee and Licensee has the right to use and 
allow use by DTS as called for hereunder and that no copyrights, 
trademark rights or intellectual property rights of any nature of any third 
party will be infringed by the intended use thereof.  In the event any 
claim is brought against DTS based on an alleged violation of the rights 
warranted herein, Licensee agrees to indemnify and hold DTS harmless 
from all such claims, including attorney fees and costs incurred by DTS 
in defending such claims. 

11.2 The express warranties provided in this License Agreement are the sole 
and exclusive warranties made by DTS to Licensee. DTS makes no other 
warranty, express or implied, and Licensee assumes no warranty, 
express or implied, by use of the DTS Application. By accepting this 
Agreement, Licensee acknowledges that it is not relying on any implied 
warranties, including warranties of performance, fitness for a particular 
purpose or otherwise, or upon any representation or warranty outside 
those expressly contained in this Agreement.  

  

Packet Page 270



 
12. Liability. 

12.1 DTS will not be liable to Licensee for indirect, incidental, exemplary, 
special or consequential damages; loss or corruption of data or 
interruption or loss of business; or loss of revenues, profits, goodwill or 
anticipated sales or savings. 

12.2 The maximum aggregate liability of DTS under this License Agreement 
is limited to the fees received by DTS from Licensee for use of the DTS 
Application. 

12.3 This limitation on DTS’s liability applies whether the claims sound in 
warranty, contract, tort, infringement, or otherwise. Nothing in this 
License Agreement excludes any liability that cannot be limited as a 
matter of law.  

13. Choice of Law and Venue. This License Agreement, and any dispute related to 
this License Agreement or arising from it, shall be governed exclusively by the 
laws of the State of California. The state and federal courts of the State of 
California shall have exclusive jurisdiction to adjudicate any dispute arising out 
of, or related to, this License Agreement or its formation, interpretation, or 
enforcement.  

14. Severability. If any portion of this License Agreement is not enforceable under 
applicable law, it will not affect any other term of this Agreement. 

15. Definitions. 

15.1 Document. A document is defined as a) a specific template provided by 
CDE or; b) any specific word document or forms that have different 
fields or school references such as elementary, middle or high schools* 
submitted by District or CDE; or c) individual inserts submitted by 
District or CDE that are integrated into existing documents or are offered 
as supplemental and/or addendums to other report documents. 

 

* Licensee submits a SPSA template for their elementary, middle and 
high schools, which is counted as three (3) separate documents. 

15.2 Customized Documents. Any document that is not a standard CDE 
template is considered a custom document and as such may be subject 
to additional setup fees; DTS shall provide an estimated cost of these 
additional fees prior to the execution of this agreement.  

16. Additional Services. DTS can also provide Data Transfer and Document 
Translation services to Licensee for an additional fee. The fee for each additional 
service would be agreed upon between the parties and invoiced at the time the 
services were requested. The fee shall be payable within thirty (30) days from 
DTS invoice. 

  

Packet Page 271



 
The Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

 

Document Tracking Services, LLC 

By:  Aaron Tarazon, Director 
Document Tracking Services 
10606 Camino Ruiz, Suite 8-132 
San Diego, CA 92126 
858-784-0960 - Phone 
858-587-4640 - Corporate Fax 
 

Date: January 19, 2024 

 

Licensee 

By: ______________________ 

Date: ______________________ 

Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

  

Erin Feeley, Executive Director

01/24/2024

Packet Page 272



 
Exhibit A 

 

The following are standard documents to be used in conjunction with the license. 

 

1. 2023 School Accountability Report Card, English (CDE Template) 

2. 2024 School Plan for Student Achievement (CDE Template) 

3. 2024 Comprehensive School Safety Plan (Custom Template) 

4. 2024 Local Control and Accountability Plan (CDE Template) 

5. Others to be identified as needed. 
 
 

Packet Page 273



 
 
January 19, 2024 
 
Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 
1737 West Vista Way 
Vista, CA 92083 
 
Re: Document Tracking Services 

 

 
**PLEASE NOTE CORRECT DTS MAILING/REMIT ADDRESS** 

 
INVOICE #9208304 

 
Pursuant to the licensing agreement between Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy and Document Tracking 
Services (DTS): 
 

Document Tracking Services  

Document Tracking Services [3/1/24 to 3/1/25]: 
Single School District 

$425 

  

Total Balance Due: $425 

 
Please Make Checks Payable To: Document Tracking Services 
 
Send to: 
 
Aaron Tarazon, Director 
Document Tracking Services 
10606 Camino Ruiz, Suite 8-132 
San Diego, CA 92126  
858-784-0960 - Phone 
858-587-4640 - Corporate Fax 
 
Thank you! 
 

   
Approved Per Payment (Signature)  Name/Role (Printed) 

 

Erin Feeley, Executive Director

Packet Page 274



TRANSACTION DETAILS DOCUMENT DETAILS

Reference Number

E56C8295-EE98-492E-9AB4-360F81B5FFD7

Transaction Type

Signature Request

Sent At

01/24/2024 14:53 EST

Executed At

01/24/2024 15:05 EST

Identity Method

email

Distribution Method

email

Signed Checksum

d054c43abade19edfdece5a52ce99c034a2c2f4ef06ebc73ead11b559f035ac0

Signer Sequencing

Disabled

Document Passcode

Disabled

Document Name

DTS (Document Tracking Services) Renewal License and Invoice 240119

Filename

240119_DTS_Renewal_License_and_Invoice.pdf

Pages

6 pages

Content Type

application/pdf

File Size

218 KB

Original Checksum

686c650ee17513d3e8fef32b80ef2f796425e1e8e2825be2e9afaafcd0232e95

SIGNERS

SIGNER E-SIGNATURE EVENTS

Name

Erin Feeley

Email

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Components

3

Status

signed

Multi-factor Digital Fingerprint Checksum

17d3143cc22c34107b10971f8117324d930147ebf3b477feff536ad765666586

IP Address

12.169.146.194

Device

Chrome via Windows

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

C1346BD0

Viewed At

01/24/2024 15:03 EST

Identity Authenticated At

01/24/2024 15:05 EST

Signed At

01/24/2024 15:05 EST

AUDITS

TIMESTAMP AUDIT

01/24/2024 14:53 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) created document
'240119_DTS_Renewal_License_and_Invoice.pdf' on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/24/2024 14:53 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a link to sign.

01/24/2024 15:03 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

01/24/2024 15:05 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) authenticated via email on Chrome via Windows from
12.169.146.194.

01/24/2024 15:05 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) signed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE

REFERENCE NUMBER
E56C8295-EE98-492E-9AB4-360F81B5FFD7

Packet Page 275



San Diego Branch Office 

Service Equipment Business 

To: BELLA MENTE CHARTER SCHOOL 

1737 VISTA WAY 

OCEANSIDE, CA 92054 

 
 9850 Businesspark Ave 

San Diego, CA 92131  

 
 

 

Classification: KONE Internal 

Code Work Proposal & Responsibility Letter      February 2, 2024 

 

Dear Customer,  

 

 

Our office is in receipt of the below referenced State inspection dated January 5, 2024 at 1737 West Vista 

Way for the following equipment’s: 

 

 

State ID#165335, Wheelchair, Roped Hydro, WCL 

Code Work requirements as follows:  

 

1. The five-year test of the platform safeties shall be successfully completed . 

NOTE: A 18.1 gives a guide for performing this test to ensure code compliance. 

subsection 3142(d): [REF. ASME 18.1 Req. 10.3.3.1 (2003)) “KONE Responsibility” 

 

2. The normal and final terminal stopping devices shall be tested to determine conformance with the 

applicable requirements. 

NOTE: A18.1 gives a guide for performing this test to ensure code compliance. 

subsection 3142(d): [REF. ASME 18.1 Req. 10.3.1.5 (2003)) “KONE Responsibility” 

 

3. Slack-rope devices for roped-hydraulic lifts shall be tested to determine conformance with the 

applicable requirements. 

NOTE: A18.1 gives a guide for performing this test to ensure code compliance. 

subsection 3142(d): [REF. ASME 18.1 Req. 10.3.1.7 (2003)) “KONE Responsibility” 

 

4. The unexposed / hidden hydraulic cylinder that cannot be visually inspected shall be tested to 

determine conformance with the applicable requirements. 3142(d) [REF. ASME 18.1 Req. 10.3.1.1.] 

“KONE Responsibility” 

 

5. The special access lift shall be tested for proper operation under rated load conditions. The test shall 

include a check of the car or platform safety device, if applicable. subsection 3142, 3094.5e “KONE 

Responsibility” 

Packet Page 276



San Diego Branch Office 

Service Equipment Business 

To: BELLA MENTE CHARTER SCHOOL 

1737 VISTA WAY 

OCEANSIDE, CA 92054 

 
 9850 Businesspark Ave 

San Diego, CA 92131  

 
 

 

Classification: KONE Internal 

KONE Inc. shall perform items of code work listed. You agree to pay Total is $1,267.00  
 
Wheelchair load testing - $1,267.00 

 

 

Kone mechanic(s) will complete items noted as “KONE Responsibility”. Please complete all items noted 

as “Customer Responsibility” and notify me by email when completed. I will then submit compliance to 

the State Department on your behalf. We will advise of any items noted as “KONE will check and advise” 

as who will complete outstanding items once our mechanic is on site to determine the cause of the 

deficiency. Compliance date for these issues is March 4, 2024. We are scheduled to be on site the week 

of March 14, 2024. I will notify the State and send a copy of the notification to you. To provide timely 

scheduling and to avoid order to prohibit use (red tag) and penalty fines by the State, KONE requires 

4-6 weeks of notification of your preliminary orders. All items listed on your preliminary orders should 

be complaint before April 3, 2024. As always, KONE Inc. stands ready to be of service to you, our valued 

customer. 

 

Approval Signature ___________________                  Date: ___________________ 

 

Jamie Smith 

Service Coordinator 

9850 Businesspark Avenue 

San Diego, CA 92131 

Jamie.smith@kone.com 

 

This Proposal is subject to the following terms and conditions, all of which are hereby agreed to 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

This proposal is subject to the following terms and conditions, all of which are hereby agreed to:  

Quotations are subject to change without notice.  

02/02/2024

Erin Feeley, Executive Director

Packet Page 277



San Diego Branch Office 

Service Equipment Business 

To: BELLA MENTE CHARTER SCHOOL 

1737 VISTA WAY 

OCEANSIDE, CA 92054 

 
 9850 Businesspark Ave 

San Diego, CA 92131  

 
 

 

Classification: KONE Internal 

Purchaser agrees to pay, as an addition to the price herein quoted, the amount of any tax based upon the transfer, use, 

ownership, or possession of the equipment, imposed by any law enacted after the date of this proposal or imposed upon 

Purchaser by any existing law.  

When applicable, monthly progress billings will be made by KONE Inc. to cover materials shipped and labor expended 

during the month. Payments shall become due and payable within 30 days after receipt of such progress billings by the 

Purchaser.  

KONE reserves the right to discontinue work at any time until progress payments have been made as agreed.  

Final payment shall become due and payable when all the work described in this Agreement has been completed.  

The completion of work or delivery of material specified in this Agreement is subject to delays caused directly or 

indirectly by embargoes, strikes, lockout, common carriers, accidents or by any other similar or dissimilar cause beyond 

KONE's control, for which KONE is to be held harmless.  

Should conditions develop beyond KONE's control, making the building or premises in which KONE's men are working 

dangerous, KONE reserves the right to discontinue work until such dangerous conditions are corrected.  

Should damage occur to KONE's material or work on the premises, where work is to be or is being performed, by fire, 

theft, or othe1Wise, the Purchaser is to compensate KONE therefor. Purchaser shall at all times and at Purchaser's own 

cost, maintain comprehensive bodily injury and property damage insurance (naming KONE Inc. as an additional insured), 

including bodily injury and property damage caused by the ownership, use or operation of the equipment described 

herein.  

It is expressly understood, in consideration of KON E's performance of the service enumerated at the price stated, that 

the Purchaser assumes all liability for injury, including death, to any person or persons and for damage to property or 

loss of use thereof, on account of relating to or resulting from the performance of the work to be done hereunder, and 

agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless KONE, its officers, directors and employees from all damages, claims, 

suits, expenses and payments on account of or resulting from any such injury, death or damage to property, except that 

resulting from the sole negligence of KONE.  

Neither KONE nor its affiliates, subsidiaries or divisions shall be responsible or liable for any damages, claims, suits, 

expenses and payments on account of or resulting from any injury, death or damage to property arising or resulting 

from the misuse, abuse or neglect of the equipment herein named or any other device covered by this contract.  

Unless otherwise agreed it is understood that the work shall be performed during regular working hours of regular 

working days of the elevator trade. If overtime work is mutually agreed upon and performed, the additional price, at 

KON E's usual rates for such work, shall be added to the contract price herein named.  

The machinery, implements and apparatus furnished hereunder remain KONE's personal property and KONE retains title 

thereto until final payment is made, with right to retake possession of the same at the cost of the Purchaser if default is 

Packet Page 278



San Diego Branch Office 

Service Equipment Business 

To: BELLA MENTE CHARTER SCHOOL 

1737 VISTA WAY 

OCEANSIDE, CA 92054 

 
 9850 Businesspark Ave 

San Diego, CA 92131  

 
 

 

Classification: KONE Internal 

made in any of the payments, irrespective of the manner of attachment to the realty, the acceptance of notes, or the 

sale, mortgage or lease of the premises.  

The states requiring notice prior to filing a lien, this notice requirement is hereby complied with. 

Packet Page 279



TRANSACTION DETAILS DOCUMENT DETAILS

Reference Number

DBF679BA-357C-4A99-B7CC-6FF1517E2911

Transaction Type

Signature Request

Sent At

02/02/2024 11:46 EST

Executed At

02/02/2024 11:47 EST

Identity Method

email

Distribution Method

email

Signed Checksum

cc90325feb72381cc41d2fca6179c362e47cce8a95c585a40a149e4327700de0

Signer Sequencing

Disabled

Document Passcode

Disabled

Document Name

Kone Elevator - Code Work Letter of Responsibilites and Proposal

Filename

Code_Work_Letter_of_Responsibilites_and_Proposal_Bella_Mente_Charter_School_State_ID_165335_pdf.pdf

Pages

4 pages

Content Type

application/pdf

File Size

245 KB

Original Checksum

cefb71b13bd39f03ac64abccb4c0020566488135c4f6566229c7395c1664fa84

SIGNERS

SIGNER E-SIGNATURE EVENTS

Name

Erin Feeley

Email

efeeley@bellamentecharter.org

Components

2

Status

signed

Multi-factor Digital Fingerprint Checksum

9ee481e892b5f3a80d1bd7743382888df9c887c3ecc5ad89851daf46cd47c7bd

IP Address

12.169.146.194

Device

Chrome via Windows

Typed Signature

Signature Reference ID

76F874C4

Viewed At

02/02/2024 11:47 EST

Identity Authenticated At

02/02/2024 11:47 EST

Signed At

02/02/2024 11:47 EST

AUDITS

TIMESTAMP AUDIT

02/02/2024 11:46 EST Amelie Cheatham (acheatham@bellamentecharter.org) created document
'Code_Work_Letter_of_Responsibilites_and_Proposal_Bella_Mente_Charter_School_State_ID_165335_pdf.pdf' on Chrome via
Windows from 12.169.146.194.

02/02/2024 11:46 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) was emailed a link to sign.

02/02/2024 11:47 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) viewed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

02/02/2024 11:47 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) authenticated via email on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

02/02/2024 11:47 EST Erin Feeley (efeeley@bellamentecharter.org) signed the document on Chrome via Windows from 12.169.146.194.

SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE

REFERENCE NUMBER
DBF679BA-357C-4A99-B7CC-6FF1517E2911

Packet Page 280



Tax ID: 82-1062849

5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970

Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707 F:310-933-1961

E:accounts@scoot.education

INVOICE
Bella Mente Montessori Academy
1737 W. Vista Way
Vista   92083
California
United States

Invoice: 64806

Date: 01/31/2024

Type: General Education

Bella Mente Montessori Academy

Employee
Submitted
By/Replacing Grades Date Start/Finish Qty Unit Rate Discount Unit Total Total

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

01/22/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

01/22/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 01/22/2024 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

01/23/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

01/23/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 01/23/2024 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

01/24/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

01/24/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Gregory Anderson Armando Diaz
Grade 7, Grade 8,
History

01/24/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 01/24/2024 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

01/25/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00
Packet Page 281



Tax ID: 82-1062849

5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970

Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707 F:310-933-1961

E:accounts@scoot.education

Invoice: 64806

Date: 01/31/2024

Type: General Education

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

01/25/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Maureen Eng Newton DeLeon
Grade 7, Grade 8,
Science

01/25/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 01/25/2024 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Anthony Martino Susan Croniser
English, Grade 7,
Grade 8

01/25/2024 08:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Madison Wand Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

01/26/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Carola Niehuus Gladys Espino
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

01/26/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Maureen Eng Newton DeLeon
Grade 7, Grade 8,
Science

01/26/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Anakaren Castillo Brielle Irwin
Grade 1, Grade 2,
Grade 3

01/26/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Amy Speek Gladys Espino
English, Grade 7,
Grade 8

01/26/2024 07:30 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Brady Lorber Gladys Espino 01/26/2024 07:45 - 15:30 1 $362.00 $0.00 $362.00 $362.00

Anna Sirianni Gladys Espino
Kindergarten, TCHR
GR TK

01/26/2024 08:00 - 16:00 1 $329.00 $0.00 $329.00 $329.00

Subtotal for Bella Mente Montessori Academy $7,733.00

Packet Page 282



Tax ID: 82-1062849

5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970

Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707 F:310-933-1961

E:accounts@scoot.education

Invoice: 64806

Date: 01/31/2024

Type: General Education

INVOICES ARE PAYABLE 7 DAYS FROM INVOICE DATE

Scoot Education Inc.

Remit ACH Payments To: Remit Wire Payments To: Remit Check Payments To:

Scoot Education Inc.
3839 Main Street
Culver City CA 90232
Los Angeles, CA 90036
Account Number:8003139196
Routing Number:322070381

Scoot Education Inc.
East West Bank
9300 Flair Drive, 4th Fl.
El Monte CA 91731
Bank Account:8003139196
Bank Routing:322070381

Scoot Education Inc.
5670 Wilshire Blvd
Ste 1970
Los Angeles, CA 90036
P:+1 310-477-7707

Please state the account being paid on all Remittance Advices

SUB TOTAL $7,733.00

DISCOUNT $.00

INVOICE TOTAL $7,733.00

Packet Page 283



 

 

Boosterthon Program Contract 

SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into on the below-listed effective 
date by and between BOOSTER ENTERPRISES, INC., a Georgia Corporation (“Booster”), and the 
below identified Client (the “Client”. Client are referred to collectively herein as the “Parties” or 
individually as a “Party”) with the following fundraising efforts:  

SCHOOL INFORMATION 
Date: School Name: Organization Type: 

Address: City: State Zip 

 
In consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth herein, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, Booster and Client, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 
 
1. Engagement. The Client hereby engages Booster to organize, market and manage the Product 
Fundraiser Program described below (the “Services”) to provide the products that are provided through 
the Services (the “Products”) during the Program Term identified below(the “Program Term”). Booster 
hereby agrees to provide the Services for the benefit of the Client, all on the terms and subject to the 
conditions set forth herein. 
 
[Fundraiser Description] 
 
 

2. Fees. The total amount due to Booster in connection with the Boosterthon Program is determined by 
the three (3) separate fees, and one (1) optional fee listed below: 

(a) Deposit. Within __ business days of the execution of this Agreement, the Client shall pay to Booster a 
Deposit of __________ dollars (the “Deposit”). The Client agrees that the Deposit is part of the total 
funds raised for the Booster Program.  Booster will decrement the full amount of the Deposit from their 
share set forth in Section 2(b) of this Agreement on the final invoice.    

(b) Service Level Fee. Each contribution made towards the Booster Campaign will incur a fee based on 
the Service Level Option agreed upon below and the corresponding percentage of the total contribution 
made in each transaction (not including any Donor Choice as explained below; the “Service Level Fee”): 

____ Support Service (___% of each contribution) 

____ Full Service (___% of each contribution) 

(c) Platform Fee. In addition to the Deposit and Service Level Fee, the Client shall pay to Booster a 
technology platform fee (the “Platform Fee”) of 15% (fifteen percent) for each and any online 
contribution associated with Client for the Boosterthon Program. The Platform Fee is designed to offset 
the cost of using the MyBooster.com platform technology, including, without limitation, online credit card 
processing fees, Booster Team Member customer support and financial advisory, routine website 
maintenance, and continuous improvements and innovation. Unless the opt-out below is selected, 
Booster may provide a Donor Choice option to every online contribution to provide donors the opportunity 
to increase the amount given to directly pay to Booster the Platform Fee, in whole or in part, associated 
with that donor’s transaction.  At Booster’s sole discretion, Booster may automatically apply the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1D050EB7-21A3-4A6C-B342-7422C6E2E5EA

1737 W. Vista Way

Full Service Boosterthon Program (with NO event day)

X

Vista

0

30

CA

5

Bella Mente Academies

20

SCHOOL

92083

Packet Page 284



 

 2 

processing fee to each transaction so that Booster is paid for the Platform Fee directly through the online 
transaction.  

_____ We (Client) choose not to participate in the Donor Choice option 

(d) Optional Booster Event. Refer to Services Event Rider.  

_____ We (Client) choose to have Booster run a Booster event at the end of the Booster 
Program.   

3. Date of the Boosterthon Program. The dates and times of the scheduled Boosterthon Program (the 
“Program Term”) shall take place on the schedule set forth below: 

Boosterthon Program Schedule 
Event Date (s) Parties Involved 

Program Kick Off   
   
   
   

 
4. Terms of Service; Signature. By signing this agreement, Client is also agreeing to the Standard 
Terms and Conditions (available through the hyperlink  here    ), which are incorporated herein by 
reference. This Agreement, along with these incorporated terms, constitutes the entire agreement of the 
parties with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous agreements (written or oral) with respect to such subject matter. In the event of any 
conflict between the incorporated terms and provisions of this Agreement, the terms of this Agreement 
shall govern. Client agrees that it has accessed, carefully reviewed, and fully understands this Agreement 
and the incorporated terms. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed to be an original. An electronic signature shall be equivalent to and as binding as an original 
signature. 
 
[Other Terms] 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed and delivered effective on the date first 
above written. 
 
BOOSTER ENTERPRISES, INC. 

__________________________________ 

 CLIENT 

_________________________________ 
By:   By:  
Name:   Name:  
Title:   Title:  
Date:  Date: 

_________________________________ 
   By:  
   Name:  
   Title:  
  Date: 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 1D050EB7-21A3-4A6C-B342-7422C6E2E5EA

10/10/2024 Booster Team

here

 

Event Day

Client Care Consultant
12/11/2023

 

Volunteer Team10/18/2024

Caity Vegas

Client opted out of Booster hosting the event day.

Executive Director

Erin Feeley

Packet Page 285

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1PkqEEFvWmAJtfyDvU8jYaDbf0twY6p0o/view?usp=sharing


Classified Staff
Job Range
# 32 39 40 41 42 44 46 48 50 57 61
STEPS

1 $16.90 $17.28 $17.55 $17.71 $18.14 $19.05 $20.01 $22.18 $24.00 $26.50 $28.99
2 $17.69 $18.51 $18.60 $19.05 $20.01 $21.03 $23.31 $25.20 $27.84 $30.45
3 $18.58 $19.52 $19.52 $20.01 $21.03 $22.09 $24.50 $26.46 $29.26 $32.00
4 $19.53 $20.49 $20.49 $21.03 $22.09 $23.22 $25.73 $27.78 $30.73 $33.62
5 $20.49 $22.09 $23.22 $24.38 $27.04 $29.16 $32.30 $35.32
6 $20.49 $23.22 $24.38 $25.63 $28.41 $30.61 $33.92 $37.10

7-9 $20.49 $24.38 $25.63 $26.92 $29.84 $32.14 $35.64 $38.99
10-14 $20.49 $25.63 $26.92 $28.29 $31.35 $33.74 $37.44 $40.96
15-19 $20.49 $26.92 $28.29 $29.71 $32.94 $35.42 $39.35 $43.03
20-24 $20.49 $28.26 $29.69 $31.20 $34.58 $37.19 $41.32 $45.18
25-29 $20.49 $29.68 $31.18 $32.75 $36.32 $39.05 $43.37 $47.45

30 $20.49 $31.16 $32.74 $34.39 $38.13 $41.00 $45.54 $49.82
Effective Date 07/22
Current Staff above the equivalent of the final step will continue to receive their current hourly rate with no increase at each additional full year of service.

Salary Minimum Wage Adjusted for 1/1/2023

Range 32 Noon Duty, Child Nutrition Assistant I/FoodAide
Range 39 Office/Campus Assistant, Data Entry Clerk, Child Nutrition Assistant II 
Range 40 School Support Assistant
Range 41 Instructional Assistant
Range 42 Custodian
Range 44 Health Technician II
Range 46 Staff Secretary I; Community Liaison; Activities, Marketing, and Community Outreach Director                        
Range 48 Front Office Coordinator, Assistant Montessori Instructional Coach, Business Office Manager
Range 50 District Office Manager
Range 57 Facilities Manager
Range 61 Administrative Secretary II

* Classified Staff must work the equivalent of .75 of the position year to advance to next step
*189 employees must work 142 days or more, year round must work 195 days or more
Range 50 Effective 2/16/24



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 1 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 
2022-2023 School Accountability Report Card  
(Published During the 2023-2024 School Year) 

 
------- 

2023 School Accountability Report Card 

General Information about the School Accountability Report Card (SARC) 

SARC Overview 
 

 

By February 1 of each year, every school in California is required by state law to 
publish a School Accountability Report Card (SARC). The SARC contains 
information about the condition and performance of each California public school. 
Under the Local Control Funding Formula (LCFF) all local educational agencies 
(LEAs) are required to prepare a Local Control and Accountability Plan (LCAP), 
which describes how they intend to meet annual school-specific goals for all pupils, 
with specific activities to address state and local priorities. Additionally, data 
reported in an LCAP is to be consistent with data reported in the SARC. 
 
- For more information about SARC requirements and access to prior year 

reports, see the California Department of Education (CDE) SARC web page at 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/. 

 
- For more information about the LCFF or the LCAP, see the CDE LCFF web 

page at https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/. 
 
- For additional information about the school, parents/guardians and community 

members should contact the school principal or the district office. 
 

DataQuest 
 

 

DataQuest is an online data tool located on the CDE DataQuest web page at 
https://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/ that contains additional information about this 
school and comparisons of the school to the district and the county. Specifically, 
DataQuest is a dynamic system that provides reports for accountability (e.g., test 
data, enrollment, high school graduates, dropouts, course enrollments, staffing, 
and data regarding English learners). 
 

California School Dashboard 
 

 

The California School Dashboard (Dashboard) 
https://www.caschooldashboard.org/ reflects California’s new accountability and 
continuous improvement system and provides information about how LEAs and 
schools are meeting the needs of California’s diverse student population. The 
Dashboard contains reports that display the performance of LEAs, schools, and 
student groups on a set of state and local measures to assist in identifying 
strengths, challenges, and areas in need of improvement. 
 

Internet Access Internet access is available at public libraries and other locations that are publicly 
accessible (e.g., the California State Library). Access to the Internet at libraries and 
public locations is generally provided on a first-come, first-served basis. Other use 
restrictions may include the hours of operation, the length of time that a workstation 
may be used (depending on availability), the types of software programs available 
on a workstation, and the ability to print documents. 
 

 

2023-24 School Contact Information 

2023-24 School Contact Information 

School Name Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy  

Street 155 N. Emerald Dr.  

Packet Page 287

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/ac/sa/
https://www.cde.ca.gov/fg/aa/lc/
https://dq.cde.ca.gov/dataquest/
https://www.caschooldashboard.org/


2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 2 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

City, State, Zip Vista, CA , 92083-2112  

Phone Number (760) 621-8931  

Principal Erin Feeley  

Email Address info@bellamentecharter.org  

School Website http://www.bellamentecharter.org 

County-District-School (CDS) Code 37684520128223  
 

 
2023-24 District Contact Information 

2023-24 District Contact Information 

District Name Bella Mente Montessori Academy  

Phone Number (760) 726-2170  

Superintendent  Matt Doyle Ed.D.  

Email Address superintendentsoffice@vistausd.org  

District Website http://www.vistausd.org/ 
 

 
2023-24 School Description and Mission Statement 

2023-24 School Description and Mission Statement 

Bella Mente Montessori Academy (BMMA) was established in 2013 and offers a quality Montessori education, led by 
Montessori trained teachers in the Primary, Lower Elementary, and Upper Elementary grades. In Middle School, students 
experience a Montessori philosophy-based education experienced through project based learning. 
 
Mission 
We provide students with the opportunity to acquire an education based on a quality curriculum founded on the educational 
philosophy of Dr. Maria Montessori. 
 
Vision 
We promote an educational atmosphere that encourages cultural, linguistic and socioeconomic diversity. 
We provide an environment where children reach their full potential as independent lifelong learners with the skills, knowledge, 
and values to be compassionate members of a peaceful world. 
We prepare children to care for their bodies through healthy eating and living. 
In 2019 and 2020 (hiatus of the award in 2021), Bella Mente was proud to be recognized as one of America's Healthiest 
Schools with the Bronze Award from the Alliance for a Healthier Generation. 
In 2021, Bella Mente was recognized as a Bronze Level California Green Ribbon School for its efforts in whole school 
sustainability. 
Bella Mente is also a Leader in Me School using teaching practices to promote social and emotional learning. The practice 
teaches the 7-Habits of Highly Effective People made famous by Franklin Covey. 
Our staff sets high expectations for our students who we describe as “scholars.” 
I am a Responsible Scholar because I take ownership and am accountable for my academic and social choices. I am a 
Respectful Scholar because I speak and act with care and treat all people and things with kindness. 
I am a Safe Scholar because I am considerate and I value myself, my school, and others. 
I am a Productive Scholar because I am prepared, organized and focused on reaching my goals. As a Scholar my education is 
important to me and I strive to achieve my full potential. 
 
Bella Mente is proud to house a Garden and Nutrition program in partnership with The Sage Garden Project. The mission of 
our program is to generate a learning experience empowering a student’s effective global environmental awareness and 
education through the support of a full project based curriculum. Utilizing quality Montessori philosophies, we strive to foster 
forward thinking students prepared with 21st Century skills while enriching and nurturing the whole child. In either our garden 
classroom or with the mobile nutrition cart granted to us from the Sage Garden Project (SGP), we strive to teach the students 
at Bella Mente Montessori Academy (BMMA) an education that teaches life skills beyond the walls of our campus. Whether a 
student becomes a future farmer, turns towards a career in agriculture, becomes a scientist, the next Top Chef or most 
importantly a productive member of our society. We believe in giving an ultimate well-rounded learning experience coupled by 
curriculum from a multitude of resources. BMMA educates our students with an innovative curriculum for all the grades from tK-
8 with a direct link between garden and nutrition, environment and science, health wellness and social skills. 

Packet Page 288

http://www.bellamentecharter.org/
http://www.vistausd.org/


2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 3 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

2023-24 School Description and Mission Statement 

-------- 
 

 

About this School  
2023-24 Student Enrollment by Grade Level 

2022-23 Student Enrollment by Grade Level 

Grade Level Number of Students 

Kindergarten 56  

Grade 1 52  

Grade 2 38  

Grade 3 51  

Grade 4 46  

Grade 5 47  

Grade 6 42  

Grade 7 35  

Grade 8 31  

Total Enrollment 398  
 

 
2023-24 Student Enrollment by Student Group 

2022-23 Student Enrollment by Student Group 

Student Group Percent of Total Enrollment 

Female 48.5%  

Male 51.3%  

American Indian or Alaska Native  0.5%  

Asian  1.8%  

Black or African American  2.8%  

Filipino  1.3%  

Hispanic or Latino 60.3%  

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  0.8%  

Two or More Races  5.5%  

White  26.9%  

English Learners 15.1%  

Foster Youth 0.8%  

Homeless 5.8%  

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged 59.5%  

Students with Disabilities 16.1%  
 

 

A. Conditions of Learning (State Priority: Basic) 

Packet Page 289



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 4 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

A. Conditions of Learning State Priority: Basic 

 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Basic 
(Priority 1): 
 

• Degree to which teachers are appropriately assigned and fully credentialed in the 
subject area and for the pupils they are teaching; 

• Pupils have access to standards-aligned instructional materials; and 

• School facilities are maintained in good repair. 
 

 
2020-21 Teacher Preparation and Placement 

2020-21 Teacher Preparation and Placement 

Authorization/Assignment 
School 
Number 

School 
Percent 

District 
Number 

District 
Percent 

State 
Number 

State 
Percent 

Fully (Preliminary or Clear) Credentialed 
for Subject and Student Placement 
(properly assigned) 

22.10 86.67 920.80 87.11 228366.10 83.12 

Intern Credential Holders Properly 
Assigned 

1.00 3.92 2.00 0.19 4205.90 1.53 

Teachers Without Credentials and 
Misassignments (“ineffective” under 
ESSA) 

0.00 0.00 16.40 1.56 11216.70 4.08 

Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-
Field (“out-of-field” under ESSA)  

1.10 4.67 44.80 4.24 12115.80 4.41 

Unknown  1.10 4.67 72.90 6.90 18854.30 6.86 

Total Teaching Positions  25.50 100.00 1057.00 100.00 274759.10 100.00 

 
Note: The data in this table is based on Full Time Equivalent (FTE) status. One FTE equals one staff member working full time; 
one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. Additionally, an assignment is defined as 
a position that an educator is assigned based on setting, subject, and grade level. An authorization is defined as the services that 
an educator is authorized to provide to students. 

2021-22 Teacher Preparation and Placement 

2021-22 Teacher Preparation and Placement 

Authorization/Assignment 
School 
Number 

School 
Percent 

District 
Number 

District 
Percent 

State 
Number 

State 
Percent 

Fully (Preliminary or Clear) Credentialed 
for Subject and Student Placement 
(properly assigned) 

20.60 80.04 917.70 86.53 234405.20 84.00 

Intern Credential Holders Properly 
Assigned 

1.00 3.87 3.00 0.28 4853.00 1.74 

Teachers Without Credentials and 
Misassignments (“ineffective” under 
ESSA) 

0 0 21.10 1.99 12001.50 4.30 

Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-
Field (“out-of-field” under ESSA)  

3.20 12.38 48.20 4.55 11953.10 4.28 

Unknown  0.90 3.68 70.40 6.64 15831.90 5.67 

Total Teaching Positions  25.80 100.00 1060.50 100.00 279044.80 100.00 

 
The CDE published the first year of available teacher data for the 2020-21 SARC in June 2022, and the CDE published the 
second year of data for the 2021-22 SARC in June 2023. The EC Section 33126(b)(5) requires the most recent three years of 
teacher data to be requested in the SARC, as data is available. The teacher data for the 2022-23 SARC will not be available 
prior to February 1, 2024, and therefore is not included in the template. 
 

Packet Page 290



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 5 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Note: The data in this table is based on Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) status. One FTE equals one staff member working full time; 
one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. Additionally, an assignment is defined as 
a position that an educator is assigned based on setting, subject, and grade level. An authorization is defined as the services that 
an educator is authorized to provide to students. 

 
Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments (considered “ineffective” under ESSA) 

Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments (considered “ineffective” under ESSA) 

Authorization/Assignment 2020-21 2021-22 

Permits and Waivers  0.00 3.20 

Misassignments  0.00 0 

Vacant Positions  0.00 0.00 

Total Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments 0.00 0.00 

 
The teacher data for the 2022-23 SARC will not be available prior to February 1, 2024, and therefore is not included in the template. 

 
Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field (considered “out-of-field” under ESSA) 

Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field (considered “out-of-field” under ESSA) 

Indicator 2020-21 2021-22 

Credentialed Teachers Authorized on a Permit or Waiver 0.60 3.2 

Local Assignment Options 0.60 0.00 

Total Out-of-Field Teachers 1.10 0.00 

 
The teacher data for the 2022-23 SARC will not be available prior to February 1, 2024, and therefore is not included in the template. 

 
Class Assignments 

Class Assignments 

Indicator 2020-21 2021-22 

Misassignments for English Learners 
(a percentage of all the classes with English learners taught by teachers that are 
misassigned) 

0 0 

No credential, permit or authorization to teach 
(a percentage of all the classes taught by teachers with no record of an 
authorization to teach) 

0 0 

 
The teacher data for the 2022-23 SARC will not be available prior to February 1, 2024, and therefore is not included in the 
template. 
 
Note: For more information refer to the Updated Teacher Equity Definitions web page at 
https://www.cde.ca.gov/pd/ee/teacherequitydefinitions.asp. 

 
2023-24 Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials 

2023-24 Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials 

Year and month in which the data were collected January 2024 

 

Subject 
Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials/year of 

Adoption 

From 
Most 

Recent 

Percent 
Students 

Lacking Own 

Packet Page 291

https://www.cde.ca.gov/pd/ee/teacherequitydefinitions.asp


2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 6 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Adoption
? 

Assigned 
Copy 

Reading/Language Arts Bella Mente Montessori Academy curriculum and materials 
used are aligned with CA State and 
Common Core standards. The school uses state adopted 
textbooks to complement Montessori 
materials. 
 
Montessori Language Arts Curriculum Waseca Reading 
Program, Recipe for Reading, 
Lexia Core5 Reading, Lexia PowerUp, 
Scholastic Leveled Readers, StudySync, Study Island 
  

Yes 0% 

Mathematics Bella Mente Montessori Academy curriculum and materials 
used are aligned with CA State and 
Common Core standards. The school uses state adopted 
textbooks to complement Montessori 
materials. 
 
McGraw Hill Reveal Math, Montessori Math curriculum 
Study Island 
ALEKS 
  

Yes 0% 

Science Bella Mente Montessori Academy curriculum and materials 
used are aligned with CA State and 
Common Core standards. The school uses state adopted 
textbooks to complement Montessori 
materials. 
 
Science Explorer-Prentice Hall California Inspire Science-
McGraw Hill, TCI for grades 6-8 
  

Yes 0% 

History-Social Science Bella Mente Montessori Academy curriculum and materials 
used are aligned with CA State and 
Common Core standards. The school uses state adopted 
textbooks to complement Montessori 
materials. 
 
Studies Weekly SS Impact California, TCI for grades 7-8 
  

Yes 0% 

Foreign Language Students in grades 7 and 8 have the option of enrolling in a 
foreign language elective with instruction through an online, 
interactive platform.  

Yes 0% 

 

 
School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements 

School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements 

The most recently collected Facility Inspection Tool was completed on . The overall condition of the campus is good. The 
campus is a mixture of original construction consisting of the one-story administrative and multiple use building, a complete 
redesign and remodel of the original two story building in the summer of 2014 as well as a new addition completed in the spring 
of 2016.  

 

Year and month of the most recent FIT report September 2023 
 

System Inspected 
Rate 
Good 

Rate 
Fair 

Rate 
Poor 

Repair Needed and Action Taken or Planned 

Systems: 
Gas Leaks, Mechanical/HVAC, Sewer  

X    

Packet Page 292



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 7 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements 

Interior: 
Interior Surfaces 

X    

Cleanliness: 
Overall Cleanliness, Pest/Vermin Infestation 

X    

Electrical X    

Restrooms/Fountains: 
Restrooms, Sinks/ Fountains 

X    

Safety: 
Fire Safety, Hazardous Materials 

X    

Structural: 
Structural Damage, Roofs 

X   roof membrane compromised at parapet wall. Roofer 
contacted for repairs 

External: 
Playground/School Grounds, Windows/ 
Doors/Gates/Fences 

X    

 

 
Overall Facility Rate 

Overall Facility Rate 

Exemplary Good Fair Poor 

X        
 

 

B. Pupil Outcomes (State Priority: Pupil Achievement) 

B. Pupil Outcomes State Priority: Pupil Achievement 

 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Pupil Achievement 
(Priority 4): 
 
Statewide Assessments 
(i.e., California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress [CAASPP] System 
includes the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments for students in the general 
education population and the California Alternate Assessments [CAAs] for English language 
arts/literacy [ELA] and mathematics given in grades three through eight and grade eleven. 
Only eligible students may participate in the administration of the CAAs. CAAs items are 
aligned with alternate achievement standards, which are linked with the Common Core State 
Standards [CCSS] for students with the most significant cognitive disabilities). 
 
The CAASPP System encompasses the following assessments and student participation 
requirements: 
 
1. Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments and CAAs for ELA in grades three 

through eight and grade eleven. 
2. Smarter Balanced Summative Assessments and CAAs for mathematics in grades 

three through eight and grade eleven. 
3. California Science Test (CAST) and CAAs for Science in grades five, eight, and once 

in high school (i.e., grade ten, eleven, or twelve). 
 
College and Career Ready 
The percentage of students who have successfully completed courses that satisfy the 
requirements for entrance to the University of California and the California State University, 
or career technical education sequences or programs of study. 
 

 
Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard on CAASPP 

Packet Page 293



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 8 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard on CAASPP 

This table displays CAASPP test results in ELA and mathematics for all students grades three through eight and grade eleven 
taking and completing a state-administered assessment. 
 
Percentages are not calculated when the number of students tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this 
category is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
ELA and mathematics test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the CAA. The “Percent Met or 
Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced 
Summative Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved Level 3-Alternate) on the CAAs 
divided by the total number of students who participated in both assessments. 

Subject 
School 
2021-22 

School 
2022-23 

District 
2021-22 

District 
2022-23 

State 
2021-22 

State 
2022-23 

English Language Arts/Literacy 
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

39 41 43 43 47 46 

Mathematics 
(grades 3-8 and 11) 

23 25 28 31 33 34 

 

 
2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in ELA by student group for students grades three through eight and grade eleven taking 
and completing a state-administered assessment. 
 
ELA test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated 
by taking the total number of students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment plus 
the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved Level 3-Alternate) on the CAAs divided by the total number of 
students who participated in both assessments. 
 
Double dashes (--) appear in the table when the number of students is ten or less, either because the number of students in this 
category is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test whether they received a score or not; however, 
the number of students tested is not the number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement 
level percentages are calculated using only students who received scores. 

CAASPP 
Student Groups 

CAASPP 
Total  

Enrollment 

CAASPP 
Number  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent 

Not Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students  242 241 99.59 0.41 41.08 

Female  124 123 99.19 0.81 43.90 

Male  118 118 100.00 0.00 38.14 

American Indian or Alaska Native  -- -- -- -- -- 

Asian  -- -- -- -- -- 

Black or African American  -- -- -- -- -- 

Filipino  -- -- -- -- -- 

Hispanic or Latino  145 144 99.31 0.69 31.94 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  -- -- -- -- -- 

Two or More Races  12 12 100.00 0.00 33.33 

White  63 63 100.00 0.00 61.90 

English Learners  29 29 100.00 0.00 6.90 

Packet Page 294



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 9 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Foster Youth  -- -- -- -- -- 

Homeless  -- -- -- -- -- 

Military  0 0 0 0 0 

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  126 125 99.21 0.79 35.20 

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services  0 0 0 0 0 

Students with Disabilities  51 51 100.00 0.00 21.57 
 

 
2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group 

2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in Math by student group for students grades three through eight and grade eleven taking 
and completing a state-administered assessment. 
 
Mathematics test results include the Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is 
calculated by taking the total number of students who met or exceeded the standard on the Smarter Balanced Summative 
Assessment plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved Level 3-Alternate) on the CAAs divided by the 
total number of students who participated in both assessments. 
 
Double dashes (--) appear in the table when the number of students is ten or less, either because the number of students in this 
category is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 
 
The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test whether they received a score or not; however, 
the number of students tested is not the number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement 
level percentages are calculated using only students who received scores. 

CAASPP 
Student Groups 

CAASPP 
Total  

Enrollment 

CAASPP 
Number  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent 

Not Tested 

CAASPP 
Percent  
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students  242 240 99.17 0.83 24.58 

Female  124 122 98.39 1.61 21.31 

Male  118 118 100.00 0.00 27.97 

American Indian or Alaska Native  -- -- -- -- -- 

Asian  -- -- -- -- -- 

Black or African American  -- -- -- -- -- 

Filipino  -- -- -- -- -- 

Hispanic or Latino  145 144 99.31 0.69 18.06 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  -- -- -- -- -- 

Two or More Races  12 11 91.67 8.33 27.27 

White  63 63 100.00 0.00 36.51 

English Learners  29 29 100.00 0.00 6.90 

Foster Youth  -- -- -- -- -- 

Homeless  -- -- -- -- -- 

Military  0 0 0 0 0 

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  126 125 99.21 0.79 16.00 

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services  0 0 0 0 0 

Students with Disabilities  51 51 100.00 0.00 13.73 
 

 

Packet Page 295



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 10 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students 

CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students 

This table displays the percentage of all students grades five, eight, and High School meeting or exceeding the State Standard. 
 
Science test results include the CAST and the CAA. The “Percent Met or Exceeded” is calculated by taking the total number of 
students who met or exceeded the standard on the CAST plus the total number of students who met the standard (i.e., achieved 
Level 3-Alternate) on the CAAs divided by the total number of students who participated in both assessments. 
 
The number of students tested includes all students who participated in the test whether they received a score or not; however, 
the number of students tested is not the number that was used to calculate the achievement level percentages. The achievement 
level percentages are calculated using only students who received scores. 
 

Subject 
School 
2021-22 

School 
2022-23 

District 
2021-22 

District 
2022-23 

State 
2021-22 

State 
2022-23 

Science  
(grades 5, 8 and high school) 

32.79 21.62 27.48 29.14 29.47 30.29 

 

 
2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group 

2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group 

This table displays CAASPP test results in Science by student group for students grades five, eight, and High School. Double 
dashes (--) appear in the table when the number of students is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category 
is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student privacy. 

Student Group 
Total  

Enrollment 
Number  
Tested 

Percent  
Tested 

Percent 
Not Tested 

Percent 
Met or 

Exceeded 

All Students  75 74 98.67 1.33 21.62 

Female  37 36 97.30 2.70 19.44 

Male  38 38 100.00 0.00 23.68 

American Indian or Alaska Native  0 0 0 0 0 

Asian  -- -- -- -- -- 

Black or African American  -- -- -- -- -- 

Filipino  -- -- -- -- -- 

Hispanic or Latino  48 47 97.92 2.08 12.77 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  0 0 0 0 0 

Two or More Races  -- -- -- -- -- 

White  16 16 100.00 0.00 43.75 

English Learners  -- -- -- -- -- 

Foster Youth  0 0 0 0 0 

Homeless  0 0 0 0 0 

Military  0 0 0 0 0 

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  40 39 97.50 2.50 7.69 

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services  0 0 0 0 0 

Students with Disabilities  15 15 100.00 0.00 6.67 
 

 

Packet Page 296



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 11 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

B. Pupil Outcomes State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Other Pupil 
Outcomes (Priority 8): Pupil outcomes in the subject area of physical education. 
 

B. Pupil Outcomes (State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes) 
2022-23 California Physical Fitness Test Results 

2022-23 California Physical Fitness Test Results 

This table displays the percentage of students participating in each of the five fitness components of the California Physical Fitness 
Test Results. The administration of the PFT during 2021-22 and 2022-23 school years, only participation results are required for 
these five fitness areas. Percentages are not calculated and double dashes (--) appear in the table when the number of students 
tested is ten or less, either because the number of students in this category is too small for statistical accuracy or to protect student 
privacy. 

Grade Level 
Component 1: 

Aerobic Capacity 

Component 2: 
Abdominal 

Strength and 
Endurance 

Component 3: 
Trunk Extensor 

and Strength and 
Flexibility 

Component 4: 
Upper Body 
Strength and 
Endurance 

Component 5: 
Flexibility 

Grade 5 96 96 96 96 96 

Grade 7 97 97 97 97 97 
 

 

C. Engagement (State Priority: Parental Involvement) 

C. Engagement State Priority: Parental Involvement 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: Parental 
Involvement (Priority 3): Efforts the school district makes to seek parent input in making 
decisions regarding the school district and at each school site. 
 

 
2023-24 Opportunities for Parental Involvement 

2023-24 Opportunities for Parental Involvement 

During this year, families have been invited to Dine Out events off campus at Panda Express and Chipotle, among many other 
venues. We offer monthly nighttime events, such as game nights and movie nights as well. At our annual Winter Spectacular 
event which is held onsite, families are invited to volunteer their time helping their child's teacher. The Garden Program has 
invited families to volunteer in the school garden area as well. Families also walked in the City of Vista's annual Christmas 
Parade and can participate in the annual Strawberry Festival. We host Coffee Mingles once per month for families to join the 
Leadership Team to engage in dialogue about the school and to address any concerns they may have. Parents are involved in 
our DELAC meetings and the school offers 6 minimum days throughout the year for parent conferences to discuss student 
academic achievement. We also encourage our families to become volunteers and welcome them to visit the classroom to see 
the amazing things our teachers and students are doing. 
 
Families interested in participating in school related activities can contact our Community Liaison, Macarena Davis, at 
mdavis@bellamentecharter.org or our Activities, Marketing and Community Outreach Director, Anthony Beaver, at 
abeaver@bellamentecharter.org for more information. 
-------- 

 

 
2022-23 Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group 

2022-23 Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group 

Student Group 
Cumulative 
Enrollment 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Eligible Enrollment 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Count 

Chronic 
Absenteeism 

Rate 

All Students  447 427 142 33.3 

Female  215 206 60 29.1 

Packet Page 297



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 12 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Male  231 220 82 37.3 

Non-Binary 1 1 0 0.0 

American Indian or Alaska Native  2 2 1 50.0 

Asian  9 7 0 0.0 

Black or African American  13 12 2 16.7 

Filipino  5 5 1 20.0 

Hispanic or Latino  270 255 90 35.3 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander  4 3 0 0.0 

Two or More Races  25 24 8 33.3 

White  118 118 40 33.9 

English Learners  69 66 18 27.3 

Foster Youth  4 4 1 25.0 

Homeless  26 25 14 56.0 

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  296 284 110 38.7 

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services  0 0 0 0.0 

Students with Disabilities  84 82 36 43.9 
 

 

C. Engagement (State Priority: School Climate) 

C. Engagement State Priority: School Climate 
 
The SARC provides the following information relevant to the State priority: School 
Climate (Priority 6): 
 

• Pupil suspension rates; 

• Pupil expulsion rates; and 

• Other local measures on the sense of safety 
 

 
Suspensions and Expulsions 

Suspensions and Expulsions 

 
This table displays suspensions and expulsions data. 

Rate 
School 
2020-21 

School 
2021-22 

School 
2022-23 

District 
2020-21 

District 
2021-22 

District 
2022-23 

State 
2020-21 

State 
2021-22 

State 
2022-23 

Suspensions 0.00 1.05 0.45 1.26 4.93 4.73 0.20 3.17 3.60 

Expulsions 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.01 0.05 0.07 0.00 0.07 0.08 
 

 
2022-23 Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group 

2022-23 Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group 

Student Group Suspensions Rate Expulsions Rate 

All Students  0.45 0 

Female  0.47 0 

Male  0.43 0 

Non-Binary    

Packet Page 298



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 13 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

American Indian or Alaska Native  0 0 

Asian  0 0 

Black or African American  0 0 

Filipino  0 0 

Hispanic or Latino  0.74 0 

Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander 0 0 

Two or More Races  0 0 

White  0 0 

English Learners  0 0 

Foster Youth  0 0 

Homeless  0 0 

Socioeconomically Disadvantaged  0.68 0 

Students Receiving Migrant Education Services  0 0 

Students with Disabilities  2.38 0 
 

 
2023-24 School Safety Plan 

2023-24 School Safety Plan 

Bella Mente believes student safety is one of our top priorities. Our LEA works with Campus Safety Alliance, an emergency 
management consulting firm, to provide an annual review of our Comprehensive School Safety Plan, meet with stakeholders, 
and provide training on all aspects of the plan. 
 
The 2023-2024 Comprehensive School Safety Plan was completed by the safety committee on February 6, 2023 and later 
presented to the Board of Directors and approved in open session at the February 13, 2024 Board of Directors meeting. 
 
The Comprehensive School Safety Plan contains all required elements. Some of these crucial elements include identification 
and support of students with mental health concerns, threat assessment procedures, mental health crisis intervention, tactical 
information, and incident command procedures. 
-------- 

 

 

D. Other SARC Information (Information Required in the SARC) 

D. Other SARC Information Information Required in the SARC 
 
The information in this section is required to be in the SARC but is not included in the 
state priorities for LCFF. 
 

 
2020-21 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2020-21 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

Packet Page 299



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 14 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

This table displays the 2020-21 average class size and class size distribution. The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class). The “Other” category is for multi-grade level 
classes. 

Grade Level 
Average  

Class Size 
Number of Classes with  

1-20 Students 
Number of Classes with  

21-32 Students 
Number of Classes with  

33+ Students 

K  25 0 3 0 

1  22 0 8 0 

2  22 0 8 0 

3  22 0 8 0 

4  23 0 6 0 

5  23 0 6 0 

6  23 0 6 0 

Other  25 0 3 0 
 

 
2021-22 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2021-22 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2021-22 average class size and class size distribution. The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class). The “Other” category is for multi-grade level 
classes. 

Grade Level 
Average 

Class Size 
Number of Classes with  

1-20 Students 
Number of Classes with  

21-32 Students 
Number of Classes with  

33+ Students 

K  27 0 3 0 

1  24 0 6 0 

2  24 0 6 0 

3  24 0 6 0 

4  20 6 0 0 

5  20 6 0 0 

6  20 6 0 0 

Other  17 4 0 0 
 

 
2022-23 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

2022-23 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution 

This table displays the 2022-23 average class size and class size distribution. The columns titled “Number of Classes” indicates 
how many classes fall into each size category (a range of total students per class). The “Other” category is for multi-grade level 
classes. 

Grade Level 
Average  

Class Size 
Number of Classes with  

1-20 Students 
Number of Classes with  

21-32 Students 
Number of Classes with  

33+ Students 

K  14 4 0 0 

1  0 0 0 0 

2  0 0 0 0 

3  0 0 0 0 

4  0 0 0 0 

5  0 0 0 0 

6  0 0 0 0 

Other  24 1 11 0 
 

Packet Page 300



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 15 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

 
2022-23 Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor 

2022-23 Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor 

This table displays the ratio of pupils to Academic Counselor. One Full Time Equivalent (FTE) equals one staff member working 
full time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. 

Title Ratio 

Pupils to Academic Counselor 398 
 

 
2022-23 Student Support Services Staff 

2022-23 Student Support Services Staff 

This table displays the number of FTE support staff assigned to this school. One Full Time Equivalent (FTE) equals one staff 
member working full time; one FTE could also represent two staff members who each work 50 percent of full time. 

Title Number of FTE Assigned to School 

Counselor (Academic, Social/Behavioral or Career Development) 1 

Library Media Teacher (Librarian)  

Library Media Services Staff (Paraprofessional) .5 

Psychologist 1 

Social Worker 1 

Nurse  .5 

Speech/Language/Hearing Specialist 1 

Resource Specialist (non-teaching)  

Other  2 
 

 
 
2021-22 Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries 

Fiscal Year 2021-22 Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries 

This table displays the 2021-22 expenditures per pupil and average teacher salary for this school. Cells with N/A values do not 
require data. 

Level 
Total 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Restricted) 

Expenditures 
Per Pupil 

(Unrestricted) 

Average 
Teacher 
Salary 

School Site $13502.30 $4095.76 $9406.54 $52097.00 

District N/A N/A   

Percent Difference - School Site and District N/A N/A   

State N/A N/A $7,607 $90,632 

Percent Difference - School Site and State N/A N/A   
 

 
2022-23 Types of Services Funded 

Fiscal Year 2022-23 Types of Services Funded 

In striving to meet the needs of a diverse student body, BMA provides a wide variety of programs. LCFF funds and mandated 
block grant funds are utilized to increase student achievement and provide a supportive environment. Services provided 
include but are not limited to: all academic programs, technology, professional growth, BTSA/Induction, English Learner 
Program, Special Education Program, and curriculum development and alignment. English Learner Program: BMA meets all 
applicable legal requirements for English Learners as it pertains to annual notification to parents, student identification, 

Packet Page 301



2023 School Accountability Report Card Page 16 of 16 Bella Mente Montessori Charter Academy 

Fiscal Year 2022-23 Types of Services Funded 

placement program options, English Learners and core content instruction, teacher qualifications and training, reclassification 
to fluent English proficient status, monitoring and evaluating program effectiveness, and standardized testing requirements. All 
teachers of English learners are certified in Cross-cultural and Academic Development (CLAD) or comparable authorization. 
BMA teachers are trained to use Specially Designed Academic Instruction in English 
 
(SDAIE) techniques to meet the needs of English Language Learners: The instructional design model used by BMA places a 
heavy emphasis on differentiating instruction to meet the needs of English Learners based on their academic and language 
readiness. Through a well-defined professional development program, teachers are trained on a variety of instructional 
strategies to be used specifically with English Language Learners. Strategies used include, but are not limited to, the use of 
specific English Language Development (ELD) curriculum, Guided Language Acquisition Design (GLAD) strategies, and 
thematic planning and cross curricular integration. Special Education Program: BMA complies with all applicable State and 
Federal Laws in serving students with disabilities, including but not limited to, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act (Section 
504), the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Improvement Act (IDEIA). 
BMA is categorized as a “public school” within the Vista Unified School District in conformity with Education Code Section 
47641(b). BMA complies with membership and contractual agreement with the El Dorado Special Education Local Plan Area 
(SELPA). The charter school complies with all state and federal laws that are related to the provisions of Special Education 
instruction and related services, all SELPA policies and procedures, and utilizes appropriate SELPA forms. Students with mild 
to severe learning differences are evaluated for appropriate placement and services through the Individual Education Plan 
(IEP) process. BMA provides Special Education services based on the IEP. Services cover, but are not limited to, Resources 
Specialist services, speech therapy, occupational and physical therapy, vision therapy, assisted physical education, 
psychological services and counseling, and behavioral interventions. 
-------- 

 

 
2021-22 Teacher and Administrative Salaries 

Fiscal Year 2021-22 Teacher and Administrative Salaries 

This table displays the 2021-22 Teacher and Administrative salaries. For detailed information on salaries, see the CDE 
Certification Salaries & Benefits web page at http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/. 

Category 
District 
Amount 

State Average 
for Districts 

in Same Category 

Beginning Teacher Salary $53,940 $55,550 

Mid-Range Teacher Salary $61,277 $84,645 

Highest Teacher Salary $95,744 $111,284 

Average Principal Salary (Elementary)  $139,860 

Average Principal Salary (Middle)  $146,440 

Average Principal Salary (High)  $158,447 

Superintendent Salary  $278,268 

Percent of Budget for Teacher Salaries 35.71% 32.21% 

Percent of Budget for Administrative Salaries 4.17% 4.89% 
 

 
Professional Development 

Professional Development 

This table displays the number of school days dedicated to staff development and continuous improvement. 

Subject 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 

Number of school days dedicated to Staff Development and Continuous Improvement 12 12 11 
 

 

Packet Page 302

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/fd/cs/


Packet Page 303



Packet Page 304



Packet Page 305



Packet Page 306



Packet Page 307



Packet Page 308



Packet Page 309



Packet Page 310



Packet Page 311



Packet Page 312



Packet Page 313



Packet Page 314



Packet Page 315



Packet Page 316



Packet Page 317



Packet Page 318



Packet Page 319



Packet Page 320



Packet Page 321



Packet Page 322



Packet Page 323



Packet Page 324



Packet Page 325



Packet Page 326



Packet Page 327



Packet Page 328



Packet Page 329



Packet Page 330



Packet Page 331



Packet Page 332



Packet Page 333



Packet Page 334



Packet Page 335



Packet Page 336



Packet Page 337



Packet Page 338



Packet Page 339



Packet Page 340



Packet Page 341



Packet Page 342



Packet Page 343



Packet Page 344



Packet Page 345



Packet Page 346



Packet Page 347



Packet Page 348



Packet Page 349



Packet Page 350



Packet Page 351



Packet Page 352



Packet Page 353



Packet Page 354



Packet Page 355



Packet Page 356



Packet Page 357



Packet Page 358



Packet Page 359



Packet Page 360



Packet Page 361



Packet Page 362



Packet Page 363



Packet Page 364



Packet Page 365



Packet Page 366



Packet Page 367



Packet Page 368



Packet Page 369



Packet Page 370



Packet Page 371



Packet Page 372



Packet Page 373



Packet Page 374



Packet Page 375



Packet Page 376



Packet Page 377



Packet Page 378



Packet Page 379



Packet Page 380



Packet Page 381



Packet Page 382



Employment Changes as of February 13, 2024

New Hires Full Time: Business Office Manager
New Hires Part Time: Instructional Assistant (5)

Release: Instructional Assistant (4)
Classroom Teacher (1)

Open Positions for 23-24:

Classified Positions:

Part Time: Campus Assistant

Full Time: Instructional Assistant (FT)

Certificated Positions:

Part Time: None

Full Time: Classroom Teacher (1)
Education Specialist (Mod/Severe) (1)

Packet Page 383



PRIVATE PROPERTY IMPOUND SERVICE AGREEMENT
PHONE:760-722-6686  WEBSITE:SRTOW.COM

Date:______  / ______ / ______

This Agreement is between _____________________________ and S&R Towing INC., for the property located
at,_____________________________________________. This Agreement will be valid for the term of one year
as of the date listed above or until either party decides to cancel. By Signing Agreement  below you acknowledge
that you are the property owner or the property manager, and you have the right to make decisions regarding this
property.

Towing vehicles from above property to S&R storage facility for the purpose of enforcing legal parking
regulations, as directed by the authorized representative, will only happen if : Representative will agree to be
present at the time of tow, state legal reason for tow, and identify themselves at time of pickup. This includes but is
not limited to name, title, phone number, and government ID to be filled out on the "Private Property Impound
Authorization" form (hereafter referred to as “PPI auth”). Refusal to do so will result in a cancellation of the tow and
fees will incur. All authorized representatives must be added to page 2 of this contract.

Property Owner/Property Manager agrees to verify parking violation, verify that the vehicle has been parked for
longer than 1 (one) hour and provide written authorization to S&R Towing for all non-safety related tows prior to
S&R Towing’s commencement of removal. The one hour parking requirement shall not apply to tows from parking
spaces legally designated for disabled persons. Property manager agrees to state the ground(s) for removal/tow of
the vehicle if requested by the legal or registered owner of that vehicle. Cancellation of service (per tow) may result
in a cancellation fee, ranging from $75-$125 to be determined at time of cancellation . vehicles may be subject to a
Disposal fee of up to $2,500.00 per vehicle to be paid by property manager at time of removal. Disposal fee is
dependent on condition and size of vehicle to be removed.

Tow signs that meet the requirement of California Vehicle Code 22658 Article One sub paragraph (1) Must be
displayed at all entrances to the property, a sign not less than 17 inches by 22 inches in size. With lettering not less
than one inch in height,prohibiting public parking and indicating that vehicles will be removed at owner’s expense,
and containing the telephone number of the local traffic law enforcement agency and the name and telephone
number of each towing company that is a party to a written general towing authorization agreement with the owner
or person in lawful possession of the property. The sign may also indicate that a citation may be issued for the
violation. Property manager agrees to promptly notify S&R Towing if any signs posted at all entrances to the facility
are defaced, illegible, or missing. Property Manager agrees to pay $75 with installation, $50 without installation per
sign to be posted, paid to the order of S&R Towing. Replacement signs are also $75 with installation, $50 without
installation. Any person or entity improperly causing a vehicle/Vessel to be towed,removed or stored is liable to the
vehicle/vessel owner for the costs of the services provided; any damages resulting from the removal,towing and
storage of the vehicle/vessel;and attorney’s fees and court costs.

(C.V.C 22658 & 22953)

1
Packet Page 384



Please fill out the following with the person(s) you wish to have the right to meet us at the time of tow to sign ”PPI
Auth '' and give authorization to us to remove vehicles/Vessels. If a person needs to be added or removed from
the list of employees for this property, you must submit a new Page 2 with the corrected information.

Name Title Phone Number

S&R Towing Inc. does not provide any type of “watching” or “patrolling” service to monitor for unauthorized
vehicles. This is solely the responsibility of the property owner/property manager and/or its authorized agents. We
will only respond to calls that come into our offices/Dispatch center.

This agreement may be canceled/terminated by either party with thirty (30) days written notice to the other party,
sent by registered mail. Notice to S&R Towing shall be sent to: 1060 Airport Rd. Oceanside, Ca 92058.

By signing you agree to all the terms and conditions above.

Property Manager

Print Name: ____________________ Phone: _______________________________

Email: __________________________________________________

Signature: __________________________________ Title: _____________________

S&R Towing

Print Name: ____________________ Phone: _______________________________

Email: __________________________________________________

Signature: __________________________________ Title: _____________________

(C.V.C 22658 & 22953)

2
Packet Page 385



February 14, 2024 
 
Dan Berry 
Director, Insurance and Member Services 
CharterSafe JPA 
PO Box 969, Weimar, CA 95736 
Direct Number: (916) 880-3469 
Main Number: (888) 901-0004 x11 
Fax: (916) 880-3469 
Email: dberry@CharterSAFE.org 
 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
Please accept this letter as a formal notification that Bella Mente Montessori Academy intends 
to explore their options for insurance coverage, and may exit the CharterSAFE California 
Charter Schools Joint Powers Authority effective school year 2024-2025. 
 
In order to ensure that Bella Mente Montessori Academy is best equipped to meet the needs of 
its students and staff, it is considering alternative insurance coverage opportunities.  Resolution 
2024-1 was brought in front of the Board of Directors at its Board of Directors meeting on 
February 13, 2024. 
 
It also remains open to formulating revised agreements with CharterSAFE JPA and welcomes 
any related correspondence. If Bella Mente Montessori Academy finds that it does not make 
sense to exit the JPA at this time, it retains the right to rescind this notification and remain with 
the CharterSafe JPA for the 2024-2025 school year. 
 
Please let me know if you require any further information. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Erin Feeley, Executive Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Packet Page 386



RESOLUTION NO. 24-1  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR BELLA MENTE 
MONTESSORI ACADEMY WITHDRAWAL FROM CHARTERSAFE JOINT POWERS 

AUTHORITY 
 
 

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Bella Mente Montessori Academy (“BMMA”), a tax exempt, 
California nonprofit public benefit corporation operating public charter schools, does hereby adopt the 
following resolution pursuant to the provisions of Title 1, Division 7, Chapter 5, Articles 1 through 4, 
(Section 6500, et seq.) of the California Government Code, relating to joint exercise of powers, between 
and among California charter schools, school districts, and other government entities which operate 
public schools: 
 
WHEREAS, BMMA is a member of CharterSAFE, a pooled self-insurance program for elective members 
and maintains insurance through CharterSAFE; and 
 
WHEREAS, CharterSAFE has provided a good level of service to BMMA, however, it is in BMMA’s 
best interest to compare prices and offerings from other insurance providers to see if we can obtain more 
attractive prices and services based on the strength of our organization today; and 
 
WHEREAS, CharterSAFE requires that its members pass a Board Resolution prior to notifying its intent 
to withdraw from their self-insurance program. This is merely a notice that BMMA intends to explore 
alternative insurance providers and does not preclude us from continuing to obtain our insurance from 
CharterSAFE; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Executive Director is hereby authorized to execute any and all documents as necessary to 
carry out the purposes of this resolution. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Board of Directors hereby adopts the foregoing 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Executive Director hereby is authorized to certify this resolution. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Board of Directors has adopted the above resolution at a Regular Board 
meeting this 13th of February, 2024. 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Erin Feeley, Executive Director 

Packet Page 387



BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S CERTIFICATE 

I, Scott Moote, President of the Board of Directors of Bella Mente Charter School, a 
California nonprofit public benefit corporation, County of San Diego, California, hereby certify as 
follows: 

The attached is a full, true, and correct copy of the resolution duly adopted at a regular 
meeting of the Board of Directors of Bella Mente Charter School, which was duly and regularly 
held on the 13th day of February, 2024, at which meeting a quorum of the members of the Board 
of Directors was present; and at such meeting such resolutions were adopted by the following vote: 

AYES:  

NOES:  

ABSTAIN:  

ABSENT:  

I have carefully compared the same with the original minutes of such meeting on file and 
of record in my office; the attached resolution is a full, true, and correct copy of the original 
resolution adopted at such meeting and entered in such minutes; and such resolution has not been 
amended, modified, or rescinded since the date of its adoption, and the same is now in full force 
and effect. 

WITNESS my hand this 13th day of February, 2024. 

 

______________________________________ 
President, Bella Mente Charter School 

 

Packet Page 388



Prepared for: Bella Mente School

Financials through Dec 31, 2023

Prepared by School's CSMC SBM - Janina Arruda

Monthly Financial Board 
Report

Packet Page 389



Actual to Budget:

This report is as of Dec 31, 2023, compared against our last board-approved budget at 1st Interim, based on 409 students enrolled and 385.69 ADA.

YTD Revenues through Dec 31, 2023, are $2,746,096 or -3.8% under our current budget.

YTD Expenses through Dec 31, 2023, are $3,813,368or .5% under our current budget.

Therefore, net income is ($1,067,272) or 9.4% under our current budget.

Financial Summary

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:38 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 390



Revenue Summary

Actual  $2,746,096

Budget  $2,855,933

Actual to Budget  -3.8 %

Expense Summary

Actual $3,813,368

Budget $3,831,624

Actual to Budget -0.5 %

Financial Snapshot

Cash Balance

$8,615,489
FY 2023-2024, July - December

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:38 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 391



July - Last Closed 2023-2024

Account Description Actual Budget Variance $ Total Budget Actual to Total Budget 
% Remaining Budget

LCFF Revenue $1,915,791 $1,992,367 ($76,575) $4,714,596 40.6 % $2,798,805

Federal Revenue $11,137 $37,528 ($26,391) $642,111 1.7 % $630,974

State Revenue $549,176 $657,670 ($108,495) $1,782,510 30.8 % $1,233,334

Local Revenue $269,992 $168,368 $101,624 $168,368 160.4 % ($101,624)

Total Revenue $2,746,096 $2,855,933 ($109,837) $7,307,584 37.6 % $4,561,488

FY 2023-2024, July - December

Certificated Salaries $1,122,609 $1,151,943 $29,334 $2,434,444 46.1 % $1,311,835

Classified Salaries $475,215 $508,738 $33,522 $1,117,555 42.5 % $642,339

Benefits $391,243 $400,647 $9,404 $674,625 58.0 % $283,382

Total Personnel Expenses $1,989,068 $2,061,328 $72,261 $4,226,624 47.1 % $2,237,556

Books and Supplies $207,827 $190,685 ($17,142) $449,153 46.3 % $241,326

Services $1,071,561 $1,088,440 $16,879 $1,970,135 54.4 % $898,574

Capital Outlay $200,651 $198,830 ($1,821) $397,633 50.5 % $196,982

Other Outgo $344,261 $292,341 ($51,920) $840,444 41.0 % $496,183

Total Operational Expenses $1,824,300 $1,770,296 ($54,004) $3,657,366 49.9 % $1,833,065

Total Expenses $3,813,368 $3,831,624 $18,256 $7,883,990 48.4 % $4,070,621

Net Income ($1,067,272) ($975,692) ($91,581) ($576,405) 185.2 % $490,867

Revenue
$2,746,096

Expenses
$3,813,368

Surplus / (Deficit)
($1,067,272)

This report displays all actual 
and budgeted revenue and 
expenditures by object code 
series and by month. This report 
can be useful in ensuring you 
receive your revenue in a timely 
manner and that you stay within 
the board approved expenditure 
levels.

Actual to Budget Summary

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:38 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 392



Cash Amount Actual or Projected

July 2022 $7,423,622.21 Actual

August 2022 $8,093,829.13 Actual

September 2022 $8,141,183.70 Actual

October 2022 $8,221,769.64 Actual

November 2022 $8,353,102.65 Actual

December 2022 $8,406,688.19 Actual

January 2023 $8,358,740.60 Actual

February 2023 $8,048,769.63 Actual

March 2023 $8,321,007.24 Actual

April 2023 $9,909,623.93 Actual

May 2023 $9,748,489.64 Actual

June 2023 $9,482,716.51 Actual

Cash Amount Actual or Projected

July 2023 $9,571,108.17 Actual

August 2023 $9,166,910.71 Actual

September 2023 $8,604,138.47 Actual

October 2023 $8,779,880.45 Actual

November 2023 $8,790,125.38 Actual

December 2023 $8,615,489.34 Actual

January 2024 $8,817,677.00 Projected

February 2024 $8,791,691.00 Projected

March 2024 $8,905,550.00 Projected

April 2024 $9,113,163.00 Projected

May 2024 $9,048,867.00 Projected

June 2024 $9,209,317.00 Projected

Monthly Cash Balance Over Time

Current fiscal year and prior year

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:39 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 393



Assets

Current Assets

Accounts Receivable $289,816

Cash and Cash Equivalents $8,615,489

Prepaid Expenses $13,837

Total Current Assets $8,919,142

Fixed Assets

Accumulated Depreciation ($2,204,076)

Fixed Assets $15,270,374

Total Fixed Assets $13,066,299

Other Assets

Total Other Assets $0

Total Assets $21,985,441

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable $43,103

Accrued Liabilities $135,116

Other Short Term Liability $1,630,253

Total Current Liabilities $1,808,472

Long Term Liabilities

Other Liabilities $13,967,569

Total Long Term Liabilities $13,967,569

Total Liabilities $15,776,041

Net Increase/(Decrease in Net Assets)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets ($1,067,272)

Total Net Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets ($1,067,272)

Total Net Assets

Total Net Assets $6,209,400

Total Net Assets $6,209,400

Ending Net Assets

Ending Net Assets $7,276,672

Total Ending Net Assets $7,276,672

Total Liabilities and Net Assets $21,985,441

The balance sheet displays 
all of the school’s assets 
and the school’s 
obligations (‘liabilities’) at a 
particular point in time. It is 
a useful way to ensure the 
school has enough money 
to pay off its debts. 

Liquidity Ratio

4.9

Balance Sheet Summary FY 2023-2024 -December

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:39 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 394



Current Ratio (Liquidity)

Ability to pay short-term obligations

Current: Target:

5.2 > 1.0

Formula:
(Current Assets) / (Current Liabilities)

Cash Ratio

Ability to meet short-term obligations with cash

Current: Target:

504.6 % > 100.0 %

Formula:
(Cash) / (Current Liabilities)

Defensive Interval

Months of continued operation without incoming funds

Current: Target:

14.0 > 3 months

Formula:
(Cash + Securities + AR)/(Average Expenses for Past 12 Months)

The chart below explains some of the parameters that the school’s leadership can evaluate 
to understand their financial health, and potential areas of weakness.

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:37 AM for Bella Mente School

Understanding the Financial Health of the Organization

Packet Page 395



Josh Eng
Regional SBM Director
jeng@csmci.com

Janina Arruda
School Business Manager
jarruda@csmci.com

Peter Balfour
Account Manager
pbalfour@csmci.com

Lari Jean Day
Associate AM
lday@csmci.com

Tom Nichols 
Executive Vice Presidentof Client
Services and Operations
tnichols@csmci.com

CSMC Charter School Support Team

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:39 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 396



2/1/2024
School Accountability Report Card (SARC) due in CDE portal

Nonclassroom-based funding determinations due

2/13/2024 Board Meeting

2/15/2024 Property tax exemption requests due

2/16/2024 ASES applications for next year due

2/20/2024 Workshop: State & Federal Programs Compliance

2/22/2024 Workshop: State & Federal Programs Compliance

2/28/2024
Webinar #7

Schools must present LCAP mid-year update to board by this date

3/1/2024 ESSA Per-Pupil report due

3/12/2024 Board Meeting

3/13/2024 Spring Office Hours

3/15/2024 Second Interim Financial Report state deadline, authorizers may require earlier

3/24/2024 Special education MOE pre-test; timing and steps vary by SELPA

3/27/2024 Webinar #8

3/28/2024 ESSER and GEER Annual Report due

4/1/2024
Audit firm selection

Form 700

4/9/2024
Workshop: Charter Renewal 

Board Meeting

Looking Ahead

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:39 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 397



4/11/2024 Workshop: Charter Renewal 

4/15/2024 CARES, ESSER, ESSER II, ESSER III, ELOG, ARP expenditure report

4/18/2024 Special education federal and level 3 reports; timing and steps vary by SELPA

4/21/2024 Special education ADA and enrollment report; timing and steps vary by SELPA

4/24/2024 Webinar #9

4/30/2024
Federal Cash Management Data Collection (CMDC)

ASES attendance and expenditure reports

Looking Ahead

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:39 AM for Bella Mente School

Packet Page 398



HELPING THE EDUCATION 
MOVEMENT SUCCEED ONE 
SCHOOL AT A TIME

Report created on 1/31/2024 9:41:38 AM for Bella Mente School

info@csmci.com
Office: 888.994.CSMC
43460 Ridge Park Dr., Ste. 100 
Temecula, Ca 92590

www.csmci.com Charter Vision

POWERED BY:

Packet Page 399



 

 

   

 
 

Comprehensive School Safety Plan 
 

2024 - 2025 
(Updated January 15, 2024) 

Board Approved ________, 2024 
 

Bella Mente Academies 
 
 
 
 

Erin Feeley, Executive Director 
1737 W. Vista Way Vista, CA 92083 

760-621-8948 
info@bellamentecharter.org 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE:  Tactical information is excluded from the public inspection document.  A “Public Inspection Log” will be used 
to record the name, address, phone number and method used for verifying the identity of all individuals requesting to inspect 
this plan.  This document is not available for inspection on the internet.   
 
This document is available for public inspection during regular business hours at 1737 W Vista Way Vista, CA 92083. 

Packet Page 400



 
 
 
 

2 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

Date Recommended by School Safety Planning Committee: February 06, 2024 

Committee Members  Title  

 Principal  

 Teacher  

 Teacher  

 Classified Staff/Administrative Assistant 

 Parent of Child Attending the School 

Morgan Ballis Emergency Management Consultant 

 
CA Education Code Section 32280 
Staff trained on the Comprehensive School Safety Plan: September, 2023. 

 
CA Education Code Section 32281(b)(3) 

San Diego Sheriff’s Department Date of Consultation Date Plan Shared 

Jason Omundson, 760-940-4564 TBD  

Vista Fire Protection District Date of Consultation Date Plan Shared 

Mark Vierow, 760-643-5350 TBD  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Packet Page 401



 
 
 
 

3 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

BMA Projected Drill Dates (2024 – 2025) 
 

Drill Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun 

Fire 
*1 per month 

TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD TBD 

Earthquake 
*4 per year 

  TBD  TBD  TBD   TBD  

Shelter in Place 
*1 per year 

       TBD    

Secure Campus 
*1 per year 

TBD           

Options-Based 
*2 per year 

 TBD    TBD      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BELLA MENTE ACADEMIES MISSION STATEMENT 
 

The mission of Bella Mente Charter School is to provide 
students with the opportunity to acquire an education based on 
a quality curriculum founded on the educational philosophy of 

Dr. Maria Montessori.  
 
 

 
 

Packet Page 402



 
 
 
 

4 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Crime Assessment Page 5 
Child Abuse Reporting Procedures Page 6  
Directed Transportation Page 9 
Student Release Page 10 
Emergency Procedures - Pupils with Special Needs Page 12 
Use of Facilities During Disasters Page 13 
Convert School Page 13 
Suspension and Expulsion Policies Page 15 
Procedures for Notifying Teachers of Dangerous Pupils Page 21 
Discrimination and Harassment Policy Page 21 
School Wide Dress Code Prohibiting Gang Attire Page 22 
Procedures for Safe Ingress and Egress of Pupils, Parents and Employees Page 25 
Goals and Plans that Create a Safe and Orderly Environment Page 26 
Rules and Procedures on School Discipline Page 27 
Hate Crime Reporting Policies and Procedures Page 28 
Bullying and Cyberbullying Prevention  Page 29 
Threats of Violence on School Grounds Page 30 
Opioid Overdose Page 31 
Disaster Response Procedures Page 33 

All-Clear Page 33 
Earthquake Page 33 
Fires Page 35 
Shelter in Place Page 36 
Secure Campus Page 38 
Active Assailant (Options-Based Response) Page 39 
Bomb / Threat of Violence Page 40 
Gas Odor / Leak Page 43 
Loss or Failure of Utilities Page 43 
Off-Site Evacuation Page 44 

Covid-19 Prevention Program (CPP) Page 46 
 CPP Appendix A: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards  Page 52 
 CPP Appendix B: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards  Page 53 
 CPP Appendix C: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards  Page 55 
 CPP Appendix D: Identification of COVID-19 Hazards  Page 57 
Building Information Page 58 
 Classroom Maps  Page 60 
 Site Maps  Page 62 
 

Packet Page 403



 
 
 
 

5 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

 
BELLA MENTE ACADEMIES CRIME ASSESSMENT 

School Crime Committed on Campus and at School Related Functions 
 
Bella Mente Academies (BMA) property is within Vista City limits.  During the 2023-2023 school year, 
there were no significant incidents of crime or violence on campus. 
 
According to the ARJIS Crime Statistics from January 2023 to December 2023 (designated by 
calendar year quarters), the following crimes were reported in the City of Vista and were handled by 
the contract law enforcement provider, the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department. 
 
 
Crime  Quarter 

1-2022 
Quarter 
2-2022 

Quarter 
3-2022 

Quarter 
4-2022 

Total 

Murder 1 0 2 2 5 

Rape 2 2 7 9 20 

Armed Robbery 6 4 6 3 19 

Strong Arm Robbery 11 10 8 11 40 

Aggravated Assault 69 72 93 64 298 

Total Violent Crime 89 88 116 89 382 

Residential Burglary 11 14 15 10 50 

Non-Residential Burglary 60 28 42 29 159 

Total Burglary 71 42 57 39 209 

Theft >= $400 84 85 77 67 313 

Theft < $400 109 100 96 80 385 

Total Thefts 193 185 173 147 698 

Motor Vehicle Thefts 57 89 71 44 261 

Total Property Crime 321 316 301 230 1168 
 
  

Packet Page 404



 
 
 
 

6 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

Bella Mente Montessori Academy is committed to providing a safe environment for students, staff and 
visitors to the campus.  To that end, the school employs a variety of strategies to reach that goal that 
include: 
  

1. A secure campus with controlled vehicle and pedestrian access. 
2. A video surveillance system that administrators utilize to view access gates, campus buildings 

and play areas. 
3. An Identification Display Badge system for staff and visitors. 
4. A number of policies and procedures that are utilized in the event of emergencies. 
5. Regularly scheduled drills and training in safety procedures for both staff and students. 
6. Daily campus inspections ensure that campus safety and security is maintained. 
7. An automated reporting system for staff to report facility safety issues. 
8. Partnering with Campus Safety Alliance, a K-12 emergency management consulting firm. 

 
Campus safety is reviewed and discussed each week by the school Administrative Cabinet at their 
regularly scheduled meeting. 

 

CHILD ABUSE REPORTING PROCEDURES 
CA Education Code Section 32282(A) 

California Penal Code section 11166 requires any teacher or child care custodian or other public school 
employee who has knowledge of, or observes, a child in his or her professional capacity or within the 
scope of his or her employment whom he or she knows or reasonably suspects has been the victim of 
child abuse or neglect to report the known or suspected instance of child abuse or neglect to a child 
protective agency immediately, or as soon as practically possible, by telephone and to prepare and 
send a written report thereof within thirty-six (36) hours of receiving the information concerning the 
incident. Employees may, but are not required to report such incidents to the Principal or Assistant 
Principal.  Reporting such incidents to the Assistant Principal and/or the Principal does not relieve the 
employee of responsibility to also immediately report such incidents to the appropriate child protective 
agency by telephone and to send a written report thereof within thirty-six (36) hours.  However, 
employees may work cooperatively to report the incidents and to file one written report.  Employees 
who have any questions about these reporting requirements should contact Human Resources. 

BMA uses a portion of its staff development time at the beginning of the year to train staff on the laws, 
policies and procedures required of school employees as mandated reporters.  BMA administrators are 
also available to assist staff in the process of making a report of Suspected Child Abuse or Neglect. 

Packet Page 405



 
 
 
 

7 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

 

Packet Page 406



 
 
 
 

8 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

 
 

Packet Page 407



 
 
 
 

9 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

DIRECTED TRANSPORTATION  
Implemented when students and staff are loaded into municipal buses, cars and any other available 
means of transportation and moved from a dangerous area to an area of lesser danger. 
Hazard Examples: chemical accident, fire, flood 
 
I. Actions 
Authority to Act 
Administrators, Office Manager, or those given direct authority may initiate response actions. 
 
Administrator Actions: 
Prior to implementing directed transportation, determine the following: 

1. Who is assigned to each loading area?    
2. Where are loading areas? 
3. What, if any, changes in vehicle traffic patterns are necessary? 
4. What staff supervises this ACTION, and where? 
5. How can sufficient transportation be arranged to accommodate the entire student population 

and staff?  
Staff Actions: 

1. Take attendance before leaving the campus.  
2. Upon arrival at the safe site, take attendance again after students exit the bus.    
3. Report attendance to the Principal/designee. 
4. Keep students together.  Remain calm. 

 
To evacuate by privately owned vehicles 

 
If buses are unable to get to the campus quickly or not enough are available, consider other modes 
of transportation. A list should be developed of staff vehicles and parent vehicles that are available. 
This method of evacuation should only be used in extreme emergency since there is a great 
potential to lose track of the students. 

 
1. Drivers should take the safest route to the pre-identified evacuation sites.   
2. Account for all students before transportation occurs and after arrival at the safe site.   

 
II. Announcements 
Authority to Make Emergency Announcement 
Administrators, Office Managers, or those given direct authority may make emergency 
announcements. 
 
Priority of Notification Systems: 

1. PA System 

Packet Page 408



 
 
 
 

10 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

2. Landline Phone 
3. Radio 
4. Voice/Runners 

 
Emergency Announcement: 
"Directed transportation, directed transportation, directed transportation.  All students will be 
transported to INSERT LOCATION.  Directed transportation, directed transportation, directed 
transportation.  All students will be transported to INSERT LOCATION. 
 
STUDENT RELEASE 
Certain situations may involve releasing students from school or relocating them at a time when 
parents expect their children to be at the school site.  Student release will be implemented by a 
school administrator in times of extreme emergency that warrant its execution.   Whenever possible, 
it is preferred that students remain at school during the academic day.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I. Actions 
Authority to Act 
Administrators, Office Manager, or those given direct authority may initiate response actions. 
 
Incident Commander / Administrator Actions: 

1. Set up Incident Command Post (ICP).   
2. Notify staff of school evacuation and communicate that this is not a drill. 
3. Designate the Student Assembly Area or direct teachers to a pre-designated spot.  Analyze 

situation; re-evaluate evacuation spot to determine if students should be moved.   
4. Determine medical and assistance needs after population assessment.  Determine search and 

rescue needs.   
5. Reassess as situation changes.  Reassign emergency teams as needed.  
6. Keep staff informed as to the status of missing students. 

 
Staff Actions: 

1. Evacuate students to designated areas, with students grouped as determined by district or 
school site.   

FOUR STEPS FOR STAFF 
At REQUEST TABLE, verify parent ID 

and authorization. 
Direct parent to RELEASE TABLE; radio 

or send runner for student. 
At RELEASE TABLE, verify Student 

Request Form is signed 
Release student to custody of authorized 

adult. 

FOUR STEPS FOR PARENTS 
Fill out Student Request Form. 
Show photo ID at REQUEST TABLE. 
Move to RELEASE TABLE to wait for 

student. 
Leave campus immediately after 

student is released to your custody. 

Packet Page 409



 
 
 
 

11 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

2. Take roll by distributing pre-labeled name tags to each student.   
3. Report population assessment to the Incident Commander by holding up green or red cards.  

Mark undistributed name tags with student status beside name:  
i. A = Absent  
ii. M = Medical; students taken to the First Aid station  
iii. U = Missing/Unaccounted   

4. Send undistributed nametags to the Student Request Table.   
5. Organize students.  Monitor students’ medical and emotional condition.   
6. Extra staff should partner for other assigned duties; report to the Command Post. 

 

II. Team Assignments 
 
Student Release Team: 

1. Take supplies to designated Request/Release Table locations.   
2. Set out tables at least 20 feet apart to reduce crowding.  For a large student body, establish 

several lines at the Request Table for speedier processing.   
3. Post signs and set out file boxes of Student Emergency Cards for each line.  Identify volunteer 

runners and review where to find students.   
4. Wear identifying vests or hats.   
5. Distribute clipboards with Student Request Forms to parents in line.  
6. Set out white board for special instructions and parent requests.   
7. Pull cards of absent, injured and missing students.  Note status on those cards and file at the 

back of the file box. 
  
Traffic Controller (Staff members and/or parent volunteers):  

1. Set out parking area directional signs and enlarged site map with walking path designated for 
parents picking up students.   

2. Set out traffic cones to cordon off parking for emergency vehicles. 
3. Maintain order in parking areas; direct cars away from areas for emergency vehicles. 
4. Report to Incident Command Post any crowd control issues in the parking lot and on school 

grounds. 
5. For schools with no room for parent parking and turnaround, develop a procedure that 

enables students to be released directly to the authorized adult’s vehicle.   
 

Parent Information Representative (Staff or trained volunteer): 
1. Provide information about student release procedures to parents. 
2. Maintain white board with special information. 
3. Learn which students need medical attention and attempt to locate their parents. 

 
Crisis Intervention Counselor (School Psychologist): 

1. Maintain order at Student Request Table; calm agitated parents and students. 
2. Facilitate delivery of information to parents of students with special circumstances (e.g. missing, 

injured, deceased). 
3. Escort parents to First Aid Station to reunite with injured students. 

 

Packet Page 410



 
 
 
 

12 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

Runners (Staff, students and/or parent volunteers): 
1. Take Student Request Form to Student Assembly Area to find requested students.  Alternatively, 

a walkie-talkie may be used to request a student from the Assembly Area. 
2. Retrieve the student and escort him/her to the Student Release Table -OR- return to Student 

Request Table with status information on those who are not in the Student Assembly Area. 
 
ADAPTATIONS FOR PUPILS WITH SPECIAL NEEDS 
CA Education Code 32282(A) 
 

1. Procedures for special needs students may need to be implemented in emergency situations 
such as fire, earthquake, bomb threats, etc. 

2. At the beginning of each school year, an Individual Emergency Procedures Plan (IEPP) must be 
completed to accommodate each student who requires additional assistance due to a disability.  
This includes students with physical impairments who may require a wheelchair, specialized 
equipment or physical assistance to evacuate in a timely manner. 

3. Each plan requires that support staff be designated as specialized assistants during times of 
emergency. 

4. The Safety Coordinator is responsible for: 
a. Identifying students who will require additional assistance 
b. Working with the designated staff to ensure that a IEPP be completed for each student. 

 
* Since new students may arrive at any time during the school year, this assignment will be 
continuous throughout the year. 

5. Use the format below to complete an Individual Emergency Procedures Plan for each special 
needs student. Place a copy of the plans in the Site Emergency Operations Plan and with the 
individual classroom teacher’s emergency materials. (class roster, etc.) 

 
Individual Student Emergency Procedures Plan 

Student: Room #: Teacher: 
 

Designated Specialized Assistants: 
(identify two staff in this area) 

Required Equipment or Physical Assistance Needed to Evacuate in a Timely Manner (complete 
below) 
 
 
 
 
 

 
HOW TO ASSIST THOSE WITH DISABILITIES DURING AN EVACUATION 
 

Packet Page 411



 
 
 
 

13 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

The needs and preferences of non-ambulatory individuals will vary.  Those at ground floor locations 
may be able to exit without help.  Others may have minimal ability to move, and lifting may be 
dangerous.  Some non-ambulatory people also have respiratory complications.  Remove them from 
smoke and vapors immediately 
 
To alert visually-impaired individuals 

1. Announce the type of emergency. 
2. Offer your arm for guidance. 
3. Tell the person where you are going, obstacles you encounter. 
4. When you reach safety, ask if further help is needed. 

 
To alert individuals with hearing limitations 

1. Turn lights on/off to gain person’s attention or 
2. Indicate directions with gestures or 
3. Write a note with evacuation directions. 
 

To individuals using crutches, canes or walkers 
1. Evacuate these individuals as injured persons. 
4. Assist and accompany to evacuation site, if possible, or 
5. Use a sturdy chair (or one with wheels) to move person or 
2. Help carry individuals to safety. 

 
To evacuate individuals using wheelchairs 

1. Give priority assistance to wheelchair users with electrical respirators 
2. Most wheelchairs are too heavy to take downstairs; consult with the person to determine the 

best carry options. 
3. Reunite the person with a wheelchair as soon as it is safe to do so. 

 
USE OF FACILITIES DURING DISASTERS 

CA Education Code Section 32282(B)(ii) 
 
The Board shall grant the use of school buildings, grounds and equipment to public agencies, 
including the American Red Cross, for mass care and welfare shelters during disasters or other 
emergencies affecting the public health and welfare.  The Board shall cooperate with such agencies 
in furnishing and maintaining whatever services it deems necessary to meet the community’s needs. 
 
CONVERT SCHOOL 
Implemented during a disaster when a requirement exists for community medical facilities or shelters.  
Convert school will be initiated only by the Superintendent and/or upon the request of officials from the 
Department of Health and Human Services or the American Red Cross as arranged by a prior written 
Memorandum of Understanding between the school district and the public agency.  This action is 
normally preceded by another action such as evacuation.   If the Red Cross chooses a school as a 
community shelter, it will arrange a shelter set-up.  After an earthquake, potential shelter locations are 

Packet Page 412



 
 
 
 

14 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

checked by a local building inspector approved by local government authorities before a determination 
is made to use the school site as a shelter. 
 
I. Actions 
 
Administrator Actions: 
During School Hours 

 
1. Dismiss all classes or, if the situation dictates, hold students at school for temporary care. 
2. Convert the school into an Emergency Hospital, First Aid Station or community shelter for 

congregate care.   (Community shelter is operated by the Department of Health and 
Human Services or the American Red Cross.) 

3. When converting the school to an Emergency Hospital or First Aid Station, follow the guidance 
and directions of the medical personnel upon their arrival. 

Other than School Hours 
 

1. Alert school employees through the School Personnel Alerting System. 
2. Suspend scheduled classes.  Use Telephone Alert System and Parent Notification 

System.  Notify the Executive Director for assistance by other means. 
3. Convert the school into an emergency hospital, vaccination station (operated by the 

Department of Health and Human Services or community shelter (operated by the American 
Red Cross.) 

4. When converting the school to an Emergency Hospital or First Aid Station, follow the guidance 
and directions of the medical personnel upon their arrival. 

 
II. Announcement 
Authority to Make Emergency Announcement 
Administrators, Office Managers, or those given direct authority may make emergency 
announcements. 
 
Priority of Notification Systems: 

1. PA System 
2. Landline Phone 
3. Radio 
4. Telephone Notification System 

 
Emergency Announcement: 
 
During School Hours 
 
"Convert, convert, convert.  This real.  Convert school for community emergency use. Convert, 
convert, convert.  This real.  Convert school for community emergency use.   
 

Packet Page 413



 
 
 
 

15 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

Other than School Hours 
 
Use the School Personnel Telephone Notification System to notify all school employees.  
 

SUSPENSION AND EXPULSION POLICIES 
CA Education Code Section 32282(C) 

 
Governing Law:  The procedures by which pupils can be suspended or expelled.  CA Education Code 
Section 47605 (b)(5)(J). 
 
This Pupil Suspension and Expulsion Procedure is intended to promote learning and protect the safety 
and wellbeing of all students at the School. When school discipline policy is violated, it may be 
necessary to suspend or expel a student from regular classroom instruction.   These procedures for 
student suspension and expulsion and it may be amended from time to time without the need to amend 
the charter so long as the amendments comport with legal requirements. 
 
School staff shall enforce disciplinary rules and procedures fairly and consistently among all students. 
This Policy and its Procedures will be printed and distributed as part of the Student Handbook and will 
clearly describe discipline expectations. 
 
Discipline includes but is not limited to advising and counseling students, conferring with 
parents/guardians, detention during and after school hours, use of alternative educational 
environments, suspension and expulsion. 
 
Corporal punishment shall not be used as a disciplinary measure against any student. Corporal 
punishment includes the willful infliction of or willfully causing the infliction of physical pain on a student. 
For purposes of the Policy, corporal punishment does not include an employee's use of force that is 
reasonable and necessary to protect the employee, students, staff or other persons or to prevent 
damage to school property. 
 
The Charter School administration shall ensure that students and their parents/guardians are notified 
in writing upon enrollment of all discipline policies and procedures. The notice shall state that these 
Policy and Administrative Procedures are available on request at the Executive Director's office. 
 
Suspended or expelled students shall be excluded from all school and school related activities unless 
otherwise agreed during the period of suspension or expulsion. 
 
A student identified as an individual with disabilities or for whom the School has a basis of knowledge 
of a suspected disability pursuant to the Individuals with Disabilities in Education Act ("IDEIA") or who 
is qualified for services under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (“Section 504”) is subject 
to the same grounds for suspension and expulsion and is accorded the same due process procedures 
applicable to regular education students except when federal and state law mandates additional or 
different procedures. The School will follow Section 504, the IDEIA, and all applicable federal and state 
laws including but not limited to the California Education Code, when imposing any form of discipline 
on a student identified as an individual with disabilities or for whom the School has a basis of knowledge 
of a suspected disability or who is otherwise qualified for such services or protections in according due 

Packet Page 414



 
 
 
 

16 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

process to such students.  The Charter School shall notify the District of the suspension of any student 
identified under the IDEIA (or for whom there may be a basis of knowledge of the same) or as a student 
with a disability under Section 504 and would grant the District approval rights prior to the expulsion of 
any such student as well. 
 
1.  Grounds for Suspension and Expulsion of Students 

A student may be suspended or expelled for prohibited misconduct if the act is related to school 
activity or school attendance occurring at the School or at any other school or a School 
sponsored event at any time including but not limited to: a) while on school grounds; b) while 
going to or coming from school; c) during the lunch period, whether on or off the school campus; 
d) during, going to, or coming from a school sponsored activity. 

 
2.  Enumerated Offenses 

a. Students may be suspended or expelled for any of the following acts when it is determined 
the pupil: Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another 
person or willfully used force of violence upon the person of another, except self-defense.  

b. Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished any firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous 
object unless, in the case of possession of any object of this type, the students had 
obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, with 
the Executive Director or designee’s concurrence. 

c. Unlawfully possessed, used, sold or otherwise furnished, or was under the influence of 
any controlled substance, as defined in Health and Safety Code 11053-11058, alcoholic 
beverage, or intoxicant of any kind. 

d. Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any controlled substance as defined in 
Health and Safety Code 11053-11058, alcoholic beverage or intoxicant of any kind, and 
then sold, delivered or otherwise furnished to any person another liquid substance or 
material and represented same as controlled substance, alcoholic beverage or intoxicant. 

e. Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion. 
f. Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property. 
g. Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property. 
h. Possessed or used tobacco or any products containing tobacco or nicotine products, 

including but not limited to cigars, cigarettes, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, 
smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets and betel. 

i.  Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity. 
j. Unlawfully possessed or unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell any drug 

paraphernalia, as defined in Health and Safety Code 11014.5. 
k. Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of supervisors, 

teachers, administrators, other school officials, or other school personnel engaged in the 
performance of their duties. 

 
l. Knowingly received stolen school property or private property. 
m. Possessed an imitation firearm, i.e.: a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar 

in physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude 
that the replica is a firearm. 

n. Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Penal Code 261, 266c, 
286, 288, 288a or 289, or committed a sexual battery as defined in Penal Code 243.4. 

Packet Page 415



 
 
 
 

17 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

o. Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a student who is a complaining witness or witness 
in a school disciplinary proceeding for the purpose of preventing that student from being 
a witness and/or retaliating against that student for being a witness. 

p. Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma. 
q. Engaged in or attempted to engage in hazing of another. 
r. Aiding or abetting as defined in Section 31 of the Penal Code, the infliction or attempted 

infliction of physical injury to another person. 
s. Made terrorist threats against school officials and/or school property. 
t. Committed sexual harassment. 
u. Caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate 

violence. 
v. Intentionally harassed, threatened or intimidated a student or group of students to the 

extent of having the actual and reasonably expected effect of materially disrupting class 
work, creating substantial disorder and invading student rights by creating an intimidating 
or hostile educational environment. 

w. Any other conduct that the Executive Director or Board determines violates school policy 
or expectations for student conduct.  

 
Alternatives to suspension or expulsion will first be attempted with students who are truant, tardy, 
or otherwise absent from assigned school activities. 

 
3.  Suspension Procedure 
Suspensions shall be initiated according to the following procedures: 

 
a. Conference 

Suspension shall be preceded, if possible, by a conference conducted by the Executive 
Director or the Executive Director's designee with the student and his or her parent and, 
whenever practical, the teacher, supervisor or school employee who referred the student 
to the Executive Director.  The conference may be omitted if the Executive Director or 
designee determines that an emergency situation exists. An "emergency situation" 
involves a clear and present danger to the lives, safety or health of students or school 
personnel. If a student is suspended without this conference, both the parent/guardian 
and student shall be notified of the student's right to return to school for the purpose of a 
conference. 

 
At the conference, the pupil shall be informed of the reason for the disciplinary action and 
the evidence against him or her and shall be given the opportunity to present his or her 
version and evidence in his or her defense. 
 
This conference shall be held within two school days, unless the pupil waives this right 
or is physically unable to attend for any reason including, but not limited to, incarceration 
or hospitalization. 
 
No penalties may be imposed on a pupil for failure of the pupil's parent or guardian to 
attend a conference with school officials. Reinstatement of the suspended pupil shall not 
be contingent upon attendance by the pupil's parent or guardian at the conference. 

Packet Page 416



 
 
 
 

18 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

 
b. Notice to Parents/Guardians 

At the time of the suspension, an administrator or designee shall make a reasonable effort 
to contact the parent/guardian by telephone or in person. Whenever a student is 
suspended, the parent/guardian shall be notified in writing of the suspension and the date 
of return following suspension.  This notice shall state the specific offense committed by 
the student.  In addition, the notice may also state the date and time when the student 
may return to school.  If school officials wish to ask the parent/guardian to confer 
regarding matters pertinent to the suspension, the notice may request that the 
parent/guardian respond to such requests without delay. 

 
c. Suspension Time Limits/Recommendation for Placement/Expulsion 

Suspensions, when not including a recommendation for expulsion, shall not exceed five 
(5) consecutive school days per suspension. 
 
Upon a recommendation of Placement/Expulsion by the Executive Director or Executive 
Director’s designee, the pupil and the pupil's guardian or representative will be invited to 
a conference to determine if the suspension for the pupil should be extended pending an 
expulsion hearing. This determination will be made by the Executive Director or designee 
upon either of the following determinations: 1) the pupil's presence will be disruptive to 
the education process; or 2) the pupil poses a threat or danger to others. Upon either 
determination, the pupil's suspension will be extended pending the results of an expulsion 
hearing. 

 
5. Authority to Expel 

A student may be expelled by the Executive Director after providing an opportunity for a hearing 
before a Hearing Officer appointed by the BMA Board.  Unless an appeal hearing is timely 
requested by the student’s parent(s) or guardian, the Executive Director’s determination is final.    
 
The parent(s) or guardian of a student shall have 10 days from issuance of a written notice of 
the Executive Director’s recommendation for expulsion to file a written request for an appeal 
hearing to be presided over by a hearing officer appointed by the BMA Board of Directors (the 
“Hearing Officer”).  If no appeal is requested, the expulsion becomes final as of the 11th day 
following the Executive Director’s recommendation for expulsion.   

 
5. Expulsion Procedures 

Students recommended for expulsion are entitled to a hearing to determine whether the student 
should be expelled.  

The Hearing Officer shall hold a confidential appeal hearing within 15 days of receipt of a timely 
request for an appeal of the Executive Director’s recommendation for expulsion.  During the 
hearing, the student shall have the right to representation, the right to present evidence and the 
right to question BMA representatives.   

Packet Page 417



 
 
 
 

19 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

Written notice of the hearing shall be provided to the student and the student’s parent or guardian 
at least 10 days before the date of the hearing. Upon mailing the notice, it shall be deemed 
served. The notice shall include:  
 
(1) The date, time and place of the expulsion appeal hearing;  
(2) A statement of the specific facts, charges and offenses upon which the proposed expulsion 
is based;  
(3) A copy of the school’s rules or policy which relate to the alleged violation;  
(4) Notification of the student’s or parent/guardian’s obligation to provide information about the 
student’s status at the school to any other school district or school to which the student seeks 
enrollment;  
(5) Notification of the opportunity for the student or the student’s parent/guardian to appear in 
person or to employ and be represented by counsel or a non-attorney advisor;  
(6) Notification of the right to inspect and obtain copies of all documents to be used at the 
hearing;  
(7) Notification of the opportunity to confront and question witnesses who testify at the hearing;  
(8) Notification of the opportunity to question evidence presented and to present oral and 
documentary evidence on the student’s behalf including witnesses.  
 
The student and/or his or her parent(s) or representative must present all written and oral 
evidence and argument to be considered for the appeal at the hearing.  The school secretary or 
Hearing Officer’s designee shall attend and prepare minutes of the proceeding, which shall 
become part of the record of the proceeding along with all written evidence or other material 
submitted to the Hearing Officer.  After considering the evidence, including testimony presented 
at the hearing, the Hearing Officer shall either (1) support the Executive Director’s 
recommendation for expulsion, (2) reject that recommendation, or (3) modify that 
recommendation.   The Hearing Officer’s determination after the appeal hearing is final and 
unappealable.  
 

6. Special Procedures for Expulsion Hearings Involving Sexual Assault or Battery Offenses 
The Hearing Officer may determine that the disclosure of either the identity of the witness or the 
testimony of that witness at the hearing, or both, would subject the witness to an unreasonable 
risk of psychological or physical harm.  Upon this determination, the testimony of the witness 
may be presented at the hearing in the form of sworn declarations which shall be examined 
only by the Hearing Officer.  Copies of these sworn declarations, edited to delete the name and 
identity of the witness, shall be made available to the pupil.  The Hearing Officer may take any 
other measures (s)he deems reasonable under the circumstances to the protect the privacy of 
witnesses.   

 
7. Presentation of Evidence 

While technical rules of evidence do not apply to expulsion hearings, evidence may be admitted 
and used as proof only if it is the kind of evidence on which reasonable persons can rely in the 
conduct of serious affairs.    
 
Findings of fact shall be based solely on the evidence at the hearing. While hearsay evidence is 
admissible, no decision to expel shall be based solely on hearsay and sworn declarations may 

Packet Page 418



 
 
 
 

20 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

be admitted as testimony from witnesses of whom the Hearing Officer determines that disclosure 
of their identity or testimony at the hearing may subject them to an unreasonable risk of physical 
or psychological harm. 
 
 

8. Written Notice to Expel 
The Executive Director, or designee, following a decision of the Hearing Officer to expel shall 
send written notice of the decision to expel, including findings of fact made by the Hearing 
Officer, to the student or parent/guardian. This notice shall also include the following: 

   
a. Notice of the specific offense committed by the student 
b. Notice of the student's or parent/guardian's obligation to inform any new district in which 

the student seeks to enroll of the student's status with the School. 
 
The Executive Director or designee shall send a copy of the written notice of the decision to 
expel to the district of residence. 

 
This notice shall include the following: 

 
a. The student's name 
b. The specific expellable offense committed by the student 
 
Additionally, in accordance with Education Code Section 47605(d)(3), upon expulsion of any 
student, the Charter School shall notify the superintendent of the school district of the pupil’s last 
known address within 30 days, and shall, upon request, provide that school district with a copy 
of the cumulative record of the pupil, including a transcript of grades or report card and health 
information. 

 
9. Disciplinary Records 

The School shall maintain records of all student suspensions and expulsions at the School.   
Such records shall be made available to VUSD upon request. 
  

10. Expelled Pupils/Alternative Education 
Pupils who are expelled shall be responsible for seeking alternative education programs 
including, but not limited to, programs within the County or their school district of residence. 
 

11. Readmission 
The decision to readmit a pupil or to admit a previously expelled pupil from another school district 
or charter school shall be in the sole discretion of the Board following a meeting with the 
Executive Director and the pupil and guardian or representative to determine whether the pupil 
poses a threat to others or will be disruptive to the school environment. The Executive Director 
shall make a recommendation to the Board following the meeting regarding his or her 
determination. The pupil's readmission is also contingent upon the School's capacity at the time 
the student seeks readmission. 
 

PROCEDURES FOR NOTIFYING TEACHERS OF  

Packet Page 419



 
 
 
 

21 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

DANGEROUS PUPILS  
CA Education Code Section 32282(D) 

 
As a student enrolls in BMA, school Office Managers contact previous schools to request cumulative 
records. When the cumulative record arrives at the school the vice principal reviews the file, and informs 
the receiving teacher in writing of any potentially dangerous student behaviors. For students who are 
already enrolled in the school, student records are provided by the previous teacher. Teachers also 
have access to Powerschool for records. 
 
When a student is suspended for any offense, the teacher of the student may view a copy of the 
suspension notice which is placed in the cumulative file. 
 

DISCRIMINATION AND HARASSMENT POLICY 
CA Education Code Section 32282(E) 

 
District programs and activities shall be free from discrimination, including harassment, with respect to 
a student's actual or perceived sex, gender, ethnic group identification, race, national origin, religion, 
color, physical or mental disability, age or sexual orientation. 
  
The Board of Directors shall ensure equal opportunities for all students in admission and access to the 
educational program, guidance and counseling programs, athletic programs, testing procedures, and 
other activities. School staff and volunteers shall carefully guard against segregation, bias and 
stereotyping in instruction, guidance and supervision. The district may provide male and female 
students with separate shower rooms and sexual health and HIV/AIDS prevention classes in order to 
protect student modesty. 
  
The Board prohibits intimidation or harassment of any student by any employee, student or other person 
in the district. Staff shall be alert and immediately responsive to student conduct which may interfere 
with another student's ability to participate in or benefit from school services, activities or privileges. 
  
Students who harass other students shall be subject to appropriate discipline, up to and 
including counseling, suspension and/or expulsion. An employee who permits or engages in 
harassment may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including dismissal. 
  
The Board hereby designates the following position(s) as Coordinator(s) for Nondiscrimination to 
handle complaints regarding discrimination and inquiries regarding the district's nondiscrimination 
policies: 
  
Administrative Assistant to the Executive Director 
1737 W. Vista Way 
Vista, CA 92083 

Packet Page 420



 
 
 
 

22 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

760-820-9501 
  
Any student who feels that he/she is being harassed should immediately contact the 
Coordinator for Nondiscrimination, the principal or any other staff member. Any student who observes 
an incident of harassment should report the harassment to a school employee, whether or not the victim 
files a complaint. 
  
Employees who become aware of an act of harassment shall immediately report the incident to the 
Coordinator for Nondiscrimination. Upon receiving a complaint of discrimination or harassment, the 
Coordinator shall immediately investigate the complaint in accordance with site-level grievance 
procedures. Where the Coordinator finds that harassment has occurred, he/she shall take prompt, 
appropriate action to end the harassment and address its effects on the victim. The Coordinator shall 
also advise the victim of any other remedies that may be available. The Coordinator shall file a report 
with the Executive Director or designee and refer the matter to law enforcement where required. 

 
SCHOOL WIDE DRESS CODE PROHIBITING GANG ATTIRE 

CA Education Code Section 32282(F) 
 

There will be no tolerance for attire promoting gangs or hate groups. 
 
Montessori education is concerned with the inner development of the child’s mental, emotional, physical 
and spiritual being. As such, we seek to limit undue focus of attention on external appearances.  After 
much discussion about the relative values of a dress code and individual freedom, BMA has adopted 
the following middle path Dress Code.  We believe that your child will be happiest when dressed in 
casual, comfortable clothing. 
 
Dress Code Policy 
  
Bella Mente Academy is a school of choice. In order to facilitate and maintain an effective, healthy, and 
safe learning environment, the principal, staff, and parents of BMA decided to implement this Dress 
Code Policy. This Dress Code Policy was adopted because we believe that a respectable or wholesome 
and professional image reduces distractions and promotes learning. Therefore, the school Dress Code 
Policy requires clothing fit the student appropriately, be cleaned on a regular basis, and cannot deviate 
from the style and color choices. Students are expected to present themselves in a neat, clean, and 
professional manner at all times. Clothing that is tight, baggy, dirty or sloppy is not allowed. Items that 
are torn or cut in any way are prohibited. Appropriateness of overall appearance will be left to the 
discretion of the administration. Although shirts are not required to be tucked in and belts are optional, 
we recommend that students choose to do so whenever feasible. We believe that a uniform Dress 
Code Policy promotes a sense of pride in our school and solidarity between students. School Spirit 
days allowing “Themed Dress” will be designated by the school principal and requirements for these 
days will be sent to parents in advance. This Dress Code Policy has been adopted by the Board of 
Directors of BMA in compliance with the provisions of Article IX, section 5 of the California Constitution, 

Packet Page 421



 
 
 
 

23 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

and Assembly Bill 1575 (effective January 1, 2013), which prohibit the charging of any student fees for 
participation in an educational activity at a public school. 
 

Dress Code Policy – 2019.20sy 
BMA Dress Code Policy 08.02.2019 

 
BMA uniforms must be purchased through Bella Mente Academies.  The Uniform Store page will be 

available July 1st. 
 

A. Tops 
 
Light blue or navy collared polo with BMA logo (short or long sleeve). 
 
Navy jackets with BMA logo 
 
BMA t-shirts may be worn during Friday School Spirit Days. 

● Undershirts or turtlenecks worn under the polo must by plain white or black (no graphics or 
other designs) 
 

NOT Acceptable 
● Shirts one size larger than the student’s body size. 
● Modifications to shirts such as, but not limited to, pinning, rolling, knotting or any other 

modifications. 
● Undershirts or turtlenecks may not have hoods 

 
B. Bottoms 

 
Khaki or navy skorts, shorts, jumpers, and pants 

● Leggings worn under skorts or shorts must be plain white or black (no graphics or other 
designs) 
 

NOT Acceptable 
● Bottoms must fit properly, be worn at the waist, and not altered or modified in any way. 
● Bottoms that are too large (saggy/baggy) or too tight (skinny) are not allowed. 
● Shorts and skorts must be 2” above the knee or longer (shorts must also not be more than 2” 

below the knee) and may not be form-fitting.  They must fit properly 
● No cargo pants or pants with side-leg pockets. 

 
C. Shoes 

 
Expectation 

● Shoes must have closed toes. 
● Shoes should be chosen with discretion. 

*athletic shoes are highly recommended during PE days* 
 

NOT Acceptable 

Packet Page 422



 
 
 
 

24 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

● Boots, house shoes, heels, sandals, or slippers. 
● Shoes with offensive logos. 
● “Heelies” or platform shoes. 
● Shoes that can be a distraction to others (i.e. shoes with lights). 

 
D. Accessories & Grooming 

 
Expectation 

● Belts without offensive logos or design. 
● BMA hats may be worn outdoors. 

*please write student’s name on inside tag* 
 
NOT Acceptable 

● Hats may not be worn indoors. 
● Accessories, such as backpacks or notebooks with writing, pictures or any other insignia which 

are crude, vulgar, profane, provocative, or sexually suggestive are prohibited.  Neither may 
they advocate racial, ethnic or religious prejudice or the use of drugs or alcohol. 
 

 
BMA is in compliance with the provisions of Article IX, section 5 of the California Constitution, and 
Assembly Bill 1575 (effective January 1, 2013), which prohibit the charging of any student fees for 
participation in an educational activity at a public school. 
 

 
  

Packet Page 423



 
 
 
 

25 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

PROCEDURES FOR SAFE INGRESS AND EGRESS OF PUPILS, 
PARENTS, AND EMPLOYEES FROM SCHOOL SITE 

CA Education Code Section 32282 (G) 
 
Due to traffic and facility configurations, BMA has specific drop off and pick up procedures. This 
procedure is available as an addendum to the handbook.  In general, parents should plan to drop off 
their children at the designated location, and provide a warm, affectionate goodbye.  Extending the 
drop-off procedure on a regular basis can create separation problems and can take away the child’s 
opportunity to establish healthy patterns of self-confidence and responsibility.  As noted in the Academic 
Overview portion of this handbook, students are encouraged to develop self-reliance and positive 
esteem.  These characteristics are best developed and practiced through effective care of self and care 
of the environment.  Once students have worked through the initial “First Day of School” experience, 
students are very capable of getting themselves settled in and ready for the academic day without the 
help of parents/guardians.   
 
Parents will not be allowed to walk students into class (even the first week).  Students will report to their 
classroom immediately after drop off.   
 
Likewise, parents should plan to pick up their students at the end of the day in the same designated 
location to alleviate traffic and campus congestion.   
 
If you have a need to come on to the campus during the school day, please be sure to park in the 
designated parent/guest parking areas.  Parking in staff areas, even if only for “a second” can create 
parking problems for the entire staff.  As explained in the Academic Overview, students are provided 
with uninterrupted units of time to support their ability to concentrate on the lessons of the day. For the 
benefit of the students, BMA seeks to limit classroom interruptions and asks that parents refrain from 
entering the classroom after the start of the school day and before school has been released.  Forgotten 
homework, lunches, etc., may be delivered to the school office where they will be given to the teacher 
or delivered to the student at the appropriate time. For safety reasons, all parents/guests coming on to 
the campus during the school day must check in through the school office and obtain a visitor pass.  At 
the completion of your visit, you will need to check back out at the school office and return the visitor 
pass. In the event of a school emergency, this is the most effective way to keep track of who is on the 
campus grounds at any given time. For purposes of this section, students arriving at school late or 
departing early must be cleared through the school office. When late to school, parents should plan to:  
 

● Accompany their children into the school office  
● Sign them in using the designated office logbook  
● Assist each child in obtaining a tardy slip from an office staff member 
● To keep disruption to a minimum, you do not need to enter the classroom with your child as long 

as she/he has the tardy slip to give to the teacher.   
 
If your child is frequently tardy to school, please consider scheduling a family meeting to discuss a plan 
of action that will correct this problem.  Children arriving late are often self-conscious and feel 
uncomfortable entering the room. It also affects their ability to settle into the business of learning when 
they are in this emotional state. The class often takes care of a variety of business during this time 

Packet Page 424



 
 
 
 

26 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

and/or begins quiet journaling activities at this time. Students arriving late create an unwelcome 
disruption to the rest of the class. Please support your child to be on time. This is a life skill which will 
be of great benefit as the child gets older. In the Montessori classroom, a great amount of learning 
happens at all times of the day, including the afternoon hours.  Afternoon lessons are filled with all the 
cultural activities of history, science, art, etc., and incorporate practice of core academic subject material 
as well.  BMA stresses the importance of the afternoon curriculum. Parents need to understand this 
importance and respect the need for the student to attend school for the entire day.  When an early 
pick up from school is necessary and unavoidable, parents should plan to: 
 

● Contact the school office or the teacher in advance of the early pickup so that staff can assist 
the child and the class to prepare for the interruption and transition. 

● At the time of the pickup, parent/guardian must check in at the school office and sign the student 
out in the designated office logbook. 

● The office staff will facilitate getting the student from class for you while you wait in the office.  
Adult visitors are not permitted to be unattended on the campus. 

● Leave as quietly as possible. 
 

GOALS AND PLANS THAT CREATE A SAFE AND ORDERLY 
ENVIRONMENT CONDUCIVE TO LEARNING AT SCHOOL 

CA Education Code Section 32282(H) 

DISCIPLINE AND BEHAVIORAL GUIDELINES 

Bella Mente Academies holds a five-year focus plan.  A wide variety of stakeholders participated in the 
development of this plan.  Although many goals were identified, the following relate specifically to 
creating a safe and orderly environment conducive to learning at school. 

These goals include: 

● We believe that a quality Montessori environment creates positive learning opportunities. 
● We believe that a safe, orderly environment directly affects student learning. 
● We believe in monitoring the constantly evolving environment/facilities/campus. 
● We believe in developing and maintaining an environment that is student centered, safe and 

conducive to learning. 
● We believe in creating and maintaining a safe physical environment that is conducive to learning. 

Current plans, policies and methods are all based on ensuring that these goals are met.  Strategies 
and objectives developed remain in alignment with these goals. 

  

Packet Page 425



 
 
 
 

27 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

RULES AND PROCEDURES ON SCHOOL DISCIPLINE 
CA Education Code Section 32282(I) 

The BMA staff is trained in positive discipline methods such as Positive Discipline and Restorative 
Practices.  “The classroom curriculum includes Peace Education, with an emphasis on personal peace 
and tolerance of others' differences.  Conflict resolution tools, such as the Peace Table, as well as Peer 
Mediation techniques, assist the children in learning these important life skills.   

Students are presented with lessons, which include scenarios for all areas of the school, discussing the 
reasons for safety, respect, and responsibility in those locations.  Positive reinforcement is stressed, 
and students are “caught” following the rules and guidelines.   

When a student is observed not following a rule, the child is asked if they know the rule and is then 
redirected to show the appropriate behavior.  Only when a child repeatedly misbehaves are they 
referred to the school office and parents contacted.  Data is collected to determine if further training is 
necessary for all of the students when issues occur often and by numerous students. The emphasis is 
on training and positive reinforcement for the desired behavior, as opposed to a punitive approach.  

Physical violence will result in an immediate office referral.  Parents will receive a written notification 
(Incident Report), and a phone call made if it is deemed necessary.  Students disrupting their classroom 
may be removed to do work in another room or in the office.  

Generally, once a child has completed a designated amount of work, they are invited to return to their 
own classroom.   

Communicating with parents is an important element in building a team of staff and families.  Phone 
calls and written notes or reports sent home are ways the school can keep parents informed about how 
their child is doing in the school environment.  When necessary, parent/teacher conferences and 
meetings with the administrator will be scheduled to assist teachers and parents in finding the most 
beneficial ways to support a student’s success at school.   

When behavior that is unacceptable occurs, the following steps will be taken: 

1. For minor incidents and with younger students, staff will provide opportunities for re-direction 
and a chance to “try again.” 

2. Repeated offenses will initiate a progressive system of meetings starting with a conference 
between the parents/guardians and teachers. 

3. Should the behavior(s) continue, a Student Success Team (SST) meeting will be scheduled with 
a campus administrator, the teacher(s), and the parents/guardians.  Other school staff and family 
members may also be included if deemed appropriate.  In the SST process, the team identifies 
concerns, works together on solutions, and creates an action plan.  It is customary for follow-up 
meetings to take place to discuss progress of the need for additional interventions. 

Packet Page 426



 
 
 
 

28 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

4. Serious incidents will lead to an immediate referral to a campus administrator.  
Parents/guardians will be notified by phone or in writing, and a suspension warning may be 
issued. 

5. Repeated offenses will initiate a progressive system of RTI (Response to Interventions) 
meetings starting with a conference between the parent/guardian and teacher. 

6. It may be deemed appropriate for the student to be placed in an alternate setting on campus for 
the school day (another classroom or in the school office.) 

7. Serious or repeated infractions will result in one or more days of suspension from school (refer 
to Suspension and Expulsion Policies). 

  

HATE CRIME REPORTING PROCEDURES AND POLICIES 
 

The term "hate crime" is defined by various federal and state laws. In its broadest sense, the term refers 
to an attack on an individual or his or her property (e.g., vandalism, arson, assault, murder) in which 
the victim is intentionally selected because of his or her race, color, religion, national origin, gender, 
disability, or sexual orientation. 

Bella Mente Academies is diligent in creating a school culture in which prejudice and hate-motivated 
behavior are not acceptable, but which also permits the expression of diverse viewpoints.   To that end, 
Bella Mente is committed to the following: 

1. Providing hate prevention training to all staff.     Training should include anti-bias and conflict 
resolution methods; procedures for identifying and reporting incidents of racial, religious, and 
sexual harassment, discrimination, and hate crime; strategies for preventing such incidents from 
occurring; and resources available to assist in dealing with these incidents.  

2. Ensure that all students receive hate prevention training through age-appropriate classroom 
activities, assemblies, and other school-related activities. Prejudice and discrimination are 
learned attitudes and behaviors. Neither is uncontrollable or inevitable. Teaching children that 
even subtle forms of hate-such as ethnic slurs or epithets, negative or offensive name-calling, 
stereotyping, and exclusion-are hurtful and inherently wrong can help to prevent more extreme, 
violent manifestations of hate. Through structured classroom activities and programs, children 
can begin to develop empathy, while practicing the critical thinking and conflict resolution skills 
needed to recognize and respond to various manifestations of hate behavior.  

3. Develop partnerships with families, community organizations, and law enforcement agencies. 
Hate crime prevention cannot be accomplished by schools alone. School districts are 
encouraged to develop partnerships with parent groups, youth serving organizations, criminal 

Packet Page 427



 
 
 
 

29 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

justice agencies, victim assistance organizations, businesses, advocacy groups, and religious 
organizations. 

HATE CRIME REPORTING 

Upon receiving information of a possible “hate crime” Bella Mente ADCAB / Site Administrator will notify 
the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department.  A crime as defined as a “hate crime” will be investigated 
by San Diego County Sheriff’s Department with assistance of Bella Mente staff.  If necessary, the FBI 
works closely with state/local/tribal authorities on investigations, even when federal charges are not 
brought. FBI resources, forensic expertise, and experience in identification and proof of hate-based 
motivations often provide an invaluable complement to local law enforcement. Many cases are also 
prosecuted under state statutes such as murder, arson, or more recent local ethnic intimidation laws. 
Once the state prosecution begins, the Department of Justice monitors the proceedings in order to 
ensure that the federal interest is vindicated and the law is applied equally among the 95 U.S. Judicial 
Districts. 

Bullying and Cyberbullying Prevention 
CA Education Code Section 32282(e) and CA Assembly Bill 2291 

Bullying can threaten students’ physical and emotional safety at school and can negatively impact their 
ability to learn. The best way to address bullying is to stop it before it starts. Training school staff and 
students to prevent and address bullying can help sustain bullying prevention efforts over time. 

To ensure that bullying prevention efforts are successful, all school staff need to be trained on what 
bullying is, what the school’s policies and rules are, and how to enforce the rules. Assembly Bill 2291, 
which became effective on January 1, 2019, requires that local educational agencies (LEAs) adopt, on 
or before December 31, 2019, procedures for preventing acts of bullying, including cyberbullying, and 
that LEAs make training available to certificated and all other school site employees who have regular 
interaction with students. 

The California Department of Education (CDE) Online Bullying Training Module and Bullying 
presentation is mandated by Assembly Bill 1993 and California Education Code Section 32283.5.  The 
Online Bullying Training Module and Bullying Module will assist all school staff, school administrators, 
parents, pupils, and community members in increasing their knowledge of the dynamics of 
bullying.  The Online Bullying Training Module presentation and Bullying Module identify acts of bullying 
and suggest strategies to address bullying.  In alignment with these mandates, all Bella Mente 
certificated and classified staff will be required to participate in the Online Bullying Training Module and 
Bullying Module annually (https://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/ss/se/bullyres.asp).  Additionally, all Bella Mente 
certificated and classified staff will be required to take the “Bullying: Recognition & Response” online 
training module. 

Packet Page 428



 
 
 
 

30 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

The ability for students, staff, and parents to safely report acts of bullying is vital to the safety of our 
students and the success of our programs.  When students are comfortable sharing information with 
adults, we obtain the information needed to maintain a positive school climate and get students the 
help they need. As such, Bella Mente has adopted the STOPit K-12 Solution reporting system.  This 
system allows Bella Mente to be proactive instead of reactive when it comes to dealing with incidents 
of inappropriate behavior that lead to avoidable issues. Students report anonymously via mobile app, 
web, or phone hotline service. 100% anonymous, 100% of the time. 

Threat of Violence on School Grounds 
CA Education Code Section 32282 and CA Senate Bill 671 

BMA has established a behavioral threat assessment team to assess and respond to reports of any 
dangerous, violent, or unlawful activity that is being conducted or threatened to be conducted at the 
school, an activity sponsored by the school, or on a school bus serving the school.  The threat 
assessment may include a school administrator, school counselor, school psychologist, school social 
worker, SPED Director, Compliance Director, and when necessary, local law enforcement and/or 
community partners.  Law enforcement supporting a behavioral threat assessment shall consider all 
department policies and Constitutional rights of individuals when there is reasonable suspicion a crime 
has been, or may be committed. 

BMA has adopted the El Dorado County Charter SELPA behavioral threat assessment model.  Upon 
receiving a report of any dangerous, violent, or unlawful activity being conducted or threatened of being 
conducted, BMA will gather necessary members of the behavioral threat assessment team to assess 
the validity and level of the report.  Additionally, the behavioral threat assessment team is tasked with 
recommending support and intervention for the subject(s) of the assessment and, when necessary, 
creating a safety plan.  The safety plan will be reviewed and signed by a parent/guardian and the 
student before they are permitted to return to school.  

While school disciplinary action or criminal charges may result from the assessment and totality of the 
event, a behavioral threat assessment is not intended to seek these specific outcomes.  If it is believed 
a crime has been or may be committed, protocols recommend BMA contact law enforcement for further 
investigation.  Upon request, BMA may share all records of a behavioral threat assessment involving 
students with law enforcement conducting a criminal investigation into the same incident. 

 

 

 

 

Opioid Overdose 

Packet Page 429



 
 
 
 

31 | Page Comprehensive School Safety Plan 2024-2025 
 
 
 

CA Education Code Section 32282 and CA Senate Bill 10 

An opioid overdose can be caused by the ingestion of prescription medications, fentanyl, counterfeit 
pills, or other illegal opioid substances.  In the event a pupil is suffering or is reasonably believed to be 
suffering from an opioid overdose, BMA staff shall:  

1. Notify other staff members to alert the health technician and/or front office staff who have been 
trained in the administration of NARCAN. 

2. NARCAN is maintained and located in the nurse's office. 
3. Remove other students from the area of the emergency.  
4. As soon as possible, BMA staff will call 9-1-1 to notify first responders. 
5. As soon as possible, BMA staff will notify the parents/guardians of the student(s). 
6. Once medical and/or law enforcement first responders are on scene, BMA staff will provide all 

relevant information.  For staff and student safety, BMA staff may allow first responders to search 
the student’s belongings to determine the presence and/or type of substances that may have 
been consumed. 

 
         

             

     

    

   

 

  

Packet Page 430


	20. Updated Salary Schedule to Include Range 50 for District Office Manager
	Board Meeting Packet NON-Classified 2024 2.13
	Board Meeting Agenda - 2024 2_13
	1. Board Meeting Minutes - 2023-12-12
	2. Check Registers - December 2023
	3. AcademiCognitive Connections Master Contract
	AcademicCognitiveConnections-SELPA-2023-2024-FINAL-Master-Contract-1
	2918_001
	REFERENCE NUMBER
	SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE
	SIGNERS
	AUDITS


	4. Accountable Healthcare Staffing Invoice 1230011666 - 12-10-23 - $6,375.00
	5. AT10 Education Master Contract
	AT 10 State-SELPA-2023-2024-FINAL-Master-Contract-1
	AT10 Rate Sheet 23-24
	REFERENCE NUMBER
	SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE
	SIGNERS
	AUDITS


	6. Campus Safety Alliance Proposal 2024_2025
	7. Coast Landscaping Estimate
	8. Coastal Landscaping Maintenance Proposal
	9. Brightview Landscape Proposal
	10. Edmentum Quote - $2500.00
	11. Foster Youth Transportation MOA Amendment
	REFERENCE NUMBER
	SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE
	SIGNERS
	AUDITS


	12. Palomar Family Counseling Services Amendment 23-24
	REFERENCE NUMBER
	SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE
	SIGNERS
	AUDITS


	13. Pro Acounstics Proposal - Auditorium Sound System - $10,656.85
	Price_proposal_Q10.97536-1
	ProAcoustics_Proposal_Term_and_Conditions_1-2

	14. Schola Renewal 12 months - $42,000.00
	15. Scoot Education Invoice 61286
	16. DTS - Document Tracking Services - Renewal License and Invoice - $425.00
	LICENSE AGREEMENT
	REFERENCE NUMBER
	SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE
	SIGNERS
	AUDITS


	17. Kone_Elevator Proposal - $1,267.00
	REFERENCE NUMBER
	SIGNATURE CERTIFICATE
	SIGNERS
	AUDITS


	18. Scoot_Invoice_64806 - $7,733.00
	19. Boosterthon Contract
	20. Updated Salary Schedule to Include Range 50 for District Office Manager
	21. SARC Report
	-------
	2023 School Accountability Report Card
	General Information about the School Accountability Report Card (SARC)
	2023-24 School Contact Information
	2023-24 District Contact Information
	2023-24 School Description and Mission Statement

	About this School
	2023-24 Student Enrollment by Grade Level
	2023-24 Student Enrollment by Student Group

	A. Conditions of Learning (State Priority: Basic)
	2020-21 Teacher Preparation and Placement
	2021-22 Teacher Preparation and Placement
	Teachers Without Credentials and Misassignments (considered “ineffective” under ESSA)
	Credentialed Teachers Assigned Out-of-Field (considered “out-of-field” under ESSA)
	Class Assignments
	2023-24 Quality, Currency, Availability of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials
	School Facility Conditions and Planned Improvements
	Overall Facility Rate

	B. Pupil Outcomes (State Priority: Pupil Achievement)
	Percentage of Students Meeting or Exceeding the State Standard on CAASPP
	2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in ELA by Student Group
	2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in Math by Student Group
	CAASPP Test Results in Science for All Students
	2022-23 CAASPP Test Results in Science by Student Group

	B. Pupil Outcomes (State Priority: Other Pupil Outcomes)
	2022-23 California Physical Fitness Test Results

	C. Engagement (State Priority: Parental Involvement)
	2023-24 Opportunities for Parental Involvement
	2022-23 Chronic Absenteeism by Student Group

	C. Engagement (State Priority: School Climate)
	Suspensions and Expulsions
	2022-23 Suspensions and Expulsions by Student Group
	2023-24 School Safety Plan

	D. Other SARC Information (Information Required in the SARC)
	2020-21 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution
	2021-22 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution
	2022-23 Elementary Average Class Size and Class Size Distribution
	2022-23 Ratio of Pupils to Academic Counselor
	2022-23 Student Support Services Staff
	2021-22 Expenditures Per Pupil and School Site Teacher Salaries
	2022-23 Types of Services Funded
	2021-22 Teacher and Administrative Salaries
	Professional Development



	22. Public School Property Tax Exemption
	23. Recommended action on the personnel activity list
	24. S & R Towing Agreement
	25. CharterSafe Notification Letter and Resolution no 24-1
	Bella Mente School_December Financial Board Report
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11

	Bella_School Safety Plan 2024-2025
	Bella Mente Academies
	BMA Projected Drill Dates (2024 – 2025)

	BELLA MENTE ACADEMIES CRIME ASSESSMENT
	School Crime Committed on Campus and at School Related Functions





